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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report contains forward-looking statete¢hat involve risks and uncertainties. Where famyardiooking statement includs
a statement about the assumptions or bases undgthg forward-looking statement, we caution thétile we believe these assumptions or
bases to be reasonable and made in good faithmassiacts or bases almost always vary from theaho#isults, and the differences between
assumed facts or bases and actual results cantbaahalepending upon the circumstances. Wheranynforward-looking statement, our
management expresses an expectation or belieffatite results, such expectation or belief is egped in good faith and is believed to have
reasonable basis. We cannot assure you, howeag¢ththstatement of expectation or belief will fesube achieved or accomplished. These
statements relate to analyses and other informétitnare based on forecasts of future resultseaticthates of amounts not yet determinable.
These statements also relate to our future prospgevelopments and business strategies. Forlwakilhg statements are identified by their
of terms and phrases such as “anticipate,” “belielowuld,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,”plan,” “predict,” “project,” “will” and
similar terms and phrases, including referencessumptions. Forwardoking statements involve risks and uncertaintied may cause actt
future activities and results of operations to tearially different from those suggested or desttim this annual report. These risks include
the risks that are identified in the “Risk Factosgttion of this annual report, and also includeorag others, risks associated with the
following:

» oil and gas market and its impact on demand foisewvices, including supply and demand for oil gad and expectations
regarding future energy price

» our substantial level of indebtedne

» our need for cash to meet our debt service obtigat

» our limited number of assets and small number sfamers

» downtime of our drillships

e competition within our industry

» oversupply of rigs competing with our rig

» termination of our customer contrac

» restrictions on offshore drilling, including the piact of theDeepwater Horizoiincident on offshore drilling
» strikes and work stoppage

» corruption, militant activities, political instaliif, ethnic unrest and regionalism in Nigeria atigeo countries where we may
operate

» delays and cost overruns in construction proje

» our limited operating history

» our ability to incur additional indebtedness andhptiance with restrictions and covenants in ourt @gseements

» our levels of operating and maintenance cc

» availability of skilled workers and the related dalzosts;

» compliance with governmental, tax, environmental safety regulatior

« any nor-compliance with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Awt, United Kingdor's Anti-Bribery Act or any other anti bribery lawn
» reduced expenditures by oil and natural gas exiidorand production companie

5
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* general economic conditions and conditions in tharal natural gas industr
» our dependence on key personi

» operating hazards in the oilfield services indus

» adequacy of insurance coverage in the event ofestraphic even

e our ability to obtain indemnity from custome

» the volatility of the price of our common shar

e changes in tax laws, treaties or regulatic

» effects of new products and new technology in adustry;

» our incorporation under the laws of Luxembourg #relimited rights to relief that may be availabtempared to other countries,
including the United States; a

» potential conflicts of interest between our codingl shareholder and our public sharehold

Any forward{ooking statements contained in this annual reploould not be relied upon as predictions of fuewents. No assurance ¢
be given that the expectations expressed in ttosafd-looking statements will prove to be corréattual results could differ materially from
expectations expressed in the forwédking statements if one or more of the underlyasgumptions or expectations proves to be inaczol
is not realized. You should thoroughly read thiswal report with the understanding that our actutaire results may be materially different
from and worse than what we expect. Other sectibtisis annual report include additional factorattbould adversely impact our business an
financial performance. Moreover, we operate in\aieng environment. Some important factors thatldaause actual results to differ
materially from those in the forward-looking statms are, in certain instances, included with $ooliard-looking statements and in “Risk
Factors” in this annual report. Additionally, neiskrfactors and uncertainties emerge from timént@ tand it is not possible for our
management to predict all risk factors and unastitss, nor can we assess the impact of all factorsur business or the extent to which any
factor, or combination of factors, may cause aatesililts to differ materially from those containedny forward-looking statements. We
qualify all of the forward-looking statements by#e cautionary statements.

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliamtieecforward-looking statements contained in #misual report, which represent the
best judgment of our management. Such statemestiisiades and projections reflect various assumptinade by us concerning anticipated
results, which are subject to business, econondacampetitive uncertainties and contingencies, nafrwhich are beyond our control and
which may or may not prove to be correct. We urakerino obligation to update or revise any forwlaaking statements, whether as a rest
new information, future events or otherwise.

PART |

As used in this annual report, unless the contiydravise requires, references to “Pacific Drillihthe “Company,” “we,” “us,” “our”’and
words of similar import refer to Pacific Drilling.S. and its subsidiaries. Unless otherwise indidasd references to “U.S.$” and “$” in this
report are to, and amounts are represented inetlSitates dollars.

ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISE RS
Not applicable.

ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE
Not applicable.
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ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION
A. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

You should read the following selected consoliddileaincial data in conjunction with Item 5, “Openaf Results” and our historical
consolidated financial statements and related ritbereto included elsewhere in this annual refddré financial information included in this
annual report may not be indicative of our futwesuits of operations, financial condition and cémlvs.

Pacific Drilling S.A. was formed as a Luxembourgpmration under the form ofsociété anonym® act as an indirect holding company
for its predecessor, Pacific Drilling Limited (olRredecessor”), a company organized under the tdwiberia, and its subsidiaries in
connection with a corporate reorganization complete March 30, 2011, referred to in this annuabreps the “Restructuring.” In connection
with the Restructuring, our Predecessor was cartgibto a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Companyatsubsidiary of Quantum Pacific
International Limited, a British Virgin Islands c@any and parent company of an investment holdingsg(the “Quantum Pacific Group”).
The Company did not engage in any business or atttasities prior to the Restructuring except imnection with its formation and the
Restructuring. The Restructuring was limited taterst that were all under the control of the Quamfacific Group and its affiliates, and, as
such, the Restructuring was accounted for as adardion between entities under common control. Aessalt, the consolidated financial
statements of Pacific Drilling S.A. are presentsithg the historical values of the Predecessoranfimal statements on a combined basis.
However, the issued share capital of Pacific Digjl5.A. is retrospectively reflected for all pesad the selected historical consolidated
financial data to reflect the 150,000,000 commaaras held by the Quantum Pacific Group at the cetign of the Restructuring. The
financial information relating to the Company atglsubsidiaries have been prepared in accordarnhegemerally accepted accounting
principles in the United States (“GAAP”) and ardJr5. dollars.

In 2007, our Predecessor entered into various agrets with Transocean Ltd. (“Transocean”) andutssiiaries, which culminated in
the formation of a joint venture company, TransacRacific Drilling Inc. (“TPDI” or the “Joint Vente"), which was owned 50% by our
Predecessor and 50% by a subsidiary of Transo@aMarch 30, 2011, in connection with the Restrrioty our Predecessor assigned its
equity interest in TPDI to another subsidiary af thuantum Pacific Group for no consideration, whécreferred to in this annual report as the
“TPDI Transfer,” to enable the Company to focugtom operation and marketing of the Company’s whoilned fleet. As a result, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries currently oanyg interest in TPDI and, beginning in the secomartgr of 2011, the results of operations
of TPDI are no longer included in the financialuks of the Company.

7
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Set forth below are (i) selected historical corgatied financial data as of December 31, 2012 afid 26d for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, which have besved from our audited consolidated financialexstagnts included elsewhere in this
annual report, (ii) selected historical consoliddiaancial data as of December 31, 2010 and 200%ar the years ended December 31, 2009
and 2008, which have been derived from our auditedolidated financial statements not includedhis &annual report and (iii) selected
historical consolidated financial data as of Decen8i, 2008, which have been derived from our utedaonsolidated financial statements
not included in this annual report.

Years Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in thousands, except share and per share dat

Statement of operations data

Revenues
Contract drilling $ 638,05 $ 65,43: $ — $ — $ —
Costs and expense
Contract drilling (331,49) (32,149 — — —
General and administrative
expense: (45,38¢) (52,619 (19,719 (8,829 (1,58¢)
Depreciation expens (127,699 (11,619 (395) (134 —
(504,579 (96,37%) (20,110 (8,95¢) (1,58¢)
Loss of hire insurance recove 23,67 18,50( — — —
Operating income (loss; 157,14. (12,449 (20,110 (8,95¢ (1,589
Other income (expense
Equity in earnings of Joint Ventu — 18,95¢ 56,30 4,291 (679
Interest income from Joint Ventu — 49k 1,97: 2,141 7,76%
Interest expens (104,68 (10,389 (85¢8) — —
Other income 3,24t 3,67¢ (62 274 —
Income (loss) before income taxe 55,70: 297 37,25( (2,252 5,49t
Income tax expens (21,719 (3,200) 49 (32) (4)
Net income (loss $ 33,98¢ $ (2,909 $ 37,29¢ $ (2,289 $ 5,49
Earnings (loss) per common share
basic $ 0.1¢€ $ (0.07) $ 0.2 $ (0.02) $ 0.04
Weighted average number of common
shares, basid¢V 216,901,00 195,447,94 150,000,00 150,000,00 150,000,00
Earnings (loss) per common share
diluted $ 0.1¢€ $ (0.07) $ 0.2 $ (0.02) $ 0.04
Weighted average number of commol
shares, diluted® 216,903,15 195,447,94 150,000,00 150,000,00 150,000,00
Years Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in thousands (unaudited)
Balance sheet data
Working capital® $ 522,39 $ 115,46. $ 14,48 $ 4,00¢ $ (39)
Property and equipment, r 3,760,42 3,436,01 1,893,42! 927,55t 737,75:
Investment in and notes to TP — — 186,71: 147,85 102,32!
Total asset 4,893,92i 4,184,28 2,271,94 1,087,29. 841,58
Long-term debi® 2,253,70i 1,675,001 450,00( — —
Relate«-party loan — — — 832,64 633,99
Accrued interest payable on rele-party loan — — — 39,01¢ —
Shareholder equity 2,315,24i 2,274,07. 1,775,20 207,74¢ 206,04(
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(1) Retrospectively adjusted for all periods to refléhet issued share capital of Pacific Drilling Stéllowing the Restructuring
(2) Working capital is defined as current assets mawrsent liabilities.
(3) Includes current maturities of lo-term debt

B. CAPITALIZATION AND INDEBTEDNESS
Not applicable.

C. REASONS FOR THE OFFER AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Not applicable.

D. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common shares involves a tggjiee of risk. You should consider carefully thkodving risk factors, as well as the
other information contained in this annual repdy&fore making an investment in our common shaneg oAthe risk factors described below
could significantly and negatively affect our besig, financial condition or operating results, whimay reduce our ability to pay dividends
and lower the trading price of our common sharesu ¥ay lose part or all of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business

The demand for our services depends on the leveldtivity in the offshore oil and natural gas indtry, which is significantly affected
by, among other things, volatile oil and natural ggrices and may be materially and adversely a#ecby a decline in the offshore oil and
gas industry.

The offshore contract drilling industry is cyclicaid volatile. The demand for our services dependbe level of activity in oil and
natural gas exploration, development and produdtimffshore areas worldwide. The availability afadjty drilling prospects, exploration
success, relative production costs, the stagesefveir development and political and regulatoryiemments affect customers’ drilling
programs. Oil and natural gas prices and market@agtions of potential changes in these pricesstguficantly affect this level of activity
and demand for drilling units.

Oil and natural gas prices are extremely volatilg are affected by numerous factors beyond ourabimcluding the following:

» worldwide production and demand for oil and natgi@d and any geographical dislocations in suppdydemand

» the cost of exploring for, developing, producingl aelivering oil and natural gas, and the relatiost of onshore production or
importation of natural ga:

» expectations regarding future production and prifesil and natural gas
» advances in exploration, development and produ¢dohnology:

» the ability of the Organization of the PetroleunpBsting Countries (“OPEC”) to set and maintain prctibn levels and affect
pricing;

» the level of production in n-OPEC countries
* government regulation
* local and international political and economic dtiods;
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» domestic and foreign tax policie
» development and exploitation of alternative fu
» the policies of various governments regarding epgtion and development of their oil and natural geserves; an

» the worldwide social and political environment,limting uncertainty or instability resulting from ascalation or additional
outbreak of armed hostilities, insurrection or ottiéses in the Middle East or other geographi@asu@ further acts of terrorism in
the United States, or elsewhe

Declines in oil and gas prices for an extendedogeoi time, or market expectations of potentialrdases in these prices, could negati
affect our business in the offshore drilling secBuistained periods of low oil prices typicallyuksn reduced exploration and drilling. These
changes in commodity prices can have a dramatcedn rig demand, and periods of low demand casecaxcess rig supply and intensify
competition in the industry which often resultgiilling units, particularly older and lower teckal specification drilling units, being idle for
long periods of time. We cannot predict the futlereel of demand for our services or future condisiof the oil and gas industry. Any decreas:
in exploration, development or production expern@isuby oil and gas companies could reduce our tegand materially harm our business
and results of operations.

In addition to oil and natural gas prices, the ledf® drilling industry is influenced by additiorfattors, including:
» the availability of competing offshore drilling \&eds and the level of newbuilding activity for drigy vessels
» the level of costs for associated offshore oilfiaidl construction service
« the discovery of new oil and gas reserves and tkéitive production cost
» the relative cost of n-conventional energy sources; ¢
» regulatory restrictions on offshore drillin

Any of these factors could reduce demand for owises and adversely affect our business and sestithperations.
Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affest financial condition and business prospects.

As of February 15, 2013, we and our subsidiariasa oonsolidated basis, had approximately (i) $2s2dlion of debt, comprised of
$1,402 million borrowed under our Project Faciitikkgreement that is secured by the equity inteiesiad substantially all of the assets of
Pacific Bora Ltd., Pacific Mistral Ltd., Pacific Bacco Ltd. and Pacific Santa Ana S.a r.l., (iil0®5million aggregate principal amount of 2017
Senior Secured Notes to be secured by a firstiprisecurity interest (subject to exceptions) ia Bacific Khamsirupon delivery, and
substantially all the other assets of Pacific @IV Limited, including an assignment of earniagsl insurance proceeds related toRheific
Khamsinand (iii) $300 million aggregate principal amoufiBd25% Senior Unsecured Bonds due 2015 (eachfamedeand described in furtt
detalil in Item 5, “Liquidity and Capital ResourceBescription of Indebtedness”). Additionally, in Febry 2013 we entered into a $1.0 billion
Senior Secured Credit Facility Agreement that bélisecured by the equity interests in and subathnill of the assets of Pacific Sharav S.a
r.l. and Pacific Drilling VII Limited (as definedna described in further detail in Item 5, “Liquigland Capital Resources—Description of
Indebtedness”). As of February 15, 2013, no amowete borrowed under the Senior Secured Creditifaggreement. Our substantial level
of indebtedness, and the terms of the agreemeaitgdivern such indebtedness, may have importasecences on our business such as:

e requiring us and our subsidiaries to use a subatgrtion of our cash flow from operations to paterest and principal on the
debt, which would reduce the funds available forkirg capital, capital expenditures and other gaihesrporate purpose

10
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» limit our ability to obtain additional financing favorking capital, capital expenditures, acquisis@nd other investments, which
may limit our ability to execute our business &gyt

» heighten our vulnerability to downturns in businesshe general economy and restrict us from ekpbpbusiness opportunities or
making acquisitions

» make it more difficult for us to satisfy our findatobligations;

» place us at a competitive disadvantage comparedrtoompetitors that may have proportionately thest;

» limit our flexibility in planning for, or reactingp, changes in our business and the industry iclvive operate; ar
» result in higher interest expense if interest ratesease for the portion of our indebtednesshbatnot been hedge

Each of these factors may have a material and a€e\affect on our financial condition and businesspects. We may also incur
substantial additional indebtedness in the futlinee incur additional indebtedness, the relatstigithat we now face would intensify and c
further exacerbate the risks associated with obstamtial leverage. Our ability to service our dédgpends upon, among other things, our fL
financial and operating performance, which is a#ddy prevailing economic conditions and finandiisiness, regulatory and other factors,
some of which are beyond our control. If our cdetv$ from operations are not sufficient to senace current or future indebtedness, we will
be forced to take actions such as reducing digtabs, reducing or delaying our business activjteEsgjuisitions, investments or capital
expenditures, selling assets, restructuring onagfting our debt, or seeking additional equity @duir bankruptcy protection. We may not be
able to effect any of these remedies on satisfa¢sms, or at all.

We will require a significant amount of cash to séce our indebtedness and other obligations. Ouilipto generate cash depends on
many factors beyond our control.

Our ability to make payments on, or refinance,iadebtedness and to fund working capital needgparthed capital expenditures will
depend on our ability to generate cash in the &utlrsignificant reduction in our operating cagiwi$, including as a result of changes in
general economic conditions, timing of contractpayments, legislative or regulatory conditiongr@ased competition or other events beyon
our control, could increase the need for additiamadlternative sources of liquidity and could havmaterial adverse effect on our financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows anititglbo service our debt and other obligationse $'em 5, “Liquidity and Capital Resources—
Description of Indebtedness” for more informatiegarding our amortization payment schedule witpeesto our borrowings under the
Project Facilities Agreement, 2017 Senior Securetédland the 2015 Senior Unsecured Bonds. If wersable to service our indebtedness or
to fund our liquidity needs, we may be forced togtdan alternative strategy that may include ast®uch as reducing capital expenditures,
selling assets, restructuring or refinancing inddhess, seeking additional equity capital or amglination of the foregoing. If we raise
additional funds by issuing additional equity séoes, existing shareholders may experience difuti¥e cannot assure you that any of these
alternative strategies could be effected on satisfg terms, or at all, or that they would yieldfsient funds to enable us to make required
payments on our indebtedness or to fund our oityeidity needs. Reducing or delaying capital expeemds or selling assets could delay future
cash flows. In addition, the terms of existing wtufe debt agreements may restrict us from adojginygof these alternatives.

We have a limited asset base and currently relytloree customer accounts. The loss of any customesignificant downtime on any
drillship attributable to unplanned maintenance, pairs or other factors could adversely affect oundincial condition and results of
operations.

As a result of our relatively small fleet of drilips, we anticipate revenues will depend on cotgraith a limited number of customers.
We currently have eight drillships, four of whicteaperating under customer

11
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contract. Two of our operating drillships, tRacific Boraand thePacific Santa Anaare working for subsidiaries of Chevron Corparati
(“Chevron”). In addition, two of our drillships uad construction, thBacific Khamsirand thePacific Sharay, are also under contract with
subsidiaries of Chevron. Thacific Sciroccds operating with a subsidiary of Total S.A. (“Ti8jaand thePacific Mistralis operating with a
subsidiary of Petréleo Brasileiro S.A. (“Petrobias”

Our financial condition, results of operations asle flows could be materially adversely affecteany one of these customers was to
interrupt or curtail its activities in the U.S. Gof Mexico, Nigeria or Brazil, fail to pay for thgervices that have been performed, terminate it
contract with us, fail to renew its existing comtravith us or refuse to award new contracts tongswae are unable to enter into contracts with
new customers on comparable terms. The loss ofitGheVotal or Petrobras as a customer could hawatarial adverse effect on our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flowsaddition, our limited number of drillships makesmore susceptible to incremental loss in
event of downtime on any one operating unit. If ang of our drillships becomes inactive for a sabsal period of time and not otherwise
earning contractual revenues, it could have a nadt@iverse impact on our operations and finaremabdition.

Our current backlog of contract drilling revenue nyanot be fully realized.

As of February 15, 2013, we had a contract bac&lothePacific Bora,the Pacific Sciroccothe Pacific Mistral, thePacific Santa Ana
the Pacific Khamsirand thePacific Sharawf approximately $3.3 billion. We calculate our traet backlog by multiplying the contractual
dayrate by the minimum number of days committedeuatide contracts (excluding options to extend)ymésg full utilization, and also include
mobilization fees, upgrade reimbursements and athamue sources, such as the standby rate dysgrades, as stipulated in the contract.
actual amounts of revenues earned and the actriatipeluring which revenues are earned may diffamfthe amounts and periods shown in
the tables provided in Item 4, “Business Overviewenftact Backlog” of this annual report due to vasdactors, including shipyard and
maintenance projects, downtime and other factdrs.ontractual dayrate used to calculate averd@geated contract backlog per day is hig
than other rates that may be in effect at certairg under the contract, including the standby eat®aiting on weather rate, the repair rate or
the force majeure rate. We may not be able tozedfie full amount of our contract backlog duevtergs beyond our control. In addition, so
of our customers may experience liquidity issudsictvcould worsen if commodity prices declineddwér levels for an extended period of
time. Liquidity issues could lead our customergadnto bankruptcy or could encourage our custorttesgek to repudiate, cancel or
renegotiate these agreements for various reaseigsaribed under “—Our drilling contracts may dxentinated early in certain circumstances’
below. Our inability to realize the full amountaiir contract backlog could have a material adveffezt on our financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

We may experience downtime as a result of unschedukpairs or maintenance, defective or failed gguient or delays waiting for
replacement parts.

Unscheduled repairs or maintenance or defectiailed equipment on our drillships may cause usxperience unanticipated
operational downtime, which may have an adverscefin our results of operations.

In addition, we rely on certain third parties t@yde supplies and services necessary for our aftstrilling operations, including, but
not limited to, drilling equipment, catering and chianery suppliers. Recent mergers have reduceduimbder of available suppliers, resulting
fewer alternatives for sourcing key supplies. Semhsolidation, combined with a high volume of dindj units under construction, may resul
a shortage of supplies and services potentiallibitihg the ability of suppliers to deliver on timer at all. These delays may have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations andtresdowntime, and delays in the repair and neiance of our drillships.

Our failure to generate sufficient operating cdetvfor to achieve any of these alternatives coigdificantly adversely affect the value
of our securities. In addition, if we default irethayment of amounts due
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on any current indebtedness, such default would gse to an event of default under the agreengmisrning our indebtedness and could lea
to the possible acceleration of amounts due ungeofour outstanding indebtedness. In the eveangfacceleration, we may not have enc
cash to repay our outstanding indebtedness.

We have substantial obligations to fund contractsdaother arrangements related to the constructiohomur newbuild drillships under
construction. If we fail to meet these obligations construction of these newbuild drillships is nobmpleted, such failure could have a
material adverse effect on our financial conditiongsults of operations and cash flows and could adsely affect our ability to meet our
obligations.

We have significant contractual commitments to SargHeavy Industries (“SHI") related to the drilisé currently under construction,
the Pacific Khamsin thePacific Sharay, thePacific Meltemand our recently ordered eighth drillship, totalagproximately $1.6 billion as of
February 15, 2013. The SHI contracts for Baeific Khamsinthe Pacific Sharay, thePacific Meltemand our eighth drillship provide for an
aggregate purchase price of approximately $2.hbijlpayable in installments during the construtiocess, of which we have made
payments of $449.9 million through February 15,204/e anticipate making payments of approximat@y3million in 2013, approximately
$433 million in 2014 and approximately $336 million2015.

We will need to secure additional financing in arttefund construction of our eighth drillship. &ddition, in the event that we order
additional drillships, we will also need to sectuading for construction of such vessels. The fieans and availability of any financing for
the obligations related to the construction of eighth drillship will be determined by, among otlfectors, current financial market conditions,
our creditworthiness and drilling industry conditgo We may be unable to obtain or arrange the ¢ingrfor these new drillships on
satisfactory terms. Also, these drillships coulddeayed or otherwise not delivered by the shipyalds could have a material adverse effect
on our financial condition, results of operatiomsl @ash flows.

We intend to enter into drilling contracts for fhacific Meltemand our eighth drillship prior to their deliveryrifarket conditions permit.
If one of our newbuild drillships is delayed, calheg or not delivered as expected for any reasamuompletion of construction, we will not
be able to deliver the drillship to our customedemnthe drilling contract entered into for sucHlship and for which we provide a performance
guarantee. In such event, we will need to findpagement unit that is acceptable to our custoihare are unable to deliver an acceptable
replacement, we will lose any anticipated inconoerfthe employment of such unit and may be helddiédr the customer’s potential
damages, including, but not limited to, any inceeasrates between our current drilling contradthwtihe customer and any substitute drilling
contract such customer may obtain. If we were $e lall or a portion of our investment, includiny amticipated revenue from the operation o
a drillship, or become liable to a customer fortsdamages, our financial condition, results of afiens and cash flows could be materially
adversely affected.

The contract drilling industry is highly competitex. Compared to companies with greater resourcespvag be at a competitive
disadvantage.

The offshore contract drilling industry is highlgrapetitive with numerous industry participants, @@ which has a dominant market
share. Drilling contracts are traditionally awardeda competitive bid basis. The proposed daysatétén the primary factor in determining
which qualified contractor is awarded a contrakthaugh rig availability and the quality and teotadicapability of service and equipment are
also important factors. Other key factors includmatractor’s reputation for service, safety recamvironmental record, technical and
engineering support and long-term relationshipf wétional and international oil and natural gamganies. Our competitors in the offshore
contract drilling industry generally have largeigna diverse fleets, longer operating histories watablished safety and environmental record
over a measurable period of time, long-term refetiops with customers and appreciably greater fimhand other resources and assets than
we do. Similarly, some of these competitors areificantly better capitalized than we are, whichymaake them
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preferable to us to the extent the customer isewm@d about our ability to cover potentially sigraht liabilities. As a result, our competitors
have competitive advantages that may adverselgtadia efforts to contract our drillships on faviolaterms, if at all, and correspondingly
negatively impact our financial condition, resufsoperations or cash flows. Additionally, we at@aa&ompetitive disadvantage to those
competitors that are better capitalized becausedtein a better position to withstand the effedfta downturn in our industry.

An oversupply of rigs competing with our rigs couttkpress the demand and contract prices for ultregwater rigs and could
adversely affect our financial condition, results operations or cash flows.

There are numerous rigs currently under contraotdastruction in the industry worldwide. We esttenthere are approximately 50 ultra-
deepwater rigs scheduled for delivery between Jgriua2013 and the end of 2015, 29 of which areymbttontracted to customers. The entry
into service of these new units will increase sy@yid could curtail a strengthening, or triggeeduction, in dayrates as rigs are absorbed int
the active fleet. Any increase in construction Bllidg units could negatively impact utilizatiomd dayrates. Lower utilization and dayrates
could require us to enter into lower dayrate cansrar to idle one or more of our drillships, whimbuld have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of operations and ci@lvs or result in the recognition of impairmetiacges on our drillships.

Failure to secure drilling contracts prior to depjanent of our remaining newbuild drillships or currgly operating drillships after the
expiration of existing contracts could have a matdradverse effect on our financial condition, relia of operations or cash flows.

We have not yet secured drilling contracts forRiagific Meltemor our eighth drillship, which are being built biaBand are scheduled
for delivery in the second quarter of 2014 andfitst quarter of 2015, respectively. In additiome Wrilling contract on thBacific Sciroccawill
terminate on January 7, 2014, unless Total chaosesercise its option to extend the contract fasther year. Our ability to obtain drilling
contracts for these drillships will depend on méadanditions and our customers’ drilling programfishe ultra-deepwater drilling market is
experiencing overcapacity when tRacific Meltemand our eighth drillship are delivered or whencbatracts on our currently operating
drillships expire, we may not be able to contraest drillships on favorable terms, or at all. @ilure to secure drilling contracts for our
uncontracted drillships or currently operatingldhips after the expiration of existing contraasiid have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of operations and caivs.

The imposition of stringent restrictions or prohitions on offshore drilling by any governing body méave a material adverse effect
on our business.

Events in recent years have heightened environthamdaregulatory concerns about the oil and nawaalindustry. From time to time,
governing bodies may propose and have enacteddggisor regulations that may materially limitrohibit offshore drilling in certain areas.
If laws are enacted or other governmental actidaken that delay, restrict or prohibit offshordlithg in our expected areas of operation, our
business could be materially adversely affected.

For example, the U.S. governmental response tD#spwater Horizon incident in April 2010 and resgtoil spill could have a
prolonged and material adverse impact on drillipgrations in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico. Following tAeril 2010 fire and explosion aboard 1
Deepwater Horizon drilling platform owned by a caetifor and subsequent release of oil from the Mdoomell in ultradeep water of the U..
Gulf of Mexico, the federal government, acting tingh the U.S. Department of the Interior (“DOI”) aitslimplementing agencies that have
since evolved into the present day Bureau of O¢asrgy Management (‘BOEM”) and Bureau of Safety Bngironmental Enforcement
(“BSEE”), have issued a variety of regulatory iiives including regulations and Notices to Lessa@bOperators (“NTLS") intended to
impose additional safety, operational, permitting aertification requirements that are applicabledr oil and natural gas exploration,
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development and production customers in the U.¥. @ Mexico. These regulatory initiatives effeatly temporarily slowed down the pace of
drilling and production operations in the U.S. GefifMexico as adjustments were being made in opgy@rocedures, certification
requirements and lead times for inspections, dglapplications and permits, and exploration amdpection plan reviews, and as the federal
agencies evolved into their present day bureausmpllance with these requirements may prevent ostotners from obtaining new drilling
permits and approvals in a timely manner, whicHd¢ouaterially adversely affect our business, finahposition or results of operations. Third
party challenges to industry drilling operationghie U.S. Gulf of Mexico may also serve to furtbetay or restrict exploration activities. In t
regulatory environment, Chevron may be unable taloot drilling operations with theacific Santa Anar commence drilling operations with
the Pacific Sharavn the U.S. Gulf of Mexico in as efficient or afitable of a manner. Under those circumstancesyfimn may have an
opportunity under its contract to operate faeific Santa Anar thePacific Sharawutside of the U.S. Gulf of Mexico or to pay thentractual
standby dayrate. Chevron may also choose to erettuéscontract’s termination clause, under whickvebn would be required to pay a
standby rate to us on a monthly basis for the reimgiperiod of the contract.

The U.S. Gulf of Mexico represents a significanttipm of the industry’s existing deepwater drilisgldemand. The new or newly
interpreted regulations and other regulatory itiites effected by DOI, BOEM and BSEE have creatgdificant uncertainty regarding the
requirements to perform offshore drilling activitythe U.S. Gulf of Mexico and possible implicatiofor regions outside of the U.S. Gulf of
Mexico. If the new regulations, operating proceduaad possibility of increased legal liability aiewed by our current or future customers as
a significant impairment to expected profitabiliy drilling projects in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico, elewvater drillships and other floating rigs
could depart the U.S. Gulf of Mexico, which wouikely affect the global supply and demand balameeséich drillships and rigs, resulting in
lower dayrates and/or utilization and a more coitipetand challenging business environment in tiiernational sector. In addition to the new
safety requirements issued thus far by the fedgraérnment, the BSEE could issue additional safatyenvironmental guidelines or
regulations for drilling in the U.S. Gulf of Mexidbat could disrupt or delay drilling operations;riease the cost of drilling operations or
reduce the area of operations for deepwater dyiliigs, and other governments could take similéipas. For example, in November 2011, the
BSEE announced a change in its enforcement palipigsuant to which the agency has extended itdaggy enforcement reach to include
contractors as well as offshore lease operatomss€yently, the BSEE may elect to hold contractocdding drilling contractors, liable for
alleged violations of law arising in the BSEE’siglictional area. Implementation of this announclange in enforcement policy by the BSEE
could subject us to added liabilities, includingai#ons and penalties, as well as increased castagafrom contractual arrangements that
failed to take into account such change in enfosr@molicy. All of these uncertainties could resnlincreased future operating costs,
including insurance costs, which we may not be &blgass through to our customers.

Our business could be affected adversely by unigspdtes and strikes or work stoppages by our emedsy In addition, our labor cos
and the operating restrictions under which we op@aould increase as a result of collective bargaiynegotiations and changes in labor
laws and regulations.

Some of our employees working in Nigeria and Bram#l represented by unions, and some of our caettdabor work under collective
bargaining agreements. Many of these representidnals are working under agreements that ar@gestitp annual salary negotiation. The
Company cannot guarantee the results of any sutgttiee bargaining negotiations or whether anytsnegotiations will result in a work
stoppage. In addition, employees may strike fos@aa unrelated to our union arrangements. Any éuttork stoppage could, depending on the
affected operations and the length of the work=gee, have a material adverse effect on the Conmhbnginess, financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

These negotiations could result in higher persoarpénses, other increased costs or increasecdtiopataestrictions. Although our U.S.
employees are not covered by a collective barggiagreement, the marine services industry has taegeted by maritime labor unions in an
effort to organize U.S. Gulf of Mexico employeeasaddition, legislation has been introduced inWh®. Congress that could encourage
additional
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unionization efforts in the United States, as waslincrease the chances that such efforts sucAesignificant increase in the wages paid by
competing employers or the unionization of our WG8If of Mexico employees could result in a redotdf our skilled labor force, increases
in the wage rates that we must pay, or both. Aoiditi unionization efforts, if successful, or nevilettive bargaining agreements could
materially increase our labor costs.

Our global operations may be adversely affectecpbiitical and economic circumstances in the courgsiin which we operate. A
significant portion of our business is conducted Migeria, which exposes us to risks of war, locabaomic instabilities, corruption, politice
disruption and civil disturbance in that region.

A primary component of our business strategy isgerate in global oil and natural gas producinggrgVe are subject to a number of

risks inherent in any business that operates diphatluding:

» political, social and economic instability, warrgiy and acts of terrorisr

* potential seizure, expropriation or nationalizatafrassets

« damage to our equipment or violence directed aeoyrloyees, including kidnapping

e increased operating cos

» complications associated with supplying, repaing replacing equipment in remote locatic

» repudiation, modification or renegotiation of camuts;

« limitations on insurance coverage, such as waraigknamed windstorm coverage in certain al

» impori-export quotas

» confiscatory taxatior

* work stoppages

* unexpected changes in regulatory requireme

* wage and price control

» imposition of trade barrier:

e imposition or changes in interpretation and enforeet of local content laws, such as those we mursétly comply with in
Nigeria and Brazil

» restrictions on currency or capital repatriatic

» solicitation by government officials for impropesyments or other forms of corruptic

« currency fluctuations and devaluations; i

« other forms of government regulation and econoroi@dions that are beyond our conti

These risks may be higher in developing countiie$ @s Nigeria, where tiacific Boraentered service in August 2011 under a three-

year drilling contract with a whol-owned Nigerian subsidiary of Chevron and Baeific Sciroccaentered service in December 2011 under a
one-year drilling contract with a subsidiary of @lptwith two one-year options, one of which wasreised on April 6, 2012, and one two-year
option. Countries in West Africa have experiencelitigal and economic instability in the past antls instability may continue in the future.
Additionally, Nigeria is ranked 139 out of 176 cdugs and territories in Transparency Internati2012 Corruption Perceptions Index.

Furthermore, there are significant sectarian terssio Nigeria among the numerous different ethnit @ibal groups, which have resulted in
sporadic violence. Disruptions may occur in theifef and losses caused by these disruptions may tiat will not be covered by insurance.

16



Table of Contents

Our contract drilling operations may be adverselffected by various laws and regulations in countié which we operate relating to
the equipment and operation of drilling units, ofind natural gas exploration and development and ianpand export activities.

Governments in some foreign countries have beaeasingly active in regulating and controlling thenership of concessions and
companies holding concessions, the exploratiowifaand natural gas and other aspects of the dilretural gas industries in their countries,
including local content requirements for participgtin tenders for certain drilling contracts. Maggvernments favor or effectively require t
drilling contracts be awarded to local contractrsequire foreign contractors to employ citizefisoo purchase supplies from, a particular
jurisdiction. These practices may result in inééfitcies or put us at a disadvantage when we biddotracts against local competitc

In addition, the shipment of goods, services aptnelogy across international borders subject® extensive trade laws and regulatic
Our import and export activities are governed bigjua customs laws and regulations in each of thiiries where we operate. Moreover,
many countries control the import and export otaiargoods, services and technology and impos&eklmport and export recordkeeping and
reporting obligations. Governments also may impEsmmomic sanctions against certain countries, psrand other entities that may restrict or
prohibit transactions involving such countries,go@s and entities, and we are also subject to t8eduti-boycott law.

The laws and regulations concerning import and ebguivity, recordkeeping and reporting, importlagxport control and economic
sanctions are complex and constantly changing.éltaes and regulations may be enacted, amendeatcedfor interpreted in a manner
materially impacting our operations. A global ecomodownturn may increase some foreign governmegifetts to enact, enforce, amend or
interpret laws and regulations as a method to asge@evenue. Shipments can be delayed and denpedtior export for a variety of reasons,
some of which are outside our control and someto€lwmay result from failure to comply with exiggitegal and regulatory regimes. Shipp
delays or denials could cause unscheduled opeahtifovntime. Any failure to comply with these applble legal and regulatory obligations
also could result in criminal and civil penaltiegdasanctions, such as fines, imprisonment, debarfran government contracts, seizure of
shipments and loss of import and export privileges.

We may also incur losses as a result of an inghditcollect revenues because of a shortage ofertible currency available in the
country of operation, controls over currency exg®aar controls over the repatriation of income ayital.

Delays or cost overruns in the construction of neillships or the modification of existing drillsips could adversely affect our
business. These risks are concentrated becausefalur drillships currently on order and under cotrsiction are being built by SHI in
South Korea.

As of February 15, 2013, we have a total of fotmrautleepwater newbuild drillships currently undenstruction (théacific Khamsin
the Pacific Sharay thePacific Meltemand our eighth drillship). We also currently haweoption with SHI to construct a ninth newbuild
drillship on the same terms and conditions as tifmseur eighth drillship. We may enter into agrests to commence newbuild projects in the
future. Additionally, as part of our growth stragage may contract from time to time for the constion of drilling units. Such construction
projects are subject to risks of delay or cost awes inherent in any large construction projeatiuiding costs or delays resulting from the
following:

» shipyard availability

» unexpected delays in delivery times for, or sharsagf, key equipment, parts and materi

» shortages of skilled labor and other shipyard perebnecessary to perform the wa

» shortages or unforeseen increases in the cosugragnt, labor and raw materials, particularly kt
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» unforeseen design and engineering problems, intduttiose relating to the commissioning of newlyigiesd equipment
* unanticipated actual or purported change orc

» work stoppages and labor disput

« latent damages or deterioration to hull, equipnagit machinery in excess of engineering estimatésassumptions
e delays in, or inability to obtain, access to finiagg

» failure or delay of thir-party service providers and labor dispu

» disputes with shipyards and supplie

e our requests for changes to the original rig speatibns;

» delays and unexpected costs of incorporating jpadsmaterials needed for the completion of proje

» financial or other difficulties at shipyards angpliers;

» adverse weather conditions or storm dam

» inability to obtain required permits or approvasg

» defective construction and the resultant needdoredial work

These factors may contribute to cost variancesdatad/s in the delivery of our newbuild units. Oisks are concentrated because all of
our drillships currently on order and under consinn are being built by SHI in South Korea.

We have entered into drilling contracts with resgechePacific Khamsirand thePacific Sharawand we intend to enter into drilling
contracts for th@acific Meltemand our eighth drillship prior to delivery if matksonditions permit. With respect to the contragtshave or
may enter into with respect to these drillship®ptd delivery, any delays in the delivery of outtiships would result in a loss of revenue and
may subject us to penalties due to delays in cont@mmencement and may result in termination ortehing of the term of the drilling
contract for the rig by the customer pursuant faliapble late delivery clauses. We will not recearey material increase in revenue or cash
flow from new or modified drillships until they aptaced in service and customers enter into bindmgngements for the use of such
drillships. In the event of termination of one bése contracts, we may not be able to secure @aespkent contract on as favorable terms, or a
all. If we experience delays and costs overrurieénconstruction of our drillships due to any of factors listed above, our financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows could be mallgradversely affected.

We have a limited operating history, which makesriore difficult to accurately forecast our futureasults and may make it difficult fc
investors to evaluate our business and our futum@gpects, both of which will increase the risk afyr investment in our common shares.

We did not begin to recognize operating revenué tht Pacific Boracommenced drilling operations on August 26, 201 Racific
Scirocco, thePacific Mistraland thePacific Santa An@ommenced drilling operations on December 31, 26&bruary 6, 2012 and May 4,
2012, respectively. Following shipyard constructioommissioning and testing, tRacific Khamsin thePacific Sharay, thePacific Meltem
and our eighth drillship are expected to be de#iddo us at the shipyard in June 2013, the fourtirtgr of 2013, the second quarter of 2014
and the first quarter of 2015, respectively. Upefivery, thePacific Khamsiris expected to enter service in one of several wimsnglobally,
including Nigeria, Liberia and certain Asian couedy, in the fourth quarter of 2013 under a two-yaartract with a subsidiary of Chevron and
the Pacific Sharaus expected to enter service in the U.S. Gulf okide in the second quarter of 2014 under a fivergeatract with a
subsidiary of Chevron.
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Because of our limited operating history, we lagteasive historical financial and operational dataking it more difficult for an
investor to evaluate our business, forecast ourdutevenues and other operating results and atbeeswerits and risks of an investment in our
common shares. This lack of information will incsedahe risk of your investment in our common shaveseover, investors should consider
and evaluate our prospects in light of the risks amcertainties frequently encountered by companittsa limited operating history. These
risks and difficulties include challenges in act¢arfinancial planning as a result of limited histaf data and the uncertainties resulting from
having had a relatively limited time period in whito implement and evaluate our business strategieempared to older companies with
longer operating histories. If we are not abletocgssfully meet these challenges, our financiatlitimn, results of operations and cash flows
could be materially adversely affected.

Shortages of equipment, spare parts and ancillagnsces could have a negative impact on our oparas.

Our operations rely on the timely supply of equiptrend spare parts to maintain and repair our.flé%et also rely on the supply of
ancillary services, including, among others, sugyugts, helicopter services, catering serviceseagiheering and technical services. Shorti
in materials, delays in the delivery of necessagrs parts, equipment or other materials, or tlevaifability of ancillary services could
negatively impact our operations and result inéases in rig downtime and delays in the repairmaaithitenance of our fleet.

The Project Facilities Agreement, our 2015 Seniongecured Bonds, our 2017 Senior Secured Notes dmedSenior Secured Credit
Facility Agreement impose significant operating atfithancial restrictions on certain of our subsidids, which may prevent us from
capitalizing on business opportunities and takingrse actions.

The Project Facilities Agreement contains sevegstrictions on the activities of our subsidiarycifte Drilling Limited (as guarantor of
borrowings under the Project Facilities Agreemamt) all of its subsidiaries, including Pacific Bata., Pacific Scirocco Ltd., Pacific Mistral
Ltd. and Pacific Santa Ana S.a.r.l., each of whéch borrower under the Project Facilities Agreem8nbstantially all of our current and
expected near-term revenues are derived from #@giees. These restrictions limit the ability @fah of those entities to, among other things:

* make certain types of loans and investme

* make dividends or other payments to us, redeempurchase stock, prepay, redeem or repurchased#heor make other
restricted payment:

* incur or guarantee additional indebtedn:

* use proceeds from asset sales, new indebtednegsiity issuances for general corporate purpos@s/estment into our current
business

» investin certain new joint venture
» create or incur liens
» sell assets or consolidate or merge with or inkeotompanies
* engage in transactions with affiliates; ¢
» enter into new lines of busine!
The Project Facilities Agreement also containsraler of financial covenants that impose signifigastrictions on us, including
requirements that our subsidiary, Pacific Drillinignited, maintain certain liquidity levels and fimaial ratios. The restrictions and covenants

contained in our debt agreements may prevent us fating actions that we believe would be in owstleterest and may make it difficult for
us to successfully
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execute our business strategy or effectively compéth companies that are not similarly restricdtk may also incur future debt obligations
that may subject us to additional restrictive cargn that could affect our financial and operatidiexibility. Our ability to comply with these
restrictions and covenants, including meeting faialrratios and tests, may be affected by evengsrmkour control. The breach of any of th
covenants and restrictions could result in a défandier the agreements governing our debt. An esfedéfault under any of these agreements
would permit some of the lenders to declare all amt® borrowed from them to be due and payabledditian, debt under other debt
instruments that contain cross-acceleration orssdagault provisions may also be accelerated andrbe due and payable. If any of these
events occur, our assets might not be sufficiengpay in full all of our outstanding indebtedness] we may not be able to find alternative
financing. Even if we could obtain alternative fiiéng, such financing might not be on terms thatfaworable or acceptable. If we were
unable to repay amounts borrowed, the holderseotlébt could initiate a bankruptcy or liquidaticgeeding.

Our 2015 Senior Unsecured Bonds (as defined betowain provisions that limit, with certain exceyts, the ability of the Company
and our subsidiaries to (i) merge or demergedigpose of assets, (iii) incur financial indebtesihand (iv) pay dividends exceeding 50% of
consolidated net income for the preceding fiscary&he bonds also require compliance with findraaenants including (i) a minimum
equity ratio of 35%, (ii) a minimum liquidity of $2million and (iii) a leverage restriction limitirfpe outstanding secured and unsecured
borrowings on a consolidated basis (excluding Termmydmport Bond Facilities) to an average of $4Ti8ion per drillship. The 2015 Senior
Unsecured Bonds contain events of default thatiswal and customary for a financing of this typee sind purpose. Upon the occurrence ¢
event of default, borrowings under the 2015 Sebiosecured Bonds are subject to acceleration.

The 2017 Senior Secured Notes contain provisicaislithit, with certain exceptions, the ability o&étfic Drilling S.A., the Issuer (as
defined below) and Pacific Drilling S.A.’s otheistdcted subsidiaries to (i) pay dividends, purehasredeem Pacific Drilling S.A.’s capital
stock or subordinated indebtedness of the Issuanyguarantor or make other restricted paymeiitén¢ur or guarantee additional
indebtedness or issue preferred stock, (iii) creaiacur liens and (iv) create unrestricted suiasids, (v) enter into transactions with affiliates
(vi) enter into new lines of business, (vii) tragrsér sell thePacific Khamsirand other related assets and (viii) merge or deenerg

The Senior Secured Credit Facility Agreement coistaertain restrictions on our activities (as gnarathereunder), including our ability
to make dividends and transact with affiliates. Bemior Secured Credit Facility Agreement also aimstseveral restrictions on the activitie
our subsidiaries, Pacific Sharav S.a r.l. and Rabifilling VII Limited, (each of which is a borrogr under the Senior Secured Credit Facility
Agreement), including, among other things, restitt on their ability to:

* make certain types of loans and investme

e incur or guarantee additional indebtedn:

» create or incur liens

» sell assets or consolidate or merge with or inbeotompanies
* engage in transactions with affiliates; ¢

* enter into new lines of busine:

The Senior Secured Credit Facility Agreement atsttains a number of financial covenants that imgageificant restrictions on us,
including requirements that we maintain certaimiliify levels and financial ratios.

See Item 5, “Liquidity and Capital Resources—Desi@n of Indebtedness” for a description of thenieSons and covenants applicable
to our Project Facilities Agreement, the 2015 Sebliesecured Bonds, the 2017 Senior Secured NotkthanSenior Secured Credit Facility
Agreement.
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Operating and maintenance costs will not necessafilictuate in proportion to changes in operatingvenues.

We do not expect operating and maintenance coslisctoiate in direct proportion to changes in opiagarevenues. The principal
components of our operating costs are, among thiegs, direct and indirect costs of labor and liesyenaintenance and spare parts and
insurance. Operating revenues may fluctuate ascifin of changes in dayrates. However, costs fierating a drillship are generally fixed or
only semi-variable regardless of the dayrate besnged. In addition, should one of our drillshipsur idle time between contracts, we would
typically maintain the crew to prepare the drilgsfdr its next contract and would not reduce ctstorrespond with the decrease in revenue.
During times of moderate activity, reductions irstsomay not be immediate, as the crew may be rdjtir prepare the drillship for stacking,
after which time the crew will be reduced to a lavecessary to maintain the drillship in workingnddion with the extra crew members
assigned to active drillships or dismissed. In &l as drillships are mobilized from one geogiepbcation to another, the labor and other
operating and maintenance costs can vary signtficaBquipment maintenance expenses fluctuate dépgmpon the type of activity a
drillship is performing and the age and conditiénhe equipment. Contract preparation expenseshasgd on the scope and length of con
preparation required and the duration of the fiontcactual period over which such expendituresaamertized.

Failure to employ a sufficient number of skilled wiers or an increase in labor costs could negatiyelffect our operations.

We require skilled personnel to operate and protédanical services to, and support for, our difis. In periods of increasing activity
and when the number of operating units in our aoéaperation increases, either because of newticani®n, re-activation of idle units or the
mobilization of units into the region, shortagegjoflified personnel could arise, creating upwasbsgure on wages, higher turnover and
difficulty in staffing. A shortage of qualified pswnnel, the inability to obtain and retain quafifigersonnel or a reduction in the experience
level of our personnel as a result of increasedowgr could negatively affect the quality and timess of our work and lead to higher
downtime and more operating incidents, which imttwuld decrease revenues and increase costsrébsed competition for labor were to
intensify in the future, we may experience incredaeecosts or limits on operations. In additions, ability to expand operations depends in par
upon our ability to increase the size of our sHillabor force.

An inability to obtain visas and work permits foiuo employees on a timely basis could negativelyeeaffour operations and have an
adverse effect on our business.

Our ability to operate worldwide depends on oulfigttio obtain the necessary visas and work perfit®ur personnel to travel in and
out of, and to work in, the jurisdictions in whiale operate. Governmental actions in some of thedigtions in which we operate may make it
difficult for us to move our personnel in and ofitteese jurisdictions by delaying or withholdingtapproval of these permits. If we are not
able to obtain visas and work permits for the eippds we need for operating our drillships on aligrbasis, we might not be able to perform
our obligations under our drilling contracts, whibuld allow our customers to cancel the contrdttsur customers cancel some of our
contracts, and we are unable to secure new costwaca timely basis and on substantially similamtg our financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows could be materially adsgraffected.

Our business is subject to numerous governmentaldaand regulations, including those that may impasgnificant costs and liability
on us for environmental and natural resource damage

Many aspects of our operations are subject todardederal, regional, state and local laws andlegipns that may relate directly or
indirectly to the contract drilling and well seririg industries, including those requiring us toadbtand maintain specific permits or other
governmental approvals to control the dischargalatnd other contaminants into the environmentberwise relating to environmental
protection. Countries where we operate have enwisgnial laws and regulations covering the dischafggl and other contaminants and
protection of the environment in connection witlr operations. Additionally, any operations and\atiéis in the United States and
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its territorial waters will be subject to numerams/ironmental laws and regulations, including thieF@llution Act of 1990 (“OPA”), the Outer
Continental Shelf Lands Act (“OCSLA"), the Compreka&e Environmental Response, Compensation andlityaict (“CERCLA”) and the
International Convention for the Prevention of Btidin from Ships (“MARPOL"), as each has been aneghfilom time to time, and analogous
state laws. Failure to comply with these laws, tatiens and treaties may result in the assessnietninistrative, civil and even criminal
penalties, the imposition of remedial obligatioiie denial or revocation of permits or other auttairons and the issuance of injunctions that
may limit or prohibit some or all of our operatiohsws and regulations protecting the environmewehbecome more stringent in recent year
and may in certain circumstances impose strictliipbrendering us liable for environmental andural resource damages without regard to
negligence or fault on our part. These laws andlegipns may expose us to liability for the condofGtor conditions caused by, others or for
acts that were in compliance with all applicabledaat the time the acts were performed. The agpicaf these laws and regulations, the
modification of existing laws or regulations or theéoption of new laws or regulations that curtapleratory or developmental drilling for oil
and natural gas could materially limit future cawctrdrilling opportunities or materially increasgr @osts. In addition, we may be required to
make significant capital expenditures to complyhvatich laws and regulations.

We could be adversely affected by violations of th&. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar feign anti-bribery laws.

The United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Ad (FCPA”) and similar worldwide anti-bribery lawsmgerally prohibit companies and
their intermediaries from making, offering or autlzing improper payments to non-U.S. governmencils for the purpose of obtaining or
retaining business. We operate in several countriesse strict compliance with artiribery laws may conflict with local customs andgtices
Violations of antibribery laws (either due to our acts or our inatiere) may result in criminal and civil sanctionsl @ould subject us to otf
liabilities in the U.S. and elsewhere. Even allewe of such violations could disrupt our businasd result in a material adverse effect on our
business and operations. We may be subject to ddimpelisadvantages to the extent that our corqstiare able to secure business, license:
or other preferential treatment by making paymémtgovernment officials and others in positionsnfiuence or using other methods that U.S.
and foreign laws and regulations and our own padigirohibit us from using.

In order to effectively compete in some foreigrigdictions, we utilize local agents and/or estdibj@nt ventures with local operators or
strategic partners. For example, in Nigeria, weehastablished the PIDWAL joint venture, which i#896wned by us and 10% owned by
Derotech Offshore Services Limited (“Derotech”pravately-held Nigerian registered limited liabjlicompany. PIDWAL is party to the
contract with a subsidiary of Chevron for tRacific Boraand the contract with a subsidiary of Total for Bezific Scirocca Derotech is also
performing marketing services for PIDWAL. In additi we entered into an agreement with a marketeg@in Brazil and have agreements
with agents in both Nigeria and Brazil, pursuantvtich the agents, among other activities, prowesss, customs clearance of routine
shipments of equipment, materials and suppliespanckss temporary importation permits, extensiomsranewals. One of our logistics and
supply-chain agents in Nigeria is an affiliate afrbtech. All of these activities involve interactiby our agents with non-U.S. government
officials. Even though some of our agents and gastmay not themselves be subject to the FCPAhar @ion-U.S. anti-bribery laws to which
we may be subject, if our agents or partners madgedper payments to non-U.S. government officialsannection with engagements or
partnerships with us, we could be investigated@otdntially found liable for violation of such a#ftiibery laws and could incur civil and
criminal penalties and other sanctions, which ctwalde a material adverse effect on our businesan€ial position, results of operations and
cash flows.

We may be required to make significant capital ergéures to maintain our competitiveness and to qagnwith laws and the
applicable regulations and standards of governmdraathorities and organizations, which would negagly affect our financial condition,
result of operations and cash flows.

Changes in offshore drilling technology, custonegruirements for new or upgraded equipment and ctitigpewithin our industry may
require us to make significant capital expenditumesrder to maintain our
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competitiveness. Our competitors may have greatanéial and other resources than we have, whighenable them to make technological
improvements to existing equipment or replace ageipt that becomes obsolete. In addition, changgevarnmental regulations, safety or
other equipment standards, as well as complianttestandards imposed by maritime self-regulatoganizations, may require us to make
additional unforeseen capital expenditures. Fompta, we may be required to make significant capit@enditures for alterations or the
addition of new equipment to satisfy requiremeritthe U.S. Coast Guard and the American Burealhgdfing. As a result, we may be
required to take our vessels out of service foemrdéed periods of time, with corresponding lossegwénues, in order to make such alterations
or to add such equipment. In the future, marketlt@ons may not justify these expenditures or eaalsl to operate our older vessels profitably
during the remainder of their economic lives.

If we are unable to fund these capital expendituigis cash flow from operations, we may either inadditional borrowings or raise
capital through the sale of debt or equity se@sitOur ability to access the capital marketsdture offerings may be limited by our financial
condition at the time, by changes in laws and r&tipis (or interpretation thereof) and by adverseket conditions resulting from, among
other things, general economic conditions and ogeticies and uncertainties that are beyond ouralotftwe raise additional funds by issu
additional equity securities, existing shareholdeay experience dilution. Our failure to obtain theds for necessary future capital
expenditures would limit our ability to continuedperate some of our vessels and could have aialatdverse effect on our business and on
our financial condition, results of operations @agh flows.

Worldwide economic and financial problems may maédiy reduce our revenue, profitability and cashoflvs.

Worldwide economic and financial problems may rediie availability of liquidity and credit to furmlisiness operations worldwide and
could adversely affect our customers, supplierslanders. The global recession caused a reductismildwide demand for energy. Demand
for our services depends on activity in the oil aatliral gas industry and capital expenditure Evedch of which is directly affected by trends
in oil and natural gas demand. Any prolonged rédudh oil and natural gas demand would furtherrdep the current levels of exploration,
development and production activity. Perception®wkr oil and natural gas prices by oil and ndtges companies over the long-term can
similarly reduce or delay major expenditures. Lovesels of activity result in a corresponding deelin the demand for our services, which
could have a material adverse effect on our firera@indition, results of operations and cash flows.

New technology and/or products may cause us to beedess competitive, negatively impact our openagior increase our costs.

The offshore contract drilling industry is subjézthe introduction of new drilling techniques aswtvices that utilize new technologies,
some of which may be subject to patent protecti@w technologies and applications are constanilygogeveloped that improve the
economics of producing oil and natural gas andnaftr the production of deposits formerly considetmeconomic to develop. As our
competitors and others use or develop new techiespgie may be placed at a competitive disadvantaggher, we may face competitive
pressure to implement or acquire certain new telcigies at a substantial cost. Some of our compstttave greater financial, technical and
personnel resources that may allow them to aceebsivlogical advantages and implement new techiesdgefore we can. We cannot be
certain that we will be able to implement new tesbgy or products on a timely basis or at an aa@ptcost. Thus, our inability to effectively
use and implement new and emerging technology doale a material adverse effect on our financiatdmn, results of operations or cash
flows.

Technology disputes involving us, our supplierssarb-suppliers could negatively impact our operatsor increase our costs.

Drilling units and drilling rig operations use pated or otherwise proprietary technology and, cqueatly, involve a potential risk of
infringement of third party rights. The majority thfe intellectual
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property rights relating to our drillships and tethequipment are owned by us or our suppliersilorssippliers. In the event that we or one of
our suppliers or sub-suppliers becomes involvedl dispute over infringement of intellectual progeights relating to equipment owned or
used by us, we may lose access to repair serviaeplacement parts, or we could be required tseeae of some equipment. We could also
be required to pay royalties for the use of equipimeechnology disputes involving us or our supglier sub-suppliers could adversely affect
our financial results and operations.

We could be sued for patent infringement.

We could be sued for patent infringement relatecettain technologies used on our drillships. Toaean sued Maersk Contractors USA
Inc. ("Maersk”) for infringing two of Transoceanl$.S. patents involving dual activity on drillingsesnblies. Some of our drillships can utilize
technology related to the subject of this patespuiie. In April 2011, a jury determined that Maehgkl not established that the asserted pater
claims were invalid, that Maersk had infringed #gfims, and awarded Transocean $15 million foerglds infringement. On June 30, 2011,
the judge presiding over the case invalidateduhgaward, entered judgment in Maersk’s favor, dettrmined as a matter of law that the
asserted patent claims were invalid for obviousnbss they were invalid for having a defectivegrdtapplication and that Maersk had not
infringed. Transocean appealed this judgment amtbivember 2012 prevailed on appeal. In January 20h2rsk filed a petition for panel
rehearing and rehearing en banc. The motion wagdem February 21, 2013 and Maersk has 90 dafjie t@ petition for certification with th
U.S. Supreme Court. Transocean could choose tasoeour customers for infringing its patents & use, offer to sell, or sell related
technology in the United States, and we could besfibto discontinue the use of the technology #stjon, pay royalties to Transocean, or
make indemnity payments to our customers.

Dual gradient drilling techniques may not result ithe currently expected benefits and, as a resdéimand may not develop for these
capabilities.

The Pacific Santa Anathe Pacific Khamsin the Pacific Sharavthe Pacific Meltemand our eighth drillship have, or upon completion
will have, dual gradient drilling upgrades. Duahdient drilling is a technology that allows twofdient pressure gradients to be maintained in
the well (one in the drilling riser and one in tlell below the mudline) by a process of replacingdrfrom the drilling riser with a seawater-
density fluid. Although dual gradient drilling teablogy was technically proven ten years ago Rheific Santa Anavill be the first rig to
deploy this technology for commercial applicatibual gradient drilling may not result in expectedisgs in cost and time per well, higher
flow rates and greater access to “undrillable” resg and, as a result, demand may not developmésetcapabilities. In addition, the dual
gradient drilling concept that will be deployedthye Pacific Santa Ands disclosed in patents assigned to Chevron. Atamulid interpret our
license with Chevron to require that our drillingnéract with Chevron for the use of tRacific Santa Anar thePacific Sharayor any
subsequent dual gradient capable rig) remain ecefbr the license to use the technical infornratitata, and knowledge made available by
Chevron for dual gradient drilling operations ihalour drilling units even after the license talaffect on February 1, 2014. In the event that
dual gradient drilling does not result in expedbetefits to our customers, demand does not deVetdhese capabilities or our license with
Chevron is found to be invalid, this technology nmay result in the currently expected benefits.

There may be limits to our ability to mobilize dships between geographic areas, and the time aostg of such mobilizations may be
material to our business.

The offshore contract drilling market is generallglobal market as drilling units may be mobiliZezm one area to another. However,
the ability to mobilize drilling units can be imgad by several factors including, but not limited governmental regulation and customs
practices, the significant costs to move a drillimgt, weather, political instability, civil unresnilitary actions and the technical capability of
the drilling units to operate in various environrse\dditionally, while a drillship is being mokikd from one geographic market to another,
we may not be paid by the customer for the timéttiadrillship is out of service. Also, we may nile a drillship to another geographic
market without a customer contract, which will iésu costs not reimbursable by future customers.
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Our drilling contracts may be terminated early iregain circumstances.

Our contracts with customers may be terminateeabption of the customer upon payment of an dariyination fee, which is typically
a significant percentage of the dayrate or theddtamate under the drilling contract for a spedfgeriod of time. Such payments may not,
however, fully compensate us for the loss of thetreat. Our contracts also provide for terminatigrnthe customer without the payment of any
termination fee, under various circumstances, sipiéncluding, but not limited to, our non-perfoamce, as a result of downtime or impaired
performance caused by equipment or operationat$ssar sustained periods of downtime due to foragune events. Many of these events ar
beyond our control. During periods of depressedketazonditions, we are subject to an increasedafigkur customers seeking to terminate
their contracts, including through claims of nomfpemance. Our customers’ ability to perform theliligations under their drilling contracts
with us may also be negatively impacted by contiguglobal economic uncertainty. If our customermteate some of our contracts, and we
are unable to secure new contracts on a timelys lzeml on substantially similar terms, or if paynsediie under our contracts are suspended f
an extended period of time or if a number of ourteacts are renegotiated, our financial conditresults of operations or cash flows could be
materially adversely affected. In addition, if asfyour drilling contracts for thBacific Bora, thePacific Sciroccq thePacific Mistralor the
Pacific Santa Anidefaults, is terminated, and is not replaced imely manner with an acceptable contract underRsaject Facilities
Agreement, our obligations to repay outstandingbtddness under the Project Facilities Agreemenbeaaccelerated.

An event of default may be triggered by the occunte of events in connection with our other indebtex$s.

Our indebtedness consists of a number of diffepbfijations, each governed by separate agreenfauntsuant to the terms of the
agreements governing our indebtedness, an evaetfadlt may be triggered by the occurrence of sonal of the following events in
connection with our other indebtedness: (i) failtorenake payments when due or upon maturity, éfeeration of such other indebtedness
(iii) events of default due to breaches of covesamtotherwise under the agreements governing atdebtedness. The occurrence of an even
of default under any of the agreements governingralebtedness as a result of such events wowdd/alie relevant creditors to accelerate
such indebtedness. In the event of any acceleratiermay not have enough cash to repay our ouisiguttlebtedness.

We are a holding company and are dependent uporhdé®w from subsidiaries to meet our obligationd.dur operating subsidiaries
experience sufficiently adverse changes in theirdncial position or results of operations, or wehetrwise become unable to pay our debt
they become due and obtain further credit, we ma&gcbme subject to Luxembourg insolvency proceedings.

As we currently conduct our operations through, emogt of our assets are owned by, our subsidiasigspperating income and cash f
are generated by our subsidiaries. As a resull, wasobtain from our subsidiaries is the princigalirce of funds necessary to meet our
obligations. Contractual provisions or laws, ashaelour subsidiaries’ financial condition, opangtrequirements and debt requirements, may
limit our ability to obtain cash from subsidiarigsat we require to pay our expenses or meet owewuor future debt service obligations.
Applicable tax laws may also subject such payments by subsidiaries to further taxation.

The inability to transfer cash from our subsidianeay mean that, even though we may have suffiogmaiurces on a consolidated basis
to meet our obligations, we may not be permitteshédke the necessary transfers from our subsidiarieseet our debt and other obligations.
Likewise, we may not be able to make necessargfeesmfrom our subsidiaries in order to providedsifior the payment of our obligations, for
which we are or may become responsible under thestef the agreements governing our indebtedndsstdrms of certain of the agreements
governing our indebtedness described under Itétnigyidity and Capital Resources—Description of éfidedness” also place restrictions on
our cash balance and require us to maintain res@fveash which could inhibit our ability to meefr@bligations.
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If our operating subsidiaries experience suffidieatlverse changes in their financial positionesults of operations, or we otherwise
become unable to pay our debts as they becomendueldain further credit, we may be in a stateasfsation of paymentséssation de
paiements) and lose our commercial creditworthinegb(anlement de credjf which could result in the commencement of ineaby
proceedings in Luxembourg. Such proceedings woane: fla material adverse effect on our financial @@ results of operations or cash
flows and could have a significant negative imgactthe market price of our common shares.

The loss of some of our key executive officers amployees could negatively impact our business.

Our future operational performance depends torfgignt degree upon the continued service of keynimers of our management as v
as marketing, sales and operations personnel.08seof one or more of our key personnel could lzaveterial adverse effect on our business
We believe our future success will also dependigd part upon our ability to attract, retain amdHer motivate highly skilled management,
marketing, sales and operations personnel. We xpgrience intense competition for personnel, angnag not be able to retain key
employees or be successful in attracting, assimgjand retaining personnel in the future.

Our business involves numerous operating hazardsd aur insurance may not be adequate to cover aasdes.

Our operations are subject to the usual hazarageénhin the drilling and operation of oil and rratugas wells, such as blowouts,
reservoir damage, loss of production, loss of weiitrol, craterings, fires, explosions and pollatidhe occurrence of any of these events ¢
result in the suspension of our drilling or prodoctoperations, claims by the operator, severe den, or destruction of, the property and
equipment involved, injury or death to drilling tipersonnel and environmental damage. Our opesationld be suspended as a result of thes
hazards whether the fault is ours or that of altharty. In certain circumstances, governmentdi@ities may suspend drilling operations as a
result of these hazards, and our customers mayetanterminate their contracts. We may also bgestito personal injury and other claims of
drilling unit personnel as a result of our drillingerations. Our operations also may be suspenelsalibe of machinery breakdowns, abnorma
operating conditions, failure of subcontractorpéoform or supply goods or services and persorretages.

In addition, our operations will be subject to fepeculiar to marine operations, including capgjzigrounding, collision and loss or
damage from severe weather. Severe weather couddehmaterial adverse effect on our operations.diiliing units could be damaged by
high winds, turbulent seas or unstable sea bottmmditions which could potentially cause us to dudperations for significant periods of time
until such damages are repaired.

Damage to the environment could result from ouraipens, particularly through oil spillage or ex¢are uncontrolled fires. We may also
be subject to property, environmental, natural wes® and other damage claims by oil and naturatgagpanies, other businesses operating
offshore and in coastal areas, environmental coatien groups, governmental entities and othedtparties. Insurance policies and
contractual rights to indemnity may not adequatelyer losses, and we may not have insurance cay@ragghts to indemnity for all risks.
Moreover, pollution and environmental risks gengrate not fully insurable.

As a result of the number of catastrophic eventhénoffshore drilling industry in recent yearscgisas hurricanes in the Gulf of Mexico
and theDeepwater Horizowlrilling rig incident, insurance underwriters hamereased insurance premiums and increased réstgain
coverage. In particular, hurricane losses in regeats have impacted named windstorm insuranceragegerates and availability for Gulf of
Mexico area exposures. The Project Facilities Aguex@t requires us to carry named windstorm insuramtiee event that two or more of our
drillships secured under the Project Facilitieséggnent operate in the Gulf of Mexico or other arase to the occurrence of named
windstorms. Currently, we only have one drillshgggred under the Project Facilities AgreementPtheific Santa Anacontracted to operate
in the Gulf of Mexico and are therefore presently required to carry named windstorm insuranceudfwere required to obtain named
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windstorm insurance in the future, our costs faaobng insurance coverage could significantly @age. Furthermore, we may not be able to
obtain such insurance on commercially reasonabteste

Losses caused by the occurrence of a significatteagainst which we are not fully insured, or eallsy a number of lesser events
against which we are insured but are subject tetanbial deductibles, aggregate limits and/or sefired amounts, could materially increase
our costs and impair our profitability and finanaandition. Our policy limits for property, castlliability and business interruption
insurance, including coverage for severe weatkemtist acts, war, civil disturbances, pollutianemvironmental damage, may not be adequa
should a catastrophic event occur related to copety, plant or equipment, or our insurers mayhaste adequate financial resources to
sufficiently or fully pay related claims or damag®éhen any of our coverage expires, adequate replant coverage may not be available,
offered at reasonable prices or offered by insusétfs sufficient financial resources.

Our customers may be unable or unwilling to indenfyus.

Consistent with standard industry practice, outamers generally assume, and indemnify us agaimk,control and subsurface risks
under our dayrate contracts. These risks are agsdowith the loss of control of a well, such asAmut or cratering, the cost to regain control
or redrill the well and associated pollution. Howewur indemnification may not cover all damag#aims or losses to us or third parties, and
the customer may not have sufficient resourcegverctheir indemnification obligations or the custer may contest their obligation to
indemnify us. Also, in the interest of maintainiggod relations with our key customers, we may cagut to assert certain indemnification
claims. In addition, from time to time, we may b®able to negotiate contracts containing indemnibtyisions that obligate our customers to
indemnify us for such damages and risks.

Our financial condition may be adversely affectedne fail to successfully integrate acquired assetdusinesses we acquire, or are
unable to obtain financing for acquisitions on acp&able terms.

We believe that acquisition opportunities may afisen time to time, and any such acquisition cduddsignificant. At any given time,
discussions with one or more potential sellers gt different stages. However, any such discnssimay not result in the consummation of
an acquisition transaction, and we may not be tabidentify or complete any acquisitions. We canpredict the effect, if any, that any
announcement or consummation of an acquisition evbakle on the trading price of our common shares.

Any future acquisitions could present a numbelisis; including:

» the risk of using management time and resourcpsiteue acquisitions that are not successfully cetagt

» the risk of incorrect assumptions regarding tharitesults of acquired operatio

» the risk of failing to integrate the operationaginagement of any acquired operations or assatessfally and timely; an
» the risk of diversion of managem'’s attention from existing operations or other piies.

In addition, if we are unsuccessful in integratimy acquisitions in a timely and cost-effective mam our financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows could be materially adsgraffected.

Our potential purchase of existing vessels carriesks associated with the quality of those vessels.

In the future, we may acquire existing vessels asyof renewing and expanding our fleet. Unlikevhailds, existing vessels typically
do not carry warranties with respect to their ctindi While we generally inspect any existing végs®r to purchase, such an inspection
would normally not provide us with as much knowledd its condition as we would possess if the Udsa& been built for us and operated by
us during its
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life. Repairs and maintenance costs for existirgseks are difficult to predict and may be more i@l than for vessels that we have
operated since they were built. These costs caeddedse our profits and reduce our liquidity.

We may suffer losses as a result of foreign currgriltictuations.

A significant portion of the contract revenues af éoreign operations will be paid in U.S. Dollahgiwever, some payments are made in
foreign currencies. As a result, we are exposeaaiteency fluctuations and exchange rate risksrasalt of our foreign operations. To minim
the financial impact of these risks when we arel jraiforeign currency, we attempt to match the enicy of operating costs with the currency
of contract revenue. If we are unable to substiytiaatch the timing and amounts of these paymeantg,increase in the value of the
U.S. Dollar in relation to the value of applicaideeign currencies could adversely affect our ofegaresults when translated into U.S. Doll

We are exposed to the credit risks of our customarsd nonpayment by our customers could adverséfga our financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows.

We are subject to risks of loss resulting from repnpent or nonperformance by our customers. Any right@onpayment or
nonperformance by our customers and certain oltiel parties could adversely affect our financiahdition, results of operations or cash
flows. If any of our customers or other partiesaddif on their obligations to us, our financial caiwh, results of operations or cash flows coulc
be adversely affected. Furthermore, some of ouomers and other parties may be highly leveragedsabject to their own operating and
regulatory risks.

Terrorist attacks, piracy, increased hostilities war could lead to further economic instability, aneased costs and disruption of our
business.

Terrorist attacks, piracy and other current or fetimternational conflicts, may adversely affect business, operating results, financial
condition, ability to raise capital and future gtbwContinuing hostilities in the Middle East magad to additional armed conflicts or to further
acts of terrorism and civil disturbance in the @diStates, or elsewhere, which may contribute tibidn economic instability and disruption of
oil production and distribution, which could resmitreduced demand for our services.

In addition, oil facilities, shipyards, vesselgyglines and oil and natural gas fields could bgetiar of future terrorist attacks and our
vessels could be targets of pirates or hijackeny. guch attacks could lead to, among other thibngdily injury or loss of life, vessel or other
property damage, increased vessel operational,dnsbsding insurance costs, and the inabilityremsport oil and natural gas to or from cer
locations. Terrorist attacks, war, piracy or oteeents beyond our control that adversely affeciptiogluction of oil could entitle our customers
to terminate our drilling contracts, which wouldveaa material adverse effect on our financial coowj results of operations and cash flows.

Risks Relating to Our Common Shares

The rights and responsibilities of our shareholdesise governed by Luxembourg law and differ in somespects from the rights and
responsibilities of shareholders under other juristions, including the United States, and sharehetdrights under Luxembourg law may
not be as clearly established as shareholder rigimsler the laws of other jurisdictions.

Our corporate affairs are governed by our artiofesssociation, as amended from time to time (#wti¢les”), and by the laws governing
companies incorporated in Luxembourg. The rightswfshareholders
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and the responsibilities of members of our boardifctors (the “Board of Directorsi)nder Luxembourg law may not be as clearly estaéd
as shareholder rights under the laws of otherdigi®mns. We anticipate that all of our shareholaeretings will take place in Luxembourg.

In addition, the rights of shareholders as thegtesto, for example, the exercise of shareholdgatsi are governed by Luxembourg law
and our Articles and differ from the rights of shlaolders under other jurisdictions, including theiteld States. The holders of our common
shares may have more difficulty in protecting theierests in the face of actions by the Board iné®ors than if we were incorporated in the
United States.

Because we are incorporated under the laws of Luxemarg, shareholders may face difficulty protectitigeir interests, and their
ability to protect their rights through other interational courts, including the United States, mag bmited.

We are incorporated under the laws of Luxembound,the majority of our assets are located outsideUnited States. As a result, it n
be difficult for investors to effect service of pass within certain jurisdictions, including theitéd States, in a way that will permit a court in
such country to have jurisdiction over us, or téoere judgments against them obtained in the W8rts, including judgments predicated upor
the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federahd state securities laws. Please read Item 10pt€smability of Civil Liabilities.”

We are controlled by a single shareholder, whichutresult in potential conflicts of interest witbur public shareholders.

An entity controlled by the Quantum Pacific Grosmibeneficial owner of approximately 69.2% of outstanding common shares as of
February 15, 2013 and is in a position to contotioms that require the consent of our sharehodeckiding the election of directors,
amendment of our Articles and any merger or sakubstantially all of our assets. In addition, thneembers of our Board of Directors are
employees of affiliates of the Quantum Pacific Groacluding Mr. Ron Moskovitz, the Chairman of @®ward of Directors.

There are no restrictions on the ability of the @uen Pacific Group to compete with us. In additipatential conflicts of interest exist or
could arise in the future for our directors who also officers of Quantum Pacific (UK) LLP with pest to a number of areas relating to the
past and ongoing relationships of the Quantum Ra@ifoup and us. Although the affected directory miastain from voting on matters in
which our interests and those of the Quantum RaGifoup are in conflict, the presence of potertiadctual conflicts could affect the process
or outcome of the deliberations of our Board ofddtors and may have an adverse effect on our psiticeholders.

Our controlling shareholder, Quantum Pacific (Gibitar) Limited, has pledged a significant portion @ shares in our company to
secure a loan facility. A default under this loaméility could result in another person acquiring significant voting interest in the Compar
and could adversely affect the market price of tiempany’s shares.

Our controlling shareholder, Quantum Pacific (Gltard Limited, has pledged a significant portionitsfshares in the Company to secure
a loan facility. This loan facility requires QuantPacific (Gibraltar) Limited to pledge cash cadiat if the market value of the pledged share:
falls below a certain threshold. As of February 2813, Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited has gjed approximately 30% of our
outstanding common shares to secure the loantfacuantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited may fronmi to time in the future obtain additio
loans that are secured by a pledge of additionatyemterests in the Company.

A number of factors could cause our share prigtetdine, including those risks described in thigtisa, “Risk Factors,” and a decline in
the market value of our common shares could trigggngin calls for these loan facilities. Failuredetay by Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar)
Limited to promptly meet any margin call or othgerts of default under these financing arrangemsaitd result in the sale or other
disposition of some or all of the pledged shardsckvcould result in one or more persons other fBaantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited
acquiring
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the pledged shares and thereby acquiring a significoting interest in the Company. Furthermore tluQuantum Pacific (Gibraltar)
Limited’s significant interest in the Company, tttisposition of a portion or all of its pledged gmby the lender under the loan facility or a
subsequent holder of the pledged shares may adiverféect prevailing market prices of our sharese SRisk Factors—Risks Relating to Our
Common Shares—Sales of our common shares in tHi podrket could lower our share price, and anyitaithl capital raised by us through
the sale of equity or convertible securities mdytdiour investor's ownership interest in us.”

Sales of our common shares in the public market lower our share price, and any additional capliitaised by us through the sale
of equity or convertible securities may dilute omvestor's ownership interest in us.

We may sell additional common shares in subsequériic offerings. We may also issue additional canmshares or convertible
securities. As of February 15, 2013, we have 215 issued and outstanding common shares.

As of February 15, 2013, Quantum Pacific Group o®58,000,000 shares, or approximately 69.2% ofatat outstanding common
shares. On November 16, 2011, we entered intoistragpn rights agreement with Quantum Pacifichf@itar) Limited which will require us
to effect the registration of its common sharesdrtain circumstances.

In April 2011, we issued 60,000,000 common sharesprivate offering to international and U.S. istogs in April 2011 (the “2011
Private Placement”). Subsequent to the 2011 PrREteement, our shares were traded on the Norwe&jiadList.

In November 2011, we completed an initial publifedhg of 6,000,000 common shares. In December 20lunderwriters purchased
an additional 900,000 common shares pursuant tluthexercise of an over-allotment option. Thergsasold in our initial public offering and
pursuant to the underwriters’ over-allotment optwa listed on the New York Stock Exchange (the S¥Y).

As of February 15, 2013, approximately 57,000,00@mon shares have migrated from the Norwegian OiECth the NYSE and are
now freely trading in the U.S. public market.

In March 2012, we filed a registration statemenhwhe U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission“8E€”) on Form S-8 providing
for the registration of 7,200,000 common sharaseidsr reserved for issuance under our stock ineeptan. Subject to the satisfaction of
vesting conditions, common shares registered uthiteregistration statement on Form S-8 are avigilfdy resale immediately in the public
market without restriction.

We cannot predict the size of future issuancesiotommon shares or the effect, if any, that futsseances and sales of our common
shares will have on the market price of our commslmares. Sales of substantial amounts of our conghares (including any common shares
registered pursuant to the registration rights exgent with Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited, astyares transferred by shareholders on the
Norwegian OTC to the NYSE, any common shares regidton Form -8, any shares issued in connection with an adtprisbr any other
sales of common shares in the public market), @ppirception that such sales could occur, may adleaffect prevailing market prices of our
common shares.

If we fail to maintain proper and effective interdaontrols, our ability to produce accurate and taty financial statements could be
impaired and investors’ views of us could be harmed

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other thihgsé we maintain effective internal control ofieancial reporting and disclosure
controls and procedures. In particular, we musfoper system and process evaluation and testingiointernal control over financial reporti
to allow management and our independent registaubtic accounting firm to report on the effectivea®f our internal control over financial
reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sagbadxley Act. If we are not able to comply with tiegluirements of Section 404 in a timely
manner, or if we or our independent registeredipwacounting firm identify
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deficiencies in our internal control over finanai@porting that are deemed to be material weakse#is® market price of our common shares
could decline and we could be subject to sanctimrigvestigations by the NYSE, the SEC or otheutatpry authorities, which would require
additional financial and management resources.

Our ability to successfully implement our businpis and comply with Section 404 requires us tallle to prepare timely and accurate
financial statements. We expect that we will needdntinue to improve existing, and implement nepgrational and financial systems,
procedures and controls to manage our businesstieély. Any delay in the implementation of, or diption in the transition to, new or
enhanced systems, procedures or controls, may causgerations to suffer, and we may be unabé®ixlude that our internal control over
financial reporting is effective and to obtain amualified report on internal controls from our @ats as required under Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Moreover, we cannot be cettaihthese measures would ensure that we impleamehtnaintain adequate controls over
our financial processes and reporting in the futiren if we were to conclude, and our auditorsenterconcur, that our internal control over
financial reporting provided reasonable assuraaganding the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with GAAP, becatige inherent limitations, internal control oviarancial reporting may not prevent or
detect fraud or misstatements. This, in turn, ctualde an adverse impact on trading prices for ommaon shares, and could adversely affect
our ability to access the capital markets.

We are a “foreign private issuer” and “controlledampany” under the NYSE rules, and as such, we antitted to exemption from
certain NYSE corporate governance standards, anddstors may not have the same protections afforttestockholders of companies that
are subject to all of the NYSE corporate governarreguirements.

We are a “foreign private issuer” under the semgitaws of the United States and the rules oNW&E. Under the NYSE rules, a
“foreign private issuer” is subject to less stringgeorporate governance requirements than a daisstier. Subject to certain exceptions, the
rules of the NYSE permit a “foreign private issutr’follow its home country practice in lieu of th&ting requirements of the NYSE. In
addition, Quantum Pacific Group controls a majoatyur outstanding common shares. As a resulangeconsidered a “controlled company”
within the meaning of the NYSE corporate governastaadards. Under the NYSE rules, a company oflwimiore than 50% of the voting
power is held by another company or group is atialed company” and may elect not to comply widrtain NYSE corporate governance
requirements, including (1) the requirement thategority of the board of directors consist of indadent directors, (2) the requirement that th
nominating committee be composed entirely of indejeat directors and have a written charter addrgshie committee’s purpose and
responsibilities, (3) the requirement that the cengation committee be composed entirely of indepeindirectors and have a written charter
addressing the committee’s purpose and resporigibiind (4) the requirement of an annual perfooaavaluation of the nominating and
corporate governance and compensation committeegeAnitted by these exemptions, as well as byglaws and the laws of Luxembourg,
we currently have a board of directors with a nigjaf non-independent directors, an audit comraittemprised solely of three independent
directors and a compensation committee with omaane non-independent directors serving as commitie@bers. As a result, non-
independent directors, may, among other thingghixcompensation of our management, make commame simd option awards and resolve
governance issues regarding our company. Accorgiimgthe future, investors may not have the samgeptions afforded to stockholders of
companies that are subject to all of the NYSE caigogovernance requirements.

As a “foreign private issuer,” we are exempt fromnaimber of rules under the U.S. securities laws aze permitted to file less
information with the SEC than other U.S. public cqmanies. This may limit the information available toolders of our common shares.

As a “foreign private issuer,” we are not subjecall of the disclosure requirements applicabledmpanies organized within the United
States. For example, we are exempt from certagsruhder the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, &nded (the “Exchange Act”) that
regulate disclosure obligations and proceduraliremqents related to the solicitation of proxiespgents or authorizations applicable to a
security
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registered under the Exchange Act. In addition,asficers and directors are exempt from the repgrénd “short-swing” profit recovery
provisions of Section 16 of the Exchange Act ardteel rules with respect to their purchases aressafl our securities. Moreover, we are not
required to file periodic reports and financialtstaents with the SEC as frequently or as promlgther U.S. public companies. According
there may be less information concerning our commaiblicly available than there is for other U.8bjic companies.

Tax Risks

Changes in tax laws, treaties or regulations or a&idse outcomes resulting from examination of our teeturns could adversely affect
our financial results.

Our future effective tax rates could be adverséflgcted by changes in tax laws, treaties and reiguis, both in the United States and
internationally. Tax laws, treaties and regulatians highly complex and subject to interpretati@ansequently, we are subject to changing ta
laws, treaties and regulations in and between ci&snnh which we operate or are resident. Our ine¢ax expense is based upon the
interpretation of the tax laws in effect in vari@intries at the time that the expense was induikehange in these tax laws, treaties or
regulations, or in the interpretation thereof, corgsult in a materially higher tax expense orghér effective tax rate on our worldwide
earnings. If any country successfully challengesimecome tax filings based on our structure, avéf otherwise lose a material tax dispute, our
effective tax rate on worldwide earnings could @age substantially and our financial results cbeldnaterially adversely affected.

We may not be able to make distributions withoubgcting our shareholders to Luxembourg withholdirtgx.

If we are not successful in our efforts to makéritiations, if any, through a withholding tax fresduction of share capital or share
premium (the absence of withholding on such distidns is subject to certain requirements), thgndividends paid by us will generally be
subject to a Luxembourg withholding tax at a réeté&%% (17.65% if the dividend tax is not withhetdrh the shareholder) (subject to the
reductions/exceptions discussed under Iltem 10 “flexa-Material Luxembourg Tax Considerations for #is of Common Shares—
Exemption from Luxembourg Withholding TaxJhe withholding tax must be withheld from the grdsstribution and paid to the Luxembol
tax authorities. Under current Luxembourg tax laweduction of share capital or share premium isnbject to Luxembourg withholding tax
provided that certain conditions are met, includiiog example, the condition that we do not hastritiutable reserves or profits. However,
there can be no assurance that our shareholdém@ppilove such a reduction in share capital orespegmium, that we will be able to meet the
other legal requirements for a reduction in shaggtal or share premium, or that Luxembourg taxhtuiding rules will not be changed in the
future. In addition, over the long term, the amoafnshare capital and share premium available $dowse for capital reductions will be
limited. If we are unable to make a distributiorotigh a withholding tax free reduction in shareitzdpr share premium, we may not be abl
make distributions without subjecting our sharebaddo Luxembourg withholding taxes.

U.S. tax authorities could treat us as a “passiwdign investment company,” which could have adwetd.S. federal income tax
consequences to U.S. holders.

A foreign corporation will be treated as a “pasdimign investment company,” or PFIC, for U.S.deal income tax purposes if either
(1) at least 75% of its gross income for any tagatalar consists of certain types of “passive incoong2) at least 50% of the average value of
the corporation’s assets for any taxable year predu are held for the production of those typepatsive income.” For purposes of these
tests, “passive incomeéficludes dividends, interest and gains from the salexchange of investment property and rentgayualties other tha
certain rents and royalties which are received fromelated parties in connection with the activediet of a trade or business, but does not
include income derived from the performance of e, U.S. shareholders of a PFIC are subjectiisamivantageous U.S. federal income tax
regime with respect to the income derived by theECPEhe distributions they receive from the PFI6d éhe gain, if any, they derive from the
sale or other disposition of their interests in BdC.
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We believe that we will not be a PFIC for the catraxable year or for any future taxable year.d8lasn our operations described herein
all or a substantial portion of our income fromshibre contract drilling services should be treatedervices income and not as passive inc
and thus all or a substantial portion of the asetswe own and operate in connection with thelpetion of that income should not constitute
passive assets, for purposes of determining whetberre a PFIC. However, this involves a facts@raimstances analysis and it is possible
that the IRS would not agree with this conclusi®ee Item 10, “Taxation—Material U.S. Federal Incorag Considerations for Holders of
Common Shares—Passive Foreign Investment Compaleg.Ru

ITEM 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY
A. HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT OF THE COMPANY

Pacific Drilling S.A. was formed on March 11, 205k,a Luxembourg corporation in the form afogiété anonymender the
Luxembourg law of 10 August 1915 on commercial canies, as amended, to act as an indirect holdingaay for our Predecessor. Our
shares of common stock have been trading on theégpan OTC List since April 2011 and on the NYSEcsi November 2011. Our principal
executive offices are located at 37, rue d’Anverd 130 Luxembourg and our telephone number is +35252F1 35. Our agent in Luxemboil
is Centralis S.A.

History

Our Predecessor was formed in Liberia in 2006 asdependent operating subsidiary of a predecessupany of the Quantum Pacific
Group. The principals of the Quantum Pacific Grbape significant holdings in various global indiesrsuch as energy, oil refining,
transportation and commodities.

Our initial investment in the ultra-deepwater dnidj industry in 2006 was through the purchase dfiliship under construction by SHI
and the later exercise of an option for a secoiildhip.

In 2007, we formed TPDI with Transocean, and the dwillships then under construction were trangféinto TPDI. We initially formed
a construction management team to oversee acsiviti€HI that was then seconded to Transoceanastiamed responsibility for managernr
of construction and operation of the two TPDI dhips through a contract with TPDI.

In 2008, a decision was made to expand our ae#viti the ultra-deepwater segment to include ojperand marketing of drilling
services for our other drillships, tRacific Boraand thePacific Mistral, for which construction contracts were acquire@0@97 and were not
included in TPDI. As part of this strategy, we aced additional contracts with SHI to construct tmore ultra-deepwater drillships, the
Pacific Scirocccand thePacific Santa Ana

In the beginning of 2011, we determined that it lddaenefit us to reincorporate in a better recogtiand more attractive jurisdiction for
potential investors with a more developed and adedmody of law. On March 30, 2011, we completedRlestructuring and in connection
with the Restructuring, Quantum Pacific Group cibtied our Predecessor to us. In the beginning@af.2we also determined that it was in
our best interest to focus on the operation andketiaug of our wholly-owned fleet. On March 30, 20%ke completed the TPDI Transfer,
pursuant to which all of our equity interest in TIRias transferred to a wholly-owned subsidiarytaf Quantum Pacific Group for no
consideration. As a result, neither the Companyamgrof its subsidiaries currently owns any intened PDI.

Debt and Equity Financings

In September 2010, we entered into the ProjectiffesiAgreement with a group of lenders to finatioe remaining capital expenditures
associated with the construction, operation andraglipenses relating to tRacific Bora, thePacific Mistral, thePacific Sciroccaand the
Pacific Santa AneAs of February 15, 2013, we
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have outstanding principal borrowings of $337.5ioml, $371.9 million, $320.3 million and $371.9 tiwh under the Bora Term Loan, the
Mistral Term Loan, the Scirocco Term Loan and that8 Ana Term Loan (as such term loans are definkdm 5, “Liquidity and Capital
Resources—Description of Indebtedness”), respdgtive

In April 2011, we completed the 2011 Private Plaeatof 60,000,000 common shares for net proceedpmbximately $575.5 million.
As a result of this offering, our common sharesaret be traded on the Norwegian OTC List on ApriP011.

In November 2011, we completed an initial publifeahg of 6,000,000 common shares. In December 2bElunderwriters purchased
an additional 900,000 common shares pursuant tluthexercise of an over-allotment option. Thetiadi public offering resulted in net
proceeds of approximately $50.3 million. As a resfithis offering, our common shares began torheetd on the NYSE on November 11,
2011 under the ticker symbol “PACD.” As of Februagy, 2013, approximately 57,000,000 of our comntmares had migrated from the
Norwegian OTC List to the NYSI

In February 2012, we completed a private placeraB$800 million in aggregate principal amount d%% senior unsecured U.S. dollar
denominated bonds due in 2015 (the “2015 Senioetlred Bonds”).

In November 2012, we completed a private placerae$500 million in aggregate principal amount d25% senior secured U.S. dollar
denominated notes due in 2017 (the “2017 Senionr@ddNotes”). In connection with this private plammnt, we listed the 2017 Senior Securel
Notes on the Global Exchange Market of the IristctExchange

On February 19, 2013, we signed the Senior Sed@iredit Facility Agreement with a group of lendessihance the remaining capital
expenditures associated with the construction,aijmer and other expenses relating toRlaeific Sharavand thePacific MeltemAs of
February 19, 2013, we have no borrowings outstanditer the Senior Secured Credit Facility Agreeraad have not yet satisfied the
conditions to make the initial borrowings under 8enior Secured Credit Facility Agreement.

Capital Expenditures

As of December 31, 2012, we have committed apprateiy $5.1 billion since our inception to establ@lr ultra-deepwater fleet of
which we have paid approximately $3.6 billion. andary 2013, we committed an additional $634 mmillior the construction of our eighth
drillship. During the most recent three fiscal y®dhe Company’s capital expenditures were $2I@bilWe funded our capital expenditures
through December 31, 2012 with net proceeds o600 million senior secured note offering in NoveanmB012, net proceeds of our $300
million senior unsecured bond offering in Februa®l 2, net proceeds of approximately $50.3 millient our initial public offering in
November 2011, net proceeds of approximately $5@8ll®n from our private offering of 60,000,000roonon shares to international and L
investors in the 2011 Private Placement, borrowungter our $1.8 billion Project Facilities Agreermand related party loans from an affiliate
of Quantum Pacific Group, which were subsequerdglywerted into equity. We expect the project costtiePacific Khamsin thePacific
Sharav, thePacific Meltemand our eighth drillship under construction to ppraximately $608.3 million, $662.9 million, $627#@llion and
$634.1 million. The estimate of the project coatdides commissioning and testing and other costhé drillships, but excludes capitalized
interest. As of December 31, 2012, there are apmately $1.5 billion remaining project costs foefRacific Khamsin thePacific Sharavand
the Pacific Meltemof which approximately $1.1 billion is remainingntcactual commitments to SHI. The remaining progexdts of $390
million for the Pacific Khamsirwill be financed with existing cash balances priifgerom proceeds under the 2017 Senior Secureg@ddwe
intend to finance the approximately $1.1 billiom@ning project costs for thHeacific Sharavand thePacific Meltemwith our Senior Secured
Credit Facility and existing cash balances. Addisity, we intend to finance the $634.1 million iroject costs for our eighth drillship with our
existing cash balances, operating cash flow geioarahd
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additional future indebtedness, which is uncommitiethis time. For more information on our capiejuirements, see Item 5, “Liquidity and
Capital Resources.”

B. BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We are an international offshore drilling contraatommitted to becoming the preferred provider loudeepwater drilling services to
the oil and natural gas industry through the udaigti-specification drilling rigs. Our primary busiss is to contract our ultceepwater drilling
rigs, related equipment and work crews, primarityaodayrate basis, to drill wells for our customéed by a team of seasoned professionals
with significant experience in the oil services atla-deepwater drilling sectors, we specializéhim technically demanding segments of the
offshore drilling business.

We are primarily focused on the ultra-deepwaterketaimhe term “ultra-deepwater,” as used in théidgi industry to denote a particular
sector of the market, can vary and continues tdvewoith technological improvements. We generatipsider ultra-deepwater to begin at
water depths of more than 7,500 feet and to extietige maximum water depths in which rigs are clpabdrilling, which is currently
approximately 12,000 feet. Although we are prinyafiicused on the ultra-deepwater market, our thijs can operate effectively in water
depths as shallow as 2,000 feet, so we may alspei@nto provide services at shallower depths thisa-deepwater. While not currently a core
focus for our business, our drillships are alscabég of operating in harsh environment areas, witenee are typically rougher sea conditions.

Drilling Contracts for our Fleet

We currently operate four drillships and have fdtliships under construction, two of which are andustomer contract. The current
status of our contracted drillships is as follows:

» ThePacific Boraentered service in Nigeria on August 26, 2011 udihiire-year contract with a subsidiary of Chevr

e ThePacific Scirocceentered service in Nigeria on December 31, 201kuadne-year contract with a subsidiary of TdTad.
April 6, 2012, Total exercised its option to extehdPacific Sciroccccontract period to two yeat

» ThePacific Mistralentered service in Brazil on February 6, 2012 uddwre~year contract with a subsidiary Petrob
» ThePacific Santa Anientered service in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico on May@12 under a fiv-year contract with Chevro

* Upon delivery, théacific Khamsinis expected to enter service in one of several wmsnglobally, including Nigeria, Liberia and
certain Asian countries, in the fourth quarter ®12 under a two-year contract with a subsidiarZlegévron. In November 2012, we
entered into International Master Service Agreenf#MA”) with Chevron. Contemporaneously with thBIA we have executed a
Service Order (“SO”) for th@acific Khamsin The IMA and the SO jointly constitute a drilliegntract for théPacific Khamsin
The IMA allows us to enter into subsequent SO'©iw@hevron for th€acific Khamsirand other rigs. The IMA will greatly
simplify the process of entering into new contraeith Chevron,

» Upon delivery, thdPacific Sharavs expected to enter service in the U.S. Gulf okMe in the second quarter of 2014 under a five-:
year contract with a subsidiary of Chevr

Newbuild Drillships and Options to Purchase Newbdsl

ThePacific Khamsirand thePacific Sharavare currently under construction by SHI, and atedaled for delivery in the second and
fourth quarters of 2013, respectively. In March 20de entered into a contract with SHI for the ¢nngion of thePacific Meltem which is
expected to be delivered in the second quarte@dé 2
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In January 2013, we exercised our option and ethiate an additional contract with SHI for the ctrastion of our eighth drillship, which is
expected to be delivered in the first quarter df20

The construction contract we entered into for aghth drillship includes an option for a ninth nayild drillship on the same terms and
conditions as those for our eighth drillship. Thetion is valid until April 30, 2013. We will contire to evaluate the long-term conditions of the
deepwater and ultra-deepwater drilling markets agrather factors in determining whether to exertigg option.

Offshore Drilling Industry

Because our drillships are highly mobile, our fiedt operate in a single, global market segmentifi@ provision of contract drilling
services to the deepwater and ultra-deepwater eta and production industry. Deepwater and wdiapwater drillships typically compete
in many of the same geographies as high-specificami-submersible rigs. However, newer ultra-dexder drillships like those in our fleet
generally have greater load capacity and are motaleithan semi-submersible rigs, making them bstiéed for drilling in remote locations
where re-supply is more difficult and for exploaatiprograms that require frequent rig relocatiolh ofAour drillships are self-propelled and
dynamically positioned and have large carrying cépaWe believe the long-term prospects for dedpwadrilling are positive given the
expected growth in oil and gas consumption fromettgying nations, limited growth in crude oil suggsliand high depletion rates of mature oil
and gas fields. Recent exploration successes pwiger basins, improving access to promising detgvesieas and new, more efficient
technologies, are expected to be catalysts folotigeterm exploration and development of deepwiidas. The location of our drillships and
the allocation of resources to build or upgrads will be determined by the activities and neeflsur customers. Currently, our four comple
drillships are operating in the deepwater regidrb® U.S. Gulf of Mexico, Brazil and West Africahich are the three most active deepwater
basins in the world.

As of December 31, 2012, tiacific Boraand thePacific Sciroccovere located offshore Nigeria, tRacific Mistralwas located
offshore Brazil, thé’acific Santa Anavas located offshore the United States andPtefic Khamsin thePacific Sharavand thePacific
Meltemwere located offshore South Korea, where they adeuconstruction by SHI.

During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012@hd, the percentage revenues earned by geogra@ai@s follows is based on
drilling location:

Years ended December 3:

2012 2011 201(

Nigeria —
63.6% 100.(%

Brazil —
22.1% —

Gulf of Mexico —
14.2% —

Our Business Strategies

Our principal business objective is to increaseed@der value through becoming the preferred plewvof ultra-deepwater drilling
services to the oil and natural gas industry. Wgeekto achieve this objective through the follogvsirategies:

» Establish position as the preferred u-deepwater drilling contractor with newly built Higspecification unitsHigh-specification
drilling units are specifically designed to meet tequirements of our customers for drilling watlsleepwater basins and complex
geological formations and for drilling wells withallenging profiles. In addition, we believe thar mew drilling units have a
competitive advantage over older units due to tinggroved safety and environmental proteci
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features, greater efficiency and enhanced mobHitythermore, it is easier to attract more expeedroperating personnel to newer
drilling units due to their superior working anditig conditions and potential for better careerafymnities. We believe that we can
develop an enduring competitive advantage throbgltcombination of high-quality assets and indulgiagling operating systems
focused on deepwater operations, excellence irtiimad support and a strong performance managefoens.

Capitalize on increased exploration and developnaetivity in select deepwater basids demand for hydrocarbons increases an
mature producing basins naturally decline, we belithere will be an increasing emphasis on exptmrand development in dee|
waters to exploit new and attractive prospects eRemajor discoveries in deepwater basins, togetitartechnological advances
that make such exploratory and development a@#ithore economic, have increased potential deveopapportunities for
deepwater drilling services. We believe that théewdepth and advanced drilling capabilities of olra-deepwater drilling units
will further our ability to secure long-term ultcleepwater contracts in the future. Our strategregeh to the market includes
focusing our activities in select basins to enjog benefits resulting from sharing local suppasbreces in targeted geograph

Develop strategic relationships with h-quality customersiNe expect to derive a significant portion of oulufe revenue from
contracts with major international and nationalogimpanies and large well-capitalized independepibeation and production
companies. These customers tend to take a longappmach to the development of substantial hydbarafinds with multi-year
development programs as well as multi-year capipenditure commitments, which we believe will emtethe likelihood of our
securing attractive long-term drilling contracts.November 2012, we entered into an Internationastelr Service Agreement
(“IMA™) with Chevron. The IMA governs the relatiohg with our largest customer for tRacific Khamsirand other future
requirements and simplifies the process of entartgnew drilling contracts with Chevron, whichughincreases the likelihood of
securing future drilling contracts with Chevr¢

Company Strengths

We have a number of strengths that we believehgilh us to successfully execute our business gteste

New and technologically advanced fleOur fleet is comprised of some of the newest andtrezhnologically advanced drillships
in the world. Each of our premium, high-specifioatdrillships is designed to operate in water depthup to 12,000 feet.
Furthermore, our ultra-deepwater drillships arépgeipelled, dynamically positioned and suitableddlling in remote locations.
Our highspecification units are expected to achieve fattifing and shorter transportation times betwemsations relative to old
units in the market. In addition, tiRacific Santa AnathePacific Khamsin thePacific Sharay, the Pacific Meltenand our eighth
drillship will have dual gradient drilling capaltiés and also offer enhanced capabilities for wethpletion work

Strong backlog with credit-worthy counterparti®ée have and are continuing to develop a strongweyéacklog that currently
consists of contracts for four of our drillshipsthwva subsidiary of Chevron and contracts for tweeodrillships with subsidiaries of
Total and Petrobras. As of February 15, 2013, ountract backlog on theacific Bora, thePacific Sciroccq thePacific Mistral,
the Pacific Santa AnathePacific Khamsirand thePacific Sharawnder these contracts was approximately $3.3 hilMie believe
these hig-quality customer commitments will provide us witlstable cash flow for the next several ye

Uniformity of assets supports competitive costcitme and optimal revenue captuiihe uniformity of our assets enables efficient
and streamlined labor, maintenance, supply chadro@erating support systems, which we believe alliiw us to develop and
maintain a competitive cost structure and maxirmizerevenue capture. The similarity of our shipigies allows for interoperabili
among our crews and operating systems, which sralldel members of our crew to serve interchangeahl
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any of our drillships. Additionally, our drillshipsonsistent technical specifications and equipnmeake spare parts
interchangeable, which reduces the capital req@resnassociated with keeping spare parts in stoslering maintenance and
supply chain cost:

Demonstrated ability to maintain relationships witlue chip customerWe have continued to maintain strong relationshijbls

our customers, as demonstrated by the four sepdniiieg contracts we have entered into over thstphree years with subsidiar
of Chevron, the IMA and the exercise by Total inrihpf this year of its option to extend tiRacific Sciroccacontract period to two
years. We believe that our ability to maintain tielaships with blue chip customers and the -term demand for deepwater drilli
capacity in established and emerging basins wilvijgie us with opportunities to contract our drilfshunder construction and
maintain the utilization of our drillships in thetére.

Solid track record of delivery on time and on budgach of our eight drillships were or are being taoyl SHI, which is one of the
world’s largest shipbuilders in the high-tech afghkvalue shipbuilding sectors. Each of our foueigting drillships was delivered
from SHI substantially on time and on budget. Ttedthe manufacture of each of our four newbuilas progressed substantially
on time and on budget. We believe that our stretetionship with a premier shipbuilder coupled vtk oversight of our
experienced staff managing construction of our néldb has allowed us to develop a solid track réadron time and on budget
deliveries.

Experienced and international management teOur management team has extensive industry experigmerating in locations
worldwide and an average of more than 25 yearsmémence in the offshore drilling industry. Priorjoining us, certain members
of our senior management team have worked at Teaasoltd., Schlumberger Limited, Noble Corporatiénsco plc and Pride
International Inc. In addition to the members & thanagement team, we have an experienced staffemieg construction of the
Pacific Khamsir, thePacific Sharay, thePacific Meltemand our eighth drillship and highly trained perselnmperating our four
drillships that have commenced operations. We belibat our management team’s significant expeegtachnical expertise and
strong client relationships, and the functionaltieéproughout our organization, enhance our altititgeliver superior service to ¢
customers and effectively operate on a global b

Risk Factors

We face a number of risks associated with our ssimnd industry and must overcome a variety dfestges to utilize our strengths a
implement our business strategies. These riskierdlaamong others, changes in the offshore cordréling industry, including supply and
demand, utilization rates, dayrates, customerimlilfbrograms and commodity prices; a downturn exgtobal economy; hazards inherent in
industry and operations resulting in liability feersonal injury or loss of life, damage to or dastion of property and equipment, pollution or
environmental damage; inability to comply with coaats in our debt agreements; inability to finacapital projects; and inability to
successfully employ our drillships.

Readers should carefully consider the followingggjghose other risks described in Item 3, “Risktbis” and the other information in
this annual report:

We have a limited asset base and currently rethme customer accounts. The loss of any custonsgificant downtime on ar
drillship could adversely affect our financial catiwh and results of operatior

The contract drilling industry is highly competigivCompared to companies with greater resourcemayebe at a competitive
disadvantage

The demand for our services depends on the levattofity in the offshore oil and natural gas inalyswhich is significantly
affected by oil and natural gas prices and othetofa beyond our contrc

Our current backlog of contract drilling revenueynmat be fully realized
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Customers

Offshore exploration and production is a capit&fsive, high-risk industry. Operating and pursuwpgortunities in deepwater basins
significantly increases the amount of capital reggiito effectively conduct such operations. Assalte a significant number of the most active
participants in this segment of the offshore exation and production industry are either nationlat@mpanies, major oil and gas companie
well-capitalized large independent oil and gas canms. We expect that our future customers willve# capitalized companies, including
state-owned national oil and gas companies, mafegrated oil and gas companies and large indepeE@#P companies.

During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012@hd, the percentage revenues earned from ourmastovas as follows:

Years ended December 3:

2012 2011 201(

Chevron —
45.(% 100.(%

Total —
32.% —

Petrobras —
22.1% —

Contract Backlog

Our contract backlog includes firm commitments omiich are represented by signed drilling contrads of February 15, 2013, our
contract backlog was approximately $3.3 billion avats attributable to revenues we expect to generathePacific Bora, thePacific
Scirocco, thePacific Mistral, thePacific Santa AnathePacific Khamsirand thePacific Sharawnder firm contracts with Chevron, Total and
Petrobras. We calculate our contract backlog bytipiyiing the contractual dayrate by the minimum rgmof days committed under the
contracts (excluding options to extend), assumitigutilization, and also include mobilization feegpgrade reimbursements and other revenu
sources, such as the standby rate during upgraslasipulated in the contract.

Although we currently do not have a letter of award drilling contract for th@acific Meltemor our eighth drillship, we expect that the
long-term demand for deepwater drilling capacitg#tablished and emerging basins should providgthsopportunities to contract both
drillships prior to their respective delivery dates

The actual amounts of revenues earned and thel aetiads during which revenues are earned magdifbm the amounts and periods
shown in the table below due to various factorsluiging shipyard and maintenance projects, downtnother factors. In addition, our
contracts customarily provide for termination a glection of the customer with an “early termioatpayment” to be paid to us if a contract is
terminated prior to the expiration of the fixedneiHowever, under certain limited circumstanceshsas destruction of a drilling rig, our
bankruptcy, sustained unacceptable performances loy delivery of a rig beyond certain grace antifpiidated damages periods, no early
termination payment would be paid. Accordingly, #utual amount of revenues earned may be subdhafdiaer than the backlog reported.
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The firm commitments that comprise our $3.3 billmmtract backlog as of February 15, 2013, arelss:

Average

Contract

Backlog Actual/Expected Expected
Contracted Contract Contractual  Revenue Contract Contract

Rig Location Customer  Backlog ©) Dayrate  Per Day (© Commencement Duration

Pacific Bora Nigeria Chevron $ 307,947,00 $ 474,70 $ 554,00( August 26, 201: 3 years@

Pacific Sciroccc Nigeria Total $ 155,242,00 $ 474,75( $ 475,00( December 31, 201 2 years and 7 dab)

Pacific Mistral Brazil Petrobras $ 367,969,00 $ 458,000 $ 511,00 February 6, 201 3 years

Pacific Santa Ani U.S. Gulf of Mexicc Chevron $ 830,856,00 $ 488,90( $ 542,00( March 21, 20149 5 years and 38 da

Pacific Khamsir Footnote(® Chevron $ 526,140,00 $ 660,000 $ 722,0008) Fourth quarter 201 2 years(@

Pacific Shara\ U.S. Gulf of Mexicc Chevron $ 1,075,875,00 $ 555,000 $ 590,00( Second quarter 201 5 years

(a) Contract also provides for two successiv-priced on-year options

(b) The initial primary term of thBacific Sciroccavas one year. On April 6, 2012, Total exerciseajison to extend thBacific Scirocco
contract period to two years. The contract alswiples for one successive one-year option and hduttvo-year option, with escalating
dayrates for the option perioc

(c) Rounded to the nearest $1,000. Based on signéitiglicbntracts

(d) On March 21, 2012, tHeacific Santa Anavas accepted and commenced its five-year contrtict@hevron while mobilizing to the
United States Gulf of Mexico. On May 4, 2012, Becific Santa An@ompleted all necessary activities for commenceroergvenue
recognition and placing ttPacific Santa Aniinto service in the United States Gulf of Mexi

(e) Revenues earned and incremental costs incdimectly related to contract preparation and mahtion are deferred and recognized over
the primary term of the drilling contract. Averagentract backlog revenue per day for Becific Khamsiris calculated by dividing the
contract backlog revenue which is recognized ovemptrimary term of the drilling contract by the @Emng number of days committed
under the two-year contract. The drilling contralsb includes $10 million in demobilization feeatthre deferred and will be recognized
as revenue in a lump sum upon conclusion of tHengdricontract; accordingly, this $10 million is niacluded in the average contract
backlog revenue per day for tPacific Khamsir.

() Customer has the right to deploy the rig in ofiseveral countries, including Nigeria, Liberizdacertain countries in Asia. The indicated
contractual dayrate is based on deployment in Mig&he contract provides for a make-whole adjustnt@ the contractual dayrate for
change in drilling locale

(g) Contract also provides for a one-year optiohdaxercised at the client’s discretion priortggard delivery of the drillship. The

contractual dayrate of the c-year option period is $680,0C

Drilling Contracts
We provide drilling services on a “dayrate” contrhasis. We do not provide “turnkey” or other risksed drilling services. Under

dayrate contracts, the drilling contractor providedrilling rig and rig crews and charges the congioa fixed amount per day regardless of the
number of days needed to drill the well. The custobears substantially all of the ancillary costsanstructing the well and supporting
drilling operations, as well as the economic rislative to the success of the well. In additionjrdte contracts usually provide for a lump sum
amount for mobilizing the rig to the well locatiand a reduced dayrate when drilling operationsraegrupted or restricted by equipment
breakdowns, adverse weather conditions or otheditons beyond the contractor’'s control. A dayrditidling contract generally covers either
the drilling of a single well or group of wells bas a stated term. These contracts may generalbrininated by the customer in the event the
drilling unit is damaged, destroyed or lost orriflthg operations are suspended for an extendedgef time as a result of a breakdown of
equipment, “force majeure” events beyond the comtreither party or upon the occurrence of othpcified conditions. In addition, drilling
contracts with certain customers may be cancelabteout cause, with little or no prior notice kare usually subject to early termination
payments. In some instances, the dayrate con@antrnay be extended by the customer exercisingmgpfor the drilling of additional wells
for an additional length of time at fixed or mulyagreed terms, including dayrates.
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Our drilling contracts are the result of negotiatiavith our customers and have been awarded upopetdive bidding. Our existing
drilling contracts contain, among others, the feilog commercial terms: (i) contract duration extegdover a specific period of time; (ii) term
extension options in favor of our customer, gegigbon advance notice to us, at mutually agresdixed or fixed rates; (i) provisions
permitting early termination of the contract if tthelling unit is lost or destroyed, if operatioase suspended for an extended period of time
to breakdown of major rig equipment, unsatisfacfpeyformance or “force majeure” events beyond amtrol and the control of the customer;
(iv) provisions allowing early termination of therttract by the customer without cause with a sptigarly termination fee in the form of a
reduced rate for a specified period of time; (\Qvisions requiring us to reimburse the customerdasonable costs to obtain a replacement
drilling unit in the event of termination for cayseibject to a cap which decreases with the durati@ontract; (vi) payment of compensatio
us (generally in U.S. dollars although some comgremquire a portion of the compensation to be paidcal currency) on a “dayrate” basis
(lower rates or no compensation generally applynduperiods of equipment breakdown and repair dhénevent operations are suspended or
interrupted by other specified conditions, some/bich may be beyond our control); (vii) paymentusyof the operating expenses of the
drilling unit, including crew labor and incidentad supply costs; (viii) provisions allowing usitecover certain labor and other operating cost
increases from our customers through dayrate ad@retor otherwise; (ix) provisions requiring ugptovide a performance guarantee; and
(x) indemnity provisions between us and our custsnrerespect of third party claims and risk alkbmas between us and our customers
relating to damages, claims or losses to us, ostoouwers or third parties. Our indemnification may cover all damages, claims or losses to u
or third parties, and the indemnifying party may have sufficient resources to cover its indematiimn obligations. See also Item 3, “Risk
Factors—Risks Related to Our Business—Our customagsbe unable or unwilling to indemnify us.”

Our drilling contracts provide for varying leveltindemnification from our customers and in mostesamay require us to indemnify our
customers. Under our drilling contracts, liabiltjth respect to personnel and property is custdgnassigned on a “knock-for-knock” basis,
which means that we and our customers assumeitljafoit our respective personnel and property. Hesvein certain drilling contracts we
assume liability for damage to our customer’s prigpand other third-party property on the rig réisig from services provided under the
contract, subject to negotiated caps per occurreamzkin other contracts we are not indemnifieebycustomers for damage to their property
and, accordingly, could be liable for any such dgenander applicable law. In addition, our custontgpgcally indemnify us for damage to our
equipment down-hole, and in some cases our sulgsganeent, generally based on replacement cost nsiooe level of depreciation.

Our customers typically assume responsibility fod andemnify us from any loss or liability resulfifrom pollution or contamination,
including clean-up and removal and thpdrty damages, arising from operations under tiéract and originating below the surface of thel
or water, including as a result of blow-outs orterig of the well. In some drilling contracts, hewer, we may have liability for damages
resulting from such pollution or contamination cadi®y our gross negligence, or, in some caseqamdnegligence. The indemnification
provisions typically found in our drilling contracis only a summary as of the date hereof andrisrgéin nature. The terms of our drilling
contracts may change in the future. In additior,ittdemnification provisions of our drilling contta may be subject to differing
interpretations, and enforcement of those provssioay be limited by public policy and other conséidiens.

Competition

The contract drilling industry is highly competigivDemand for contract drilling and related servigeinfluenced by a number of factors,
including the current and expected prices of odl aatural gas and the expenditures of oil and ahgas companies for exploration and
development of oil and natural gas. In additiormdad for drilling services remains dependent oaréety of political and economic factors
beyond our control, including worldwide demand ddrand natural gas, the ability of OPEC to set arantain production levels and pricing,
the level of production of no®PEC countries, local infrastructure and humanuess constraints, and the policies of the vargmsernment
regarding exploration and development of theimoil natural gas reserves.
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We are primarily focused on the ultra-deepwaterketabut may also compete to provide services atalier depths than ultra-
deepwater. Our competition ranges from large imtttonal companies offering a wide range of drillangd other oilfield services to smaller,
locally owned companies. Competition for offshor#lidg rigs is usually on a global basis, as theffishore drilling rigs are highly mobile and
may be moved from one region to another in resptmdemand.

Drilling contracts are generally awarded on a catitipe bid or negotiated basis. Pricing is ofter girimary factor in determining which
qualified contractor is awarded a job. Rig avalihicapabilities, age and each contractor’s sapetrformance record and reputation for
quality also can be key factors in the determimat@perators also may consider crew experiencknieal and engineering support, rig
location and efficiency, as well as long-term rielaships with major international oil companies aadional oil companies.

We believe that the market for drilling contractd wontinue to be highly competitive for the foeeable future. We believe that our fleet
of newly constructed premium high-specificatiorlghips provides us with a competitive advantagermompetitors with older fleets, as high-
specification drilling units are generally betteited to meet the requirements of customers fdlirdyiin deepwater, complex geological
formations with challenging well profiles. Howevegrtain competitors may have greater financiadueses than we do, which may enable
them to better withstand periods of low utilizatimmd compete more effectively on the basis of price

Seasonality

In general, seasonal factors do not have a sigmifidirect effect on our business as most of aillindy units are contracted for periods of
at least 12 months.

Insurance

The contract drilling industry is subject to hazaitherent in the drilling of oil and natural gaslls, including blowouts and well fires,
which could cause personal injury, suspend drilbpgrations, or seriously damage or destroy théatgnt involved. Offshore drilling
operations are also subject to hazards particalararine operations including capsizing, groundaadljsion and loss or damage from severe
weather. While we maintain insurance to protectdyiliships in the areas in which we operate, éenalitical risks and other environmental
risks are not fully insurable. We maintain insumucoverage that includes coverage for hull and macjy, marine liabilities, third party
liability, workers’ compensation and employer'shiiity, general liability, vessel pollution and @thcoverages.

Our insurance coverage includes deductibles thatust pay or absorb. Our hull and machinery deblects $5 million, except as may
be required by our drilling contracts. The insuagdounts for the drillships are determined by mamage and reevaluated annually. The
minimum insured values are determined by the requénts of the Project Facilities Agreement and arhtuuthe greater of 80% of fair market
value and 120% of the outstanding loan amount pssel. As of February 15, 2013, the combined imbuatues of théacific Bora, the
Pacific Scirocce, thePacific Mistraland thePacific Santa Anas approximately $2.8 billion. We also maintaindad hire insurance which
carries a 45-day waiting period and an annual aggeclimit of 180 days. We also maintain protectow indemnity (P&I) coverage for an
aggregate amount of $500 million with the Gard R3ub for our drillships operating outside the GafifMexico. The deductible for P&I-
related claims are $10,000 and $100,000 per evemidims brought before foreign and U.S. jurisdias, respectively. For tHeacific Santa
Anaoperating in the Gulf of Mexico, we have procuregtianary maritime employers liability and genetiability program. We schedule our
marine liabilities (other than the P&l and the Gahdiability with the Gard P&l Club) to an excelahility program for a limit of $650 milliol
for thePacific Santa Analn addition, we have procured insurance covefagenshore general liability, employer’s liabiljtguto liability and
non-owned aircraft liability, with customary dedibtes and coverage. These policies renew annuatlyage scheduled to our Excess Liability
program.
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Our insurance is subject to exclusions and lingtatj and our insurance coverage may not adequatatigct us against liability from all
potential consequences and damages. We believeuhatsurance coverage is customary for the ingstd adequate for our business.
However, there are risks that such insurance willagequately protect us against or may not bdablaito cover all of the liability from all of
the consequences and hazards we may encounter @pexations.

Environmental and Other Regulatory Issues

Our operations are subject to stringent and congmsikie international, federal, regional, state lagdl laws and regulations including
those governing the discharge of materials intcetivéronment or otherwise relating to environmeptatection.

United States

Applicable laws in the United States with which mast comply include the federal OPA, the OCSLA, Feeeral Water Pollution
Control Act (commonly referred to as the Clean Watet, “CWA”) and MARPOL, as each has been amenfdewh time to time.

Numerous governmental agencies, which in the Urtiadles include, among others, the DOI, BOEM, BSEB, Coast Guard and U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”), issue rigions to implement and enforce environmental Jamsich often require difficult and
costly compliance measures that carry substardiairstrative, civil and criminal penalties or magsult in injunctive relief for failure to
comply.

Following the April 2010 fire and explosion aboaing Deepwater Horizorsemi-submersible drilling rig owned by a competaod
subsequent release of oil from the Macondo walilira-deep water of the U.S. Gulf of Mexico, the fedgavernment, acting through the D
and its implementing agencies that have since edaivto the present day BOEM and BSEE, have isauatiety of regulatory initiatives
including regulations and NTLs intended to impodditional safety, operational, permitting and derdition requirements that are applicabli
our oil and natural gas exploration, developmeuwit groduction customers in the U.S. Gulf of Mexi€bese regulatory initiatives effectively
slowed down the pace of drilling and productionragtiens in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico as adjustmen&evbeing made in operating procedu
certification requirements and lead times for irtsipms, drilling applications and permits, and exption and production plan reviews, and as
the federal agencies evolved into their presentuagaus. Implementation of these new or newlyrjméted existing regulations and other
regulatory initiatives developed by the DOI or athise adopted and implemented by BOEM or BSEE nudyest us and our customers to
increased costs or delay or limit operations binutke U.S. Gulf of Mexico.

The OPA and regulations promulgated pursuant theéngbose a variety of regulations on “responsiladips” related to the prevention
and/or reporting of oil spills and liability for deages resulting from such spills in waters of timitédl States. Under OPA, the “responsible
party” includes the owner or operator of an onstiacdity, pipeline or vessel or the lessee or péra of the area in which an offshore facility
is located. OPA assigns liability to each respdesilarty for oil removal costs and a variety of jiwlnd private damages. Under OPA, as
amended by the Coast Guard and Maritime Transjpamtaict of 2006, “tank vessels” of over 3,000 grémss that carry oil or other hazardous
materials in bulk as cargo are subject to liabliiityits of (i) for a single-hulled vessel, the gieraof $3,200 per gross ton or $23.5 million or
(i) for a tank vessel other than a single-hulledsel, the greater of $2,000 per gross ton or $hillibn. “Tank vessels” of 3,000 gross tons or
less are subject to liability limits of (i) for éngle-hulled vessel, the greater of $3,200 pergtos or $6.4 million or (ii) for a tank vessel eth
than a single-hulled vessel, the greater of $2@@@ross ton or $4.3 million. For any vesselsepthan “tank vessels,” that are subject to
OPA, the liability limits are the greater of $1,00€r gross ton or $854,400. A party cannot takeatage of liability limits if the spill was
caused by gross negligence or willful misconduatesulted from violation of a federal safety, constion or operating regulation. If the party
fails to report a spill or to cooperate fully irethleanup, the liability limits likewise do not dpjand certain defenses may not be available.
Moreover, OPA imposes on responsible parties tleel fiar proof of financial responsibility to covedrleast some costs in a potential spill.
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The OPA also imposes ongoing requirements on @ans#ple party, including preparedness and preverdimil spills and preparation of
an oil spill response plan.

The OCSLA authorizes regulations relating to saéetgt environmental protection applicable to lesseespermittees operating on the
outer continental shelf. Included among these egalations that require the preparation of spilitc@ency plans and establish air quality
standards for certain pollutants, including pattitel matter, volatile organic compounds, sulfuxdie, carbon monoxide and nitrogen oxides.
Specific desigh and operational standards may appyter continental shelf vessels, rigs, platf@raehicles and structures. Violations of
lease conditions or regulations related to therenwent issued pursuant to the OCSLA can resutibstantial civil and criminal penalties, as
well as potential court injunctions curtailing opéons and canceling leases. Such enforcemenlitiiedican result from either governmental or
citizen prosecution.

The CWA and analogous state laws prohibit the @iggd of oil, hazardous substances, or other polisiiato water of the United States
and analogous state waters without a permit andsegtrict liability in the form of penalties fonauthorized discharges. The regulations
implementing the CWA require permits to be obtaibgdin operator before specified exploration ati¢igioccur. Our drilling operations may
require authorization (and be subject to correspmncestrictions) to discharge wastewater, drillfhgds, and other substances into the U.S.
Gulf of Mexico under the National Pollutant DiscparElimination System (“NPDES”) permit program. NP®authorization requires advance
notification to governmental authorities, monitayiand recordkeeping practices, and may restrictipes other than discharges to water. For
example, NPDES authorization available to manynd gas exploration facilities in the U.S. GulfMéxico under NPDES General Permit
GMG290000 also includes requirements applicabotding water intake structures. Offshore facifittaust also implement plans addressing
spill prevention control and countermeasures. hiitamh, the CWA regulates discharges incidentah®snormal operation of vessels in U.S.
waters, including discharges of ballast water. @mes of regulated vessels are required to ob¥@ssel General Permits” from the EPA,
which include effluent limits, specific correctiaetions, inspections and monitoring, recordkeeping reporting requirements.

The CERCLA, also known as the “Superfund” law, andlogous state law imposes liability without rejgiar fault or the legality of the
original conduct on certain classes of personsdteatonsidered to have contributed to the releha¢'hazardous substance” into the
environment. These persons include the currenast @vners or operators of a site where the relees@red and companies that disposed or
arranged for the disposal of the hazardous sulessdioand at a particular site. Under CERCLA, swedponsible parties may be subject to join
and several liabilities for the cost of cleaningthp hazardous substances that have been relegselda environment and for damages to
natural resources. It is not uncommon for thirdiparto file claims for personal injury and progettamage allegedly caused by the hazardous
substances released into the environment. We geraand handle wastes and other substances indh®ogr course of our operations that may
be classified as hazardous substances.

The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act reguthegeneration, transportation, storage, treatarahdisposal of hazardous and
nonhazardous wastes and requires states to dgwelgmams to ensure the safe disposal of wastesmrinection with routine operations, we
generate nonhazardous wastes and small quantitieszardous wastes. We believe that all of the egatstat we generate are handled in
substantial compliance with the Resource Consemvatnd Recovery Act and analogous state statutes.

The United States is one of approximately 170 merabentries to the International Maritime Organiaat(“IMQ”), a specialized agen
of the United Nations that is responsible for depalg measures to improve the safety and securityt@national shipping and to prevent
marine pollution from ships. Among the various inttional conventions negotiated by the IMO is MARP MARPOL imposes
environmental standards on the shipping industatirg to oil spills, management of garbage, thedtiag and disposal of noxious liquids,
harmful substances in packaged forms, sewage aednssions. Annex VI to MARPOL sets limits on smlflioxide and nitrogen oxide
emissions from ship exhausts and prohibits deltbezmissions of ozone depleting substances. Anhendéred into force on May 19, 2005,
and applies to all ships, fixed and floating dnifjirigs and other floating platforms. Annex VI alsgposes a global cap on the sulfur content o
fuel oil and allows for
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specialized areas to be established internatiomatty more stringent controls on sulfur emissidagt vessels 400 gross tons and greater,
platforms and drilling rigs, Annex VI imposes vargsurvey and certification requirements. Annexatine into force in the United States on
January 8, 2009. Moreover, on July 1, 2010, amentsie Annex VI to the MARPOL Convention took effeequiring the imposition of
progressively stricter limitations on sulfur em@ss from ships. As a result, limitations imposedsatiur emissions will require that marine
fuels of vessels in covered Emission Control AGREAS”) contain no more than 1% sulfur. In Aug2étl 2, the North American ECA
became enforceable. The North American ECA incladeas subject to the exclusive sovereignty ofthiged States and extends up to 200
nautical miles from the coasts of the United Statdsch area includes parts of the U.S. Gulf of MexConsequently, beginning on January 1
2012, limits on marine fuel used to power shipean-ECA areas were capped at 3.5% sulfur and, on Augud12, when the North Americ
ECA became effective, the sulfur limit in marinefwas capped at 1%, which is the capped amourdfother ECA areas effective Januar
2012. These capped amounts will then decreaseqssigely until they reach 0.5% by January 1, 2@2Mh6bn-ECA areas and 0.1% by
January 1, 2015 for ECA areas, including the Néutierican ECA. The amendments also establish new diestringent nitrogen oxide
emissions standards for new marine engines, depgiodi their date of installation. In addition, MARP Annex VI, Chapter 4, introduces two
mandatory mechanisms intended to ensure an enffigjgrecy standard for ships which are the Energfjciency Design Index (EEDI) for ne
ships and the Ship Energy Efficiency Managemem PEEEMP) for all ships. These measures enteredante on 1 January 2013. We do no
anticipate that compliance with MARPOL or AnnextdIMARPOL will have a material adverse effect om msults of operations or financial
position.

Greenhouse gas emissions have increasingly bedwmsibject of international, national, regionatetand local attention. Cap and tr
initiatives to limit greenhouse gas emissions Hasen introduced in the European Union. Similarlynerous bills related to climate change
have been introduced in the U.S. Congress, whialdadversely impact most industries. In additifoiiire regulation of greenhouse gas coulc
occur pursuant to future treaty obligations, statubr regulatory changes or new climate changisleipn in the jurisdictions in which we
operate. It is uncertain whether any of theseatiites will be implemented. Restrictions on grearggogas emissions or other related legisl:
or regulatory enactments could have an effectasalindustries that use significant amounts ofgbetim products, which could potentially
result in a reduction in demand for petroleum pasland, consequently and indirectly, our offsisupport services. While we are currently
unable to predict how legislation or new regulasitinat may be adopted to address greenhouse gssi@msiwould impact the Company’s or
our customers’ business, any such future laws egdlations that require reporting of greenhousegas otherwise limit emissions of
greenhouse gases from our or our Customers’ equipamel operations could require us and our Custetoancur costs to monitor and report
on greenhouse gas emissions or reduce emissigusaihouse gases associated with our respectivatimms, and the effect of such
requirements also could adversely affect demanthipil and natural gas that our customers produb&h adverse effect on demand could,
in turn, significantly decrease demand for our mexs. Furthermore, one of the asserted long-terysipal effects of climate change may be an
increase in the severity and frequency of adversgther conditions, such as hurricanes, which mayadea our drillship and other facilities,
increase our insurance costs or risk retentiont lmsurance availability or reduce the areas iricivhor the number of days during which, our
customers would contract for our vessels in gerardlin the U.S. Gulf of Mexico in particular. Wieaurrently unable to predict the manner
or extent of any such effect.

Nigeria
Environmental laws that affect our operations uridigierian jurisdiction include, but are not necesgdimited to, the laws described
below. While we believe that we are in substamiahpliance with the current environmental laws egglilations, there is no assurance that

compliance with current laws and regulations or raaeel or newly adopted laws and regulations canddatained in the future or that future
expenditures required to comply with all such lams regulations in the future will not be material.

We, as an independent drilling contractor, areestttip Petroleum (Drilling and Production) AmendinBegulations 1988 (the
“Regulations”) which requires us to be accrediteththe Department of Petroleum
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Resources (the “DPR”). The Guidelines and Applaratrorm for Oil & Gas Industry Service Permit isguioy the DPR (the “DPR Guidelings”
require that we are accredited and issued withrmipdy the DPR (the “DPR Permit”) in order to gagut the services in the Industry. We
have received and must annually renew the DPR pérraccordance with the DPR Guidelines. In addito the DPR permit, under the Local
Content Act (as defined below), we are requiredeaegistered with the Joint Qualification SystédQS”). The Nigerian Petroleum Exchange
(“NIPEX") administers the JQS. NIPEX is requiredpi@-qualify companies and categorize them intdatsibase as a prerequisite for any
company intending to offer services in the Indusing forms the basis for an invitation to tendercfantracts. Under the Regulations we are
also required to obtain a valid license prior tei@ing a drilling rig (a “Drilling Rig Permit”). Arilling Rig Permit is granted by the Minister
of Petroleum Resources (“Minister”) or any otheblmiofficer in the Ministry authorized by the Mster in writing in that regard.

Our operations are also subject to the provisidris@Environmental Guidelines and Standards ferRbtroleum Industry of Nigeria
(“EGASPIN” or the “Guidelines”) which establish aitorm monitoring and control program in relatiandischarges arising from oil
exploration and development in Nigeria.

The Nigerian Oil and Gas Industry Content Developt#ect, 2010 (the “Local Content Actyas enacted to provide for the developmr
implementation and monitoring of Nigerian contenthie oil and gas industry and places particulguteasis on the promotion of Nigerian
content among companies bidding for contracts énathand gas industry rather than the equity ithistion of the relevant companies. The
Local Content Act requires contractors within tlleand gas industry to comply with the minimum Nigeé Content specified for each
particular project item, service or product spesifion as set out in Schedule A of the Local Canéent (the “Schedule”). The Schedule
provides the parameters and minimum level/percestag be utilized in determining and measuring NégeContent in the composite human,
material resources and services applied by operatad contractors in any project in the Industiye host relevant categories under the
Schedule for us fall under the headings of “Wel @nilling Services/Petroleum Technology” and “Eagation, Subsurface, Petroleum
Engineering and Seismic.” The activities listedrétie include: “Producing Drilling Services” and “iling Rigs Semi-submersibles/Jack
ups/othersiwhich both apply to us. For offshore drilling sees within the above referenced categories thenmoim required Nigerian Conte
for the provision of such services provided in 8uhedule is stated in terms of “Manhours” (i.e. Rumesources); and is 85% and 55%,
respectively. In the event there is insufficieng&lian capacity to satisfy the minimum percentggescribed in the Schedule, the Minister r
authorize the continued importation of the relevisarh or personnel for a maximum period of threargdrom the commencement of the Loca
Content Act. This implies that the Minister maymjra waiver for up to a maximum of three-years fithilw commencement of the Local
Content Act (i.e. by 2013). Subject to any amendsiemthe Local Content Act, and/or guidelines égsby the Nigerian Content Monitoring
Board (“NCMB”) clarifying certain provisions of theocal Content Act, all entities must comply wittetprovisions of the Local Content Act.

We are required to submit a proposed Nigerian GarEgecution Plan and will provide a Monthly NigatiContent Report, a document
that details the amount of Nigerian content utdize the performance of the contract.

In addition to the above Nigerian Content requiretagNigerian subsidiaries of international comparare required to demonstrate th
minimum of 50% of the equipment deployed for ex@rubf works is owned by the Nigerian subsidiary.

The Local Content Act also requires that our Nigesubsidiary place 100% of its insurance poligigk local Nigerian insurers and that
local capacity must have been exhausted beforénanyance risk is placed with foreign insurers ang offshore placement of insurance must
be with prior approval of the National Insurancer@aission.

Brazil

Brazilian oil and gas business is subject to exten®gulations by several governmental agenanedyding the National Agency for Oil
and Gas (“ANP"), the Brazilian Navy and the BramiliAuthority for
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Environmental Affairs and Renewable Resources (‘MBX). Onshore environmental, health and safety dtods which are applicable to our
onshore base are controlled by state rather thded®yal authorities. Failure to comply may subjecto administrative, criminal and civil
liability, with strict liability in administrativeand civil cases.

An environmental license from IBAMA is a legal réiqument for any activity considered hazardous,udirlg offshore drilling. The main
piece of legislation concerning environmental Isieg at federal level is Law No. 6,938/1981, whilgtals with the Environmental National
Policy and provides for licenses for the instatlatand operation of oil and gas platforms withi@ Brazilian territory. Such licenses are usu
required from the oil and gas companies, howeverase drilling contractor, are jointly and sevigriable with the oil and gas companies for
any environmental damage arising out of drilling\aties.

The oil and gas companies must present to the ARBbcumentation of Operational Safety (“DSO”) étirdrilling facilities not later
than ninety (90) days prior to the expected datoaimencement of operations. The DSO approval fr@ANP is required prior to
commencement of operations. Any violations of tiéPAregulations are subject to the penalties desdrito ANP Regulation No. 234/03,
namely: (i) warning; (i) fine; (iii) temporary spension of exploration and production activitieg) femporary suspension of the right to take
part in ANP bids; (v) interdiction; (vi) seizurend (vii) termination of the concession contracttrescase may be. Violations of safety
regulations subject oil and gas companies to fimescribed by Law No. 9,847/99 ranging between R$®&00 to 5,000,000.00. In the even
risk to equipment and facilities as well as to¢éh@ironment and to human life, operations may lspended for a period ranging from one
(1) to one hundred and eighty (180) months. Thaiteation of the concession contract may take pillatke event the situation is not rectified
within the deadline set out by the ANP. In suclewinstances, the oil and gas company is preveredtitking part in ANP bids for up to five
(5) years, as set forth in ANP Regulation No. 233/0

Law No. 9,605/98 is the main Brazilian legislatjproviding for criminal and administrative liabiks for environmental damage. We, as
well as our officers, directors and employees magubject to criminal liability and penalties whidelude but are not limited to
imprisonment, fines of up to R$ 50,000,000.00, susn of activities, prohibition to enter into aayreement with the Brazilian government
(including Petrobras) or to receive any public sdies or incentives for up to ten (10) years. Tmmistrative penalties contemplated by Law
No. 9,605/95 also include seizure of assets, ssgpeof activities, revocation of licenses, protidsi to enter into any agreement with
Government (including Petrobras) for up to thréey€ars and cancellation or suspension of finanaimgngements with state-owned banking
institutions.

Our Brazilian operations are exposed to adminisgaind criminal sanctions, including warningseBrand closure orders for non-
compliance with the environmental regulations. Awities such as IBAMA and ANP routinely inspect dacilities, and may impose fines,
restrictions on operations, or other sanctionsrasiged in the applicable legislation.

Other Jurisdictions

Our operations outside the United States, NigerthBrazil are also subject to various foreign lasggulations or other enforceable
requirements including legal requirements relatmthe importation of and operation of drilling signd equipment, currency conversions and
repatriation, oil and natural gas exploration aadedopment, environmental protection, taxationftgtere earnings and earnings of expatriate
personnel, the use of local employees and supfiiefareign contractors and duties on the imparstatind exportation of drilling rigs and ot
equipment. New environmental or safety laws andleggpns could be enacted, which could adversdcabur ability to operate in certain
foreign jurisdictions. While we believe that we &mesubstantial compliance with the current envin@mtal laws and regulations, there is no
assurance that compliance with current laws andlatigns or amended or newly adopted laws and agigals or other governmental regula
initiative can be maintained in the future or thatire expenditures required to comply with alllslews and regulations in the future will not
be material. Moreover, governments in some foremmtries have become increasingly active in reggand controlling the ownership of
concessions and
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companies holding concessions, the exploratiowifaand natural gas and other aspects of the dilretural gas industries in their countries
some areas of the world, this governmental activity adversely affected the amount of exploratimhdevelopment work done by major oil
and natural gas companies and may continue to.doserations in less developed countries can besuio legal systems that are not as
mature or predictable as those in more developadtdes, which can lead to greater uncertaintye@al matters and proceedings.

C. ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

For a full listing of our subsidiaries, see Exhibit.1. All subsidiaries are, indirectly or dire¢tlyholly-owned by us, other than PIDWAL.
See “Joint Venture, Agency and Sponsorship Relatigns” below.

As of February 15, 2013, Quantum Pacific Group o®58,000,000 shares, or approximately 69.2% ofatat outstanding common
shares. The 150,000,000 common shares owned @yuetum Pacific Group are held by Quantum PadBibialtar) Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Quantum Pacific Internationiahited, the indirect ultimate owner of which isradt in which Idan Ofer and certain
members of his family are the primary beneficiaries

Joint Venture, Agency and Sponsorship Relationships

In some areas of the world, local customs and js&or governmental requirements necessitate timesfion of joint ventures with local
participation. Local laws or customs in some acfabe world also effectively mandate establishrredra relationship with a local agent or
sponsor. When appropriate in these areas, we mtérénto agency or sponsorship agreements. Foe mfisrmation regarding the regulations
in the countries in which we currently are contealcto operate, see Item 4, “Business Overview—IBnwirental and Other Regulatory Issues.

We currently are party to a Nigerian joint ventUrdDWAL, which is fully controlled and 90% owned kg with 10% owned by
Derotech, a privately-held Nigerian registered fediliability company. Derotech will not accrue #a@nomic benefits of its interest in
PIDWAL unless and until it satisfies certain outgting obligations to us and a certain pledge icebed by us. Derotech is also performing
marketing services for PIDWAL and an affiliate ofitech acts as one of PIDWAL's logistics agenfserthe maturity of the Project
Facilities Agreement and subject to the terms ofstareholder’s agreement with Derotech, Deroteillthewve the right to purchase up to a
50% ownership interest in PIDWAL at a fair markatue price and subject to additional mutually agregon terms. Additionally, the
shareholdes agreement provides that as long as Deroteckhar@holder in PIDWAL, neither we nor Derotech magnpete with the busine
of PIDWAL without written consent. PIDWAL is a pgrto the Pacific Bora contract with a subsidiaryGfevron and the Pacific Scirocco
contract with a subsidiary of Total. In order tdisy certain commitments made to the Nigerian @ahDevelopment and Monitoring Board,
we expect to convey up to a 50% interest in PaBifica Ltd. and Pacific Scirocco Ltd. to PIDWAL. August 2012, we transferred 10% of the
ownership of Pacific Scirocco Ltd. to PIDWAL asiaitial step towards satisfying our prior commitnhen

In addition, we have retained a marketing age®ravil and have agreements with agents in Braz#yant to which the agents, among
other activities, process visas, customs clearahoautine shipments of equipment, materials amgpbes and process temporary importation
permits, extensions and renewals.

D. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The Fleet

Our fleet consists of some of the newest and nea$inologically advanced drillships in the worldakling us to offer ultra-deepwater
drilling services to customers worldwide. Our fleghi, on the basis of our current contracts, cehef eight newly constructed sixth and
seventh generation ultra-deepwater drillships basea proven design from SHI using weditablished advanced drilling systems from Nati
Oilwell Varco (“NOV”).
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The following table sets forth certain informatiggarding our high-specification, ultra-deepwateltsthips as of February 15, 2013:

Date Delivered/ Water Depth Drilling Depth

Rig Expected Delivery Capacity (in feet, Capacity (in feet, Status
Pacific Bora@@ October 201( 10,00( 37,50( Operating
Pacific Sciroccc® April 2011 12,00( 40,00( Operating
Pacific Mistral @ June 201: 12,00( 37,50( Operating
Pacific Santa Ani®)Xc) December 201 12,00( 40,00( Operating
Pacific Khamsir®)Xc) June 201: 12,00( 40,00( Under constructic
Pacific Shara\®©) 4t

Quarter 201 12,00( 40,00( Under constructic
Pacific Meltenr®)c) 2 nd

Quarter 201+ 12,00( 40,00( Under constructic
Pacific TBN #&®)©) 1st Quarter 201 12,00( 40,00( Under constructic

(8) These drillships have an off-line stand buiiggystem, which permits sections (stands) of tilkestiing and casing to be assembled and
racked for future use while drilling operations argrogress on the main well center without iniption or delay

(b) These drillships have, or upon completion Wwédle, dual load path capability, which allows twillidg stations under a single derrick to
simultaneously conduct lifting operatiol

(c) These drillships have, or upon completion Wwdle, dual gradient drilling upgrades. Dual gratifilling is a technology that allows two
different pressure gradients to be maintainedeénvibll (one in the drilling riser and one in thelMoelow the mudline) by a process of
replacing mud from the drilling riser with a seag-density fluid.

(d) Maximum water depth could be extended to up tod@2feet with drillship modifications

Five of our drillships will have dual gradient dinlg capabilities. Dual gradient drilling is a teaiogy that allows two different pressure
gradients to be maintained in the well (one indhiling riser and one in the well below the mu@rby a process of replacing mud from the
drilling riser with a seawater-density fluid. Puasii to our drilling contract with Chevron for theeuof thePacific Santa Anawe have been
granted a non-exclusive, world-wide, royalty-freehse to use the technical information, data,kammviedge made available by Chevron for
not only thePacific Santa An&ut also our non-dual gradient drilling operati@msall of our other drilling units. Provided thaig drilling
contract remains in effect, we will have a non-esile, world-wide, royalty-free license to use thi®rmation, data and knowledge in any
manner (presumably including dual gradient drilleygerations) on any of our drilling units after Redory 1, 2014. Although dual gradient
drilling technology was technically proven ten yeago, thd?acific Santa Anavill be the first rig to deploy this technology foommercial
application and the dual gradient drilling concetptst will be deployed by thieacific Santa Anare disclosed in patents assigned to Chevron.
We believe that many operators may become inteté@stéeploying dual gradient drilling technology fleepwater wells because it enables
better well control, reduces the required numberasing strings, and allows for larger wellboréosal depth and larger production liner. These
technical benefits may result in savings in cost time per well and higher flow rates, enabling diperator to drill wells that would have been
considered uneconomic or “undrillable” and boolergss that would have not been otherwise bookedigder, there is no certainty that we
will achieve these expected benefits from our dwatlient drilling capabilities. See Item 3, “Risadtors—Dual gradient drilling techniques
may not result in the currently expected benefiid, @s a result, adequate demand may not develdpefse capabilities.”

In March 2011, we entered into two contracts withl 8r the construction of our fifth and sixth adwzd-capability, ultra-deepwater
drillships, thePacific Khamsirand thePacific Sharav In March 2012, we entered into a contract witH i the construction of thBacific
Meltem. In January 2013, we exercised our option andredt@to an additional contract with SHI for thenstruction of our eighth drillship.
Similar to several other vessels in our existimgft] thePacific Khamsin thePacific Sharay, thePacific Meltemand our eighth drillship are
also based on SHi'proprietary hull design with many of the requiegthancements to meet our operational needs angle@ith recent clier
requirements, have dual gradient drilling capabdgitand improved
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completion capabilities and are designed for didllin water depths of up to 12,000 feet. Followshipyard construction, commissioning and
testing, thePacific Khamsin thePacific Sharay, thePacific Meltemand our eighth drillship are expected to be dedideo us at the shipyard
June 2013, the fourth quarter of 2013, the secomditgr of 2014 and the first quarter of 2015, retigely. The contracts provide for an
aggregate purchase price of approximately $2.bifior the acquisition of these four vessels, jdg/én installments during the construction
process. We have the right to rescind the agreefoedelays exceeding certain periods or, altevedtj the right to liquidated damages for
delays or failures. We expect the project costhleiPacific Khamsin thePacific Sharay, thePacific Meltemand our eighth drillship under
construction to be approximately $608.3 million63® million, $627.8 million and $634.1 million. €lestimate of the project costs includes
commissioning and testing and other costs for thiskips, but excludes capitalized interest. AdDafcember 31, 2012, there are approximatel
$1.5 billion remaining project costs for tRacific Khamsin thePacific Sharawand thePacific Meltemof which approximately $1.1 billion is
remaining contractual commitments to SHI. We inteméinance the remaining project costs of $390iamilfor thePacific Khamsirwith cash

on hand primarily from proceeds under the 2017 @eBecured Notes. The remaining project costs 80$8illion for thePacific Khamsinwill

be financed with existing cash balances primariyf proceeds under the 2017 Senior Secured Notesnihd to finance the approximately
$1.1 billion remaining project costs for tRacific Sharavand thePacific Meltemwith our Senior Secured Credit Facility and exigtoash
balances. Additionally, we intend to finance th&4@a million in project costs for our eighth drilip with our existing cash balances, operatin
cash flow generation and additional future indebtsd, which is uncommitted at this time. See ItefiR&Bk Factors—Risks Related to Our
Business—Our substantial indebtedness could adyexffect our financial condition and business pess” and Item 3, “Risk FactorsRisks
Related to Our Business—The Project Facilities Agrent, our 2015 Senior Unsecured Bonds, our 20fibS8ecured Notes and the Senior
Secured Credit Facility Agreement imposes signifiagerating and financial restrictions on certa#iour subsidiaries, which may prevent us
from capitalizing on business opportunities andniglsome actions.”

The construction programs for tRacific Khamsin thePacific Sharay, thePacific Meltem and our eighth drillship are supervised by o
construction management team, including thosenttzataged the construction of tRacific Bora, thePacific Sciroccothe Pacific Mistral, the
Pacific Santa Aniand the two drillships that were contributed to TPDhe Pacific Bora, thePacific Sciroccq thePacific Mistral, thePacific
Santa Anand the two TPDI vessels were delivered substintal time and within budget.

There are risks of delay and cost overruns inheéneaihy major shipyard project, including thoseutiésg from adverse weather
conditions, work stoppages, disputes and finaraidl other difficulties encountered by the shipyémdrder to mitigate some of these risks,
have selected a high-quality shipyard with a rejoneafor on-time completions. In addition, eachoof construction contracts is based on a
fixed fee and backed by a refund guarantee if tlieisi ultimately not finished or accepted by usngompletion. Deliveries by the shipyard
beyond a certain point in time are subject to ggrmEyments to us and also give us a right of déatam.

The indebtedness under our Project Facilities Aged is collateralized by a first preferred mortgager thePacific Bora, thePacific
Scirocco, thePacific Mistraland thePacific Santa Ana The indebtedness under our 2017 Senior SecuregsMall, upon delivery, be secur
by a first-priority security interest (subject teceptions) in thé?acific Khamsin The indebtedness under our Senior Secured Gfadility
Agreement will, upon delivery, be secured by afingority security interest (subject to exceptipirsthePacific Sharavand thePacific
Meltem. See Item 5, “Liquidity and Capital Resources—Digp¢ion of Indebtedness.” Additionally, the utilizan of our drillships may be
impacted by a number of environmental and regufagsues. See Item 4, “Business Overview—Envirortaleand Other Regulatory Issues.”

Properties

We maintain our principal executive office and cegistered office in Luxembourg and our operatidreddquarters in Houston, Texas.
We also provide technical, operational and adnriaiiste support from our offices in Singapore, Brazid Nigeria.
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ITEM 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

There are no written comments which have been gealvby the staff of the Securities and Exchange @ission regarding our periodic
reports which remain unresolved as of the datéefiting of this Form 20-F with the SEC.

ITEM5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The following discussion and analysis should belli@aconjunction with Item 3, “Selected Financiahfa” and the accompanying
financial statements and related notes includedvefere in this annual report. In addition, pleasad the introduction to the financi
statements in item 18, “Financial Statements” fmpiortant information relating to our presentatiohfimancial information in this annual
report and concerning the financial statements esldted notes included elsewhere in this annuabreg he following discussion contains
forward-looking statements that reflect our future plaestimates, beliefs and expected performance. Tharfd-looking statements are
dependent upon events, risks and uncertaintiesniagtbe outside our control. Our actual resultsldaliffer materially from those discussed
in these forward-looking statements. Please readri¥ard-Looking Statements” and Item 3, “Risk Fastéiin light of these risks,
uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looléagnts discussed may not occur.

A. OPERATING RESULTS
Overview

We are an international offshore drilling contraatommitted to becoming the preferred provider loadeepwater drilling services to
the oil and natural gas industry through the udaigli-specification rigs. Our primary businessoigtntract our ultra-deepwater drilling rigs,
related equipment and work crews, primarily on grdi basis, to drill wells for our customers.

Following completion of construction, our fully-deged fleet will consist of eight newly constructgieth and seventh generation ultra-
deepwater drillships, representing one of the yeshgnd most technologically advanced fleets imtbedd. As of February 15, 2013, we
currently operate four drillships and have foutlships under construction at SHI, two of which areler customer contract.

Factors Affecting Comparability of Historical Financial Results of Operations to Future Financial Redts of Operations

We have a limited operating history. Because atiwfdrillships have been recently completed orcareently under construction, our
historical results of operations primarily refléioe impact of establishing our fleet of new ulteegwater drillships, our past investment in
TPDI and the costs we have incurred in establistiiegnfrastructure needed to support the futueraton of our fleet. Our future results of
operations may not be comparable to the historesllts of operations for the periods presentdthaily for the reasons described below:

* Revenues earned and incremental costs incurrectigirelated to contract preparation and mobilizatare deferred and recognized
over the primary term of the drilling contract. Asesult, we did not begin to recognize operatévggnue or incur any material
operating expenses until tRacific Boracommenced drilling operations on August 26, 201ith\he commencement of the
Pacific Scirocce, thePacific Mistraland thePacific Santa Andrilling operations, on December 31, 2011, Febr@&rg012 and
May 4, 2012, respectively, we have seen a subatantirease in our revenues, operating expensesardting income during
2012 and expect these to continue to increaseesult of completing construction of tRacific Khamsin thePacific Sharay, the
Pacific Melterr, and our eighth drillship and placing them intovgze.

e On March 30, 2011, we completed the TPDI Transfertiich we transferred our interest in TPDI to bssdiary of the Quantum
Pacific Group in connection with the RestructuriAg.a result, our results of operations do notudelthe equity investment in
TPDI after March 30, 201
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* We did not recognize interest expense in our statemf operations until all the activities necegdarprepare the qualifying asset
for its intended use are complete. We had and moatio expect a substantial increase in intergstreses in our results of
operations as a result of completing constructiiooun vessels and placing them into serv

Factors Affecting our Results of Operations
The primary factors which have affected our his@roperating results and are expected to impachubure operating results include:
e the number of drillships in our flee
« dayrates earned by our drillshij
» utilization rates of our drillships
» operating expenses of our drillshi|
* administrative expense
» interest and other financial items; ¢
+ tax expense:

Our revenues are derived primarily from the operatf our drillships at fixed daily rates, whichpd@d principally upon the number and
availability of our drillships, the dayrates reaivand the number of days utilized. We recognizemees from drilling contracts as services
performed upon contract commencement.

Additionally, we may also receive revenues for pregion and mobilization of equipment and persownédr capital improvements to
rigs. Revenues earned and incremental costs inttdirectly related to contract preparation and rimdtion are deferred and recognized over
the primary term of the drilling contract. Upon qaletion of drilling contracts, any demobilizatioges received and related expenses are
reported in income. Amortization of deferred revemurecorded on a straight-line basis over thmany drilling contract term, which is
consistent with the general pace of activity, lesfetervices being provided and dayrates beingeeborer the life of the contract.
Reimbursements received for capital expenditureslaferred and recognized over the primary conteswst of the drilling project. The actual
cost incurred for capital expenditure is depredateer the estimated useful life of the asset.

Our expenses consist primarily of contract drillexpenses, depreciation, administrative expensesest and other financial expenses
and tax expenses. Contract drilling expenses irecliid remuneration of offshore crews and onshaguersision staff, as well as expenses for
onshore support offices, repairs and sustainingnt@aance.

Depreciation expenses are based on the histowsalot our drillships and other property and equéptrand recorded on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of each daassets. The estimated useful lives of ourdthifls and their related equipment ranges from
15 to 35 years. We begin recording depreciatiorergps once all activities necessary to preparasbet for its intended use are complete,
which is typically upon the date of contract comeement for our recently delivered drillships.

General and administrative expenses include thiesictocosts of management and administration ottimepany, such as the labor costs
of our corporate employees and remuneration ofloectors.

Interest expenses primarily depend on our oveza#llof indebtedness and interest rates. Intesastpitalized based on the costs of new
borrowings attributable to qualifying new constiaotor at the weighted average cost of debt outlitgnduring the period of construction. We
capitalize interest costs for qualifying new coastion from the point borrowing costs are incurfedthe qualifying new construction and
cease when
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substantially all the activities necessary to prefihe qualifying asset for its intended use areete, which is typically the date of contract
commencement. Once the contract has commencedomgnize interest expense in the statement of tipesa

Our tax expenses reflect current and deferredxprreses. In general, our income tax expenses i@smarily from the taxable net
income on our drillship operations.

Developmental Activities

The following discussion provides an overview d# ffrincipal activities conducted during the periodicated, which are material
factors for changes in our financial position aesults of operations.

Year ended December 31, 2010
During 2010, our principal activities consistedloé following:
» secured contracts with Chevron for Pacific Santa Aniand thePacific Bora;
» entered into the $1.8 billion Project FacilitiesrAgment
» recruited and trained staff, including rig persdnfar the Pacific Bora; and
» accepted delivery of ttPacific Borain October 2010
Additionally, during 2010, construction activityminued on théacific Sciroccq thePacific Mistraland thePacific Santa Andor on-

time delivery. After its delivery, thBacific Boraunderwent contract specific modifications priostarting its mobilization to commence
operations.

Year ended December 31, 2011

During 2011, our principal activities consistedtoé following:
» entered into contracts with SHI in March 2011 foe tonstruction of thPacific Khamsirand thePacific Sharay;
» completed the Restructuring and the TPDI Transfédarch 2011

» completed the 2011 Private Placement in which vie 60,000,000 common shares to international ar8 ldvestors for net
proceeds of approximately $575.5 millic

» accepted delivery in April 2011 of thiacific Sciroccaand following certain repairs and upgrades, entsesdice in Nigeria on
December 31, 2011 under a -year contract with Tota

» accepted delivery in June 2011 of Pacific Mistral;
» entered into an agreement with SHI in June 201atorg us an option to purchase a seventh drills

» hired crew for all four drillships at the seniocaftilevel and oversaw client requested modificatiand post delivery upgrades on alll
vessels

» developed and refined operating procedures, managesystems and work instructions, to facilitatee seonsistent activities on
our drillships;

» placed thePacific Borainto service in Nigeria on August 26, 2011 undénrae-year contract with Chevrol

» completed an initial public offering of 6,900,008ses and commenced trading on the NYSE underdker symbol “PACD” in
November and December 2011 for net proceeds obappately $50.3 million; an

» accepted delivery in December 2011 of Pacific Santa An..
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Year ended December 31, 2012
During 2012, our principal activities consistedtod following:

placed thePacific Mistralinto service in Brazil on February 6, 2012 undénrae-year contract with Petrobre

completed a Norwegian private placement of $300aniin aggregate principal amount of 8.25% semniasecured U.S. dollar
denominated bonds due in 2015 to eligible purclsaisefFebruary 201:

entered into contract with SHI in March 2012 foe ttonstruction of thPacific Meltemand an option to construct an additional
drillship;

replaced, the temporary SBLC facilities for thacific Boraand thePacific Sciroccan April 2012 with a Letter of Credit Facility
and Guaranty Agreement resulting in the releasgppfoximately $126 million of restricted cash cttal to cash and cash
equivalents

secured on April 6, 2012 an exercise by Total fooption to extend thPacific Sciroccccontract period to two year
placed thePacific Santa Aninto service in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico on May 412 under a fiv-year contract with Chevrol

entered into a five-year contract with Chevronunel 2012 for operations in the United States Glulflexico for thePacific
Sharay;

entered into an International Master Agreementtamd-year contract with Chevron in November 2012dperations in several
countries, including Nigeria, Liberia and certaguatries in Asia for thPacific Khamsir;

completed a private placement of $500 million igregate principal amount of 7.25% senior securel dollar denominated notes
due in 2017 to eligible purchasers in November 2@h2

entered into the Second Amendment Agreement irectgd the Project Facilities Agreement in Decenfi&?2, which changed tt
frequency of amortization payments from every sonths to every three months and resulted in theasel of approximately $77.7
million in restricted casf
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Results of Operations
Year ended December 31, 2012 compared to Year dbeleeimber 31, 2011
The following table provides an analysis of our smlidated results of operations for the years emstember 31, 2012 and 2011

Years Ended
December 31

2012 2011 Change % Change
(In thousands, except percentage:

Revenues
Contract drilling $ 638,05( $ 65,43 $ 572,61¢ 875%
Costs and expenses
Contract drilling (331,49 (32,14 (299,35) 931%
General and administrative expen (45,386 (52,619 7,22¢ (14)%
Depreciation expens (127,699 (11,619 (116,079 99(%
(504,579 (96,379 (408,20 424%
Loss of hire insurance recove 23,67 18,50( 5,171 28%
Operating income (loss) 157,14. (12,449 169,58t 1,36%
Other income (expense
Equity in earnings of Joint Ventu — 18,95~ (18,955 (200%
Interest income from Joint Ventu — 49t (495) (100%
Interest expens (104,68 (10,389 (94,30) 90&%
Other income 3,24¢ 3,67¢ (430 (12%
Income (loss) before income taxe 55,70: 297 55,40¢ (18,655%
Income tax expens (21,719 (3,200 (18,519 57%%
Net income (loss $ 33,98¢ $ (2,909 $ 36,89: 1,271%

RevenuesRevenues were $638.1 million for the year endecebdxer 31, 2012, compared to $65.4 million for teanended
December 31, 2011. Contract drilling revenue ferybar ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 include® $8illion and $8.6 million,
respectively, in amortization of deferred revenlige revenue for year ended December 31, 2011 naolyded drilling operations for the
Pacific Bora, which commenced on August 26, 2011. The incrgasevenues during the year ended December 31, @8lE2ts a full year of
operations for th€acific Boraand thePacific Sciroccqg which entered service on December 31, 2011. Aatditly, the year ended
December 31, 2012 saw an increase in revenuestfrestart of operations of thacific Mistraland thePacific Santa Anan February 6, 20!
and May 4, 2012, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, our dpgrieet of four drillships achieved an averageeraue efficiency of 88.0%.
Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012ager¥sely impacted by downtime during the first aadond quarters of 2012 primarily
due to subsea equipment design issues experiemmeajhout the fleet. All of our BOPs have now bapgraded to fully address this design
weakness. Additionally, revenue efficiency for yfear ended December 31, 2012 was negatively imgdogtehePacific Santa Andeing on
downtime in the third quarter to perform repairsgmove some roughness in the seal face of orteed®P doors that could have prevented ¢
consistent seal. The BOP repairs and inspecticnateel in a total of 45 days of downtime beforeBlagific Santa Anaestarted operations on
August 15, 2012. For the period from May 4, 20I@tgh September 30, 2012, these and subsequem¢moivith the BOP on theacific
Santa Anaesulted in average revenue efficiency of 57.6%imuthe fourth quarter of 2012, tiacific Santa Anaelivered average revenue
efficiency of 87.3%.

The Pacific Boraand thePacific Sciroccaachieved average revenue efficiency of 94.3% an@®during the year ended December 31,
2012, respectively. For the period from Februarg@,2 through December 31, 2012, Bexific Mistralrealized an average revenue efficiency
of 83.9%.
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Contract drilling costsContract drilling costs were $331.5 million for thear ended December 31, 2012, compared to $33iamfor
the year ended December 31, 2011. The increasmniract drilling costs during the year ended Decen®i, 2012 compared to the year ende
December 31, 2011 is due to a full year of openatior thePacific Boraand thePacific Sciroccaand the start of operations of tRacific
Mistral and thePacific Santa An@n February 6, 2012 and May 4, 2012, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, direaetaged operating expenses were approximately .$288lion and shore-based and
other support costs were approximately $22.2 mmilliddditionally, contract drilling costs included®7 million in amortization of deferred
mobilization costs.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, rig opperaixpenses were adversely affected primarilydyipgment and maintenance costs
for the fleet during rig startup.

General and administrative expensé3eneral and administrative expenses were $43libmior the year ended December 31, 2012,
compared to $52.6 million for the year ended Decan®, 2011. The decrease in general and admitigtrexpenses was primarily due to the
accounting for field support and certain rig reteéxpenses, such as crew training, during the ¢/e@ed December 31, 2011. Prior to contract
commencement, these costs were recognized as gandradministrative expenses during the year edasxmber 31, 2011. Upon contract
commencement, the related field support and riafedl expenses have been recognized as contrdicigdeidsts during the year ended
December 31, 2012.

Depreciation expenseDepreciation expense was $127.7 million for tearyended December 31, 2012, compared to $11.@&miidr the
year ended December 31, 2011. The increase in@apom expense was primarily due to placingPacific Bora, thePacific Mistral, the
Pacific Scirocccand thePacific Santa Ananto service, which resulted in the commencemethefdepreciation of the drillships.

Loss of hire insurance recovetpcome from loss of hire insurance recovery was B23llion for the year ended December 31, 2012,
compared to $18.5 million for the year ended Decam®i, 2011. As part of our hull and machinery pglwe maintain loss of hire insurance
which carries a 45-day waiting period and an anaggkegate limit of 180 days. In the third quaae?011, thePacific Sciroccainderwent
repairs and upgrades to ensure engine reliabiitych was a covered event under our loss of hitieypand resulted in loss of hire recoveries
of $18.5 million during the year ended December2®1l,1. During the year ended December 31, 2012ew@ved further proceeds under the
policy in an amount of $23.7 million that resuliedotal cumulative loss of hire insurance recoegidf $42.2 million.

Equity in earnings of Joint VenturdEquity in earnings of the Joint Venture was $0tfe year ended December 31, 2012, compared to
$19.0 million for the year ended December 31, 20hk decrease in equity in earnings of TPDI wastduke TPDI Transfer on March 30,
2011. Neither the Company nor any of its subsid&durrently owns any interest in TPDI and, follogvihe transfer, the results of operations
of TPDI are no longer included in our financialuks.

Interest income from TPDIInterest income from TPDI was $0 for the yeareghBecember 31, 2012, compared to $0.5 millioritHer
year ended December 31, 2011. The decrease ieshiacome from TPDI was due to the TPDI TransfeMarch 30, 2011, which include
assignment of notes receivable from TPDI. As suchinterest income from TPDI was recorded in onafficial results beginning in the second
quarter of 2011.

Interest expenselnterest expense was approximately $104.7 mifi@srthe year ended December 31, 2012, compargdGet million fol
the year ended December 31, 2011. The increaseeirest expense was primarily due to interest esgpen borrowings under our Project
Facilities Agreement after tHeacific Bora, thePacific Mistral, thePacific Sciroccaand thePacific Santa Anavere placed into service.
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Other income (expensepther income was approximately $3.2 million floe tyear ended December 31, 2012, compared to $Bighm
for the year ended December 31, 2011. The decieadker income during the year ended DecembeB@12 was primarily due to a decrease
in management income. Other income included manageimcome from day-to-day oversight and managersenvices with respect to the
Quantum Pacific Group’s equity interest in TPDI &ofee of $4,000 per drillship per day, or $8,080¢ay. During the year ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, management fee incbBiemillion and $2.2 million, respectively, weecorded in other income. As a result
of Quantum Pacific Group’s divestiture of their ggyoosition in TPDI, the management agreement t@asinated on May 31, 2012.

Income taxesIncome tax expense was approximately $21.7 millar the year ended December 31, 2012, compar#$d.million for
the year ended December 31, 2011. The increasedmie tax expense was primarily due to a full ygaperations for th€acific Boraand
the Pacific Sciroccan Nigeria, as well as the commencement of opemataf thePacific Mistraland thePacific Santa Anan Brazil and the
United States, respectively in 2012. In 2011, oy @perations consisted of a partial year of opena by thePacific Borain Nigeria.

The relationship between our provision for or barfefm income taxes and our ptax book income can vary significantly from perioc
period considering, among other factors, (a) therall/level of pre-tax book income, (b) changethim blend of income that is taxed based on
gross revenues versus pre-tax book income, araliajg operating structures. Consequently, ouotine tax expense does not change
proportionally with our pre-tax book income. Sigoént decreases in our pi@x book income typically result in higher effeeitax rates, whil
significant increases in ptex book income can lead to lower effective taesasubject to the other factors impacting incamxeskpense nott
above. Our effective tax rate was 39.0% for the yealed December 31, 2012 as compared to 1077 Adhefyear ended December 31, 2011.
The decrease in 2012 is the result of a signifig@ease in pre-tax book income without a propoii increase in income tax expense. With
respect to our effective tax rate for the year endecember 31, 2012, a significant amount of ocoine tax expense was generated in Nigeri:
where income taxes are imposed on deemed profitishveffectively are a proportion of gross revenuather than actual profits. Conversely,
our operations in the United States and Brazil cwlinpose tax on a net profits basis, yielded le$sewhich a relatively insignificant tax
benefit is reflected in our tax provision as a tesfiour operating structures in those jurisdingoFor the year ended December 31, 2011, our
only operations were in Nigeria where, as discusdeye, we are taxed on a deemed profits basisdgoently, our 2011 income tax expense
had no relationship to pre-tax book income.
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Year ended December 31, 2011 compared to Year dbeleeimber 31, 2010
The following table provides an analysis of our smlidated results of operations for the years emstember 31, 2011 and 2010:

Years ended December 3:

2011 2010 Change % Change
(In thousands, except percentage:

Revenues
Contract drilling $ 65,43 $ — $ 65,431 10C%
Costs and expenses
Contract drilling (32,149 — (32,149 10C%
General and administrative expen (52,619 (29,71 (32,899 167%
Depreciation expens (11,619 (399 (11,229 2,842%
(96,379 (20,110 (76,265 37<%
Loss of hire insurance recove 18,50( — 18,50( 10C%
Operating loss (12,449 (20,110 7,66¢ (38)%
Other income (expense
Equity in earnings of Joint Ventu 18,95¢ 56,30" (37,357 (66)%
Interest income from Joint Ventu 49t 1,97: (1,47¢) (75)%
Interest expens (10,38¢) (85¢) (9,526) 111%
Other income (expens 3,67¢ (62 3,73 6,027%
Income before income taxe 297 37,25( (36,957 (99)%
Income tax (expense) bene (3,200 49 (3,249 (6,630)%
Net (loss) income $ (2,909 $ 37,29¢ $(40,207) (109 %

RevenuesRevenues were $65.4 million for the year ended Bes 31, 2011, compared to $0 for the year endegidber 31, 2010.
The increase in revenues resulted fromRhaeific Boracommencing drilling operations in Nigeria on Aug@ét 2011 under a three-year
contract with a subsidiary of Chevron. Followinghtact commencement, tiacific Borahas achieved revenue efficiency of 93.2% through
December 31, 2011. Revenue efficiency is defineactisal contractual dayrate revenue (excludes mzakin fees, upgrade reimbursements
and other revenue sources) divided by the maximmaouat of total contractual dayrate revenue thatdchave been earned during such pe
Contract drilling revenue included $8.6 millionamortization of deferred revenue.

Contract drilling costsContract drilling costs were $32.1 million for thear ended December 31, 2011, compared to $0doyahr
ended December 31, 2010. Direct rig operating esgeaccounted for $22.4 million of the total andrekbased and other support costs were
$3.9 million. Rig operating expenses for fh&cific Borawere adversely affected by the start-up costs mefficiencies inherent to the first few
months of operations for a new drillship. In adfiti during the four months of operations, Bezific Boraalone supported all of the operating
support costs intended for a larger operating fléentract drilling costs also included $4.3 miillim amortization of deferred mobilization
costs for thé”acific Boraand the $1.5 million property damage insurance dole incurred related to the costs of Becific Scirocceengine
work.

General and administrative expensé3eneral and administrative expenses were $52l@mnfior the year ended December 31, 2011,
compared to $19.7 million for the year ended Decam®, 2010. The increase in general and admitiisraxpenses was primarily due to
establishing the infrastructure needed to supperttrrent and future operations of our fleet axdieed in more detail in Iltem 5,
“Developmental Activities.’Additionally, the Company incurred $13.5 millionda$il.4 million of field support and certain rigatdd expense
such as crew training, during the years ended Dbeefil, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Prior to @mtcommencement, these field support
and certain rig related expenses are recognizgdraeral and
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administrative expenses. Upon contract commenceradditional field support and rig related expera@srecognized as contract drilling
operating costs as incurred. The Company also iedu#4.4 million in general and administrative exges, such as legal fees, related to
borrowings under the Project Facilities Agreeméniting the year ended December 31, 2011, genedbhdministrative expenses also
included $2.1 million in charges related to ounsition to becoming a public company.

Depreciation expenseDepreciation expense was $11.6 million for tharyended December 31, 2011, compared to $0.4 miiinthe
year ended December 31, 2010. The increase incdapom expenses was primarily due to placingPacific Borainto service, which resulted
in the commencement of the depreciation of thdstip. We did not record depreciation expense edlad our drillships for the year ended
December 31, 2010 because our drillships had rndigen placed into service.

Loss of hire insurance recoveipcome from loss of hire insurance recovery was$b8llion for the year ended December 31, 2011,
compared to $0 for the year ended December 31,. 20&0maintain loss of hire insurance that beconffestéve 45 days after an accident or
major equipment failure covered by hull and machjinesurance, resulting in a downtime event anéos for 180 days. In the third quarter
2011, thePacific Sciroccainderwent repairs and upgrades to ensure engiabitiey, which was a covered event under our lokkire policy
that resulted in the loss of hire insurance recpveceived and recognized.

Equity in earnings of Joint VenturdEquity in earnings of Joint Venture was $19.0ionil for the year ended December 31, 2011,
compared to $56.3 million for the year ended Decam®, 2010. The decrease in equity in earning®P@il was due to the TPDI Transfer on
March 30, 2011. Neither the Company nor any ofitissidiaries currently owns any interest in TPOd,dollowing the transfer, the results of
operations of TPDI are no longer included in onaficial results.

Interest income from TPDIInterest income from TPDI was $0.5 million foethear ended December 31, 2011, compared to $Hi6mi
for the year ended December 31, 2010. The decieasterest income from TPDI was due to the TPDdriafer on March 30, 2011, which
included assignment of notes receivable from TRBIsuch, no interest income from TPDI was recolidezlr financial results beginning in
the second quarter of 2011.

Interest expenselnterest expense was approximately $10.4 millasrthe year ended December 31, 2011, compare@.8rfillion for
the year ended December 31, 2010. The increasgéeirest expense was primarily due to interest esqeton the Bora Term Loan after the
Pacific Borawas placed into service. Excluding interest expémsethe Bora Term Loan in 2011, we did not recogainy interest expense
the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 for lntineowings under our Project Facilities Agreemamd related-party loans in our
statement of operations, because we capitalizesstteosts incurred on new borrowings attributablgualifying new construction until all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifyingtafesets intended use are complete. The interggérse incurred during the year ended
December 31, 2010 results from a letter of cremitdgreement with Transocean related to TPDI's Gamge with the terms under its bank
credit facility.

Other income (expenseDther income (expense) was approximately $3.liamifor the year ended December 31, 2011, compiared
$(0.1) million for the year ended December 31, 201 increase in other income was primarily duméome from TPDI management fees of
approximately $2.2 million. In connection with thi€DI Transfer, we entered into a management agneepuesuant to which we provide day-
to-day oversight and management services with ot$pehe Quantum Pacific Group’s equity interesT PDI for a fee of $4,000 per drillship
per day, or $8,000 per day.

Income taxesIncome tax expense was approximately $3.2 mifimnhe year ended December 31, 2011, comparad tocome tax
benefit of $0.1 million for the year ended Decem®&r2010. The increase in income tax expense wasply due to the commencement of
Pacific Boradrilling operations in Nigeria, where the Compasysibject to income tax payable on deemed pradisedb on a fixed percentage
of revenue.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND POLICIES

The preparation of consolidated financial stateméntonformity with GAAP requires management tdkemaertain estimates and
assumptions. These estimates and assumptions ithgaeported amounts of assets and liabilitiesdibclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities at the balance sheet date and the atsafrrevenues and expenses recognized duringpueting period. On an ongoing basis, we
evaluate our estimates and assumptions, inclutioggtrelated to allowance for doubtful accountgrfcial instruments, depreciation of
property and equipment, impairment of long-livededs, income taxes, shdrased compensation and contingencies. We basetimiates an
assumptions on historical experience and on vaitiesr factors we believe are reasonable undezitbemstances, the results of which form
the basis for making judgments about the carryalges of assets and liabilities that are not rgaparent from other sources. Actual results
could differ from such estimates.

Our critical accounting estimates are importarth®portrayal of both our financial condition ardults of operations and require us to
make difficult, subjective or complex assumptiongstimates about matters that are uncertain. Wedaeport different amounts in our
consolidated financial statements, which could lagemial, if we used different assumptions or estizsaWe have discussed the development
and selection of our critical accounting estimatéh our Board of Directors and the Board of Dimsthas reviewed the disclosure presented
below. During the past three fiscal years, we haatanade any material changes in accounting metbggo

We believe that the following is a summary of thiéical accounting polices used in the preparatibour consolidated financial
statements.

Revenues and operating expense3ontract drilling revenues are recognized asexirbased on contractual dayrates. In connectitn wi
drilling contracts, we may receive revenues foppration and mobilization of equipment and persbonéor capital improvements to rigs.
Revenues earned and incremental costs incurrectlglirelated to contract preparation and mobil@atalong with reimbursements received
capital expenditures are deferred and recognizedtte primary term of the drilling contract. Thawal cost incurred for reimbursed capital
expenditures are depreciated over the estimatddl liée of the asset. Amortization of deferred eenmie and deferred mobilization costs are
recorded on a straight-line basis over the pringzifing contract term, which is consistent wittetgeneral pace of activity, level of services
being provided and dayrates being earned oveiftheflthe contract. Upon completion of drillingrdoacts, any demobilization fees received
and related expenses are reported in income.

Property and equipmentDeepwater drillships are recorded at cost of tanson, including any major capital improvemeriéss
accumulated depreciation and impairment. Othergntgmnd equipment are recorded at cost and caofgistrchased software systems,
furniture, fixtures and other equipment. Plannedgomaaintenance, ongoing maintenance, routine re@aid minor replacements are expense
as incurred.

Interest is capitalized based on the costs of nawolvings attributable to qualifying new constroctior at the weighted average cost of
debt outstanding during the period of constructiie. capitalize interest costs for qualifying newnstuction from the point borrowing costs
are incurred for the qualifying new constructior @ease when substantially all the activities nemgsto prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use are complete.

Property and equipment are depreciated to theiagalvalue on a straighiie basis over the estimated useful lives of edabs of asset
Our estimated useful lives of property and equipinaea as follows:

Years
Drillships and related equipment 15-35
Other property and equipme 2-7
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Long-lived assets We review our long-lived assets, including prép@nd equipment, for impairment when events ongea in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amountsiofassets held and used may not be recoveraittential impairment indicators include
rapid declines in commodity prices and related mbcknditions, actual or expected declines in filigation, increases in idle time,
cancellations of contracts or credit concerns stamers. We assess impairment using estimatedamuatited cash flows for the long-lived
assets being evaluated by applying assumptionsdiegafuture operations, market conditions, daysatgilization and idle time. An
impairment loss is recorded in the period if theydag amount of the asset is not recoverable.

Contingencies We record liabilities for estimated loss contingies when we believe a loss is probable and treiatof the probable
loss can be reasonably estimated. Once establigleealdjust the estimated contingency loss accaraltfanges in facts and circumstances tha
alter our previous assumptions with respect tdikaetihood or amount of loss.

We recognize loss of hire insurance recovery oraézed or contingencies related to the realizghbdlf the amount earned are resolved.

Income taxes Income taxes are provided based upon the taxdadsates in the countries in which our subsidgare registered and
where their operations are conducted and income=gpenses are earned and incurred, respectivelye@dgnize deferred tax assets and
liabilities for the anticipated future tax effectstemporary differences between the financialestegnt basis and the tax basis of our assets an
liabilities using the applicable enacted tax ratesffect the year in which the asset is realizethe liability is settled. A valuation allowance
for deferred tax assets is established when itigertikely than not that some portion or all of teferred tax assets will not be realized.

We recognize tax benefits from an uncertain taxtjposonly if it is more likely than not that thevgition will be sustained upon
examination by taxing authorities based on thertieth merits of the position. The amount recognizethe largest benefit that we believe has
greater than a 50% likelihood of being realizedrupettlement. Actual income taxes paid may vargnfestimates depending upon changes in
income tax laws, actual results of operations aedinal audit of tax returns by taxing authoritiéée recognize interest and penalties relate
uncertain tax positions in income tax expense.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Please refer to Note 2 to the Company’s ConsolitlRteancial Statements in this annual report fdisaussion of recent accounting
pronouncements and their anticipated impact.

B. LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We operate in a capital intensive industry. Throkgbruary 15, 2013, our principal sources of ligyilave been provided through a
combination of borrowings from Quantum Pacific Gvand its affiliates, capital contributions from#&um Pacific Group and its affiliates,
proceeds from the 2011 Private Placement, prodeaaisthe initial public offering of our common slearincluding the underwriters’ full
exercise of their over-allotment option, borrowinggler our Project Facilities Agreement and prosdeain the sale of the 2015 Senior
Unsecured Bonds and the 2017 Senior Secured Ne#tel,as described in “—Description of Indebtednbssdw. In the future, we expect that
our investment in newbuild ultra-deepwater drilpghwill be financed through additional debt finamgiequity issuances and cash flow from
operations. Our liquidity requirements relate toding investments in newbuild ultra-deepwater shilbs, servicing debt, ongoing working
capital requirements and maintaining adequate Ess#rves to mitigate the effects of fluctuationsperating cash flows. Most of our contract
drilling revenues will be received monthly in amgand most of our operating costs will be paicganonthly basis.

We centrally manage our funding and treasury a@iin accordance with corporate policies to emsyapropriate levels of liquidity,
comply with debt covenants, maintain adequate $eg€insurance and balance
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exposures to market risks. Cash and cash equigaeateld mainly in United States Dollars, Nigefiaira, Brazilian Real and Singapore
Dollars.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had $605I&oménd $107.3 million, respectively, of cash aagh equivalents. Additionally,
of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had $172.2 midlied $377.0 million, respectively, of restrictedk that primarily consisted of restricted
cash accounts held with financial institutions @susity for the borrowings under the Project Féeti Agreement and Temporary Import Bond
Facilities (as described in “—Description of Indediiess” below).

Our liquidity requirements include funding ongoingrking capital needs, repaying our outstandingbiddness and anticipated capital
expenditures, which largely comprise our progressments for our ultra-deepwater drillship constiarcprojects, and maintaining adequate
cash reserves to compensate the effects of fluohgin operating cash flows. Our ability to mdwetge liquidity requirements will depend in
large part on our future operating and financiafgrenance. Primary sources of funds for our shemtt liquidity needs will be cash flow
generated from operating and financing activitied available cash balances. Our liquidity fluctsatepending on a number of factors,
including, among others, our revenue efficiency #redtiming of collecting accounts receivable a#l a& amounts paid for operating costs. We
believe that our cash on hand and cash flows getefaom operating and financing activities wilbpide sufficient liquidity over the next
twelve months to fund our working capital needspgimation payments on our long-term debt and gated capital expenditures for the
Company’s ultra-deepwater drillship constructionjects. Our ability to meet our long-term liquidigquirements will depend in part on our
ability to secure additional financing in orderftmd construction of our eighth drillship, whichuiecommitted at this time. See Item 3, “Risk
Factors—Risks Related to Our Business.”

We currently have an option with SHI to purchasendh drillship, which expires on April 30, 2013t this point, we have not decided
whether we will exercise our option. If we wereet@rcise the option or otherwise order a nintHgdip, we would incur additional payment
obligations for which we have not yet arrangediriiriag.

As the parent company of our operating subsidiaviesare not a party to any drilling contracts ciigand are therefore dependent on
receiving cash distributions from our subsidiar®gtplus cash held in our subsidiaries owningRaeific Bora, thePacific Sciroccq the
Pacific Mistraland thePacific Santa Anawhich act as borrowers under the Project Fagedithgreement, is restricted until January 1, 2014 b
the Project Facilities Agreement from transfer tgicompany loans and/or dividend payments to fter 8anuary 1, 2014, transfers from
these subsidiaries to us are permitted assumingrevin compliance with the provisions of the Profeacilities Agreement. Under the terms of
the 2017 Senior Secured Notes and our Senior Sk€radit Facility Agreement, subject to certaineptions, we are limited in our ability to
pay dividends, purchase or redeem our capital stockake other restricted payments. As of DecerBheP012 and 2011, our borrowing
subsidiaries held $1.7 billion and $1.5 billionrestricted net assets, respectively. We do noebelihese restrictions will prevent us and othel
non-borrowing subsidiaries from meeting our respedtquidity needs.

We may review from time to time possible expansiad acquisition opportunities relating to our bass which may include the
construction or acquisition of additional rigs @qaisitions of other businesses. Any decision testmict or acquire additional rigs for our fleet
will be based on our assessment of market conditiorl opportunities existing at such time, inclgdime availability of long-term contracts
with attractive dayrates and the relative costsuiliding or acquiring new rigs with advanced cafiibs compared with the costs of retrofitting
or converting existing rigs to provide similar capities. The timing, size or success of any addisl acquisition or construction efforts and
associated potential capital commitments are urigtedale. We may seek to fund all or part of anyhsefforts with proceeds from debt and/or
equity issuances. Debt or equity financing may hotyever, be available to us at that time dueuareety of factors, including, among others,
general industry conditions, general macro-econauoialitions, perceptions of us and credit ratingrey opinions of our outstanding debt.
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Capital Expenditures and Working Capital Funding

In March 2011, we entered into two contracts witth 8r the construction of our fifth and sixth adwzd-capability, ultra-deepwater
drillships, thePacific Khamsirand thePacific Sharav In March 2012, we entered into a contract witH i the construction of thBacific
Meltem. In January 2013, we exercised our option andredti@to an additional contract with SHI for thenstruction of our eighth drillship «
the same terms and conditions as those foP#uific Meltem The construction contract for our eighth drilfslalso includes an option for a
ninth newbuild drillship on the same terms and donk as those for our eighth drillship. The optie valid until April 30, 2013.

The SHI contracts for theacific Khamsinthe Pacific Sharay, thePacific Meltemand our eighth drillship provide for an aggregate
purchase price of approximately $2.0 billion foe tcquisition of these four vessels, payable italmsents during the construction process, of
which we have made payments of $449.9 million tgtoBebruary 15, 2013. We anticipate making paymehgpproximately $875 million in
2013, approximately $433 million in 2014 and apjme¢ely $336 million in 2015. We expect the projecst for thePacific Khamsin the
Pacific Shara\, thePacific Meltemand our eighth drillship under construction to peraximately $608.3 million, $662.9 million, $627.8
million and $634.1 million. The estimate of the jexd costs includes commissioning and testing ahdraosts for the drillships, but excludes
capitalized interest. As of December 31, 2012 dfze approximately $1.5 billion remaining projegsts for thePacific Khamsin thePacific
Sharavand thePacific Meltemof which approximately $1.1 billion is remainingntcactual commitments to SHI. The remaining profests
of $390 million for thePacific Khamsirwill be financed with existing cash balances priigdrom proceeds under the 2017 Senior Secured
Notes. We intend to finance the approximately $illion remaining project costs for ttPacific Sharavand thePacific Meltemwith our Senio
Secured Credit Facility and existing cash balan&dsditionally, we intend to finance the $634.1 noifl in project costs for our eighth drillship
with our existing cash balances, operating cashk §eneration and additional future indebtednesschvis uncommitted at this time.

Sources and Uses of Cash
Year ended December 31, 2012 compared to Year édeleeimber 31, 2011
The following table provides an analysis of our ceth used in operating activities for the yeadedrDecember 31, 2012 and 2011:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 Change

(in thousands)

Cash flow from operating activities:

Net income (loss $ 33,98¢ $ (2,909 $ 36,89
Interest income from Joint Ventul — (495) 49t
Depreciation expens 127,69¢ 11,61¢ 116,07¢
Equity in earnings of Joint Ventu — (18,955 18,95¢
Amortization of deferred revenu (95,750 (8,56¢€) (87,189
Amortization of deferred mobilization cos 70,66( 4,28¢ 66,37
Amortization of deferred financing cos 13,92¢ 1,067 12,85¢
Deferred income taxe (3,766 (3,169 (597)
Sharebased compensation expel 5,31¢ 4,471 847
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, 32,92 (51,68¢) 84,61]

Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities. $ 184,99¢ $ (64,33) $249,32¢
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The increase in net cash provided by operatingitie8 primarily resulted from the continued rampaf drillship operations as the year
ended December 31, 2012 reflects a full year ofatjmns for thePacific Boraand thePacific Sciroccq which entered service on
December 31, 2011. Additionally, the year endeddbemer 31, 2012 saw an increase in net cash probiglegerating activities from the start
of operations of th@acific Mistraland thePacific Santa Anan February 6, 2012 and May 4, 2012, respectively.

The following table provides an analysis of our ceeth used in investing activities for the yeadeginDecember 31, 2012 and 2011:

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 Change
(in thousands)

Cash flow from investing activities:

Capital expenditure $(449,95) $(1,539,63)) $1,089,67'
Decrease (increase) in restricted ¢ 204,78 (315,286 520,07(
Net cash used in investing activiti $(245,16) $(1,854,91) $1,609,74

The decrease in cash used in investing activitiesapily resulted from lower amounts of progresgmants for our drillships under
construction and less spent in capital equipmegtages during the year ended December 31, 201@nagared to the year ended
December 31, 2011. The decrease in restricteddiasig the year ended December 31, 2012 resulted the temporary SBLC facilities for
the Pacific Boraand thePacific Sciroccaeach being replaced by a Letters of Credit Fadlity Guaranty Agreement on April 19, 2012. As a
result of securing these facilities, the Company afle to release approximately $126 million ofrieted cash collateral to cash and cash
equivalents. Additionally, the decrease in restdotash resulted from the Second Amendment Agreieimeaspect of the Project Facilities
Agreement in December 2012, which changed the &equof amortization payments from every six motithevery three months and resu
in the release of approximately $77.7 million istrcted cash. The increase in restricted casinguhie year ended December 31, 2011 res
from the funding of restricted cash collateral aous required under the Project Facilities Agreema@ Temporary Import Bond Facilities.

The following table provides an analysis of our ceeth provided by financing activities for the yeeanded December 31, 2012 and 2011

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 Change
(in thousands)

Cash flow from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of common shares $ — $ 625,81t $ (625,81
Proceeds from lor-term debi 797,41! 1,275,00! (477,585
Payments on lor-term debt (218,75() (50,000 (168,75()
Deferred financing cos (19,857 (6,809 (13,050
Proceeds from relat-party loan — 142,20! (142,209

Net cash provided by financing activiti $ 558,81: $1,986,21. $(1,427,40)

The decrease in cash provided by financing actiwiirimarily results from no proceeds from issuafa@mmon shares during the year
ended December 31, 2012 compared to net proceegmpodximately $575.5 million from the issuancé6f000,000 common shares in a
private offering to international and U.S. investar April 2011 and approximately $50.3 million finche issuance of 6,900,000 in connection
with our initial public offering in November 201Additionally, cash provided by financing activitidecreased by

64



Table of Contents

approximately $477.6 million due to lower proceé&usn long-term debt. During the year ended Decen3ie2012, borrowings consisted of
$300 million under the 2015 Senior Unsecured Bards$500 million under the 2017 Senior Secured ldeoceeds from long-term debt for
the year ended December 31, 2011 resulted fronowargs under the Mistral Term Loan, Scirocco Teroah and Santa Ana Term Loan.
Payments on long-term debt increased due to ineteasortization payments under the terms of theBr&acility Agreement. During the
year ended December 31, 2011, we also borrowed.&Hiflion under a relate-party loan agreement. On March 23, 2011, all antding
related—party loan principal and accrued intefiaghe amount of $142.8 million, was converted iatpity of our Predecessor.

Year ended December 31, 2011 compared to Year dbeleeimber 31, 2010

The following table provides an analysis of our ceeth used in operating activities for the yeackedrDecember 31, 2011 and 2010:

Cash flow from operating activities:
Net (loss) incomi
Interest income from Joint Ventu
Depreciation expens
Equity in earnings of Joint Ventu
Amortization of deferred revent

Amortization of deferred mobilization cos
Amortization of deferred financing cos

Deferred income taxe
Shar-based compensation expel

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Net cash used in operating activit

Years ended December 3.

2011 2010 Change

$ (2,909 $ 37,29¢ $(40,207)
(495) (1,979 1,47¢
11,61¢ 39t 11,22¢
(18,95%) (56,30 37,35:
(8,56¢) — (8,56¢)
4,28¢ — 4,28¢
1,067 — 1,067
(3,169 (371) (2,799
4,471 65 4,40¢
(51,68¢%) (9,24)) (42,44)
$ (64,33) $ (30,139 $(34,197)

The increase in cash used in operating activitissgrily results from increases in general and auifstriative expenses, payments for
materials and supplies and mobilization expensatswire partially offset from collection of accosiméceivables and proceeds from our loss «

hire insurance recovery.

The following table provides an analysis of our ceth used in investing activities for the yeadeginDecember 31, 2011 and 2010:

Cash flow from investing activities:
Capital expenditure
Increase in restricted ca

Net cash used in investing activiti

Years ended December 3.
2011 2010 Change

$(1,539,63)) $(883,85)) $(655,77)
(315,280) (60,967 (254,319
$(1,854,91) $(944,821) $(910,09¢)

The increase in cash used in investing activiti@sarily results from progress and final delivegyments for our drillships and restric
cash deposits required under the Project Facilkgggement and the Bora and Scirocco SBLC facdlitie
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The following table provides an analysis of our ceeth provided by financing activities for the yeanded December 31, 2011 and 201C(

Years ended December 3.

2011 2010 Change
Cash flow from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of common shares $ 625,81¢ $ — $ 625,81¢
Proceeds from lor-term debt 1,275,001 450,00( 825,00(
Payments on lor-term debt (50,000 — (50,000
Deferred financing cos (6,809 (57,995 51,19:
Proceeds from relat-party loan 142,20! 685,28( (543,079
Payments on relat-party loan — (69,449 69,44

Net cash provided by financing activiti $1,986,21! $1,007,84 $ 978,37

The increase in cash provided by financing acésiprimarily resulted from the net proceeds of apipnately $575.5 million from our
2011 Private Placement, higher proceeds from bongswof $825.0 million under the Project Facilitiggreement and net proceeds of
approximately $50.3 million from our initial publaffering. These increases in cash provided bynfiirey activities were partially offset by
decreases in related-party loan borrowings of $b48llion for the year ended December 31, 2011 caneg to the year ended December 31,
2010, payments of $50.0 million on the Bora Ternalhand $51.2 million less in financing costs relate proceeds from the Project Facilities
Agreement.

Description of Indebtedness

Project Facilities AgreementThe Project Facilities Agreement includes a Bbeam Loan, a Mistral Term Loan, a Scirocco Termioa
and a Santa Ana Term Loan. See Note 5 to the ddasad financial statements.

8.25% Senior Unsecured Bonds due 20kbFebruary 2012, we completed a private placeérme®300 million in aggregate principal
amount of 8.25% senior unsecured U.S. dollar denated bonds due 2015 to eligible purchasers. Thé 3&nior Unsecured Bonds bear
interest at 8.25% per annum, payable semiannuallyabruary 23 and August 23 and mature on Feb22@&rg015. See Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

7.25% Senior Secured Notes due 20kv¥November 2012, Pacific Drilling V Limited (tHéssuer”), an indirect, whollypwned subsidial
of Pacific Drilling S.A., completed a private placent of $500 million in aggregate principal amoah?.25% senior secured U.S. dollar
denominated notes due 2017 to eligible purcha¥&esnotes were sold at 99.483% of par. The 201068ecured Notes bear interest at
7.25% per annum, payable semiannually on June Dandmber 1, commencing on June 1, 2013, and matuBeecember 1, 2017. See No
to the consolidated financial statements.

Senior Secured Credit Facility Agreeme@h February 19, 2013, Pacific Sharav S.a r.l. aifie Drilling VII Limited (collectively, the
“Borrowers”), and Pacific Drilling S.A. (the “Guamsor”) (collectively, the “Borrowing Group”) entetldnto a senior secured credit facility
agreement with a group of lenders to finance thestaction, operation and other costs associatddtivePacific Sharavand thePacific
Meltem(the “Senior Secured Credit Facility Agreement"868CF").

The SSCF includes a term loan (the “SSCF Term Lpahich consists of two tranches: (i) a tranch&®90.0 million provided by a
syndicate of nine commercial banks (the “Commertiahche”) and (ii) a tranche of $500.0 million piced by Eksportkreditt Norge AS (and
guaranteed by the Norwegian Guarantee Institute
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for Export Credits) (the “GIEK Tranche”The SSCF Term Loan will become available upon #iisfaction of customary conditions preced
as described therein.

Borrowings under the Commercial Tranche bear istaatthe London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBORIiga margin of 3.5%.
Borrowings under the GIEK Tranche bear interestha®Borrower’s option, at (i) LIBOR plus a margih1.50% (which margin may be reset
60 months after the first borrowing under the SS@Fm Loan) or (ii) at a Commercial Interest RefeeeRate (“CIRR”) of (a) 3.96% for
borrowings relating to thBacific Sharavand (b) 2.37% for borrowings relating to tRacific Meltem Borrowings under the GIEK Tranche
will also be subject to a guarantee fee of 2.00¥@apaum (the “GIEK Premium”). Undrawn commitmeras the SSCF Term Loan shall bear &
fee equal to (i) in the case of the Commercial Than 40% of the margin for such tranche and (ithencase of the GIEK Tranche, 40% of the
applicable margin for such tranche and 40% of tHek@remium.

The Commercial Tranche matures on the earlier) divg years following the delivery of the secoresgel under the SSCF and
(i) May 31, 2019. The GIEK Tranche matures (focleaessel) twelve years following the delivery lod tapplicable vessel. The GIEK Tranche
contains a put option exercisable if the CommerEiahche is not refinanced on terms acceptabld EKGf the GIEK Tranche put option is
exercised, each Borrower must prepay, in full,gbgion of all outstanding loans that relate to &K Tranche, on the maturity date of the
Commercial Tranche, without any premium, penaltfees of any kind. Amortization payments under$i%CF Term Loan are calculated on a
12 year repayment schedule and must be made exanosths following the delivery of the relevantssel.

Borrowings under the SSCF Term Loan may be preipaichole or in part at any time, without any premior penalty other than LIBO
or CIRR breakage payments, as applicable.

The indebtedness under the SSCF is guaranteectfyuhrantor. The obligations of the Borrowers uriderSSCF Term Loan are joint
and several. The SSCF will be secured by seveHalteal components, which are usual and custodmarguch financing. The security
provided to the lenders will be cross-collateralizeross all borrowings under the SSCF and willise assignments of refund guarantees,
shipbuilding contracts and insurances, a firstgaretl mortgage over each of fRacific Sharavand thePacific Meltemand other types of
collateral.

The SSCF requires compliance with certain affirmeatind negative covenants that are customary @r imancings. These include, but
are not limited to, restrictions on (i) the abildfthe Guarantor to pay dividends to its shareti@dr transact with affiliates (except for certain
specified exceptions) and (ii) the ability of therBowers to incur additional indebtedness or lieedl, assets, make investments or transact wit
affiliates (except for certain specified exceptons

The SSCF also requires (i) maintenance by the Gt@raf a $1.0 billion consolidated tangible netrtho (i) maintenance by the
Guarantor of a net debt to EBITDA (as defined im 85CF) ratio of 5.5x beginning on December 313201d stepping down incrementally
until 4x on December 31, 2015, (iii) maintenancelhy Guarantor of a projected debt service coveraiie for the next twelve months of at
least 1.125x beginning on December 31, 2013 anpstg up to 1.25x on March 31, 2014 and 1.5x ondi&1, 2015, (iv) maintenance by 1
Guarantor of a total debt to total capitalizatiatio of 3.0 to 5.0, (v) maintenance by the Guanaotdotal debt of less than $3.0 billion through
September 30, 2013, (vi) maintenance by the Guaramd its subsidiaries of minimum liquidity of $&dllion and (vii) maintain a required
level of collateral maintenance whereby the aggeegppraised collateral value must not be less dheertain percentage of the total
outstanding balances under the SSCF. Net debefased in the SSCF) excludes (i) temporary impatabond indebtedness and (ii) prior to
December 31, 2014, SSCF indebtedness.

The SSCF contains events of default that are wswhtustomary for a financing of this type, sizd parpose. Upon the occurrence of ar
event of default, borrowings under the SSCF argestito acceleration.

Temporary Import Bond FacilitiesAs part of the standard Nigerian importation liegments for equipment, we are required to either
import the vessel into Nigeria on a permanent basispay import duties or
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apply for a Tl permit and put up a bond for theueadf the import duties instead. We have entertrliatter of Credit Facility and Guaranty
Agreements that provide credit support for the ®h8s issued in favor of the Government of Nigenst@ms Service for theacific Boraand
the Pacific SciroccoSee Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements

As of December 31, 2012, we were in compliance waitlcovenants related to our Project Facilitiesefggment, 2015 Senior Unsecured
Bonds, 2017 Senior Secured Notes and our Tempbrgrgrt Bond Facilities.

Related-party loansBeginning in 2007, we received funding from Wirénance, a subsidiary of the Quantum Pacific @ram the
form of a related-party loan. We do not expecttesigparty loans to be a source of funding our dpmra and working capital needs going
forward. For more information on related-party Isasee Item 7, “Related Party Transactions.”

Letters of Credit

As of December 31, 2012, we were contingently &alohder certain performance, bid and custom bonddedters of credit totaling
$204.9 million primarily related to our Temporamport Bond Facilities.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We may enter into derivative instruments from titméime to manage our exposure to fluctuationgiiarest rates and to meet our debt
covenant requirements. We do not enter into deviedtansactions for speculative purposes; howdgegccounting purposes, certain
transactions may not meet the criteria for hedgewaating.

During 2011, we entered into four interest rategsva reduce the variability of future cash flowghe interest payments for the variable
rate debt under the Project Facilities Agreemerd.d&/signated the interest rate swaps as cash #dgels for accounting purposes. The inte
rate swaps pay a fixed rate of interest and reddiB®R. The fixed interest rate swap rates are %.88.87%, 1.6% and 2.39% for the Bora
Term Loan, Scirocco Term Loan, Mistral Term Loan &anta Ana Term Loan, respectively. As of Decendie2012, the notional amounts
of the Bora, Scirocco, Mistral and Santa Ana irgerate swaps were $350.0 million, $316.7 milli$831.3 million and $387.5 million,
respectively. The notional amounts of the interatt swaps amortize quarterly and will expire otioBer 31, 2015.

On December 28, 2012, management de-designatedianpaf the Bora, Scirocco, Mistral and Santa Amarest rate swaps from hedge
accounting due to the change in payment frequehpyimcipal payments resulting from the Second Adraent Agreement to the Project
Facilities Agreement. Subsequent to de-designatieraccount for the de-designated portion of therést rate swaps on a mark-to-market
basis, with both realized and unrealized gainslasskes on the de-designated portion recorded diyrierearnings in interest expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. As a re§tiie de-designation, $2.8 million of accumulabéler comprehensive income associated
with the de-designated portion of the interest satap was reclassified into interest expense.

C. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, PATENTS AND LICENSES, ETC.

We do not undertake any significant expenditureesearch and development. Additionally, we havsigoificant interests in patents or
licenses.

D. TREND INFORMATION

Historically, operating results in the offshore trawt drilling industry have been cyclical and difg related to the demand for and the
available supply of drilling rigs. However, sinaefors that impact offshore
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exploration and development spending are beyondanirol, and rig demand dynamics can shift quicklis difficult for us to predict future
industry conditions, demand trends or operatingltes

Drilling Rig Supply

During the year ended December 31, 2012, offshollexd contractors placed 36 shipyard orders tddadditional ultra-deepwater
semi-submersibles and drillships. We estimate thezeapproximately 55 ultra-deepwater rigs schetifidedelivery from January 1, 2013 until
the end of 2015, 29 of which have not yet been anoed as contracted to customers. Due to the kadjtimes involved in rig construction,
rigs to be delivered in 2013 and 2014 would nedubice been ordered already and therefore supplitrafdeepwater units through the end of
2014 can be calculated at 154 with some certaintlyisitime. Our estimate of 12 additions to theeflin 2015 is more speculative and beyond
this time frame, the supply is uncertain and amjgations have diminished predictive value.

Drilling Rig Demanc

Demand for our drillships is a function of the wiwide levels of deepwater exploration and develagmpending by oil and gas
companies, which is influenced by a number of fictDeepwater and ultra-deepwater projects arergkyenore capital intensive and longer
lasting than shallow water programs, which makesétprojects less sensitive to short-term oil dlicetuations than shallow water projects.
Therefore, deepwater and ultra-deepwater rig dagrad utilization are also typically less sensitiv short-term oil price variances than
shallow water rig rates. Long-term expectationsualfigture oil and natural gas prices, on the ottard, have historically been a key driver for
deepwater and ultra-deepwater exploration and dpugnt spending. Our customers’ drilling programgehalso been affected by the global
economic and political climate, access to qualitilidg prospects, exploration success, perceivedre availability and lead time requirements
for drilling equipment, emphasis on deepwater epgilon and production versus other areas and adgandrilling technology.

The year ended December 31, 2012 saw oil and glabalJ.S. natural gas prices, as well as futureepeixpectations, exhibit
considerable volatility while continuing above tbgels needed for sufficient return on investmentdur clients. While questions remain
regarding global economic stability, GDP growth thomed to be positive in key emerging markets andiNAmerica. Both tendering activity
and deepwater exploratory success continued, nabably in Angola, and there were no material advefsanges to access or regulations
worldwide.

Supply and Demand Balance

These factors resulted in a tight supply-demandriza for ultra-deepwater rigs throughout 2012, wigting dayrates and near 100%
utilization. While we believe that these trendsl wilntinue to benefit us and that the demand foatdeepwater rigs will continue to meet or
exceed supply, our markets may be adversely affdnténdustry conditions that are beyond our cdnfor more information on this and otl
risks to our business and our industry See ItetRi3k Factors—Risks Related to Our Business.”

E. OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
Currently, we do not have any off-balance sheargements.
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F. CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
The table below sets forth our contractual obladias of December 31, 2012:

Contractual Obligations 2013 20142015 201¢€-2017 Thereafter Total
(in thousands)

Long-term debi® $ 218,75( $1,537,50 $500,00( $ — $2,256,25!
Interest on lon-term debi® 134,95( 205,741 70,47( — 411,16:
Operating lease 1,041 1,80¢ 1,49t 2,37t 6,71¢
Purchase obligatior® 161,47: 35,69¢ — — 197,17(
Ultra-deepwater drillship©) 797,27 329,78 — — 1,127,06!
Long-term payabld® — 15,64 — — 15,64
Total contractual obligatior $1,313,48! $2,126,17 $571,96! $ 2,37 $4,014,00:

(&) Includes current maturities of long-term débtpreparing the scheduled maturities of our dektassume certain holders of debt under
the Project Facilities Agreement will exercise thaitions to accelerate the maturity date to Oat8de 2015

(b) Interest payments are based on our existingtanding borrowings. It is assumed there is nefiaancing of existing long-term debt and
there are no prepayments. Interest has been cadulaing the interest rate of 1.83% for the BagarT Loan, 1.87% for the Scirocco
Term Loan, 1.60% for the Mistral Term Loan and 263®r the Santa Ana Term Loan based on the inteatstswap notional values for
each respective Term Loan plus an estimated ajppdicaargin for each of the Term Loans of 3.5%.redgeon the 2015 Senior
Unsecured Bonds is calculated at the fixed rat26%. Interest on the 2017 Senior Secured Notesldésilated at the fixed rate of 7.2!
and amortization of the debt discou

(c) Purchase obligations are agreements to purdsis and services that are enforceable and ydgalilling, that specify all significant
terms, including the quantities to be purchaseiderovisions and the approximate timing of tlagactions, which includes our
purchase orders for goods and services enteredhitih@ normal course of busine

(d) Amounts for ultra-deepwater drillships inclual®ounts due under construction contracts. In Jgr2Gk3, we exercised our option and
entered into an additional contract with SHI fog ttonstruction of our eighth drillship, which inased the amount due under construc
contracts by $517.5 millior

(e) The long-term payable is due to the customerdionbursements of certain capital equipment upertermination of the drilling contract
with Chevron for thé?acific Bora. For purposes of the contractual obligations talvkeassume the contract will terminate afterritsall
three-year period

Some of the figures included in the table abovebased on estimates and assumptions about thegatasis, including their duration
and other factors. The contractual obligations \ilbagtually pay in future periods may vary fronotte reflected in the tables because the
estimates and assumptions are subjective.

G. SAFE HARBOR

The safe harbor provided in Section 27A of the Stes Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Actlstaply to forward-looking
information provided pursuant to Items 5E and 5e 3-orward Looking Statements” in this annual répo

ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES
A. DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Senior Management

We rely on the senior management of our principarating subsidiaries to manage our business. €nioismanagement team is
responsible for the day-to-day management of oeraifwns. Members of our senior
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management are appointed from time to time by wbthe Board of Directors and hold office untilicsessor is elected and qualified. The
current members of our senior management are:

Name Age Position

Christian J. Becke 44  Chief Executive Office

Robert F. MacChesne 55 Chief Operating Office

William J. Restrept 53 Chief Financial Office

Cees Van Dieme 59 Senior Vice President of Operatic

Kinga E. Doris 43 Vice President, General Counsel and Secre
Paul T. Rees 43 Vice President, Controlle

Christian J. Beckett Mr. Beckett has served as our Chief Executived®ffsince April 2008 and as a member of our Badifdirectors
since March 11, 2011. Mr. Beckett has over 20 yehexperience in the energy industry. Prior tmijog us, he led the Strategic Business
Development and Planning group at Transocean tddh £004 to 2008. Mr. Beckett served at McKinse€&mpany, Inc. from 2001 to 2004,
where he provided strategic and operating adviggdbal energy companies and governments, and @80 to 2001 at Schlumberger Limit
in a series of international management roles imitheasing responsibilities. Mr. Beckett was apfmgrto the board of directors of Tellus
Qilfield Inc. in October 2012. Mr. Beckett hold8Bachelor of Science in Exploration Geophysics fidniversity College London and a
Masters of Business Administration from Rice Ungisr.

Robert F. MacChesneyMr. MacChesney has served as our Chief Opera@dfiser since September 2008. Mr. MacChesney kas o
30 years of experience in the drilling industryioPto joining us, he served at Transocean from02002008 and at Schlumberger Limited, anc
offshore drilling subsidiary Sedco Forex Limitedhrh 1979 to 2000. During his tenure with Transodeiah and Schlumberger Limited, he
held a variety of positions in Operations Managenasid Marketing, including Country Manager in Mal&y India, Brazil and the United
Kingdom, Region Manager in the Middle East anddratid Corporate Director, Deepwater Marketing. MacChesney holds a Bachelor of
Science in Engineering from Southampton Universitthe United Kingdom.

William J. Restrepa Mr. Restrepo has served as our Chief Financifit€¥fsince February 2011. Mr. Restrepo was thefJfinancial
Officer for Smith International, Inc. from Octob2009 until the date of its merger with Schlumbeigerited on August 27, 2010. From 2005
to 2009, Mr. Restrepo was the Chief Financial @ffifor Seitel, Inc., a leading provider of seismiéta for the North American oil and gas
industry. From 1985 to 2005, Mr. Restrepo heldriirial and operational positions at Schlumbergeriteid including Regional General
Manager for Continental Europe and for the Aralisanf, Corporate Treasurer, and Vice President n&fRce for the pressure pumping and
directional drilling business units, with interratal posts in Europe, South America and the Middlst. In March 2012, Mr. Restrepo was
appointed to the board of directors of PlatinumrgpeSolutions Inc., an oilfield services providedeacurrently serves as the Chairman of its
Audit Committee. In September 2008, Mr. Restreps apointed to the board of directors of Probe, Baenanufacturer of wireline logging
equipment and currently serves as the Chairmats &imance and Audit Committee. Mr. Restrepo hal@achelor of Arts in Economics from
Cornell University, a Bachelor of Science in Cikihgineering from the University of Miami and a Mastof Business Administration from
Cornell University.

Cees Van DiemenMr. Van Diemen has served as our Vice Preside@perations since February 2009. Mr. Van Diemendwer 35
years of experience in the mobile offshore drillindustry and extensive experience in deepwat#indrirom the early days of 600 feet wa
depth activity in 1977 to recent operations in 9,88t water depth. Prior to joining us, he seraeNoble Drilling Corporation, and its
predecessor Neddrill, as Vice President & Divididanager Brazil from 2005 to October 2008 and Vicesklent & Division Manager Mobile
Europe from 2000 to 2005. Mr. Van Diemen’s car¢artsd offshore in the traditional drill positiofiem Floorman to Offshore Installation
Manager, before taking on increasing responsibiitgnshore management roles from rig manager ist\Afica, the Mediterranean and the
North
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Sea, to district manager in the North Sea and Piesident & Division Manager in Europe and morently in Brazil. Mr. Van Diemen holds
a Bachelor of Science in Automotive Engineeringrfrine University of Apeldoorn in the Netherlands.

Kinga E. Doris. Ms. Doris has served as our Vice President, Gé@ounsel and Secretary since September 2010DMss has over 15
years of experience advising global energy comgaang is a frequent speaker on FCPA anc-corruption issues. Prior to joining us, she
served as Chief Counsel for Pride International frlan 2006 to 2010, where she was responsibléeffal affairs of the global operations and
strategic planning groups. From 1999 to 2006, Mzridserved as Associate General Counsel of Cdoeriatories N.V. Prior to joining Core
Laboratories, Ms. Doris was an attorney in the Housffices of Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLidd_eBoeuf, Lamb, Greene, and
MacRae LLP. Ms. Doris holds a Bachelor of Arts andliris Doctorate from Texas Tech University.

Paul T. Reese Mr. Reese has served as our Vice President, @ltartsince October 2008. Mr. Reese has been adaarofessional in
the oilfield services and E&P space for over 15geBrior to joining Pacific Drilling, he was Coaller for the global Exploration and
Development divisions at BHP Billiton Petroleumofr 1995 to 2007, Mr. Reese served in various fiilgmecanagement roles at Transocean,
including Finance Director for the North and SoAtherica Business Unit, Assistant Vice-President4adit and Advisory Services and
Finance Manager for the Asia & Australia and SoAtierica Regions, with international posts in Asia &entral and South America. Prior to
joining Transocean, Mr. Reese was an auditor irHibeston offices of Arthur Andersen LLP. Mr. Reésdds a Bachelor of Arts in Economi
and Managerial Studies and a Masters of Accouritorg Rice University.

Board of Directors

In accordance with Luxembourg law, our Board ofeBiors is responsible for administering our affainsl for ensuring that our
operations are organized in a satisfactory manner.

Our Articles and Luxembourg law provide that ouraBbof Directors shall have no fewer than three st The minimum number of
directors that may sit on our Board of Directorsyrha changed by an amendment of the Articles agutdy resolution passed at an
extraordinary general meeting of our shareholdelgest to a minimum of three members. PursuartigéoXrticles, the directors will be elected
by a general meeting of the shareholders. Resokiidopted at a general meeting of shareholdeesndieie the number of directors compris
our Board of Directors, the remuneration of the rhers of our Board of Directors and the term of edicctor's mandate. Directors may not
be appointed for a term of more than six yearsabeiteligible for reslection at the end of their term. Directors maydmaoved at any time, wi
or without cause, by a resolution adopted at argéneeeting of shareholders. If the office of aedibr becomes vacant, the other members of
our Board of Directors, acting by a simple majgrityay fill the vacancy on a provisional basis uatilew director is appointed at the next
general meeting of shareholders.

The current members of our Board of Directors aréolows:

Name Age Position

Ron Moskovitz 50 Chairmar

Christian J. Becke 44  Executive Director, Chief Executive Offic
Laurence N. Charne 65 Director

Jeremy Ashe 54 Director

Paul Wolff 65 Director

Cyril Ducau 34 Director

Elias Sakellis 36 Director

Ron Moskovitz Mr. Moskovitz was appointed as a director of @@mpany in March 2011. Mr. Moskovitz is the ChiedfeEutive Officer
of Quantum Pacific (UK) LLP, a member of the QuantRacific Group, and
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serves as a board member of Israel Corp., Isretigest holding company with its core holdings fe®di on industries that meet basic human,
industrial and economic needs (e.g., fertilizers sppecialty chemicals, energy, shipping and trariapion), which may be considered an
affiliate of the Idan Ofer family. From July 2008til December 2012, Mr. Moskovitz served as Chigé&utive Officer of Quantum Pacific
Advisory Limited. From July 2002 until November ZQMr. Moskovitz served as Senior Vice Presidemt @hief Financial Officer of Amdoi
Limited. From 1998 until July 2002, he served aséWPresident of Finance at Amdocs. Between 19941888, Mr. Moskovitz held various
senior financial positions at Tower Semiconducttt. land served on its board of directors from 2@03eptember 2011. Mr. Moskovitz is a
CPA in Israel and holds a BA in Accounting and Emmics from Haifa University and an Master of Busim@dministration from Tel Aviv
University.

Laurence N. Charney Mr. Charney was appointed as a director of them@any in April 2011. Mr. Charney retired from Erdstoung
LLP (“Ernst & Young”) in June 2007, where, over ttaurse of his more than 35-year career, he sasé&thrtner, Practice Leader and Senior
Advisor. Since his retirement from Ernst & Youngg.NCharney has served as a business strategi§inandial advisor to boards, senior
management and investors of early stage ventureate businesses and small to mid-cap public aatpms across the consumer products,
energy, real estate, high-tech/software, mediaf@mtenent, and noprofit sectors. His most recent affiliations hameluded board tenures w
Marvel Entertainment, Inc., Pure BioFuels, Inc. &d. Fields Original Cookies. He was appointeth® board of TG Therapeutics, Inc. in
April 2012 and the board of Iconix Brand Group,.limcFebruary 2011. Mr. Charney is a graduate dstia University with a Bachelors
Degree in Business Administration (Accounting), &aedalso completed an Executive Masters progra@okimbia University. Mr. Charney
maintains active membership with the American totgi of Certified Public Accountants and New Yotkt® Society of Certified Public
Accountants.

Jeremy Asher Mr. Asher was appointed as a director of the Camygn April 2011. Mr. Asher is currently ChairmahAgile Energy
Limited, a privately held energy investment compadlgairman of Tower Resources plc, an oil & gadagtion company; a director of Better
Place BV, a company promoting and enabling the rdapkyment of electric cars; and an advisor toRe&ifineries Limited, an independent
refiner and petrochemicals producer. Until 2010alse served as a director of Gulf Keystone Patrolétd., another oil and gas exploration
company; and until 2008 he served as a direct®rofess Systems Enterprise Limited, a developpraufess simulation software. Between
2001 and the present, Mr. Asher has also servadiasctor and financial investor in various oteaterprises. From 1998 until 2001,

Mr. Asher served as the Chief Executive OfficePéf Consulting Group, where he oversaw & 4lobalization and growth from 2,500 to ne
4,000 employees, and negotiated and managed gggation of PA’s acquisition of Hagler Bailly, InBetween 1990 and 1997 he acquired,
developed and sold the 275,000 bbl/d Beta oil esfirat Wilhelmshaven in Germany. Prior to thathia late 1980’s, Mr. Asher ran the global
oil products trading business of what is now Glead®G and, prior to that, spent several years@maultant at what is now Oliver Wyman.
Mr. Asher is a graduate of the London School ofrieenics and holds an Master of Business Administnaftiom Harvard Business School. He
is also a member of the London Business Schoobbd&IAdvisory Council and serves as a member oEtigineering Advisory Board of
Imperial Innovations plc, the commercial arm of knpl College.

Paul Wolff . Mr. Wolff was appointed as a director of the Camypin April 2011. Since 2006, Mr. Wolff has senaslan independent
director and private investor in different finarl@ad industrial companies. From 1971 to 2006, beked in the banking sector in which he
held various responsibilities in corporate and gévbanking. He served as a Managing Director acddvigierson, headed the Trust Busines:
was Head of Private Banking and Asset ManagementWlff has a degree in Commercial Engineeringrfrdniversity of Louvain, a
Masters of Business Administration from INSEAD Fainebleau, and Advanced Management Program fromaltir

Cyril Ducau . Mr. Ducau was appointed as a director of the Gamgpn April 2011. Mr. Ducau joined the Quantum ilacroup in 200¢
and is currently a Managing Director Finance andiBess Development of
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Quantum Pacific Ventures Limited. Mr. Ducau wasaipted to the board of directors of Quantum Pa@tipping Services Pte. Ltd. in
December 2012. He was previously Head of Busines&Dpment of Quantum Pacific Advisory Limited inhdon. Prior to joining the
Quantum Pacific Group, Mr. Ducau was Vice Presidetihe investment banking division of Morgan Sean& Co. International Ltd. in
London and during his tenure there from 2000 ta820@ held various positions in the Capital Marketsreraged Finance and Mergers and
Acquisitions teams. Prior to that, Mr. Ducau gaiesgerience in consultancy working for Arthur Dttld in Munich and investment
management with Credit Agricole Ul Private EquityHaris. Mr. Ducau graduated from ESCP Europe Bgsischool (Paris, Oxford, Berlin)
and holds a Master of Science in business admatistrand a Diplom Kaufmann.

Elias Sakellis. Mr. Sakellis was appointed as a director of teenany in June 2012. Mr. Sakellis joined QuanturifRaAdvisory
Limited in May 2012 as Managing Director. He wap@ipted Managing Director of Business Developmédr@antum Pacific (UK) LLP in
January 2013. Prior to joining Quantum Pacific (UKP, Mr. Sakellis worked at Goldman, Sachs & GolLondon from 2000 to 2012. During
his tenure at Goldman, Sachs & Co., he held vanmsitions, including Executive Director of LeveegigFinance & Restructuring in the
Investment Banking Division, Executive Director eBdsiness Unit Manager in the Investment Bankingidian, and Financial Analyst and
Associate in the Equities Division. Prior to joigiGGoldman, Sachs & Co., Mr. Sakellis gained expegdn the banking sector by working as
an analyst for Lehman Brothers in London from 1899000. Mr. Sakellis is a graduate of Imperiall€gé London with a Master of Scienct
Finance and a Master of Engineering in Mechanicajiieering. He also holds a Master of Business Adstration from INSEAD.

B. COMPENSATION
Senior Management

Members of our senior management receive compenstati the services they provide. The aggregatke campensation paid to all
members of senior management as a group was apptety $4.5 million for the fiscal year ended Debem31, 2012. In addition, under the
Pacific Drilling S.A. 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plahd€ “2011 Plan,” as described in more detail urieiguity Compensation Plandfelow), the
Company granted in 2012 an aggregate of 1,049,608ns to purchase its common shares to membearsrafenior management team at an
exercise price of $10.12 per share that expire dfle/ears and 62,256 restricted share units wijtaat date value of $10.12 per share that ve
25% annually over four years.

The cash compensation for each member of senioagesnent is principally comprised of base salaryt@nlis. The compensation that
we pay to our senior management is evaluated @manal basis considering the following primary ¢ast individual performance during the
prior year, market rates and movements and theithdil's anticipated contribution to us and ourgtte. Members of our senior management
team are also eligible to participate in our retiemt savings plans, described below under “Beédihs and Programs.” In addition, members
of our senior management are eligible to parti@patwelfare benefit programs made available told&. workforce generally, including
medical, dental, life insurance and disability déeeWe believe that the compensation awardeditassenior management is consistent with
that of our peers and similarly situated compaimehe industry in which we operate.

Directors

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we paafgregate of approximately $0.2 million in dirgstdees to the independent
members of the Board of Directors. In addition, BtesAsher, Charney and Wolff each received an@ef20,000 options and 4,000
restricted stock units under our equity compenagtian. We have also paid an aggregate of appraeiyn®0.1 million in directors’ fees to the
non-independent members of the Board of Directfiilsated with Quantum Pacific Group. We pay theeectors’ fees directly to Quantum
Pacific Group. Members of our Board of Directorsovdre also our employees or employees of our sialpigid do not receive any additional
compensation for their service on our Board of Etves. We believe that our
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director fee structure is customary and reasorfableompanies of our kind and consistent with tifadur peers and similarly situated
companies in the industry in which we operate. €fess may be increased from time to time by auésa of the general meeting of
shareholders.

Equity Compensation Plans

The 2011 Plan provides for the granting of stockams, stock appreciation rights, restricted shaestricted share units and other equity
based or equity-related awards to directors, afficemployees and consultants. Subject to adjustaseprovided, 7.2 million common shares
of Pacific Drilling S.A. are reserved and authodifer issuance pursuant to the terms of the 20at.Athe Compensation Committee of our
Board of Directors approves participants and, sulifethe terms and conditions of the 2011 Platerdg@nes the terms and conditions of
awards under the 2011 Plan.

Under the 2011 Plan, a total of 3,975,638 optiaons 289,688 restricted share units are outstandinghich 3,047,668 options and
62,256 restricted share units were granted to mesyfesenior management. The exercise price oftilek options range from $10.00 to
$10.12 per share. The options expire no earliar March 31, 2021. The restricted share units weaiatgd at a value of $10.12 per share that
vest 25% annually over four years from the datgrant.

We also have granted awards of 60,000 options 4r@D@ restricted stock units under the 2011 Plarettain members of our Board of
Directors. The exercise price of the stock optiares$10.12 per share. The options expire approrimna0d years after March 31, 2012. The
restricted share units were granted at a rang8.68%0 $10.12 per share that vest 25% annually fove years from the date of grant.

Benefit Plans and Program

Pacific Drilling sponsors a defined contributiotimement plan covering substantially all U.S. enygles (the “U.S. Savings Plan”) and ar
international savings plan (the “International $&s Plan”). Under the U.S. Savings Plan, the Compaatches 100% of employee
contributions (limited to $17,000 or, for employesge 50 or over, $22,500) up to 6% of eligible cengation per participant. Under the
International Savings Plan, we contribute 6% ofhbiasome (limited to $15,000 per participant). Darthe years ended December 31, 2012,
2011 and 2010, our total employer contributionbdth plans amounted to $3.7 million, $2.8 milliardg0.5 million, respectively.

We have established an annual Bonus Plan for keyosmees whose decisions, activities and performéaee a significant impact on
business results. Target bonus levels are detednoinen individual basis and take into accountviddial performance, competitive pay
practices and external market conditions. Achieveroébonus payment is based on the achievemaheafompany financial target and
individual goals.

C. BOARD PRACTICES

See Item 10, “Memorandum and Articles of AssociatieAppointment and Removal of Directorfgt a detailed description regarding
appointment and removal of our Board of Directors.

On March 8, 2012, we held an extraordinary gemarsting of our shareholders to re-appoint Mr. Bécked Mr. Moskovitz, whose
current terms were set to expire on March 11, 2@&2irectors for a term running through the Anraheral Meeting of the Company in 2!
to be held on May 13, 2013 and to re-appoint yutau, Sarit Sagiv, Laurence N. Charney, JeremyeAahd Paul Wolff, whose current
terms were due to expire on April 5, 2012, as diecfor a term running through the Annual Gen&tagéting of the Company in 2013 to be
held on May 13, 2013.

On March 31, 2012, Sarit Sagiv resigned from tharB@and on June 11, 2012, the Board appointed Ea&sllis as a Director for a term
running through the Annual General Meeting of tlempany in 2013 to be held on May 13, 2013 tolfid ¥tacancy created by Ms. Sagiv’'s
resignation.
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There are no service contracts between us andfanyr directors providing for benefits upon terntina of their service.

Committees of the Board of Directors

Our Board of Directors has an Audit Committee arf€bmpensation Committee, and may have such otmemittees as the Board of
Directors shall determine from time to time. Eafhhe standing committees of our Board of Directusis the composition and responsibilities
described below.

Audit Committee

The members of our Audit Committee are Messrs. AsBlearney and Wolff, each of whom our Board ofd@iors has determined is
financially literate. Mr. Charney is the Chairmditiee Audit Committee. Our Board of Directors hatedmined that each of the members of
our Audit Committee is “independent” under the stanals of the NYSE and SEC regulations. In additiam,Board of Directors has
determined that Mr. Charney is the Audit Commifieancial expert.

The Audit Committee’s primary responsibilities émeassist the Board of Directors’ oversight of: aacounting practices; the integrity of
our financial statements; our compliance with leyad regulatory requirements; the qualificatioeseation, independence and performance o
our independent registered public accounting fittme (independent auditor”); and the internal adulitction. We have adopted an Audit
Committee charter defining the committee’s primdgies in a manner consistent with the rules ofS3B€ and the NYSE or market standards

Compensation Committee

The members of our Compensation Committee are lgleAsher, Charney and Moskovitz. Mr. Asher is th@i@nan of our
Compensation Committee. The purpose of this coremitt to oversee the discharge of the responabilif our Board of Directors relating to
compensation of our executive officers. Our Compgaa Committee also administers our incentive censation and benefit plans. We have
adopted a Compensation Committee charter defitiegommittee’s primary duties in a manner consistét the rules of the SEC and the
NYSE or market standarc

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Paitiation

No member of our Compensation Committee has beanyatime an employee of ours. None of our exeeutificers serve on the board
of directors or compensation committee of a comghayhas an executive officer that serves on mar® of Directors or Compensation
Committee. No member of our Board of Directorsrissaecutive officer of a company in which one of executive officers serves as a
member of the board of directors or compensationraittee of that company.

Corporate Governance

Our Board of Directors is empowered to take anjoaatecessary or desirable in view of carrying @t corporate objective, except for
the powers specifically allocated to the generadting of shareholders by law and/or by the Articles

The Articles provide that our day-to-day managenagt the power to represent us in such mattershaalelegated to one or more
directors, officers or other agents. The day-to-aanagement has been delegated to our Chief Exeddfficer, Christian J. Beckett, and Ron
Moskovitz, the Chairman of our Board of Directagach of whom are authorized to represent us indalig in this regard. However, certain
matters may not be delegated by our Board of Darscincluding approval of our accounts, approvalw annual budget, approval of our
policies and approval of recommendations made lpycammittee of our Board of Directors.
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The Articles further provide that we are bound to¥gathird parties in all matters by the joint sigme of a majority of our Board of
Directors. In addition, we are also bound towahiigitparties by the joint or single signature of @erson to whom special signatory powers
have been delegated pursuant to the Articles.

All decisions to be taken by our Board of Directars subject to a quorum and vote of a majoritthefdirectors. A Chairman of the
Board is elected from the members of the Board.h&irman has a casting vote in the event of adie. Our Chairman of the Board is Ron
Moskovitz, who was appointed for an initial one-ygam that ended on March 12, 2012 and was rdesldor a subsequent term expiring on
May 13, 2013 at the Annual Meeting of Shareholdef2013 at a special meeting of shareholders hetldleaCompany’s principal executive
offices in Luxembourg on March 8, 2012.

The Board must make all decisions in our best&sisrand each director must notify the Board offassible conflicts between his/her
personal interests and ours. A director must nefitaim participating in any deliberation or decisiavolving such a conflict. A special report
on the relevant conflict of interest transactiotl & submitted to the shareholders at the nexéggdmeeting before any vote on the matter.

As a foreign private issuer we are exempt fromatentequirements of the NYSE that are applicablg.®. listed companies. For a listing
and further discussion of how our corporate govecegractices differ from those required of U.Snpanies on the NYSE, see Item 16G or
visit the corporate governance section of our weksi www.pacificdrilling.com.

D. EMPLOYEES
Employees
As of December 31, 2012, we and our subsidiaridsahiatal of 603 employees and 403 subcontracitmsse employees consisted of:
* 92 employees and subcontractors in constructioragement
» 809 employees and subcontractors in engineeringpeditions; an

» 105 employees and subcontractors in finance, giyated business development, sales and marketohgthaer administrative
functions.

As of December 31, 2012, approximately 291 of aupkeyees were located in the United States, 91 Veeaded in Korea, 393 were
located in Nigeria and 210 located in Brazil. Temainder of our employees were in various otheatlons around the world.

As of December 31, 2011, we and our subsidiaridsahimtal of 676 employees and 206 subcontracttrsse employees consisted of:
e 26 employees and subcontractors in constructioragement
* 718 employees and subcontractors in engineeringpeditions; an

» 138 employees and subcontractors in finance, giyated business development, sales and marketohgthaer administrative
functions.

As of December 31, 2011, approximately 101 of aupkeyees were located in the United States, 212 Vemated in Korea, 375 were
located in Nigeria and 189 located in Brazil. Temainder of our employees were in various otheatlons around the world.

As of December 31, 2010, we and our subsidiaridsahimtal of 276 employees and 160 subcontracttrsse employees consisted of:
e 88 employees and subcontractors in constructioragement
e 279 employees and subcontractors in engineeringpeditions; an
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* 69 employees and subcontractors in finance, styated business development, sales and marketingtaed administrative
functions.

As of December 31, 2010, approximately 75 of oupleyees and subcontractors were located in theedrtates and 357 were located
in Korea. The remainder of our employees and subactors were in various other locations aroundwbdd.

During 2010, we continued to expand managemenpangbnnel in operations, finance, human resountEsmation technology and
other corporate departments needed to market $selgeand conduct operations, as well as recraitddrained staff, including rig personnel,
for thePacific Bora.

During 2011, we substantially completed the manmwiftpePacific Boraand thePacific Sciroccacrews and continued manning of the
Pacific Mistraland thePacific Santa Ana

During 2012, we substantially completed the manmwihtipe Pacific Mistraland thePacific Santa Anand commenced manning of the
Pacific Khamsirand thePacific Sharav.

We believe that our relations with employees amdgdhe employees of one of our manpower provittelNigeria are currently
represented by unions and covered by a collectvgadining agreement. Our employees in Brazil aresatly represented by unions and
covered by a collective bargaining agreement.

E. SHARE OWNERSHIP

The table below shows the number of common shamesflzially owned and the percentage owned of atstanding common shares for
our directors, officers and key employees as oftraty 15, 2013, and the percentage held of thé¢otamon shares in issue. Also shown are
their interests in share options awarded to thedeuthe Pacific Drilling S.A. 2011 Omnibus Stockéntive Plan (the “2011 Stock Plan”). See
Item 6, “Compensation—Equity Compensation Plans’afdescription of the 2011 Stock Plan.

Beneficial Interest in
Common Shares
Number of

Director or Key Employee shares Percentagt
Christian J. Becke
Robert F. MacChesne
William J. Restrept
Cees Van Dieme
Kinga E. Doris

Paul T. Rees

Ron Moskovitz — —
Laurence N. Charne
Jeremy Ashe

Paul Wolff

Cyril Ducau — —
Elias Sakellis — —
All officers and directors as a gro® * *

b R

* Ok kX X X

*
*

* Owns less than 1% based on the total number ofamai;ig common shares as of February 15, 2
(1) Includes 579,690 of exercisable options and RSUsheour senior management and directors as ofuaep 15, 2013
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ITEM7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
A. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

The following table sets forth information as obFeary 15, 2013 for each shareholder whom we krmobeneficially own more than fiy
percent of our outstanding common shares:

Common Shares Helc
Number of

Identity of Person or Group Shares Percentagt
Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limite®@ 150,000,00 69.2%

(1) Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited is a Giliealcompany and wholly-owned subsidiary of QuanRauific International Limited, the
indirect ultimate owner of which is a trust in whitdan Ofer and certain members of his family &eegrimary beneficiaries. The address
of Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited is 57/63 keiWall Road, Gibraltal

(2) Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited has pledgedtalftof 65,070,000 shares of common stock held bg security for a margin loa

Prior to our issuance of 60,000,000 common sharesitate investors in the 2011 Private Placem@ogntum Pacific Group owned
100% of our common shares. Immediately after cotigrieof the 2011 Private Placement, Quantum PaGifisup owned approximately 71.4
of our common shares. Following the completionwf initial public offering and the exercise of thederwriter over-allotment option,
Quantum Pacific Group owned approximately 69.2%wfcommon shares. Our major shareholders do net different voting rights than o
other shareholders.

Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited has enterediatmargin loan arrangement with a financial in§itih pursuant to which it has
pledged 65,070,000 shares as collateral. In thetefea decline in the value of our shares, a nmacgil may be triggered. Quantum Pacific
(Gibraltar) Limited’s failure to promptly meet anyargin calls or default under these financing ageaments could result in the sale or other
disposition of some or all of the pledged shardsckvcould result in one or more persons other fBaantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited
acquiring a significant voting interest in the Camnp.

In December 2011, the Company issued all 7,200008@mon shares reserved for issuance under ouiidBcilling S.A. 2011 Omnibus
Stock Incentive Plan (“Reserve Option Shares”)rie of its wholly-owned subsidiaries. These Res€&@pton Shares are treated as issued bui
not outstanding and are held internally for purgaseadministering our Pacific Drilling S.A. 201Imibus Stock Incentive Plan. The Reserve
Option Shares will be issued when and if the rethpeoption holders submit a valid and proper eiserof their legally vested options. Prior to
issuance to any such option holders, the ResertierOghares do not have voting rights and do ndigigate in the earnings of the Company.

As of February 15, 2013, we had only one sharehafleecord in the United States, CEDE & CO (noreiné the Depository Trust
Company) in whose name all shareholdings in théddrStates are recorded. This single shareholdercofd in the United States represented
approximately 29.5% of the total outstanding comrsbares. The number of beneficial owners of ourrmmomshares in the United States is
significantly larger than the number of record teoklof our common shares in the United States.

B. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The joint venture agreements relating to TPDI pitedi Quantum Pacific Group with a put option thiivedd it to exchange its 50%
interest in TPDI for shares of Transocean Ltd.ashcat a purchase price based on an appraisat édithvalue of the two vessels owned by
TPDI, subject to various customary adjustmentgsolmunction with the TPDI Transfer and a relateceadment to the Original Project
Facilities Agreement, a subsidiary of the Quantwauific Group guaranteed to the lenders that anggeds from the exercise of the put
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option relating to the equity interest in TPDI wabllle used to prepay or secure the Project Fasiitgreement. In consideration for this
guarantee, we agreed to pay the Quantum PacifiagGadee of 0.25% per annum on the outstandinglangs on the Project Facilities
Agreement. During the year ended December 31, Ze&8,of $1.3 million were incurred of which $0.8lion were recorded to property and
equipment as capitalized interest costs. On AgilZD12, the Quantum Pacific Group TPDI Put Opfirarantee was terminated and the
Quantum Pacific Group was released from its ohligatthereunder. In connection with the terminatiod release of the TPDI Put Option
Guarantee, we were released from our obligatigratothe Quantum Pacific Group a fee of 0.25% pauamon the outstanding borrowings on
the Project Facilities Agreement and the relateéemgent was terminated.

In February 2012, the Quantum Pacific Group puret&0 million of the 2015 Senior Unsecured Bosdaéd as part of our 2012 Bc
Offering. Following their initial purchase, the Quam Pacific Group sold their $40 million of thelBSenior Unsecured Bonds to unrelated
parties. See “Management’s Discussion and AnabfsiSnancial Condition and Results of Operationstlidity and Capital Resources—
Description of Indebtedness—8.25% Senior UnsecBmis” for a description of the 2012 Bond Offering.

C. INTERESTS OF EXPERTS AND COUNSEL
Not applicable.

ITEM 8.  FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INFO RMATION
See Item 18, “Financial Statements” within this @alrreport.

Legal Proceedings

It is to be expected that we and our subsidiariéide routinely involved in litigation and dispg@rising in the ordinary course of our
business. We do not believe that ultimate liahilityany, resulting from any such pending litigatioill have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition or results of operations. Asloé date hereof, we are not involved in any segallproceedings.

Dividend Policy

We have not paid a dividend on our common shagss$) or otherwise, and we do not intend to do shérimmediate future.
Additionally, our Project Facilities Agreement méstis the entities that own thacific Bora, thePacific Sciroccq thePacific Mistraland the
Pacific Santa Anifrom distributing cash to us until January 2014jolihmay restrict our ability to make dividends tar ghareholders. Under
the terms of our 2015 Senior Unsecured Bonds, eeestricted from paying dividends exceeding 50%oaufsolidated net income for the
preceding fiscal year. Under the terms of the 2B&i@ior Secured Notes, subject to certain exceptiwasre limited in our ability to pay
dividends, purchase or redeem our capital stockake other restricted payments. The terms of theFS8low the payment of dividends or
distributions to our shareholders under certairdd@ans more fully set forth therein, whereby weynalistribute up to 50% of our net income
per year for the year 2013 and thereafter. See Bteniquidity and Capital Resources—Descriptionmfiebtedness” for a more detailed
description of the terms of our Project Facilithgreement, the 2015 Senior Unsecured Bonds, thé 3@hior Secured Notes and our SSCF.

The payment of future dividends, if any, will beatenined by us in light of conditions then existimgeluding our earnings, financial
condition, capital requirements, restrictions imsérg and future financing agreements, businesslitions and other factors. Pursuant to our
Articles, the Board of Directors has the powerigiribute interim dividends in accordance with apgible Luxembourg law. Dividends may be
lawfully declared and paid if our net profits aridtdbutable reserves are sufficient under Luxenngdaw. Under
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Luxembourg law, at least 5% of our net profits pear must be allocated to the creation of a leggdnve until such reserve has reached an
amount equal to 10% of our issued share capitéthellegal reserve subsequently falls below the ff¥#shold, at least 5% of net profits again
must be allocated toward the reserve. The legatveds not available for distribution.

We intend to make a dividend to holders of our canrshares as soon as we determine it is prudeitt $o, taking into account capital
expenditures, targeted growth and performance osetind restrictions imposed under our ProjectiiiasiAgreement, our 2015 Senior
Unsecured Bonds, our 2017 Senior Secured Note$$8GF and any additional debt financing we ent@riimconnection with the constructi
of our eighth drillship and any additional drillpsiwe may construct or acquire.

B. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES

In January 2013, we exercised our option and ethate an additional contract with SHI for the ctvastion of our eighth drillship,
which is expected to be delivered in the first geraof 2015.

On February 19, 2013, Pacific Sharav S.a r.l. aaxifie Drilling VII Limited as the Borrowers, andaBific Drilling S.A. as the Guarantor
entered into a senior secured credit facility agret with a group of lenders to finance the comsibn, operation and other costs associated
with thePacific Sharawand thePacific Meltemgdescribed in further detail in Item 5, “Liquidityd Capital Resources—Description of
Indebtedness.”

ITEM9. THE OFFER AND LISTING
A. OFFER AND LISTING DETAILS

Shares of our common stock have traded on the NpaneOTC List since April 5, 2011 under the symtRIDSA.” Shares of our
common stock commenced trading on the NYSE on Naveerhl, 2011 under the symbol “PACD.” The NYSHiigtis intended to be the
Company’s primary listing and the Norwegian OT(@itig is intended to be the Company’s secondaringst

On February 15, 2013, the closing price of our camrshares on the NYSE was $9.95 per share ancedidiwegian OTC was 52.75
NOK per share

The following table sets forth, for each full firaal year, high and low intraday sale prices of cmmon shares:

Price Per Common Share

NYSE NOTC

. High Low High Low
Fiscal Year Ended December 31 (US$) (US$) (NOK) (NOK)
2012. 11.47 7.71 63.0( 46.0(

The following table sets forth, for each full firaal quarter for the two most recent fiscal yeaigh and low intraday sale prices of our
common shares since they began trading on the NofSovember 11, 2011 and on the Norwegian OTCdruisApril 2, 2011:

Price Per Common Share

NYSE NOTC
High Low High Low
(US$) (US$) (NOK) (NOK)
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 201
Fourth quarte 10.9¢ 9.0¢ 60.7¢ 52.0(
Third quartel 10.7¢ 8.21 55.0( 50.0(
Second quarte 10.4C 7.7 60.0( 46.0(
First quartel 11.47 8.9t 63.0( 52.5(
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(@)

Price Per Common Share

NOTC
High Low
(NOK) (NOK)
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 201
Fourth quarte 52.5( 45.0(
Third quartel 53.0( 35.0(

The following table sets forth, for the six mosteat months, high and low intraday sale pricesufammmon shares:

Price Per Common Share

NYSE NOTC

High Low High Low

(US$) (US$) (NOK) (NOK)
February 201:@ 10.6¢4 9.9t N/A N/A
January 201. 10.4: 9.54 52.7¢ 52.7¢
December 201 9.8t 9.0¢ 59.7¢ 52.5(
November 201! 10.9¢ 9.14 60.7¢ 55.0(
October 201: 10.3¢ 9.7¢ 60.0( 52.0(
September 201 10.7¢ 9.3¢€ 55.0(C 52.0C

February 1, 201—February 15, 2013. No trading occurred on the N@arGhe period

B. PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Not applicable.

C. MARKETS

Our common shares currently trade on the NYSE hed\brwegian OTC under the symbol “PACD” and “PD'Si&spectively.

D. SELLING SHAREHOLDERS

Not applicable.

E. DILUTION

Not applicable.

F. EXPENSES OF THE ISSUE

Not applicable.

ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
A. SHARE CAPITAL

Not applicable.

B. MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

Our Amended and Restated Articles of Associatioreviitied as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s RegistmatStatement on Form F-1

(Registration No. 333-177774), which was filed witle Securities and Exchange Commission on Noveli2011, and are hereby
incorporated by reference into this Annual Report.
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Description of Share Capital

The following is a summary of our share capital #relrights of the holders of our common sharesaramaterial to an investment in
our common shares. These rights are set forthril\dicles or are provided by applicable Luxembolagy, and these rights may differ from
those typically provided to shareholders of U.Snpanies under the corporation laws of the varidates of the United States. This summary
does not contain all information that may be imanttto readers.

Our share capital is comprised of common sharesfA&bruary 15, 2013, an aggregate of 216,902006@mon shares, accounting par
value $0.01 and without nominal value, were issared outstanding. Each of our outstanding commoreshentitles its holder to one vote at
any general meeting of shareholders.

Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited has entered iatmargin loan arrangement with a financial instin pursuant to which it has
pledged 65,070,000 shares as collateral. In thetefea decline in the value of our shares, a nmacgil may be triggered. Quantum Pacific
(Gibraltar) Limited’s failure to promptly meet anyargin calls or default under these financing ageaments could result in the sale or other
disposition of some or all of the pledged shardsgckvcould result in one or more persons other thaantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited
acquiring a significant voting interest in the Cangp.

To our knowledge, as of February 15, 2013, thezenaradditional shareholders’ arrangements or aggats the implementation or
performance of which could, at a later date, resudt change in the control of us in favor of adtperson other than the current controlling
shareholder, an entity controlled by the QuantuwifieaGroup.

Our common shares are governed by Luxembourg lahwoanArticles. More information concerning shareleos’ rights can be found in
the Luxembourg law on commercial companies dateguat10, 1915, as amended from time to time, amd\dicles.

General

We are a Luxembourgpciété anonymg joint stock corporation). Our legal name is ‘Badrilling S.A.” We were incorporated on
March 11, 2011.

Pacific Drilling S.A. is registered with the Luxemlirg Registry of Trade and Companies under the enfth59658. Our registered
office is located at 37, rue d’Anvers, L-1130 Luxswarg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg.

Our corporate object, as stated in Article 3 (Coap® object) of our Articles, is the following: Tl®mpany’s object is the acquisition of
participations, in Luxembourg or abroad, in any pamy or enterprise in any form whatsoever, andrtheagement of those patrticipations.
Company may in particular acquire, by subscriptifmurchase and exchange or in any other manneistanl, shares and other participation
securities, bonds, debentures, certificates of siepad other debt instruments and, more geneatly securities and financial instruments
issued by any public or private entity. It may fApate in the creation, development, managemethcantrol of any company or enterprise.
Further, it may invest in the acquisition and mamagnt of a portfolio of patents or other intell@ttproperty rights of any nature or origin.

Under our Articles, we may borrow in any form. Waymssue notes, bonds and any kind of debt andyesggurities. We may lend
funds, including, without limitation, the proceeafsany borrowings, to our subsidiaries, affiliammpanies and any other companies. We me
also give guarantees and pledge, transfer, encuonti¢herwise create and grant security over sonadl of our assets to guarantee our own
obligations and those of any other company, andeigdly, for our own benefit and that of any othempany or person. We may not, howe
carry out any regulated financial sector activitihout having obtained the requisite authorizatio
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We may use techniques, legal means and instrurteenianage our investment efficiently and to proteaselves against credit risks,
currency exchange exposure, interest rate risko#rat risks.

We may carry out any commercial, financial or intdasoperation and any transaction with respecttd estate or movable property,
which directly or indirectly, favors or relatesdar corporate object.

Share Capital

As of February 15, 2013, our issued share capitaluamts to $2,241,000, represented by 224,100,000nmm shares and 216,902,000
common shares issued and outstanding, par valod $0d without nominal value. We are authorized$ae $50,000,000 of share capital
(such amount including the currently issued shapstal of $2,241,000) and are authorized to isqu&1b,000,000,000 common shares, havini
an accounting par value of $0.01 and without nomialue (such number of shares including the 22%,4@0 shares already issued), out of
such authorized share capital.

Under Article 5 of our Articles, our share capitals set on incorporation at $50,000, representeésDB00 shares in registered form
without nominal value. On March 30, 2011, the sblareholder, Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limitedicha general meeting to approve
amending the Company’s Articles to authorize thafBmf Directors, for a period of five years, teus up to $50,000,000 of share capital
(inclusive of current share capital of the Compa®) March 30, 2011, our Board of Directors resdlt@ split the outstanding 50,000 comr
shares into 5,000,000 common shares, without ndmatae. These common shares are held by QuantwifiP@ibraltar) Limited. In
addition, on March 30, 2011, our Board of Directasolved for Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limitexldecome the indirect sole shareholde
all issued common shares of our Predecessor iraegehfor the issuance of 145,000,000 of our comshanes. As of March 31, 2011, our
common shares consisted of 150,000,000 issuedwathonding common shares, having an accountingglae $0.01, all of which are held by
an entity controlled by Quantum Pacific (Gibralthithited. In connection with the 2011 Private Plaemt, we issued 60,000,000 common
shares to international and U.S. investors forgpysceeds of $600 million. Following completiontioé 2011 Private Placement, our share
capital consisted of 210,000,000 common sharegdsand outstanding.

In November 2011, the Company completed an intiddlic offering of 6,000,000 common shares. In Delger 2011, the underwriters
purchased an additional 900,000 common shares gnirsuthe full exercise of an over-allotment optidhe initial public offering resulted in
net proceeds of approximately $50.3 million. In Brber 2011, the Company also issued 7,200,000 corsireres to one of our wholly-
owned subsidiaries, which represents 3.3% of otstanding common shares. These common sharesldria lieasury for purposes of
administering our Pacific Drilling S.A. 2011 Omn#&tock Incentive Plan.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company’s share dapitesisted of 5,000,000,000 common shares augwband 216,902,000 common
shares issued and outstanding of which approximé&&PR% was held by Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) itéd.

Form and Transfer of Shares

Our shares are issued in registered form only amdreely transferable, subject to any restrictithha may be provided for in our Articles
or in any agreement entered into between sharetsoldexembourg law does not impose any limitationghe rights of Luxembourg or non-
Luxembourg residents to hold or vote our shares.

Issuance of Shares

Pursuant to Luxembourg law, the issuance of oumsomshares requires the approval by the generaimgesf shareholders at the
guorum and vote requirements provided for the ammemd of our Articles. The general meeting of shaléérs may, however, approve an
authorized unissued share capital and authorize the
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board of directors to issue shares up to the maxirmmount of such authorized unissued share cdpital maximum period of five years from
the date of publication in the Luxembourg offiai@zette of the minutes of the relevant general imgeThe general meeting may amend,
renew or extend such authorized share capital atitbazation to the board of directors to issuereba

Pursuant to Article 5.3 of our Articles, our BoarfdDirectors is authorized, for a period of fiveaye from the publication of our
incorporation deed on March 11, 2011, to increhsectirrent share capital once or more up to $500000by the issue of new shares having
the same rights as the existing shares, or witaonytsuch issue. Accordingly, our Board of Directoiay issue up to 4,775,900,000 common
shares until March 11, 2016 against contributionsash, contributions in kind or by way of incoraiion of available reserves at such times
and on such terms and conditions, including theeiggice, as our Board of Directors or its delegatay in its or their discretion resolve while
waiving, suppressing or limiting any pre-emptivéseription rights of shareholders provided for &y lto the extent it deems such waiver,
suppression or limitation advisable for any issugssues of shares within the authorized shardalapi

Under Luxembourg law, our Board of Directors, atudy appointed representative of our Board of Dives; is required to go before a
Luxembourg notary within one month following anriease of our share capital by our Board of Directorrecord the share capital increas
notarial deed.

Under Luxembourg law, shareholders isagiété anonymleave a preferential right to subscribe for shaseséd on the occasion of a
share capital increase, where such shares arestabseribed for in cash. Article 5.3 of our ArtElémits this right in relation to our
shareholders by granting our Board of Directordaxitation to increase the current share capitahbyissue of new shares having the same
rights as the common shares, and to limit or wakdthe shareholders’ preferential subscriptiontagin such increase. This authorization is
valid for a period of five years from the publieatiof our incorporation deed on March 11, 2011; &esv, such authorization may be renewed
by a resolution passed at an extraordinary gensgating of the shareholders. The general meetisparfeholders also has the power to limit
or withdraw the shareholders’ preferential subsmiprights under certain circumstances as sef fonder Luxembourg law.

Our Articles provide that no fractional shares rhayissued.
Our common shares have no conversion rights, aeré tire no redemption or sinking fund provisiongliapble to our common shares.

We cannot subscribe for our own shares.

Capital Reduction

Our Articles provide that the issued share capitay be reduced, subject to the approval by thergemeeting of shareholders and the
qguorum and vote requirements provided for the ammemd of our Articles.

General Meeting of Shareholders

In accordance with Luxembourg law and our Articksy regularly constituted general meeting of dhalders represents the entire body
of shareholders of the Company. The general meatisgull power to adopt and ratify all acts anéragions which are consistent with our
corporate object.

The annual general meeting of shareholders isdtel@®:00 a.m. (Luxembourg time) on the second MygrdaMay of each year in
Luxembourg. If that day is a legal or banking halidthe meeting will be held on the immediatelydwing business day. Other general
meetings of shareholders may be convened at amy tim

Each of our common shares entitles the holderaafrckthereof to attend our general meeting of st@ders, either in person or by pro
to address the general meeting of shareholdergpagxkrcise voting
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rights, subject to the provisions of our Articl&ach share entitles the holder to one vote at argemeeting of shareholders. There is no
minimum shareholding required to be able to ati@mndbte at a general meeting of shareholders.

Luxembourg law provides that our Board of Directisrebligated to convene a general meeting of $luddlers if shareholders
representing, in the aggregate, 10% of the isshakscapital so require in writing with an indicattiof the agenda. In such case, the general
meeting of shareholders must be held within onetmofthe request. If the requested general meetirsthareholders is not held within one
month, shareholders representing, in the aggret)@®,of the issued share capital may petition tmpetent president of the district court in
Luxembourg to have a court appointee convene thetinge Luxembourg law provides that shareholdepsa®enting, in the aggregate, 10% of
the issued share capital may request that addititemas be added to the agenda of a general meetisigareholders. That request must be
made by registered mail sent to our registered®ffit least five days before the holding of theegainmeeting of shareholders.

Voting Rights
Each common share entitles the holder thereof ¢ovoite at a general meeting of shareholders.

Luxembourg law distinguishes between “ordinary” @& meetings of shareholders and “extraordinggrieral meetings of sharehold

Extraordinary general meetings of shareholderganeened to resolve in particular upon an amendmeentr Articles and certain other
limited matters described below and are subjettteéaquorum and vote requirements described beldvather general meetings of
shareholders are ordinary general meetings of khhters.

Ordinary General Meetings of Shareholdehs.an ordinary general meeting of shareholdersetiieno quorum requirement, and
resolutions are adopted by a simple majority ofubies validly cast, irrespective of the numbesludires present or represented. Abstentions
are not considered “votes.”

Extraordinary General Meetings of Shareholdéxa.extraordinary general meeting of shareholdersvened for the purpose of (a) an
increase or decrease of the authorized or issus@ spital, (b) a limitation or exclusion of prg@ive rights, (c) approving a legal merger or
de-merger of the Company, (d) dissolution of thenBany or (e) except as described immediately bedmwgamendment of our Articles must
have a quorum of at least 50% of our issued shegrtat, except in limited circumstances providedtfg Luxembourg law. If such quorum is
not reached, the extraordinary general meetingpafeholders may be reconvened, pursuant to appteprotification procedures, at a later
date with no quorum requirement applying.

Irrespective of whether the proposed actions desdrin the preceding paragraph will be subjectyota at the first or a subsequent
extraordinary general meeting of shareholders, swtibns are subject to the approval of at leastttvirds of the votes validly cast at such
extraordinary general meeting of shareholders (@xodimited circumstances provided for by Luxembgplaw). Abstentions are not
considered “votes.”

Appointment and Removal of Directokéembers of our Board of Directors may be electedibyple majority of the votes validly cast at
any general meeting of shareholders. Under ouclesdj all directors can be elected for a periodmfo six years with such possible extension
as provided therein, provided that currently eaiobotbr is serving a one-year term set to expir@pnl 2013, as the case may be. Any director
may be removed with or without cause by a simpl@ritg vote at any general meeting of shareholdéithe office of a director becomes
vacant, our Articles provide that the other direst@acting by a simple majority, may fill the vacgron a provisional basis until a new director
is appointed at the next general meeting of shadeha

Neither Luxembourg law nor our Articles contain aagtrictions as to the voting of our common shageson-Luxembourg residents.
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Amendment to Our Articles of Association

Luxembourg law requires an extraordinary generadting of shareholders to resolve upon an amendtoenir Articles. The agenda of
the extraordinary general meeting of shareholderstindicate the proposed amendments to the Asticle

An extraordinary general meeting of shareholdersrened for the purpose of amending our Articlestrhase a quorum of at least 50%
of our issued share capital. If such quorum israathed, the extraordinary general meeting of sladders may be reconvened at a later date
with no quorum according to the appropriate nadificn procedures. Irrespective of whether the pgedamendment will be subject to a vote
at the first or a subsequent extraordinary gemeggting of shareholders, the amendment is sulgebetapproval of at least two-thirds of the
votes cast at such extraordinary general meetishafeholders.

Any resolutions to amend our Articles must be takefore a Luxembourg notary and such amendmentsheysublished in accordance
with Luxembourg law.

Merger and Division

A merger by absorption whereby a Luxembourg compafigr its dissolution without liquidation, traes$ to another company all of its
assets and liabilities in exchange for the issuégmtlee shareholders of the company being acquifetiares in the acquiring company, or a
merger effected by transfer of assets to a nevdgriporated company, must, in principle, be apprdwedn extraordinary general meeting of
shareholders of the Luxembourg company to be hefloke a notary. Similarly the de-merger of a Luxennly company is generally subject to
the approval by an extraordinary general meetinghafeholders.

Liquidation

In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or wing-up, the assets remaining after allowing fer playment of all liabilities will be paid
out to the shareholders pro rata to their respedareholdings. The decision to voluntarily ligugl dissolve or wind-up require the approval
by an extraordinary general meeting of shareholtteb® held before a notary.

No Appraisal Rights
Neither Luxembourg law nor our Articles provide oty appraisal rights of dissenting shareholders.

Distributions

Subject to Luxembourg law, each share is entitbggitrticipate equally in distributions if and whaeclared by the general meeting of
shareholders out of funds legally available forhsparposes. Pursuant to our Articles, the geneegtimg of shareholders may approve
distributions and our Board of Directors may deeliaterim distributions, to the extent permittedLmxembourg law.

Declared and unpaid distributions held by us ferabcount of the shareholders shall not bear isitetender Luxembourg law, claims for
unpaid distributions will lapse in our favor fivears after the date such distribution has beeradstl

Annual Accounts

Each year our Board of Directors must prepare dramepunts, that is, an inventory of our assetslaidities, together with a balance
sheet and a profit and loss account. Our Boardit@cibrs must also prepare management reportsyeseton the annual accounts. The annua
accounts, the management report and the audiep@ts must be available for inspection by shaddrslat our registered office at least 15
calendar days prior to the date of the annual gémeeeting of shareholders.
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The annual accounts, after approval by the anremél meeting of shareholders, will need to leglfivith the Luxembourg registry of
trade and companies within seven months of theeadshe financial year.

Information Rights

Luxembourg law gives shareholders limited rightegpect certain corporate records 15 calendar piagsto the date of the annual
general meeting of shareholders, including the ahaccounts with the list of directors and audittine notes to the annual accounts, a list of
shareholders whose shares are not fully paid-@pmthnagement reports and the auditor’s report.

The annual accounts, the auditor’s reports andifieagement reports are sent to registered shasrhaltthe same time as the
convening natice for the annual general meetinghafeholders. In addition, any registered sharehndddentitled to receive a copy of these
documents free of charge 15 calendar days pritire@late of the annual general meeting of sharel®lgbon request.

Under Luxembourg law, it is generally accepted thahareholder has the right to receive respoonsgsdstions concerning items on the
agenda for a general meeting of shareholders if segponses are necessary or useful for a shasgtioldhake an informed decision
concerning such agenda item, unless a responsehasiestions could be detrimental to our interests

Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our commomneshia American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC

Equity Instruments and Other Arrangements Affectirequity

Our Predecessor adopted the 2009 Plan, which prdvar the granting of stock options, stock apgten rights, restricted shares,
restricted share units and other equity-based wityecelated awards to directors, officers, empkyand consultants. In March 2011, we
substituted all outstanding awards under the 2088 Rith new awards of options to purchase comniames under the 2011 Plan. All options
under the 2011 Plan expire on the earliest ok@)years after the date of grant, (ii) 90 days dfte employee ceases to provide services to us
or one of our affiliates, or (iii) 6 months follomg the employee’s death. Concurrent with the Stligth, we terminated the 2009 Plan and no
new awards will be made under that plan. See Itef@6mpensation—Equity Compensation Plans” for eiddal information regarding the
2011 Plan.

C. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The Company has no material contracts other thasetkentered into in the ordinary course of businessthose described in our
description of indebtedness. See ltem 5, “Ligyiditd Capital Resources—Description of Indebtedhess

D. EXCHANGE CONTROLS

There are no legislative or other legal provisiongently in force in Luxembourg or arising under évrticles of Association that restrict
the payment of dividends to holders of Pacific g S.A. shares not resident in Luxembourg, exéeptegulations restricting the remittance
of dividends and other payments in compliance Witlfited Nations and European Union sanctions. Taege1o limitations, either under the
laws of Luxembourg or in the Articles of Associatj@n the right of non-Luxembourg nationals to hald/ote Pacific Drilling S.A. shares.
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E. TAXATION
Material Luxembourg Tax Considerations for U.S. Hollers of Common Shares

The following is a summary discussion of certairdrubourg tax considerations that may be applicabld.S. Holders as a result of
owning or disposing of our Common Shares. This doépurport to be a comprehensive descriptionliodfathe tax considerations that may
relevant to any of our Common Shares, and doepurpbrt to include tax considerations that ariserfr rules of general application or that
are generally assumed to be known to holders. dis@ussion is not a complete analysis or listinglobf the possible tax consequences of
such transactions and does not address all taxiderations that might be relevant to particular tets in light of their personal
circumstances or to persons that are subject tacigbéax rules.

It is not intended to be, nor should it be constrte be, legal or tax advice. The summary is nbaestive and we strongly encourage
shareholders to consult their own tax advisorsathe Luxembourg tax consequences of the owneaskilisposition of our Common Shares.
The summary applies only to U.S. shareholders wih@wn our Common Shares as capital assets ang dogapply to other categories of
shareholders, such as dealers in securities, testisurance companies, collective investmentseband shareholders who have, or who
are deemed to have, acquired their Common Sharéeinapital of our Common Shares by virtue of flic®or employment.

This discussion is based on the laws of the Grandhl of Luxembourg, including the Income Tax A@e&tember 4, 1967, as amended
the Municipal Business Tax Act of December 1, 188@&mended and the Net Wealth Tax Act of Octabet934, as amended, to which we
jointly refer to as the laws of the Gra-Duchy of Luxembourg, including the regulationsmrdgated thereunder, and published judicial
decisions and administrative pronouncements, eadh affect on the date of this annual report athva known future effective date and is
subject to any change in law or regulations or ofpasin interpretation or application thereof (antiish may possibly have a retroactive
effect). However, there can be no assurance that thxembourg tax authorities will not challenge afiyhe Luxembourg tax considerations
described below; in particular, changes in law asrdddministrative practice, as well as changesafevant facts and circumstances, may alte
the tax considerations described below. Prospedtivestors are encouraged to consult their own ggsional advisors as to the effects of s
local or foreign laws and regulations, including®ambourg tax law and regulations, to which they im@pubject.

For purposes of this summary, a “U.S. Holder” meamy investor in our Common Shares who is a Urfitiedes resident within the
meaning of Article 4 of the double tax treaty @@il 1996 concluded between Luxembourg and théddrbtates (the “Treaty”) and entitled
to all the benefits of the Treaty pursuant to Aeti2z4 of the Treaty.

Tax Regime Applicable to Realized Capital Gains
U.S. Holders

U.S. Holders will be subject to the following Luxbourg tax treatment in relation to capital gainghia cases described below (among
others):

* Anindividual who is a U.S. Holder of Common Shafasd who does not have a permanent establishagermanent
representative or a fixed place of business in mb®urg to which the Common Shares are attributabilehot be subject to
Luxembourg taxation on capital gains arising upi@pasal of such Common Shares pursuant to Arti¢l€5) of the Treaty. A
corporate U.S. Holder, which has a permanent estabént, a permanent representative or a fixecepd@business in Luxembourg
to which our Common Shares are attributable, vélldquired to recognize capital gains (or losseh@sase may be) on the sale of
such Common Shares, which will be subject to Luxeumnty corporate income tax and municipal businessHawever, gains
realized on the sale of the Common Shares may ibémeh the exemption provided for by Article 166the Luxembourg
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Income Tax and the Grand-Ducal Decree of Decembe?@)1 (as amended) provided that at the timbBefltsposal of the
Common Shares (a) the U.S. Holder (acting throtgjhérmanent representative or fixed place of lassiin Luxembourg) of
Common Shares holds a stake representing at legsbi our total share capital or a cost price déast €6,000,000 and (b) such
qualifying shareholding has been held for an umiafged period of at least 12 months or the U.Sdelo(acting through its
permanent representative or fixed place of busimeksxembourg) undertakes to continue to own sycalifying shareholding
until such time as the U.S. Holder (acting throitgtpermanent representative or fixed place ofrmss in Luxembourg) has held
our Common Shares for an uninterrupted period tdfagt 12 months. In certain circumstances, thenpken may not apply in part
or in full; for example; the capital gains exemptidor gains arising on an alienation of the Comrtiares) does not apply to the
amount of previously tax deducted expenses an@&-offs related to these Common Sha

* A corporate U.S. Holder, which has no permanemtdishment in Luxembourg to which the Common Sharesattributable, will
not be subject to Luxembourg taxation on capitahgarising upon disposal of such Common Sharesupmt to Article 14 (5) of
the Treaty

Tax Regime Applicable to Distributions
Luxembourg Withholding Tax

A Luxembourg withholding tax of 15% (17.65% if tHevidend tax is not withheld from the shareholderiue on dividends and similar
distributions to our holders (subject to the exmey discussed under “—Exemption from Luxembourghblding Tax” below). Absent an
exception, we will be required to withhold at suake from distributions to the shareholder and @ash withheld amounts to the Luxembourg
tax authorities.

Exemption from Luxembourg Withholding Tax

Dividends and similar distributions paid to U.S.ltters may be exempt from Luxembourg dividend witdhg tax if: (1) the U.S.
Holder is a qualifying corporate entity holdingtake representing at least 10% of our total shapéal or which acquired the Common Shares
for at least £,200,000 (or its equivalent amount in a foreigrrency); and (2) the U.S. Holder has either heisl ualifying stake in our capit
for an uninterrupted period of at least 12 monttiha time of the payment of the dividend or unakes to continue to own such qualifying
shareholding until such time as it has held the @om Shares for an uninterrupted period of at I@asnhonths. The U.S. Holder will be a
qualifying corporate entity for the exemption mengd above if it is fully subject to a tax in thaitéd States that corresponds to Luxembourg
corporate income tax.

Under current Luxembourg tax law, payments to di@ders in relation to a reduction of share captathare premium are not subjec
Luxembourg dividend withholding tax if certain cdtmghs are met, including, for example, the coraditthat we do not have distributable
reserves or profits. If we have, at the time ofghgment to shareholders with respect to their ComBhares, distributable reserves or profits,
a distribution of share capital or share premiunh lva recharacterized for Luxembourg tax purposea distribution of such reserves or
earnings subject to withholding tax. Based on thava, if certain conditions are met, it can be expe that a substantial amount of potential
future payments to be made by us may not be sutgjg¢atxembourg withholding tax.

Reduction of Luxembourg Withholding Tax

U.S. corporate Holders may claim application oé@uced Luxembourg dividend withholding tax at & 1@t5% under the conditions
provided for by Article 10 (2) (a) (i) of the Treai.e., shareholding of at least 10% of the vostack of the distributing company without
minimum holding period in relation to these shares.
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Net Wealth Tax
U.S. Holders

Luxembourg net wealth tax will not be levied on &UHolder with respect to the Common Shares uthes€ommon Shares are
attributable to an enterprise or part thereof wigcbarried on through a permanent establishmeited place of business or a permanent
representative in Luxembourg, in which case an gtim may apply based on Paragraph 60 of the La@atbber 16, 1934 on the valuatior
assets (Bewertungsgesetz),

Registration Tax/Stamp Duty

No registration tax or stamp duty will be payabjeabU.S. Holder of Common Shares in Luxembourglgalpon the disposal of
Common Shares by sale or exchange.

Estate and Gift Taxes

No estate or inheritance tax is levied on the fieansf Common Shares upon the death of a U.S. Ha@ti€ommon Shares in cases wh
the deceased was not a resident of Luxembourgf@ritance tax purposes, and no gift tax is levigdn a gift of Common Shares if the gift is
not passed before a Luxembourg notary or recondleddieed registered in Luxembourg.

THE LUXEMBOURG TAX CONSIDERATIONS SUMMARIZED ABOVE ARE FOR GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY. EACH
PACIFIC DRILLING S.A. SHAREHOLDER IS ENCOURAGED TO CONSULT HIS OR HER TAX ADVISOR AS TO THE
PARTICULAR CONSEQUENCES THAT MAY APPLY TO SUCH SHAR EHOLDER.

Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations foHolders of Common Shares

The following is a discussion of the material U&leral income tax considerations relating to thecpase, ownership and disposition of
our Common Shares. This discussion is based ugoprtvisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 188Gmended (the “Code”), existing and
proposed Treasury Regulations thereunder, juckeitiiority and administrative interpretations, athefdate hereof, all of which are subject to
change, possibly with retroactive effect, or argjsct to different interpretations. There can beassurance that the Internal Revenue Service
(“IRS”) will take a similar view of such conseque&s¢ and we have not obtained, nor do we intenthtaim a ruling from the IRS with respect
to the U.S. federal income tax consequences giuhehase, ownership and disposition of the Comnt@res. This discussion is limited to
beneficial owners that hold our Common Shares apital assets” (generally, property held for inusst).

This discussion does not address all U.S. fedecale tax considerations that may be relevantp@rticular holder based on its
particular circumstances, and you are encouragedrtsult your own independent tax advisor regargimg specific tax situation. For
example, the discussion does not address the tesidayations that may be relevant to U.S. Holdespiecial tax situations, such as:

» dealers in securities or currenci

e insurance companie

» regulated investment companies and real estatstimemt trusts

e tax-exempt organization:

» brokers or dealers in securities or currenciesteattkrs in securities that elect to mark to mat
» certain financial institutions

» partnerships or other pithrough entities and holders of interests thel

91



Table of Contents

* holders whose functional currency for U.S. fed@rabme tax purposes is not the U.S. dol
* U.S. expatriates
» individual retirement accounts and other tax deféaccounts
» holders that acquired our Common Shares in companys@ansactions
« holders that hold our Common Shares as part oflgdhestraddle or conversion or other integrateustation; ol
* holders that own, directly, indirectly, or constiuely, 10% or more of the total combined votingyes of the Company
This discussion does not address the alternatimémuim tax consequences of holding Common Sharesed¥er, this discussion does
not address the state, local or non-U.S. tax caresemps of holding our Common Shares, or any agpétiS. federal tax law other than U.S.
federal income taxation.
You are a “U.S. Holder” if you are a beneficial avrof our Common Shares and you are, for U.S. &decome tax purposes:
» anindividual who is a citizen or resident of theitdd States

* acorporation, or any other entity taxable as p@a@tion, created or organized in or under the lafithe United States or any State
thereof, including the District of Columbi

* an estate, the income of which is subject to Ue8efal income taxation regardless of its sourc

» atrust (a) if a court within the United Stateslide to exercise primary supervision over its adsiiation and one or more United
States persons (as defined in the Code) have theréy to control all of its substantial decisionis(b) that has a valid election in
effect under applicable Treasury Regulations ttrésted as a U.S. persc

You are a “Non-U.S. Holder” for purposes of thisalission if you are a beneficial owner of our Comr8bares that is an individual,
corporation, estate or trust that is not a U.Sdeol

If a partnership (or an entity or arrangement &dats a partnership for U.S. federal income tapgaas) holds our Common Shares, the
tax treatment of a partner will generally dependrufhe status of the partner and upon the activiifehe partnership. A partner of a
partnership considering the purchase of our Com8twares is encouraged to consult its own independeradvisor.

You are encouraged to consult your own indepen@emadvisor regarding the U.S. federal, state,lland nonU.S. income and other ti
consequences of purchasing, owning and disposingro€ommon Shares in your particular circumstances

U.S. Holders
Passive Foreign Investment Company Rules

A U.S. Holder generally will be subject to a spgaaverse tax regime that would differ in certaspects from the tax treatment
described below if we are, at any time during th8.UWolders holding period with respect to our Common Shaagmssive foreign investme
company (“PFIC”) for U.S. federal income tax purges

In general, we will be a PFIC for any taxable yiéaither (i) at least 75% of our gross incometfoe taxable year is “passive income” or
(ii) at least 50% of the average value of all cgseds (determined on the basis of a quarterly geg¢m@oduce or are held for the production of
passive income. For this purpose, passive

92



Table of Contents

income generally includes, among other things,dginds, interest, certain rents and royalties, aiesuand gains from assets that produce
passive income. If a foreign corporation owns ast€5% by value of the stock of another corpomatilee foreign corporation is treated for
purposes of the PFIC tests as owning its propatmshare of the assets of the other corporati@haa receiving directly its proportionate
share of the other corporation’s income. Basedwroperations described herein, all or a substgmidion of our income from offshore
contract drilling services should be treated agises income and not as passive income, and thos alsubstantial portion of the assets that
we own and operate in connection with the produatibthat income should not constitute passivetasf® purposes of determining whether
we are a PFIC. However, this involves a facts armimstances analysis and it is possible thatR&would not agree with this conclusion.

We believe that we will not be a PFIC in the cuttaixable year and that we will not become a PRI@ny future taxable year. The
determination of whether a corporation is a PFI@&le annually and thus may be subject to chartggelore, we can give investors no
assurance as to our PFIC status. U.S. Holdersnamueaged to consult their own independent taxsasiabout the PFIC rules, including the
availability of certain elections. The remaindettug discussion assumes that we will not be a RétEhe current taxable year or for any fu
taxable year.

Taxation of Dividends

Any distributions made with respect to our Commaar@s (including amounts withheld on account odifpm taxes) will, to the extent
made from current or accumulated earnings andtpra$ determined under U.S. federal income taxciplies, constitute dividends for U.S.
federal income tax purposes. To the extent thatdéstyibution exceeds the amount of our currentacammulated earnings and profits, it will
be treated as a non-taxable return of capitaléettient of the U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basthénCommon Shares, and thereafter as capite
gain. Such dividends generally would be treatefibasgn-source income for U.S. foreign tax creditgoses.

Dividends (including amounts withheld on accountasgign taxes) paid with respect to our Commonr&hagenerally will be includible
in the gross income of a U.S. Holder as ordinacpine on the day on which the dividends are recediyeithe U.S. Holder. A non-corporate
U.S. Holder would be entitled to a preferentiakrat U.S. federal income taxation (with the apfiearate based on the income and filing st
of the U.S. Holder) with respect to any dividendsdpon our Common Shares only if we are a “qualifiareign corporation.” We will be
treated as a qualified foreign corporation if the@non Shares are readily tradable on an establsbadities market or if we are eligible for
the benefits of a comprehensive income tax tredty thhe United States. As our Common Shares wilraded on an established securities
market we will be a qualified foreign corporatiamdatherefore non-corporate U.S. Holders will bgible for a preferential tax rate if the
holders meet certain holding period and other regouénts. A preferential tax rate will not applyatmounts that the U.S. Holder takes into
account as “investment income,” which may be oftgeinvestment expense. Dividends on our CommomeShaill not be eligible for the
dividends-received deduction generally allowed t8.l¢orporations under the Code. You are encoursigeonsult your independent tax
advisor regarding qualification for a preferentitie on dividend income and the rules relatedtestment income.

Subject to limitations under U.S. federal incomeltav concerning credits or deductions for forefgres, a Luxembourg withholding tax
imposed on dividends described above under “—Matetixembourg Tax Considerations for Holders of @mon Shares—Tax regime
applicable to distributions—Luxembourg Withholdifigx” generally would be treated as a foreign incaaxeeligible for credit against a U.S.
Holder's U.S. federal income tax liability (or atlaS. Holder’s election, may be deducted in cormmutaxable income if the U.S. Holder has
elected to deduct all foreign income taxes fortth@ble year). The rules with respect to foreigna@dits are complex and U.S. Holders are
encouraged to consult their independent tax advissarding the availability of the foreign taxditeunder their particular circumstances.
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Taxation of Capital Gains

Gain or loss realized by a U.S. Holder on the satehange or other taxable disposition of Commaar&hwill be subject to U.S. federal
income taxation as capital gain or loss in an arheqoal to the difference between the amount redl{including the gross amount of the
proceeds before the deduction of any foreign taxhe sale, exchange or other taxable dispositioinsach U.S. Holder’s adjusted tax basis in
the Common Shares. The capital gains of a U.S.éfdldht is an individual, estate or trust curregiyerally will be subject to a reduced rate
of U.S. federal income tax (with the applicableerbased on the income and filing status of the Hdider) if the holder’s holding period for
the Common Shares exceeded one year as of thefithe disposition. The deductibility of capitabkes is subject to certain limitations.
Capital gain or loss, if any, realized by a U.Slddo on the sale, exchange or other taxable disposif a Common Share generally will be
treated as U.S. source income or loss for U.Sigorax credit purposes. Consequently, in the casedisposition of a share that is subject to
Luxembourg or other foreign income tax imposedhengdain, the U.S. Holder may not be able to befreiih the foreign tax credit for that
foreign income tax (i.e., because gain on the disiom would be U.S. source). Alternatively, theSUHolder may take a deduction for the
foreign income tax if such holder does not takeedlit for any foreign income tax during the taxayéar.

Reporting Requirements Regarding Foreign FinanciAtcounts

Certain U.S. holders who are individuals and whidl Hspecified foreign financial assets” (as defineagection 6038D of the Code) with
values in excess of certain dollar thresholds,rasquibed by applicable U.S. Treasury regulatians required to report such assets on IRS
Form 8938 with their U.S. federal income tax resur@pecified foreign financial assets include stoick non-U.S. corporation (such as our
Common Shares) that is not held in an account miaigd by a “financial institution” (as defined iaction 1471(d)(5) of the Code). An
individual who fails to timely furnish the requiréaformation may be subject to a penalty. Additibnan the event a U.S. holder does not file
the required information, the statute of limitaiamay not close until three years after such infdionm is filed. Under certain circumstances, al
entity may be treated as an individual for purpasfake foregoing rules. Investors are urged tosodtryour tax advisor regarding these
reporting requirements and any other reporting irequents that may be applicable to your particaisumstances.

Additional Medicare Tax on Net Investment Income

For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2@ 2dditional 3.8% Medicare tax is imposed ort‘tiet investment income” of
certain United States citizens and resident akrtson the undistributed “net investment incometeartain estates and trusts. Among other
items, “net investment income” generally includasdibnds and certain net gain from the dispositbproperty, less certain deductions.
Investors are encouraged to consult your indepdrideradvisors with respect to this additional tax.

Non-U.S. Holders
Dividends

A Non-U.S. Holder generally will not be subjectUdS. federal income tax on dividends received an@ammon Shares, unless the
dividends are effectively connected with the Holdeonduct of a trade or business in the UniteceStand, if required by an applicable incc
tax treaty, the dividends are attributable to ar@erent establishment maintained by the Holderen_thited States or unless the holder is
subject to backup withholding, as discussed bekweept to the extent otherwise provided under gligable income tax treaty, a Non-U.S.
Holder generally will be taxed in the same manmses &.S. Holder on dividends that are effectivelgriected with the Holder’s conduct of a
trade or business in the United States. Effectigelynected dividends received by a corporate N&@-Holder may also, under certain
circumstances, be subject to an additional “braorofits tax” at a 30% rate (or, if applicable, avkr treaty rate), subject to certain adjustment:
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Taxation of Capital Gains

In general, a Non-U.S. Holder of Common Sharesmatlbe subject to U.S. federal income or withhajdiax with respect to any gain
recognized on a sale, exchange or other taxahpe@siison of such Common Shares unless:

» the gain is effectively connected with the Non-Ud8lder’s conduct of a trade or business in the UniteceSt@nd if required by i
applicable income tax treaty, is also attributabla permanent establishment that the Non-U.S. ¢tathintains in the United
States), in which case, the Non-U.S. Holder withgrally be subject to regular graduated ratesérsime manner as a U.S. Holder
and if the Non-U.S. Holder is a corporation, mayshbject to a branch profits tax equal to 30% (mwhdower rate provided by an
applicable income tax treaty) of its effectivelynoected earnings and profits for the taxable ya#ject to certain adjustmen

« the Non-U.S. Holder is an individual who is presente United States for 183 or more days in éxable year of the sale,
exchange or other taxable disposition and meetainesther requirements, in which case the gairegaly will be subject to a flat
30% tax that may be offset by U.S. source capitdés (even though the Non-U.S. Holder is not densd a resident of the United
States); o

» the Nor-U.S. Holder is subject to backup withholding, ascdssed belov

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

In general, dividends on Common Shares, and theeprds of a sale, exchange or other dispositioroair@on Shares for cash, paid
within the United States or through certain U.$atesd financial intermediaries to a U.S. HoldeaddonU.S. Holder are subject to informati
reporting to the IRS and may be subject to backitiphwlding unless the holder is an exempt recipisnan exempt foreign person or, in the
case of backup withholding, provides an accuratpager identification number and certifies undenglty of perjury that the holder is a Unit
States person and is not subject to backup witlitngld

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Getigra holder may obtain a refund of any amountthiéld under the backup
withholding rules that exceed such holder’s U.8efal income tax liability by timely filing a refdnclaim with the IRS. The amount of any
backup withholding withheld from a payment to adsslwill be allowed as a credit against the hokl&r’S. federal income tax liability,
provided that the required information is timelyrfished to the IRS. Holders are encouraged to dbtimir independent tax advisors regarding
the application of information reporting and backuighholding in their particular situations, thea@ability of exemptions and the procedures
for obtaining exemptions.

You are encouraged to consult with your own indepefent tax advisor regarding the application of the US. federal income tax
laws to your particular circumstances, as well asrgy additional tax consequences resulting from an westment in our Common Shares,
including the applicability and effect of the tax hws of any state, local or non-U.S. jurisdiction nicluding estate, gift and inheritance tax
laws.

F. DIVIDENDS AND PAYING AGENTS
Not applicable.

G. STATEMENT BY EXPERTS
Not applicable.

H. DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY

We are required to file annual and special repamts other information with the SEC. You may read eopy any documents filed by the
Company at the SEC'’s public reference room at 18@r€et, N.E., Room 1580,
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Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC atQtS#0C-0330 for further information on the publiéerence room. The SEC also maintains
a website at http://www.sec.gov which contains reppand other information regarding registrants fite electronically with the SEC.

I. SUBSIDIARY INFORMATION
Not applicable.

ENFORCEABILITY OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

We are a public limited liability company incorpted under the laws of Luxembourg, and as a resuiay be difficult for investors to
effect service of process within the United Staiigsn us or to enforce both in the United Statesautside the United States judgments again:
us obtained in U.S. courts in any action, includittjons predicated upon the civil liability prowiss of the federal securities laws of the
United States. In addition, a majority of our dimgs are residents of jurisdictions other thaninéed States, and all or a substantial portion o
the assets of those persons are or may be locatsid® the United States. As a result, it may figcdlt for investors to effect service of
process within the United States on certain ofdigctors or to enforce against them judgmentsiodthin U.S. courts, including judgments
predicated upon the civil liability provisions difet federal securities laws of the United States.

There is uncertainty as to whether the courts odelmbourg would (i) enforce judgments of U.S. coolitained against us predicated
upon the civil liability provisions of the federsécurities laws of the United States or (ii) eri@roriginal actions brought in Luxembourg
courts against us predicated upon the federal iesuaws of the United States.

We have been advised by our Luxembourg counsethbdtnited States and Luxembourg are not currdigiynd by a treaty providing
for reciprocal recognition and enforcement of juémts, other than arbitral awards rendered in aiwidl commercial matters. According to suct
counsel, an enforceable judgment for the paymeniafies rendered by any U.S. federal or state dias#d on civil liability, whether or not
predicated solely upon the U.S. securities lawsjldvaot directly be enforceable in Luxembourg. Heer a party who received such favor:
judgment in a U.S. court may initiate enforcemeanicpedings in Luxembourg ( exequatur ) by requgstinforcement of the U.S. judgment
the District Court (Tribunal d’Arrondissement) puasit to Section 678 of the New Luxembourg Codeiofl  rocedure. The District Court
will authorize the enforcement in Luxembourg of thé. judgment if it is satisfied that all of th@lbwing conditions are met:

e the U.S. judgment is enforceable in the Unitedest;

« the U.S. court awarding the judgment has jurisdicto adjudicate the respective matter under agipliicU.S. federal or state
jurisdictions rules, and that jurisdiction is reaagpd by Luxembourg private international and Idaal;

» the U.S. court has applied to the dispute the anktise law which would have been applied by Luxeargacourts;
» the principles of natural justice have been conaphigth;

* the U.S. judgment does not contravene internatipuablic policy or order as understood under theslafil.uxembourg or has been
given in proceedings of a criminal natu

» the U.S. court has acted in accordance with its precedural laws; an

* the U.S. judgment was granted following proceedingere the counterparty had the opportunity to append if it appeared, to
present a defens

In practice, Luxembourg courts now tend not toeawvthe merits of a foreign judgment, although ttigneo clear statutory prohibition of
such review.
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ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to certain market risks arising filoeenuse of financial instruments in the ordinasyrse of business. These risks arise
primarily as a result of potential changes in thie fharket value of financial instruments that wbrdsult from adverse fluctuations in interest
rates and foreign currency exchange rates as disduzlow. We have entered, and in the future megr.gnto derivative financial instrument
transactions to manage or reduce market risk, keuiovnot enter into derivative financial instrumeansactions for speculative or trading
purposes.

Interest Rate Risk We are exposed to changes in interest ratesghrour variable rate long-term debt. We use intasds swaps to
manage our exposure to interest rate risks. Irttess swaps are used to convert floating rate deligations to a fixed rate in order to achieve
an overall desired position of fixed and floatiger debt. As of December 31, 2012, our net expdsuiteating interest rate fluctuations on our
outstanding debt was $70.8 million, based on otad ttet interest bearing debt of $1,456 milliorslése $1,385 million notional principal of
our floating to fixed interest rate swaps. A 1%r@ase or decrease to the overall variable intea¢stcharged to us would thus increase or
decrease our interest expense by approximatelyr§llidn on an annual basis as of December 31, 28%2f December 31, 2011, our net
exposure to floating interest rate fluctuationsoan outstanding debt was $94.4 million, based artatal net interest bearing debt of
$1,675.0 million less the $1,580.6 million notiopaincipal of our floating to fixed interest rateaps. A 1% increase or decrease to the overa
variable interest rate charged to us would thussese or decrease our interest expense by apprekyn$d..0 million on an annual basis as of
December 31, 2011. Please read Item 5, “Liquidity @apital Resources—Derivative Instruments andgihedActivities.”

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate RiskWe use the U.S. Dollar as our functional currelpegause the substantial majority of our
revenues and expenses are denominated in U.Sr&dNecordingly, our reporting currency is also U®llars. However, there is a risk that
currency fluctuations could have an adverse effaais as we do earn revenue and incur expensdisanaurrencies. We utilize the payment
structure of customer contracts to selectively cedour exposure to exchange rate fluctuations mmection with monetary assets, liabilities
and cash flows denominated in certain foreign cwirs. Due to various factors, including custonteeptance, local banking laws, other
statutory requirements, local currency convertipiind the impact of inflation on local costs, attiocal currency needs may vary from those
anticipated in the customer contracts, resultingartial exposure to foreign exchange risk. Fluiue in foreign currencies have not had a
material impact on our overall operating resultfimaincial condition.

ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITIES
A. DEBT SECURITIES
Not applicable.

B. WARRANTS AND RIGHTS
Not applicable.

C. OTHER SECURITIES
Not applicable.

D. AMERICAN DEPOSITORY SHARES
Not applicable.
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PART Il
ITEM 13. DEFAULTS,DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES
None.

ITEM 14. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF PROCEEDS

None.

ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures

In accordance with Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 and1B; our management, with the participation of @hief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveme$ our disclosure controls and procedures aeoéhd of the period covered by this report.
Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive @ffeend Chief Financial Officer concluded that oiscthsure controls and procedures as
end of the period covered by this report have lissigned and are effective at the reasonable assulavel so that the information requirec
be disclosed by us in our periodic SEC filingsaésarded, processed, summarized and reported withitime periods specified in the SEC’s
rules, regulations and forms and have been acctedutand communicated to our management, includiegugive and financial officers, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regardinguieed disclosures.

(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Controtsver Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finahaaorting for the Company as
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) undeBgwurities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’sivakecontrol system was designed to
provide reasonable assurance to the Company’s raareag and Board of Directors regarding the religbdf financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with U.S. generally accepteduamting principles.

Internal control over financial reporting includég controls themselves, monitoring (including intd auditing practices), and actions
taken to correct deficiencies as identified.

There are inherent limitations to the effectivengsisternal control over financial reporting, hovee well designed, including the
possibility of human error and the possible circemtion or overriding of controls. The design ofiaternal control system is also based in |
upon assumptions and judgments made by manageauitthe likelihood of future events, and there bamo assurance that an internal
control will be effective under all potential fueuconditions. As a result, even an effective systémternal controls can provide no more than
reasonable assurance with respect to the fair piasen of financial statements and the procesedsmuwhich they were prepared.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Cgisgaternal control over financial reporting as afd@mber 31, 2012. In making t
assessment, management used the criteria for &teontrol over financial reporting described itelmal Controlntegrated Framework issu
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission (“COSQ”). Management’s assessincluded an evaluation of
the design of the Company’s internal control oweatficial reporting and testing of the operatingetifzeness of its internal control over
financial reporting.

Management reviewed the results of its assessmignttve Audit Committee of the Company’s Board dfdators. Based on this
assessment, management has concluded that, aseihber 31, 2012, the Company’s internal control éwancial reporting was effective.
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The Company'’s independent auditors, KPMG LLP, a@steged public accounting firm, are appointed by Audit Committee of the
Company'’s Board of Directors. KPMG LLP has audiéd reported on the consolidated financial statésnainPacific Drilling S.A. and
Subsidiaries, and the Company’s internal contr@rdinancial reporting. The reports of the indepamduditors are contained in this annual
report.

(c) Attestation Report of the Registered Public Aaating Firm
The Report of KPMG LLP included in Item 18, “FinaaicStatements” of this annual report is incorpedaterein by reference.

(d) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repiing

There were no changes in these internal contraisglthe period covered by this annual report tieate materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our interoantrols over financial reporting.

ITEM 16. RESERVED
ITEM 16A. AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

Our Board of Directors has determined that Mr. @kgr Chairman of the Audit Committee, is an indejsen Director and is the Audit
Committee Financial Expert. See Item 6, “Directansl Senior Management” for a description of Mr. leg’s listing of relevant experience.

ITEM 16B. CODEOF ETHICS

The Company has adopted a Code of Business CoadddEthics applicable to our employees, directndsafficers that meets the
standards of the NYSE. In addition, our Board afeldiors has adopted a Financial Code of EthicedoiChief Executive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer, Controller and other senior ficéal officers. Any changes to, or waiver from, fiaancial Code of Ethics will be made only
by the Board of Directors, or a committee thereof] appropriate disclosure will be made promptlgénordance with the rules and regulat
of the SEC and the NYSE.

We have posted a copy of our Financial Code ofdstbn our website at www.pacificdrilling.com.

ITEM 16C. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The following table sets forth the aggregate feesdiegories specified below in connection withtaierprofessional services renderec
KPMG LLP, an independent registered accounting &imd our principal external auditors, for the pdsiindicated.

Years ended December 3.

2012 2011
(In thousands

Audit fees@ $ 1,40C $ 1,37

Audit-related fee:® — —_

Tax fee<© — —

All other fees® — —

Total $ 1,40( $ 1,37¢

(a) Audit fees represent professional servicesemutifor the audit of our annual consolidated faialnstatements and services provided by
the principal accountant in connection with staty@nd regulatory filings or engagemer
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(b) Audit-related fees consist of assurance arated|services rendered by the principal accoumgdaited to the performance of the audit or
review of our consolidated financial statementsiciwihave not been reported under audit fees al

(c) Tax fees represent fees for professional serveedared by the principal accountant for tax conmgka tax advice and tax plannit

(d) All other fees include services other than audisfeaud-related fees and tax fees set forth ab

Audit Committee’s Pre-Approval Policies and Proceds

The Audit Committee’s primary responsibilities émeassist the Board of Directors’ oversight of: aacounting practices; the integrity of
our financial statements; our compliance with leayad regulatory requirements; the qualificatiom$estion, independence and performance o
our independent auditor; and the internal auditfiom. The Audit Committee has adopted in its advaatpolicy of pre-approval of audit and
permissible non-audit services provided by its petelent auditors.

Under the policy, the Audit Committee pre-approaktsudit services to be provided to the Comparhetiver provided by the principal
auditor or other firms, and all other services igey attest and non-audit) to be provided to then@any by the independent auditor; provided,
however, that de minimis non-audit services matess be approved in accordance with applicables rahel regulations. All services provided
by the principal external auditor for the yearsesh®ecember 31, 2012 and 2011 were approved biut Committee pursuant to the pre-
approval policy.

ITEM 16D. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES
Not applicable.

ITEM 16E. PURCHASESOF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED P URCHASERS
Not applicable.

ITEM 16F. CHANGEIN REGISTRANT 'S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT
Not applicable.

ITEM 16G. CORPORATEGOVERNANCE

We are a “foreign private issuer” under the semgitaws of the United States and the rules oNKW&E. Under the NYSE rules, a
“foreign private issuer” is subject to less stringjeorporate governance requirements than a damisstier. Subject to certain exceptions, the
rules of the NYSE permit a “foreign private issutr’follow its home country practice in lieu of th&ting requirements of the NYSE. The
significant differences between our corporate goance practices and the NYSE standards applicallisted U.S. companies are set forth
below.

Executive SessionsThe NYSE requires that non-management directesst megularly in executive sessions without managenThe
NYSE also requires that all independent directogginin an executive session at least once a yeam@-management directors have
regularly held executive sessions without managémen

Nominating/Corporate Governance Committed@he NYSE requires that a listed U.S. company leameminating/corporate governance
committee of independent directors and a commdteeter specifying the purpose, duties and evanatiocedures of the committee. As
permitted under Luxembourg law and our Articles,d@enot currently have a nominating or corporateegeance committee.

100



Table of Contents

In addition, we have a shareholder that contratsagority of our outstanding common shares. As altewe are a “controlled company”
within the meaning of the NYSE corporate governastaadards. Under the NYSE rules, a company oflwimiore than 50% of the voting
power is held by another company or group is atialed company” and may elect not to comply widrtain NYSE corporate governance
requirements, including (1) the requirement thategority of the board of directors consist of indadent directors, (2) the requirement that th
compensation committee be composed entirely ofgeddent directors and have a written charter adoiigshe committee’s purpose and
responsibilities and (3) the requirement of an ahperformance evaluation of the nominating angbaate governance and compensation
committees.

ITEM 16H. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE
Not Applicable.

PART IlI
ITEM 17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
See Item 18.

ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Historical Consolidated Financial Statemel

Pacific Drilling S.A. was formed as a Luxembourgpmration under the form ofsociété anonym® act as an indirect holding company
for our Predecessor. In connection with the Restring, our Predecessor was contributed to a wkmNmed subsidiary of the Company by
Quantum Pacific Group. The Company did not engagay business or other activities prior to thetRiesuring except in connection with its
formation and the Restructuring. The Restructuvirag limited to entities that were all under thetoolof the Quantum Pacific Group and its
affiliates, and, as such, the Restructuring was@aied for as a transaction between entities ucmi®mon control. As a result, the consolid:
financial statements of Pacific Drilling S.A. anepented using the historical values of the Prexteeks financial statements on a combined
basis prior to the Restructuring. However, theassshare capital of Pacific Drilling S.A. is retpestively reflected for all periods to reflect the
150,000,000 common shares held by the Quantumi®&uibup at the completion of the Restructuringe Tinancial information relating to t
Company and its subsidiaries have been preparacciordance with GAAP and are in U.S. dollars.

Historical Paren-Only Financial Statements

Pacific Drilling S.A. is the parent-company of sigiaries owning thé®acific Bora, thePacific Sciroccq thePacific Mistraland the
Pacific Santa Ani, which act as Borrowers under the Project Fagdithgreement. Surplus cash held by these subsigiarirestricted by the
Project Facilities Agreement from transfer by iotenpany loans and/or dividend payments to us. B¢ of Regulation St requires separa
parent-only financial statements to be present&thredule I, “Condensed financial information afisérant,” when the restricted net assets of
consolidated subsidiaries exceed 25 percent ofolidiased net assets as of the end of the most tigampleted fiscal year. Since the
restricted net assets of the Borrowers exceede&®pt of Pacific Drilling S.A.’s consolidated reessets, this annual report also includes
parent-only financial statements for Pacific Dnigji S.A. pursuant to the requirements of Rule 5f0&egulation S-X. The financial statements
of Pacific Drilling S.A. as of December 31, 201218011 and for the year ended December 31, 2012ocanke period from March 11, 2011
(inception) to December 31, 2011, including theli@pple notes thereto, have been prepared in aanoedwith U.S. GAAP and are presented
in U.S. dollars.
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The following financial statements listed below fiked as part of this annual report on Form 20-F:

Pacific Drilling S.A.

Consolidated Financial Statemet

Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEing F-1

Consolidated Statements of Operati F-3

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomss{ F-4

Consolidated Balance She F-5

Consolidated Statements of Sharehol Equity F-6

Consolidated Statements of Cash Fl¢ F-7

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statems F-8

Schedule—Condensed Financial Information of Pacific DrillirgA. (Parent Only)

Statement of Operatiol F-34

Statement of Comprehensive Income (L¢ F-35

Balance Shee F-36

Statement of Cash Flov F-37

ITEM 19. EXHIBITS

Exhibit

Number Description

1.1 Articles of Association of Pacific Drilling S.A.r{torporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Regtion Statement on
Form F-1, File No. 33-177774).

1.2 Form of Amended and Restated Articles of AssoamtibPacific Drilling S.A. (incorporated by refer@nto Exhibit 3.2 to
our Registration Statement on Fori-1, File No. 33-177774).

2@)(1 Registration Rights Agreement between Pacific DiglIS.A. and Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limite@teld November 16,
2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2(aj¢ldpur Annual Report on Form 20-F filed March 2@12, File No. 001-
35345).

2(b)(1 Bond Agreement, dated February 23, 2012, betweetficBrilling S.A. and Norsk Tillitsmann ASA (ingporated by
reference to Exhibit 2(b)(1) to our Annual Repantkorm 2¢-F filed March 27, 2012, File No. 0-35345).

2(b)(2 Indenture, dated as of November 28, 2012, amonii®Beilling V Limited, Pacific Drilling S.A. andeach subsidiary

guarantor from time to time party thereto, as gotanas, and Deutsche Bank Trust Company America$rastee and
Collateral Agent (incorporated by reference to Bi9.1 to our Report on Form 6-K, filed Decembef012, File No.

001-35345).

2(b)(3; Form of Note (incorporated by reference to Exhéi8it2 to our Report on Form 6-K, filed December®l 2, File No. 001-
35345).

4.1 Amendment and Restatement Agreement in Respeled?rivject Facilities Agreement and the Intercoedigreement,

dated March 30, 2011, among Pacific Bora Ltd., fRaMistral Ltd., Pacific Scirocco Ltd. and Pacif§anta Ana Ltd., as
Borrowers, Pacific Drilling Limited, as Guarantand the arrangers, lenders and agents named tlgrenporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Registration Staat on Form -1, File No. 33-177774).

4.2 Second Amendment and Restatement Agreement in Btesfthe Project Facilities Agreement and therereditor
Agreement, dated March 30, 2012, among Pacific Btida Pacific Mistral Ltd., Pacific Scirocco Ltdas the Borrowers,
Pacific Santa Ana Ltd., as the Resigning Borroweagific Drilling Limited, as Guarantor, Pacific SarAna S.a.r.l., as the
Acceding Borrower and the arrangers, lenders ardtagnamed therein (incorporated by referenceetdétport on Form 6-
K, filed May 31, 2012, File No. 0(-35345).
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Exhibit
Number

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

411

412

4.13

4.14

4.15

Description
Third Amendment and Restatement Agreement in Résp¢lae Project Facilities Agreement and the loteditor
Agreement, dated April 19, 2012, among Pacific Bdrh, Pacific Mistral Ltd., Pacific Scirocco Ltcand Pacific Santa
Ana S.a.r.l., as the Borrowers, Pacific Drillingrited, as Guarantor, Pacific Bora Ltd., Pacificr8oto Ltd., Pacific
Drilling Limited, Pacific International Drilling W&t Africa Limited, Pacific Drilling (Gibraltar) Lirited, and Pacific
Drilling S.A., as the Tl Bond Facility Obligors atide arrangers, lenders and agents named themeirorated by
reference to the Report on Fori-K, filed May 31, 2012, File No. 0(-35345).

Letter of Credit Facility and Guaranty Agreement&andby Letter of Credit, dated as of April 1012, among Pacific
Scirocco Ltd., Pacific Drilling (Gibraltar) LimitedPacific Drilling Limited and Pacific Drilling S.Aand the arrangers,
lenders and agents named therein (incorporatedfbyence to the Report on Form 6-K, filed May 3112, File No. 001-
35345).

Letter of Credit Facility and Guaranty Agreement$tandby Letter of Credit, dated as of April 1012, among Pacific
Bora Ltd., Pacific Drilling (Gibraltar) Limited, R#ic Drilling Limited and Pacific Drilling S.A. ad the arrangers, lenders
and agents named therein (incorporated by referenitee Report on Formr-K, filed May 31, 2012, File No. 0(-35345).

Termination Agreement, dated as of April 19, 20®png Pacific Drilling (Gibraltar) Limited, Pacifi@rilling S.A and
Citibank N.A. (incorporated by reference to the &¢pn Form -K, filed May 31, 2012, File No. 0(-35345).

Termination Agreement, dated as of April 19, 2GRpng Pacific Drilling (Gibraltar) Limited, QuantuRacific
International Limited and Citibank N.A (incorpordtby reference to the Report on Form 6-K, filed Mdy 2012, File No.
001-35345).

Termination Agreement, dated as of April 24, 2Rpng Pacific Drilling (Gibraltar) Limited and Stéard Chartered
Bank (incorporated by reference to the Report amF¢-K, filed May 31, 2012, File No. 0(-35345).

Agreement for Standby Letter of Credit, dated adub§ 7, 2011, between Pacific Drilling (Gibraltaninited and Citibank,
N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.Dtor Registration Statement on Fori-1, File No. 33-177774).

Guaranty, dated as of July 7, 2011, by Quantunfiedoternational Limited, as guarantor, in favdrQitigroup Inc. and
each subsidiary or affiliate thereof (incorporalgdreference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Registratioat&mnent on Form F-1,
File No. 33:-177774).

Pledge Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2011, betReasific Drilling (Gibraltar) Limited, as pledgaand Citibank, N.A.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to oegRtration Statement on Forr-1, File No. 33-177774).

Pacific Drilling S.A. 2011 Omnibus Stock IncentiRé&an (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5uo Registration
Statement on Form-1, File No. 33-177774).

Agreement for Standby Letter of Credit, dated aNl@fember 29, 2011, between Pacific Drilling (Gitag Limited and
Citibank, N.A (incorporated by reference to Exhii to our Annual Report on Form 20-F filed Mag&h 2012, File No.
001-35345).

Guaranty, dated as of November 29, 2011, by Paoifiting S.A., as guarantor, in favor of Citigrodpc. and each
subsidiary or affiliate thereof (incorporated bference to Exhibit 4.7 to our Annual Report on F@®AF filed March 27,
2012, File No. 00-35345).

Pledge Agreement, dated as of November 29, 201&/eglea Pacific Drilling (Gibraltar) Limited, as plgdr, and Citibank,
N.A., as amended by that letter agreement dated Recember 9, 2011 (incorporated by referencextulit 4.8 to out
Annual Report on Form :-F filed March 27, 2012, File No. 0-35345).
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Exhibit
Number Description
4.16 Letter of Credit Reimbursement Agreement, datedf &@ecember 6, 2011, between Pacific Internatiakt Africa

Limited and Standard Chartered Bank (incorporateteberence to Exhibit 4.9 to our Annual ReportFamrm 20-F filed
March 27, 2012, File No. 0-35345).

4.17 Assignment of Cash Collateral Account, dated a3exfember 6, 2011, between Pacific Drilling (Gitaglt_imited and
Standard Chartered Bank (incorporated by referemé&hibit 4.10 to our Annual Report on Form 20HEd March 27,
2012, File No. 00-35345).

4.18* Second Amendment Agreement in Respect of the Rrbgailities Agreement, dated December 28, 201 2renPacific
Bora Ltd., Pacific Mistral Ltd., Pacific Sciroccdd., and Pacific Santa Ana S.a.r.l., as the Borrewacific Drilling
Limited, as Guarantor, Pacific International Dritli West Africa Limited, Pacific Drilling (Gibraltatimited and the
arrangers, lenders and agents named the

4.19 Senior Secured Credit Facility Agreement, datedfdsbruary 19, 2013, among Pacific Sharav S.amd. Pacific Drilling
VII Limited, as Borrowers, Pacific Drilling S.A.saGuarantor, and the arrangers, lenders and agamisd therein
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to tlep&t on Form -K, filed February 25, 2013, File No. (-35345).

8.1* Subsidiaries of Pacific Drilling S./

12.1* Rule 1314(a)/15¢14(a) Certification of Principal Executive Office

12.2* Rule 13+14(a)/15¢14(a) Certification of Principal Financial Office

13.1* Certificate of Chief Executive Officer pursuant3ection 906 of Sarbar-Oxley Act of 2002
13.2* Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuant3ection 906 of Sarbar-Oxley Act of 2002
15.1* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourfing.

101.INS** XBRL Instance Documen

101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Documg

101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuatn

101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhe

101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docume

101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doentr

* Filed herewith
**  XBRL Furnished herewitt
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SIGNATURES

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets fithe requirements for filing on Form 20-F and thdttas duly caused and authorized the
undersigned to sign this annual report on its Behal

PACIFIC DRILLING S.A.

By: /s/ CHRISTIAN J. BECKETT
Name: Christian J. Beckett
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 28, 201
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Pacific Drilling S.A.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Pacific Drilling S.A. and subsidialtbe Company) as of December 31,
2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated statsmé&operations, comprehensive income (lossyesivdders’ equity, and cash flows for
each of the years in the three year period endeember 31, 2012. In connection with our auditshef¢onsolidated financial statements, we
also have audited Schedule | — Condensed Findmétamation of Pacific Drilling S.A. (Parent Onlypchedule I). These consolidated
financial statements and Schedule | are the redgititysof the Company’s management. Our resporisyhis to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements and Schedulsddan our audits. We did not audit the finandiaiesnents of Transocean Pacific Drilling
Inc. (TPDI — a 50% owned unconsolidated investeepany). The Compang’investment in TPDI at December 31, 2011 was 88 ,its equity
in earnings of TPDI was $18,955,000 and $56,307f00the years ended December 31, 2011 and 204ecévely. The financial statements
of TPDI were audited by other auditors whose repag been furnished to us, and our opinion, insadat relates to the amounts included for
TPDI, is based solely on the report of other audito

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:s
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finastaieiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegrferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of Pacific
Drilling S.A. and subsidiaries as of December 3I,2and 2011, and the results of their operatiodistlaeir cash flows for each of the years in
the three year period ended December 31, 2012 nfommity with U.S. generally accepted accountinggples. Also in our opinion, the
related Schedule I, when considered in relatioihédbasic consolidated financial statements takemwahole, present fairly, in all material
respects, the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31, 2012, based on criteria establishédt@mnal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission (COSO), and our regated February 28, 2013 expressec
an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of@mnpany’s internal control over financial reporting

/s KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 28, 2013
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Pacific Drilling S.A.:

We have audited Pacific Drilling S.A. and subsidiar (the Company) internal control over finanaigporting as of December 31, 2012, basec
on criteria established imternal Control — Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidriee Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Company’s management ionsdple for maintaining effective internal contoser financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting, included in the accomyag Management’s Annual Report on
Internal Controls over Financial Reporting in It&&b of Form 20-F. Our responsibility is to expraasopinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtagasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal coraxer financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing aald&ing the design and operating effectivenesstefnal control based on the assessed risk.
Our audit also included performing such other pdoces as we considered necessary in the circunestave believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonablesmesuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (&ajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabsurance regarding prevention or timely detecfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all maleespects, effective internal control over figal reporting as of December 31, 2012,
based on criteria establishedimernal Control — Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadwa
Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of Pacific Drilling S.A. and sulzsids as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and thgdetonsolidated statements of operat
comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’ eqaitg,cash flows for each of the years in the thesa-period ended December 31, 2012, anc
our report dated February 28, 2013 expressed amalifigd opinion on those consolidated financialtsments.

/s KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 28, 2013

F-2
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PACIFIC DRILLING S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except share and per share infaynati

Years Ended December 31

2012

Revenues

Contract drilling $ 638,05
Costs and expenses

Contract drilling (331,49)

General and administrative expen (45,38¢)

Depreciation expens (127,699

(504,579

Loss of hire insurance recove 23,67
Operating income (loss) 157,14.
Other income (expense

Equity in earnings of Joint Ventu —

Interest income from Joint Ventu —

Interest expens (104,68

Other income 3,24¢
Income before income taxe 55,70:

Income tax (expense) bene (21,719
Net income (loss $ 33,98¢
Earnings (loss) per common share, basic (Note 1 $ 0.1€
Weighted average number of common shares, basic (t¢0l8) 216,901,00
Earnings (loss) per common share, diluted (Note 1! $ 0.1€
Weighted average number of common shares, dilutedpte 18) 216,903,15

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.
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2011
$ 65,43

(32,14
(52,619
(11,619
(96,379

18,50(
(12,442)

18,95¢

49E

(10,389
3,67¢

297

(3,200

$ (2,909
$ (0.09)

195,447,94

$ (0.01)
195,447,94

2010

(19,719
(395)
(20,110

(20,11()

56,30’
1,97:
(85€)

(62)

37,25(

49

$ 37,29¢
$ 0.2%
150,000,00
$ 0.2t

150,000,00
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PACIFIC DRILLING S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomss{Lo
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Net income (loss $ 33,98¢ $ (2,907 $ 37,29¢
Other comprehensive income (los
Unrecognized gain (loss) on Joint Venture derivathstrument: — 72C (28,990
Reclassification adjustment for loss on Joint Vemtlerivative instruments realized in net
income — 2,99¢ 11,54(
— 3,71¢ (17,45()
Unrecognized loss on derivative instrume (22,557 (62,08¢) —
Reclassification adjustment for loss on derivatharuments realized in net incor 24,41¢ 1,80z —
1,86¢ (60,289 —
Total other comprehensive income (lo 1,86¢ (56,56¢) (17,450
Total comprehensive income (lo: $ 35,85 $(59,47)) $ 19,84¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgtsients.
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PACIFIC DRILLING S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except par value and share amounts)

December 31 December 31
2012 2011
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 605,92: $ 107,27
Restricted cas 47,444 168,68:
Accounts receivabl 152,29¢ 62,57¢
Materials and supplie 49,62¢ 42,98t
Deferred financing cos 17,707 15,12
Current portion of deferred mobilization co 37,51¢ 54,52
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 13,93( 10,37¢
Total current asse 924,44t 461,54t
Property and equipment, r 3,760,42. 3,436,01i
Restricted cas 124,74( 208,28
Deferred financing cos 32,15% 32,38t
Other asset 52,16/ 46,06(
Total asset $4,893,92 $4,184,28'
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity:
Accounts payabl $ 30,23( $ 26,84
Accrued expense 39,34 39,09:
Current portion of lon-term debt 218,75( 218,75(
Accrued interest payab 29,59 12,09¢
Derivative liabilities, curren 17,99¢ 20,46¢
Current portion of deferred reven 66,14 28,82¢
Total current liabilities 402,05t¢ 346,08«
Long-term debt, net of current maturiti 2,034,95! 1,456,25!
Deferred revenu 97,01« 73,11(
Other lon¢-term liabilities 44 ,65: 34,77
Total lon¢-term liabilities 2,176,62. 1,564,13;
Commitments and contingenci
Shareholder equity:
Common shares, $0.01 par value, 5,000,000,000shathorized, 224,100,000 shares issued and
216,902,000 and 216,900,000 shares outstandinf@acember 31, 2012 and 2011, respecti 2,16¢ 2,16¢
Additional paic-in capital 2,349,54. 2,344,22
Accumulated other comprehensive i (58,41¢) (60,28¢)
Retained earnings (accumulated defi 21,95! (12,039
Total shareholde’ equity 2,315,224 2,274,07.
Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity $4,893,92 $4,184,28'

See accompanying notes to consolidated financstsients.
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PACIFIC DRILLING S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

(in thousands, except share amounts)

Common shares

Accumulated
other

Retained
earnings

Additional comprehensivt (accumulatec
Treasury paid-in Total
Shares Amount Shares capital loss deficit) equity
Balance at December 31, 2009 805,000 $ 1 — $ 150,000 $ 3,99 $ 53,75¢ $ 207,74
Contribution from sharehold: — — — 655,00( — — 655,00(
Issuance of shares upon conversior
relatec-party loan 1,115,76. 1 — 892,60¢ — — 892,60
Other comprehensive lo — — — — (17,450 — (17,450
Net income — — — — — 37,29¢ 37,29¢
Balance at December 31, 20 1,920,76. 2 — 1,697,60 (13,459 91,05¢ 1,775,20
Restructuring share issuance, 148,079,23 1,49¢ — (1,499 — — —
Issuance of common shares, 66,900,00 66¢ — 625,14° — — 625,81¢
Issuance of common shares to trea: — — 7,200,001 — — — —
Contribution from sharehold: — — — 142,75¢ — — 142,75¢
Other comprehensive income from
Joint Venture — — — — 3,71¢ — 3,71¢
Net income prior to Joint Venture
interest assignme! — — — — — 9,13¢ 9,13¢
Joint Venture interests assigned to
shareholde — — — (124,92() 9,74 (200,190 (215,369
Share-based compensation liability
modification — — — 2,29( — — 2,29(
Sharebased compensatic — — — 2,84( — — 2,84(
Other comprehensive lo — — — — (60,284 — (60,289
Net loss subsequent to Joint Ventur
interest assignme! — — — — — (12,039 (12,039
Balance at December 31, 20 216,900,00 2,16¢ 7,200,00! 2,344,222 (60,284) (12,039 2,274,07.
Shares issued under share-based
compensation plar 2,00( — (2,000 — — — —
Shar+-based compensatic — — — 5,31¢ — — 5,31¢
Other comprehensive lo — — — — 1,86¢ — 1,86¢
Net income — — — — — 33,98¢ 33,98¢
Balance at December 31, 20 216,902,00 $2,16¢ 7,198,000 $2,349,54. $ (58,416 $ 21,95. $2,315,24

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsients.
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PACIFIC DRILLING S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Cash flow from operating activities:
Net income (loss $ 33,98¢ $ (2,909 $ 37,29¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeml by (used in) operating
activities:
Interest income from Joint Ventu — (495) (1,979
Depreciation expens 127,69¢ 11,61¢ 39t
Equity in earnings of Joint Ventu — (18,959 (56,307
Amortization of deferred revent (95,750) (8,56¢€) —
Amortization of deferred mobilization cos 70,66( 4,28¢ —
Amortization of deferred financing cos 13,92¢ 1,067 —
Deferred income taxe (3,766 (3,169 (377
Sharebased compensation expel 5,31¢ 4,471 65
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl (89,72) (45,05) (17,527
Materials and supplie (6,640 (35,03) (7,955
Prepaid expenses and other as (61,549 (108,59) (2,972)
Accounts payable and accrued expet 33,86¢ 39,43: 6,252
Deferred revenu 156,96° 97,55( 12,95¢
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi 184,99¢ (64,33) (30,139
Cash flow from investing activities:
Capital expenditure (449,95) (1,539,63) (883,85
Decrease (increase) in restricted ¢ 204,78 (315,28¢) (60,967
Net cash used in investing activiti (245,16) (1,854,91) (944,82()
Cash flow from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common shares — 625,81t —
Proceeds from lor-term debt 797,41! 1,275,00! 450,00(
Payments on lor-term debt (218,75() (50,000 —
Deferred financing cos (19,859 (6,807%) (57,999
Proceeds from relat-party loan — 142,20! 685,28(
Payments on relat-party loan — — (69,44/)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 558,81 1,986,21! 1,007,84
Increase in cash and cash equival 498,64: 66,97 32,88:
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe 107,27¢ 40,30% 7,42¢
Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe $ 605,92! $ 107,27¢ $ 40,30

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsients.
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PACIFIC DRILLING S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 1—Nature of Business

Pacific Drilling S.A. and its subsidiaries (“Pacifdrilling,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our”) isan international offshore drilling
company committed to becoming the preferred pravidelltra-deepwater drilling services to the agidanatural gas industry through the use o
high-specification rigs. Our primary business istmtract our ultra-deepwater rigs, related equiptraed work crews, primarily on a dayrate
basis, to drill wells for our customers. As of Detdxer 31, 2012, the Company operates four drillshipder customer contract and has three
drillships under construction at Samsung Heavy $triles (“SHI”), two of which are under customer trawt.

Pacific Drilling S.A. was formed on March 11, 205k, a Luxembourg corporation under the form séeété anonymi® act as an
indirect holding company for its predecessor, Raglfilling Limited (our “Predecessor”), a compaasganized under the laws of Liberia, and
its subsidiaries in connection with a corporategaaization completed on March 30, 2011, refercedstthe “Restructuring.” In connection
with the Restructuring, our Predecessor was cartgibto a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Companyatsubsidiary of Quantum Pacific
International Limited, a British Virgin Islands c@any and parent company of an investment holdingsg(the “Quantum Pacific Group”).
The Company did not engage in any business or atttasities prior to the Restructuring except imnection with its formation and the
Restructuring.

In 2007, our Predecessor entered into various agrets with Transocean Ltd. (“Transocean”) andutss@iaries, which culminated in
the formation of a joint venture company, TransacRacific Drilling Inc. (“TPDI” or the “Joint Vente”), which was owned 50% by our
Predecessor and 50% by a subsidiary of Transo@aMarch 30, 2011, in connection with the Restriioty our Predecessor assigned its
equity interest in TPDI to another subsidiary af fpuantum Pacific Group, which is referred to &“¥FPDI Transfer,” to enable the Company
to focus on the operation and marketing of the Caamyfs wholly-owned fleet. As a result, neither empany nor any of its subsidiaries
owned any interest in TPDI following March 30, 2011

Note 2—Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation—The consolidated financial statements includeattmounts of Pacific Drilling S.A. and consolidated
subsidiaries that we control by ownership of a mjwoting interest. We apply the equity methodactounting for investments in entities
when we have the ability to exercise significarfiLience over an entity that does not meet the kibaiantity criteria or meets the variable
interest entity criteria, but for which we are deemed to be the primary beneficiary. We elimimditentercompany transactions and balances
in consolidation.

The Restructuring was a business combination lartibeentities that were all under the control & @uantum Pacific Group and its
affiliates, and, as such, the Restructuring wasaaied for as a transaction between entities ucmi®mon control. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements of Pacific DrliS.A. as of and for the years ended Decembe2@ll], and 2010 are presented using the
historical values of the Predecessor’s financeteshents on a combined basis prior to the Restingturhe financial statements for the years
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 present these$iite Company and its subsidiaries as if Pabifiting S.A. was formed and the
Restructuring was completed on January 1, 2010.

We currently are party to a Nigerian joint ventuPagific International Drilling West Africa Limite@@PIDWAL?”), which is fully
controlled and 90% owned by us with 10% owned byoeh Offshore Services Limited (“Derotech”), aptely-held Nigerian registered
limited liability company. Derotech will not accrtiee economic benefits of its interest in PIDWALass and until it satisfies certain
outstanding obligations to us
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and a certain pledge is cancelled by us. Accorglingé consolidate all PIDWAL interests and no pmitof PIDWAL'’s operating results is
allocated to the noncontrolling interests. In aiddito the joint venture agreement, we currentlyehaarketing and logistic services agreem
with Derotech and an affiliated company of Derotdatrring the years ended December 31, 2012, 20d @m0, we incurred fees of

$7.0 million, $3.1 million and $0.2 million unddre marketing and logistic services agreementsectisgly.

Accounting Estimates—The preparation of consolidated financial stateséntonformity with generally accepted accountnigiciples
in the United States (“GAAP”) requires managememnnbke certain estimates and assumptions. Thaseagst and assumptions affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, thelaksires of contingent assets and liabilities atithlance sheet date and the amounts of rev
and expenses recognized during the reporting pe@adan ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimatgassumptions, including those relate
allowance for doubtful accounts, financial instruntse depreciation of property and equipment, impaint of long-lived assets, income taxes,
share-based compensation and contingencies. Wehasstimates and assumptions on historical espeei and on various other factors we
believe are reasonable under the circumstancesgshéis of which form the basis for making judgmsestbout the carrying values of assets an
liabilities that are not readily apparent from atheurces. Actual results could differ from suctineates.

Revenues and Operating Expenses-Contract drilling revenues are recognized as ehripased on contractual dayrates. In connection
with drilling contracts, we may receive revenueasgeparation and mobilization of equipment andspenel or for capital improvements to
rigs. Revenues earned and incremental costs irttdirectly related to contract preparation and rimdtion along with reimbursements
received for capital expenditures are deferredrandgnized over the primary term of the drillingitract. The actual cost incurred for
reimbursed capital expenditures are depreciatedtheeestimated useful life of the asset. Amoritorabdf deferred revenue and deferred
mobilization costs are recorded on a straight-tiasis over the primary drilling contract term, whis consistent with the general pace of
activity, level of services being provided and ddgs being earned over the life of the contracbrigmpletion of drilling contracts, any
demobilization fees received and related expensesegorted in income.

Cash and Cash Equivalents—Cash equivalents are highly liquid investmentwitiginal maturities of three months or less trat
readily convertible to known amounts of cash.

Accounts Receivable—We record trade accounts receivable at the ammerihvoice our customers.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts—We provide an allowance for doubtful accountsp@sessary, based on a review of outstanding
receivables, historical collection information amdsting economic conditions. We do not generadlyuire collateral or other security for
receivables. We have no allowance for doubtful ant®as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Promissory Notes to Joint Venture—Contributions in the form of promissory noteshe tloint Venture were recorded at cost. The
accrued interest on promissory notes from our Jamtture was recorded at the amount due. Intemestie from the Joint Venture was earnec
on the promissory notes based on the stated ltes @aa discussed in Note 4.

Materials and Supplies—Materials and supplies held for consumption arei@@iat the lower of average cost or market. Wengad nc
allowance for obsolescence on materials and sigpptef December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Property and Equipment—Deepwater drillships are recorded at cost of goesibn, including any major capital improvemenéss
accumulated depreciation and impairment. Othergntymand equipment is recorded at cost and corsfigiarchased software systems,
furniture, fixtures and other equipment. Plannedomaaintenance, ongoing maintenance, routine re@aid minor replacements are expense
as incurred.
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Interest is capitalized based on the costs of mawolvings attributable to qualifying new constroctior at the weighted average cost of
debt outstanding during the period of constructitie. capitalize interest costs for qualifying newstuction from the point borrowing costs
are incurred for the qualifying new constructior @ease when substantially all the activities nemgsto prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use are complete.

Property and equipment are depreciated to its galvalue on a straight-line basis over the esticdhaseful lives of each class of assets.
Our estimated useful lives of property and equipinaea as follows:

Years
Drillships and related equipment 15-35
Other property and equipme 2-7

Long-Lived Assets—We review our long-lived assets, including propend equipment, for impairment when events or gharnn
circumstances indicate that the carrying amountasiofassets held and used may not be recoveraittential impairment indicators include
rapid declines in commodity prices and related mbcknditions, actual or expected declines in filigation, increases in idle time,
cancellations of contracts or credit concerns stamers. We assess impairment using estimatedamutited cash flows for the long-lived
assets being evaluated by applying assumptionsdiegafuture operations, market conditions, daysateilization and idle time. An
impairment loss is recorded in the period if theydag amount of the asset is not recoverable. mufi012, 2011 and 2010, there were no lonc
lived asset impairments.

Investment Accounted for Using the Equity Method—Our 50% ownership in TPDI was accounted for usirggequity method based
upon the level of ownership and our ability to significant influence over the operating andrfcial policies of the investee. The
investment was adjusted periodically to recognizepvoportionate share of the investerét income or losses after the date of investniédrmd
Company evaluates its investment accounted forruhéeequity method for impairment when there wadance or indicators that a decrease
in value may be other than temporary. On Marct28@,1, our Predecessor assigned its equity interd$?DI to a subsidiary of the Quantum
Pacific Group (Note 9).

Deferred Financing Costs—Deferred financing costs associated with long-tdeht are carried at cost and are amortized torsee
using the effective interest rate method over ¢nmtof the applicable long-term debt.

Foreign Currency Transactions—The consolidated financial statements are statéd$ dollars. We have designated the U.S. do#i
the functional currency for our foreign subsidiarie international locations because we contrati aistomers, purchase equipment and
finance capital using the U.S. dollar. Transactionsther currencies have been translated into tb8ars at the rate of exchange on the
transaction date. Any gain or loss arising fronihange in exchange rates subsequent to the tramsaletie is included as an exchange gain or
loss. Monetary assets and liabilities denominatezlirrencies other than U.S. dollars are reportdkearates of exchange prevailing at the end
of the reporting period. During 2012 and 2011, Itfeeign exchange gains were $2.4 million and $ilion, respectively, and recorded in
other income within our consolidated statementspafrations. During 2010, total foreign exchangagdiosses) were nominal.

Earnings per Share—Basic earnings (loss) per common share (“EPSEpmputed by dividing the net income available toown
stockholders by the weighted average number of comshares outstanding for the period. Basic andedil EPS are retrospectively adjusted
for the effects of stock dividends or stock splfiuted EPS reflects the potential dilution froecarities that could share in the earnings of the
Company. Anti-dilutive securities are excluded frdituted EPS.

Fair Value Measurements—We estimate fair value at the price that woulddxmeived to sell an asset or paid to transferkliliain an
orderly transaction between market participanth@principal market for the asset or liability. Quluation techniques require inputs that are
categorized using a three-level hierarchy as
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follows: (1) unadjusted quoted prices for identigs$ets or liabilities in active markets (“Leve),1(2) direct or indirect observable inputs,
including quoted prices or other market data, failar assets or liabilities in active markets detical assets or liabilities in less active
markets (“Level 2") and (3) unobservable inputg tleguire significant judgment for which thereitié or no market data (“Level 3”). When
multiple input levels are required for a valuatiarg categorize the entire fair value measuremertrding to the lowest level input that is
significant to the measurement even though we naag lalso utilized significant inputs that are m@adily observable.

Share-Based Compensatior—The grant date fair value of share-based awamistgd to employees is recognized as an employee
compensation expense over the requisite serviéedoen a straight-line basis. To the extent theeslxmsed awards were to be settled in cash
upon exercise, the awards were accounted foriabiéty. The liability was remeasured at each mtpg date and at settlement date. Any
changes in the fair value of the liability are rguized as employee compensation expense in thentyreriod. As of December 31, 2012 and
2011, the Company has no awards accounted foalaiities. The amount of compensation expense mazed is adjusted to reflect the num
of awards for which the related vesting conditians expected to be met. As such, the amount of ensgtion expense ultimately recognize
based on the number of awards that do meet thsngexinditions at the vesting date.

Derivatives—We apply cash flow hedge accounting to interest svaps that are designated as hedges of thdwigyiaf future cash
flows. The derivative financial instruments areareted in our consolidated balance sheet at fairevab either assets or liabilities. Changes in
the fair value of derivatives designated as caslv fledges, to the extent the hedge is effectiwerenognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income until the hedged item is neizegl in earnings.

Hedge effectiveness is measured on an ongoing tmasissure the validity of the hedges based omefla¢ive cumulative changes in fair
value between the derivative contract and the hitidlgen over time. Any change in fair value restirom ineffectiveness is recognized
immediately in earnings. Hedge accounting is difoored prospectively if it is determined that trezidative is no longer effective in offsettil
changes in the cash flows of the hedged item.

For interest rate hedges related to interest mofried to construct fixed assets, other comprekieristome is released to earnings as
interest expense is accrued on the underlying @etinterest rate hedges related to interestalg®t in the construction of fixed assets, othe
comprehensive income is released to earnings assted is depreciated over its useful life.

Contingencies—We record liabilities for estimated loss contingies when we believe a loss is probable and theuatraf the probable
loss can be reasonably estimated. Once establigleealdjust the estimated contingency loss accaraltfanges in facts and circumstances tha
alter our previous assumptions with respect tdikatihood or amount of loss.

We recognize loss of hire insurance recovery oraézed or contingencies related to the realizghbdlf the amount earned are resolved.

Income Taxes—Income taxes are provided based upon the taxdamggates in the countries in which our subsidsaaie registered and
where their operations are conducted and income=gpenses are earned and incurred, respectivelye@dgnize deferred tax assets and
liabilities for the anticipated future tax effectstemporary differences between the financialestegnt basis and the tax basis of our assets an
liabilities using the applicable enacted tax ratesffect the year in which the asset is realizethe liability is settled. A valuation allowance
for deferred tax assets is established when itigertikely than not that some portion or all of teferred tax assets will not be realized.

We recognize tax benefits from an uncertain taxtjposonly if it is more likely than not that thevgition will be sustained upon
examination by taxing authorities based on therteth merits of the position. The

F-11



Table of Contents

amount recognized is the largest benefit that Wieveehas greater than a 50% likelihood of beirajized upon settlement. Actual income te
paid may vary from estimates depending upon chaimgesome tax laws, actual results of operatiomd e final audit of tax returns by tax
authorities. We recognize interest and penaltikda® to uncertain tax positions in income tax exgee

Subsequent Events—We have evaluated subsequent events through thdhgafinancial statements were issued. See Note 2

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures—In May 2011, the FASB issued an accounting stadglapdate that changes the wording
used to describe many of the requirements in GAgRrfeasuring fair value and for disclosing inforioatabout fair value measurements.
Some of the amendments included in this updateseaded to clarify the application of existingrfaalue measurement requirements. We
adopted the accounting standards update effedivealy 1, 2012 with no material impact to our ficiahstatements or notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Presentation of Comprehensive Income—In June and December 2011, the FASB issued arnuating standards update on the
presentation of comprehensive income. This guidatfio@nates a previously permitted option to refhter comprehensive income and its
components in the statement of changes in equigyadépted the effective portions of the FASB actiogrstandards update on January 1,
2012 with no material impact on our financial staémts or notes to the consolidated financial statém

In February 2013, the FASB issued an accountingdstals update on the reporting of amounts recladsiiut of accumulated other
comprehensive income. This guidance requires aty éotprovide information about the amounts resifsd out of accumulated other
comprehensive income by component. In additiorergity is required to present, either on the facthe financial statements or in the notes,
significant amounts reclassified out of accumulatttter comprehensive income by the respectiveitémas of net income, but only if the
amount reclassified is required to be reclassifigits entirety in the same reporting period. Foroants that are not required to be reclassified
in their entirety to net income, an entity is regdito cross-reference to other disclosures tiatige additional details about those amounts.
The accounting standards update is effective feriim and annual periods beginning January 1, 20&8are evaluating the impacts that our
adoption of this update will have on our finangtdtements or notes to the consolidated finantaééments.

Balance Sheet Offsetting—In December 2011, the FASB issued an accountinglatds update that expands the disclosure requirts
for the offsetting of assets and liabilities rethte certain financial instruments and derivativstiuments. The update requires disclosures of
gross and net information for financial instrumegutsl derivative instruments that are eligible fet presentation due to a right of offset, an
enforceable master netting arrangement or simjezeament. The accounting standards update is w#eor interim and annual periods
beginning January 1, 2013. We do not expect thaadaption of this update will have a material effen our financial statements or notes to
the consolidated financial statements.

Note 3—Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the followingfas

December 31

2012 2011
(In thousands

Drillships and related equipme $3,892,62. $3,435,66!

Other property and equipme 7,02t 12,44

Property and equipment, cc 3,899,644 3,448,101

Accumulated depreciatic (139,22) (12,096

Property and equipment, r $3,760,42 $3,436,01.
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On March 15, 2011, we entered into two contracth BHI for the construction of our fifth and sixtew advanced-capability, ultra-
deepwater drillships, theacific Khamsirand thePacific Sharay, which are expected to be delivered to us atlfgyard in the second quarter
and fourth quarter of 2013, respectively. On M&at6h2012, we entered into an additional contratt 8HI for the construction of tHeacific
Meltem, our seventh advanced-capability, ultra-deepwaiéiship, which is expected to be delivered toatishe shipyard in the second quarter
of 2014. The construction contract for thacific Meltemalso includes an option for an eighth newbuildishib on the same terms and
conditions as those for thiRacific Meltem The option was originally valid until June 15,120and was subsequently extended through
January 18, 2013 at no cost. In January 2013, wecised our option and entered into an additionatract with SHI for the construction of
our eighth drillship, which is expected to be defizd in the first quarter of 2015 (see Note 21).

The SHI contracts for theacific Khamsin thePacific Sharavand thePacific Meltenprovide for an aggregate purchase price of
approximately $1.5 billion for the acquisition defse three vessels, payable in installments dtiimgonstruction process, of which we have
made payments of $374.3 million through DecembeB12. We anticipate making payments of approxage®797.3 million in 2013 and
approximately $329.8 million in 2014.

During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012abd, we capitalized interest costs of $33.2 milli$71.0 million and $99.0 millio
respectively, on assets under construction.

Note 4—Investment In and Notes Receivable from JoirVenture

A legal entity is a variable interest entity (“VIEf the entity’s equity investment at risk doed poovide its holders, as a group, with the
power through voting or similar rights to direcetactivities that most significantly impact theigné economic performance. We are required
to consolidate VIEs if we have the power to dittbet activities of a VIE that most significantly it the entity’s economic performance and
the obligation to absorb losses of the entity erright to receive benefits from the VIE that coptitentially be significant to the VIE. If these
conditions are met, we have a controlling finanzigdrest and are the primary beneficiary of th& VI

Once an entity is identified as a VIE, we perforigqualitative assessment to determine whether weharprimary beneficiary. A
gualitative assessment begins with an understarafingture of the risks in the entity as well as tlature of the entity’s activities, including
terms of the contracts entered into by the entiiynership interests issued by the entity, how theye marketed and the parties involved in the
design of the entity. We then identify all of thariable interests held by parties involved with YHE including, among other things, equity
investments, debt financing, any financial and genance guarantees and significant contractedcgeproviders. Once we identify the
variable interests, we determine those activiti@s &re most significant to the economic perforneasfcthe entity and which variable interest
holder has the power to direct those activities.

Our Predecessor owned a 50% interest in TPDI thatrecorded in our consolidated financial statemgmbugh the date of assignment
to a subsidiary of the Quantum Pacific Group on®iz80, 2011. The TPDI Joint Venture was formed Withnsocean Offshore International
Ventures Limited (“TOIVL”) to construct, own, angberate or charter two deepwater drillships, narhedhirubai Deepwater KGT* KG1")
andDhirubai Deepwater KG2‘ KG2"). Until the formation of the Joint Venture in ZDGboth drillships under construction were owned by
Pacific Drilling. KG1 started operating in July 2009 a2 started operating in March 2010.

The Joint Venture Shareholder Agreement defineditfies and restrictions with respect to the goaane and management of TPDI.
Among other things, the Joint Venture Shareholdgredment provided that TOIVL may provide certaicidiental general and administrative
functions on behalf of TPDI, including procuremant payables, treasury and cash management, petsmthpayroll and accounting. At
inception, the Joint Venture Shareholders alsoredtmto construction management agreements tbaided TOIVL would design, construct,
equip and test the TPDI deepwater drillships.
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The Joint Venture Shareholders entered into a niagkagreement with TOIVL that granted TOIVL an kgive right to market the
TPDI deepwater drillships for use in any territoryregion. The Joint Venture Shareholders alsoredteto an operating agreement with
TOIVL that appointed TOIVL to act as the operatbttee TPDI deepwater drillships, including day-taydnanagement and supervision and
operating, maintenance, administrative and relssedices.

The Joint Venture Shareholder Agreement requirgdt ¥enture Shareholders each provide capital ansoto the Company, to the extent
expenditures were not funded by third-party indebéss, in proportion to their respective ownergigiicentages to fund (1) all expenditures
required to be made under various management saagieements, (2) any performance guaranteesy sumedls, or letters of credit, (3) an
adequate level of working capital for the Compangt &) additional requirements agreed to by thatdéénture Shareholders.

The Joint Venture Shareholders entered into areageat under which Pacific Drilling, beginning ont@rer 18, 2010, had the right to
exchange its interest in the Joint Venture for shaf Transocean Ltd. or cash at a purchase pamedoon an appraisal of the fair value of the
KG1andKG2, subject to various customary adjustments.

We determined that the Joint Venture met the daitefra VIE as TPDI's equity investment at risk waxt sufficient for the entity to
finance its activities without additional subordieé financial support. We also determined that $oapan was the primary beneficiary for
accounting purposes since Transocean a) had thergowlirect the marketing and operating activjtiglsich were the activities that most
significantly impact TPDI's economic performanceldr) had the obligation to absorb losses or thet tig receive benefits that could
potentially be significant to the VIE. As a resule accounted for TPDI as an equity method investrimeour consolidated financial
statements.

At inception, the Joint Venture shareholders enlténeo promissory note agreements with TPDI to ftimelformation of the Joint
Venture. The promissory notes accrued interestBOR plus 2% per annum with semi-annual interegtpents. The Joint Venture, upon
providing written notice, was permitted to defeypent of interest (including any prior deferreckirgst) to the following interest payment d
During 2011 and 2010, the Joint Venture electedkefer interest payments due under the promissagsno

The loans were scheduled to mature ten yearsthétatate of the respective notes. The Joint Ventyren providing written notice, was
permitted to defer the maturity date for a peribdmto ten years. The Joint Venture was not reglio make any payments of principal or
interest prior to the maturity date. The Joint \{gatcapitalized interest expense on the Sharehphdenissory notes as a cost of property and
equipment through the date the deepwater drillsivgr® placed in service.

During 2009, the Joint Venture entered into interate swaps, which are designated as cash flogdsedf the future interest payments
on variable rate borrowings under its bank creatilities to reduce the variability of cash inténeayments. During the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010, Pacific Drilling resifésd $3.0 million and $11.5 million, respectivebf losses previously recognized as
accumulated other comprehensive income to equigaimings of Joint Venture. The Joint Venture rei@gs gains and losses associated with
the ineffective portion of the cash flow hedgesmiterest expense in the period in which they aatized. During the years ended December 3
2011 and 2010, the Joint Venture recorded ineffentss gains (losses) of $0.6 million and $(0.3anj respectively, to interest expense.

In April 2010, Transocean and Pacific Drilling enet# into a letter of credit fee agreement wheretan3ocean agreed to provide a letter
of credit as needed for purposes of TPDI's comgkanith the terms under TPDI's bank credit facility return, Pacific Drilling agreed to pay
Transocean our 50% share of a 4.2% per annum feeaequired letter of credit amount. During tleags ended December 31, 2011 and
2010, Pacific Drilling incurred $0.3 million and $0million, respectively, of fees related to thigeement that is recorded as interest exper
our consolidated statement of operations.
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On March 30, 2011, the Company assigned its interesIPDI’s equity, notes receivable from Jointnee and accrued interest on
promissory notes from Joint Venture to a subsidadrthe Quantum Pacific Group. The TPDI interestgehbeen assigned on March 31, 2011,
which date was used for convenience after our csimh that there were no material intervening taatisns between March 30, 2011 and
March 31, 2011. The assignment was recorded arsegtipted as a dividend in-kind within our consoliddiaancial statements.

A summarized consolidated balance sheet of TPB$ i®llows:

March 31,
2011
(In thousands
Balance shee

Current assel $ 193,47
Property and equipment, r 1,421,21!
Other asset 8,957

Total asset $1,623,65.
Current liabilities $ 275,02.
Long-term liabilities 1,216,01!
Shareholder equity 132,61

Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity $1,623,65.

Summarized TPDI consolidated results of operatayesas follows:

For the three
months ended Year ended
March 31, 201: December 31, 201
(In thousands

Income statemen

Operating revenue $ 90,41« $ 304,09:
Operating expenst 35,49: 129,21
Operating incom: 54,92: 174,87¢
Interest expense, n (13,959 (52,767)
Other expens (99) (13¢)
Income before income tax 40,86 121,97¢
Income tax expens 4,16¢ 13,71¢
Net income $ 36,69¢ $ 108,26:
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Note 5—Debt
A summary of debt is as follows:

December 31 December 31

2012 2011
(In thousands

Due within one yeal

Bora Term Loar $ 50,00( $ 50,00(
Mistral Term Loar 62,50( 62,50(
Scirocco Term Loal 43,75( 43,75(
Santa Ana Term Loa 62,50( 62,50(
Total current dek 218,75( 218,75(
Long-term debt:
Bora Term Loar $ 300,00¢( $ 350,00(
Mistral Term Loar 325,00( 387,50(
Scirocco Term Loal 287,50( 331,25(
Santa Ana Term Loa 325,00( 387,50(
8.25% Senior Unsecured Bor 300,00( —
7.25% Senior Secured Not 497 ,45¢ —
Total lon¢-term debt 2,034,95! 1,456,25!
Total debi $2,253,70! $1,675,00!

Project Facilities Agreement

On September 9, 2010, Pacific Bora Ltd., Pacifistkil Ltd., Pacific Scirocco Ltd., and Pacific SaAna Ltd. (collectively, the
“Borrowers”), and Pacific Drilling Limited (the “Garantor”) (collectively, the “Borrowing Group”) esred into a project facilities agreement
with a group of lenders to finance the construgtmperation and other costs associated withPtafic Bora, thePacific Mistral, thePacific
Sciroccoand thePacific Santa Ana (as amended on November 16, 2010, as amende@stated on March 30, 2011 and as further amendec
and restated on March 30, 2012, the “Original Ritdf@cilities Agreement”). On April 19, 2012, inrgeection with the Temporary Import
Bond Facilities described below, the Borrowing Gr@mended and restated the Original Project Hasiligreement by entering into the Tt
Amended and Restated Project Facilities Agreenthat“Project Facilities Agreement” or “PFA”). On Bember 28, 2012, the Borrowing
Group entered into the Second Amendment Agreemenatspect of the Project Facilities Agreement, Widhanged the frequency of
amortization payments from every six months to gtieree months.

The Project Facilities Agreement includes a teramlwith respect to theacific Bora, a term loan with respect to tRacific Mistral, a
term loan with respect to thacific Sciroccaand a term loan with respect to thacific Santa Angeach, a “Term Loan” and, collectively, the
“Term Loans” or the “Term Loan Facility”). Each Ter_oan consists of three tranches: one provided $yndicate of ten commercial banks
(the “Commercial Tranche”), one provided by the Miry of Trade and Industry of the Norwegian goveemt (and guaranteed by the
Norwegian Guarantee Institute for Export Creditsg “GIEK Tranche”) and one provided by The Export-ImpBank of Korea (the “KEXIM
Tranche”).

In November 2010, we borrowed $450 million under Bora Term Loan. During 2011, we borrowed $450iom] $375 million and
$450 million under the Mistral Term Loan, the Scito Term Loan and the Santa Ana Term Loan, respdgtiUnder the Scirocco Term Loe
$75 million of the aggregated amount available wacelled, resulting in our collective final boriiogs equaling $1.725 billion under the
Project Facilities Agreement.

Borrowings under the Term Loans bear interestattimndon Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus gpicable margin. Prior to the
effective date of the first drilling contract inspgect of a Borrower’s drillship, the
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applicable margin under the relevant Term Loar#4sper annum. Subsequent to the effective dateedfiitst drilling contract in respect of su
Borrower’s drillship and until 12 months after deliy of all four drillships, the applicable margin3.5% per annum. Subsequent to 12 month
after the delivery of all four drillships, the apalble margin is based on the Borrowing Graupistorical debt service coverage ratio. If the

is not greater than 125%, the applicable margt586 per annum. If the ratio is greater than 126 applicable margin is 3% per annum.
Interest is payable every three months.

During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012@hd, we incurred $64.4 million, $57.2 million ad#2.6 million of interest expen
on the Term Loans of which $8.7 million, $51.5 ioiti and $12.6 million was recorded to property agdipment as capitalized interest,
respectively.

The Commercial Tranche under the Term Loan Fagitigtures on October 31, 2015, and the GIEK Traacltethe KEXIM Tranche
each mature on October 31, 2019. Each Term Loanresga residual debt payment of $200 million aturity of the Commercial Tranche.
The GIEK Tranche and the KEXIM Tranche each conpainoptions exercisable if the Commercial Tranish®ot refinanced on terms
acceptable to GIEK and/or KEXIM, respectively.HEtGIEK Tranche put option or the KEXIM Tranche pption is exercised, each Borrov
must prepay, in full, the portion of all outstangliobans that relate to the GIEK Tranche and/oB&IM Tranche, as applicable, on the
maturity date of the Commercial Tranche, without premium, penalty or fees of any kind.

Borrowings under the Commercial Tranche may begicejim whole or in part with a 1% penalty on thecamt prepaid if such
prepayment takes place within one year after thigatg of the fourth drillship, and no penalty teafter. Borrowings under the GIEK Tranche
and the KEXIM Tranche may be prepaid in whole gpamt with a 0.5% penalty.

With respect to the term loans relating to Beeific Bora, thePacific Mistral, thePacific Sciroccaand thePacific Santa Anawe are
required to make amortization payments of $12.%5ianil $15.6 million, $10.9 million and $15.6 millip respectively, every three months,
commencing in January 2013, with the residual gelgtment of $200 million each due in October 2015.

The indebtedness under the Project Facilities Agese is guaranteed by the Guarantor. The obligatxfrihe Borrowers under the Term
Loan Facility are joint and several. The Projeatiktées Agreement is secured by several collateamhponents, which are usual and customat
for such financings. The security provided to teders is cross-collateralized across all Term E@ad comprises assignments of refund
guarantees, shipbuilding contracts and insurarectisst preferred mortgage over each Borrower'sthip and other types of collateral.

The Project Facilities Agreement requires compkawith certain affirmative and negative covenahtd tire customary for such
financings. These include, but are not limitedréstrictions on (i) the ability of each of the Bmrers to pay dividends to its shareholder or sel
assets and (ii) the ability of the Borrowing Grdapncur additional indebtedness or liens, makestments or transact with affiliates (except
for certain specified exceptions). The Borroweksm@stricted in their ability to transfer their @sisets to the Guarantor, whether in the form o
dividends, loans or advances. As of December 312 2Bid December 31, 2011, the Borrowing Group $#ld billion and $1.5 billion of
restricted net assets, respectively.

The Guarantor (through the Borrowing Group) is atsguired to (i) enter into and maintain drillingntracts for each drillship (except as
permitted pursuant to an executed waiver lettéy)m@intain cash account balances reserved for sitvice payments, (iii) maintain Guarar
liquidity and (iv) maintain contributed equity almuertain levels and to meet a required level dataral maintenance whereby the aggregate
appraised collateral value must not be less thaartain percentage of the total outstanding bakace commitments under the Project
Facilities Agreement.
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The Project Facilities Agreement also requires danpe by the Guarantor with the following finaraavenants: (i) a projected
(looking forward over the following twelve monthdgbt service coverage ratio of at least 1.1x thinalignhe 30, 2012 and 1.2x thereatfter; (ii) a
historical (looking back over the preceding twetnenths) debt service coverage ratio of at least thibbugh December 31, 2013 and 1.2x
thereafter; (iii) a maximum leverage ratio of 658@div) a minimum liquidity of $50 million (held ia restricted and pledged account with the
Security Trustee) after the delivery of all fouilldhips.

Each Borrower is also required under the Projectiliias Agreement to hedge 75% of outstanding available balances against floating
interest rate exposure.

The Project Facilities Agreement contains evenidedfiult that are usual and customary for a firagoif this type, size and purpose.
Upon the occurrence of an event of default, bomgsiunder the Project Facilities Agreement areesitltp acceleration.

2015 Senior Unsecured Bonds

In February 2012, we completed a private placeroB8t25% senior unsecured U.S. dollar denominatedis due 2015 (the “2015
Senior Unsecured Bonds”) in aggregate principalwarhof $300 million to eligible purchasers. The tsiear interest at 8.25% per annum,
payable semiannually on February 23 and Augusa@28 mature on February 23, 2015.

The 2015 Senior Unsecured Bonds are general ureskaenior obligations that rank: (i) senior irhtigf payment to all of the
Company'’s subordinated indebtedness, if any; &r) passu in right of payment with any of the Comps existing and future unsecured
indebtedness that is not by its terms subordinttelde 2015 Senior Unsecured Bonds; (iii) effedtiyenior to the Company’s existing and
future senior debt facilities (including the Prdjéacilities Agreement, the Temporary Import Boratifities (as defined below), any future
customary senior secured debt facilities providgthdinks and/or financial institutions and any fatfirst priority senior secured bond financ
obtained to finance our fleet, including any refiogg, amendments or replacements of the debitfas)l

The Company may acquire 2015 Senior Unsecured Biorttie open market, or otherwise, at any time eutirestriction. Within 60 day
after notification of a specified change in congwént, each bondholder has the right to exercissady repayment option at a price equal to
101% of par, plus accrued interest.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we ind$24..1 million in interest expense on the 2015i@ddnsecured Bonds of which
$17.0 million was recorded to property and equipnasncapitalized interest, respectively. We didinotir interest expense on the 2015 Senio
Unsecured Bonds during the years ended Decemb@021,and 2010.

The 2015 Senior Unsecured Bonds contain providioeuslimit, with certain exceptions, the ability the Company and our subsidiarie
(i) merge or demerge, (ii) dispose of assets,ifigur financial indebtedness and (iv) pay divideedceeding 50% of consolidated net income
for the preceding fiscal year. The 2015 Senior dused Bonds also require compliance with financ@alenants including (i) a minimum
equity ratio of 35%, (ii) a minimum liquidity of $million and (iii) a leverage restriction limitinge outstanding secured and unsecured
borrowings on a consolidated basis (excluding Temmydmport Bond Facilities) to an average of $4Tilion per drillship. The 2015 Senior
Unsecured Bonds contain events of default thatiswal and customary for a financing of this typee and purpose. Upon the occurrence ¢
event of default, borrowings under the 2015 Sebinsecured Bonds are subject to acceleration.

2017 Senior Secured Notes

In November 2012, Pacific Drilling V Limited (théssuer”), an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary afdfic Drilling S.A. (the “Parent”),
completed a private placement of $500 million (tb@17 Senior Secured
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Note¢”) in aggregate principal amount of 7.25% seniaused U.S. dollar denominated notes due 2017 gibédi purchasers. The 2017 Senior
Secured Notes are fully and unconditionally guagadtby Pacific Drilling S.A. on a senior unsecupedis. The 2017 Senior Secured Notes
constitute a new series of debt securities undémndemture dated as of November 28, 2012 (the ‘fitge”), among the Issuer, the Parent and
each subsidiary guarantor from time to time pdmgréto, as guarantors, and Deutsche Bank Trust @wymamericas, as Trustee (in such
capacity, the “Trustee”) and Collateral Agent (irtls capacity, the “Collateral Agent”).

The 2017 Senior Secured Notes were sold at 99.483%r. The Notes bear interest at 7.25% per anpaygble semiannually on Jun:
and December 1, commencing on June 1, 2013, angenath December 1, 2017.

As of December 31, 2012, the Issuer has no subigidighny future subsidiary of the Issuer that Isadd will hold thePacific Khamsiror
certain related assets, or is or becomes partydtdlimg contract in respect of tHeacific Khamsin will guarantee the notes on a senior secure
basis. None of Pacific Drilling S.A.’s other suliaides will be guarantors of the 2017 Senior SettiNetes. The 2017 Senior Secured Notes
and the note guarantees will be the Issuer’s aol gaarantor subsidiary’s senior obligation, resipely, and will rank equal in right of
payment to all existing and future senior indebtsdnof the Issuer and such guarantor, respectaetiywill rank senior in right of payment to
all existing and future subordinated indebtedné¢kelssuer and such guarantor, respectively.

Prior to the delivery of thPacific Khamsin the 2017 Senior Secured Notes will be secured fingt-priority security interest (subject to
certain exceptions) in substantially all of theeds®f the Issuer, including the Issuer’s rightdernthe construction contract and the refund
guarantee for thPacific Khamsin and by a pledge of the capital stock of the Isdupon delivery of théacific Khamsin the 2017 Senior
Secured Notes will also be secured by a first-fiyicgecurity interest (subject to exceptions) ia Bacific Khamsin and substantially all of the
other assets of the Issuer, including an assignofezdrnings and insurance proceeds related tBdldic Khamsin

On or after December 1, 2015, the Issuer has ttierof redeem the 2017 Senior Secured Notes, olevbr in part, at one time or from
time to time, at the redemption prices plus accraunsdi unpaid interests and additional amounts,if as specified in the Indenture. Prior to
December 1, 2015, the Issuer may redeem all opartjon of the Notes at a redemption price equdl0% of the principal amount of the
outstanding notes plus accrued and unpaid intaresadditional amounts, if any, to the redemptiatedplus a “make-whole” premium. In
addition, prior to December 1, 2015, the Issuer,majts option, on one or more occasions redeemo 35% of the aggregate original princi
amount of the Notes (including any additional Npteih the net cash proceeds from certain equitgrofgs of the Parent at a redemption p
of 107.250% of the principal amount of the outstagadotes plus accrued and unpaid interest andiaddi amounts, if any, to the redemption
date. The Issuer may also, prior to December 152@Heem up to 10% of the original aggregate ral@amount of the Notes in any 12 ma
period at a redemption price equal to 103% of tigregate principal amount thereof plus accruedwenpaid interest and additional amount:
any, to the redemption date.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we indwanel capitalized interest expense of $3.4 milliarthe 2017 Senior Secured Notes
We did not incur interest expense on the 2017 3&wgoured Notes during the years ended Decemb&031,and 2010.

The 2017 Senior Secured Notes contain provisicaslitnit, with certain exceptions, the ability o&éific Drilling S.A., the Issuer and
Pacific Drilling S.A.’s other restricted subsidiesito (i) pay dividends, purchase or redeem Pdoifiing S.A.’s capital stock or subordinated
indebtedness of the Issuer or any guarantor or ratilex restricted payments, (ii) incur or guararatdditional indebtedness or issue preferred
stock, (iii) create or incur liens and (iv) createestricted subsidiaries, (v) enter into transadiwith affiliates, (vi) enter into new lines of
business, (vii) transfer or sell tRacific Khamsirand other related assets and (vii) merge or demégef December 31, 2012 and 2011, the
Issuer held $0 of restricted net assets, respégtive
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Temporary Import Bond Facilities

As part of the standard Nigerian importation reguients for equipment, we are required to eithepnnihe vessel into Nigeria on a
permanent basis and pay import duties or applaféemporary Importation (“T1”) permit and put ufpand for the value of the import duties
instead. On July 13, 2011, we entered into a teargd@tandby Letter of Credit (“SBLC") facility wit@itibank, N.A. to support a Tl bond for
the Pacific Boraas required in Nigeria (the “Bora Tl Bond”). On [@eaber 6, 2011, we entered into separate tempoBinZ Sacilities with
each of Citibank, N.A. and Standard Charter Banutgport a Tl bond for thieacific Sciroccaas required in Nigeria (collectively, the
“Scirocco Tl Bond” and, together with the Bora Tofl, the “Tl Bonds”).

Under the SBLC facility for th@acific Bora, Citibank, N.A., as issuing bank, issued a latfezredit for the benefit of Citibank Nigeria
denominated in the Nigerian currency, Naira, inaheunt of approximately $99.8 million. This lettércredit provided credit support for the
Bora Tl Bond that was issued by Citibank Nigeridamor of the Government of Nigeria Customs SerfarehePacific Bora.

Under the temporary SBLC facilities for tRacific Sciroccqg Citibank, N.A. and Standard Charter Bank, asimgsbanks, each issued a
letter of credit for the benefit of Citibank Nigarand Standard Charter Bank Nigeria, respectigggpminated in Naira in the collective
amount of approximately $109.5 million. These lettef credit provided credit support for the Scaod| Bond that was issued by Citibank
Nigeria and Standard Charter Bank Nigeria, respelsti in favor of the Government of Nigeria Custo8ervice for thePacific Scirocca

On April 19, 2012, the temporary SBLC facilities fbePacific Boraand thePacific Sciroccavere each replaced by a Letter of Credit
Facility and Guaranty Agreement. Under the Letfe€@dit Facility and Guaranty Agreement for ther®d1 Bond (the “Bora Tl Facility”),
Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent, issuinglband arranger, has issued a letter of credith@ibenefit of Citibank Nigeria in the amount
of 14,884,342,426 Naira or approximately $94.5innillas of April 19, 2012. This letter of credit pides credit support for the Bora Tl Bond
that was issued by Citibank Nigeria in favor of evernment of Nigeria Customs Service for Baeific Bora.

Under the Letter of Credit Facility and Guarantyrégment for the Scirocco Tl Bond (the “Sciroccd=akility,” and, together with the
Bora Tl Facility, the “Tl Facilities”), Citibank, M., as administrative agent, issuing bank andngreg has issued letters of credit for the
benefit of Citibank Nigeria and Standard ChartenlBaligeria in the collective amount of 17,280,828 Naira or approximately $109.7
million as of April 19, 2012. These letters of dtqutovide credit support for the Tl bonds that e&sued by Citibank Nigeria and Standard
Charter Bank Nigeria, respectively, in favor of thevernment of Nigeria Customs Service for Baeific Scirocca

Each letter of credit issued pursuant to the Bdrgaakility and Scirocco Tl Facility will expire &t a one-year period and will be
renewable for up to two additional one-year termsell on the initial contract term of each vessatohnection with the placement of the Bora
TI Facility and the Scirocco Tl Facility, our rasted cash deposit obligations were lowered fro Sfilion and $99 million under the former
SBLC facilities to $10.7 million and $12.3 milliorespectively, resulting in a release of approxetya$126 million of cash collateral. The
restricted cash balance required is subject tafatons in the U.S. dollar to Naira currency examrates.

The TI Facilities require the Company to pay féesddition to customary fronting fees, calculabeded on outstanding balances of the
TI Bonds and each outstanding letter of creditskaethe Tl Facilities are primarily based on 2.&%he U.S. dollar equivalent of outstanding
balances of the Bora Tl Facility and the Sciroct&dcility. During the years ended December 31,28d4d 2011, we incurred $5.5 million ¢
$0.7 million, respectively, in interest expensetloa T1 Facilities.
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Maturities of Long-Term Debt

For purposes of preparing our scheduled matumtieiebt, borrowings under the GIEK Tranche andiBXIM Tranche are presented
assuming an exercise of the option by GIEK and K¥&Xd accelerate the maturity date to October 31520aturities of long-term debt for
each of the five years ending after December 312 20e as follows:

(In thousands
Twelve months ended December 31,
2013 $ 218,75(
2014 218,75(
2015 1,318,75!
2016 —
2017 500,00(

Note 6—Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consists primarily of bank accobiatd with financial institutions as security foetProject Facilities Agreement and the
Temporary Import Bond Facilities.

Note 7—Income Taxes

Pacific Drilling S.A., a holding company and Luxeoning resident, is subject to Luxembourg corponateine tax and municipal
business tax at a combined rate of 28.8 percerdlif@ng dividend income and capital gains on theof qualifying investments in
subsidiaries are exempt from Luxembourg corporaterne tax and municipal business tax. Consequdrdlgific Drilling S.A. expects
dividends from its subsidiaries and capital ganosif sales of investments in its subsidiaries texempt from Luxembourg corporate income
tax and municipal business tax.

Income taxes have been provided based on the ladveates in effect in the countries in which ouegtions are conducted or in which
our subsidiaries are considered residents for imctam purposes. Our income tax expense or bemfigsafrom our mix of pretax earnings or
losses, respectively, in the international taxgdigtions in which we operate. Because the coumimigvhich we operate have different statutor
tax rates and tax regimes with respect to one angtiere is no expected relationship between theigion for income taxes and our income
loss before income taxes.

Income / (loss) before income taxes consisted efdlowing:

Years ended December 3.

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands
Luxembourg $(24,457) $(1,28) $ —
United State: (444 (2,759 49¢
Other Jurisdiction 80,59 4,331 36,75:
Total $ 55,70 $ 297 $37,25(

F-21



Table of Contents

The components of income tax (provision) / beregitsisted of the following:

Years ended December 3.

2012 2011
(In thousands

Current income tax expens

Luxembourg $ (539 $ — $—
United State: (4,409 (164) (307)
Other Foreigr (20,540 (6,205 (22)
Total curreni $(25,479) $(6,369) $(322)

Deferred tax benefi

Luxembourg $ 32 $ — $—
United State: 4,64¢ 782 344
Other Foreigr (9129 2,38 27
Total deferrec $ 3,76¢ $ 3,16¢ $ 371
Income tax (expense) bene $(21,719) $(3,200) $ 49

A reconciliation between the Luxembourg statut@terof 28.8 percent and Liberian statutory rateenb percent and our effective tax
rate is as follows:

Years ended December 3:

2012 2011 2010
Statutory rate 28.&% 28.&8% —
Effect of tax rates different than the Luxemboufstory tax
rate 6.8% 108.£% (0.)%
Change in valuation allowan 3.4% 934.1% —
Adjustments related to prior yez — 6.C% —
Effective tax rate 39.(% 1,077.% (0.1)%

The components of deferred tax assets and liasilgonsist of the following:

December 31
2012 2011
(In thousands

Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 4,671 $ 2,543
Accrued payroll expenst 4,64¢ 2,17¢
Deferred revenu 5,592 2,41(
Other 23 18
Deferred tax asse 14,93( 7,15(C
Less: valuation allowanc (4,47¢) (2,547)
Total deferred tax asse $10,45- $ 4,60
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciation and amortizatic $(1,125 $(1,067)
Deferred expense (2,029 —
Total deferred tax liabilitie $(3,149) $(1,067)
Net deferred tax asse $ 7,30¢ $ 3,54(
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As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company haskgleferred tax assets of $4.7 million and $2lkomrelated to loss carry
forwards in various worldwide tax jurisdictions. & majority of the loss carry forwards have no exqn.

A valuation allowance for deferred tax assets tal#shed when it is more likely than not that squoetion or all of the deferred tax
assets will not be realized. As of December 3122811d 2011, the valuation allowance for deferredasets was $4.5 million and $2.5 milli
respectively. The increase in our valuation alloggaprimarily resulted from losses incurred in Nigeand Brazil during the year ended
December 31, 2012, for which we believe it is mdeely than not that a tax benefit will not be rized.

We consider the earnings of certain of our subs&biao be indefinitely reinvested. As such, weéhawt provided for taxes on these
unremitted earnings. Should we make a distribuiom the unremitted earnings of these subsidiavieswould be subject to taxes payable to
various jurisdictions. At December 31, 2012, theoant of indefinitely reinvested earnings was appr@tely $29 million. If all of these
indefinitely reinvested earnings were distributed,would be subject to estimated taxes of approtaim&0.4 million.

We recognize tax benefits from an uncertain taxitjpmsonly if it is more likely than not that thevgition will be sustained upon
examination by taxing authorities based on thertieeth merits of the position. As of December 3112@nd 2011, we have not accrued any
liabilities with respect to uncertain tax positiolge will recognize interest and penalties reldgtedncertain tax positions in income tax
expense.

Pacific Drilling is subject to taxation in variolsS., foreign, and state jurisdictions in whicledhducts business. Tax years as early as
2009 remain subject to examination. As of Decen®iei2012, Pacific Drilling’s only ongoing tax auditin Nigeria and relates to the 2011 tax
year. The audit recently commenced and no issueslieen raised to date. There are no other knowdipg tax audits

Note 8—Related-Party Loan

The related-party loan was provided by Winter Faehimited (“Winter Finance”), a subsidiary of tReiantum Pacific Group. In
November 2010, the Company made a $69.4 millicatee-party loan payment in conjunction and compliandh the first utilization under
the Bora Term Loan and $655 million of the relapedty loan was converted into equity. On DecemierRB10, all outstanding related—party
loan principal and accrued interest, in the amafi$892.6 million, was converted into equity in FiadDrilling Limited. During the year ende
December 31, 2011, Pacific Drilling borrowed $14&ilion. On March 23, 2011, all outstanding rethtparty loan principal and accrued
interest, in the amount of $142.8 million, was cented into equity of Pacific Drilling Limited. Fallving the conversion, the Intercompany
Loan Agreement was terminated.

Borrowings under the intercompany revolving loaneggent accrued interest at the rate of six pefanannum. During the years ent
December 31, 2011 and 2010, Pacific Drilling inedrand capitalized interest expense of $0.6 mibind $60.1 million, respectively, on the
related-party loan as a cost of property and egeigm

Note 9—Shareholder’s Equity
As of December 31, 2009, the common stock of RaEifilling Limited consisted of 805,000 shares ofteorized and issued common
stock with $0.001 par value.

On November 29, 2010, $655 million of the relatedtploan from Winter Finance was assigned to QuranfThe related-party loan was
then converted to equity in Pacific Drilling, inetfiorm of additional paid in capital by means dféing contributed, by Quantum, as an
additional capital contribution for the common $&deld by it as sole shareholder of the Company.

On December 10, 2010, the Board of Pacific Drilliignited authorized and approved an amendment estdtement of its Articles of
Incorporation, to increase the authorized numbeahafes of common stock, no par value per sha2&p@,000 shares of common stock.
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On December 31, 2010, Quantum was assigned atbodisg principal and accrued interest of the eslgtarty loan from Winter
Finance, which was then converted to equity, inam®unt of $892.6 million, in Pacific Drilling irxehange for the issuance of 1,115,761
shares of common stock.

On March 11, 2011, Pacific Drilling S.A. was incorpted under the form ofsociété anonymgoverned by the laws of the Grand Duchy
of Luxembourg with a share capital of $50,000 repreed by 50,000 common shares, no par value.

On March 23, 2011, Quantum Pacific Group was assigtl outstanding principal and accrued interéste related-party loan in the
amount of $142.8 million, which was then convetieeéquity in the Company by means of it being dboted as additional consideration for
the existing shares held by it as sole sharehaltifre Company.

On March 30, 2011, the Company assigned its interesTPDI’s equity, promissory notes to Joint M@eatand accrued interest on
promissory notes from Joint Venture to a subsidadrthe Quantum Pacific Group. The assignment wasrded and presented as a dividend
in-kind within our consolidated financial statengnt

Additionally, on March 30, 2011, the Board of PaxDrilling S.A. resolved to split the 50,000 inporation common shares into
5,000,000 common shares, no par value. The Boaodrasolved for Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limitedbecome the indirect sole
shareholder of all issued Pacific Drilling Limitedmmon shares in exchange for the issuance of @®00 common shares of Pacific Drilli
S.A. Further, on March 30, 2011, the sharehold&t Ageneral meeting to approve amending the Copipaticles to authorize the Board of
Directors, for a period of five years, to issueto$50,000,000 of share capital (inclusive of catighare capital of the Company).

On April 5, 2011, Pacific Drilling completed a paite placement of 60,000,000 common shares forroeepds of approximately
$575.5 million, $0.01 par value.

In November 2011, the Company completed an intiddlic offering of 6,000,000 common shares. In Delser 2011, the underwriters
purchased an additional 900,000 common shares gnirsuthe full exercise of an over-allotment opti®he initial public offering resulted in
net proceeds of approximately $50.3 million.

In December 2011, the Company also issued 7,20@&0®0non shares to one of our whotiyned subsidiaries, which represents 3.3¢
our outstanding common shares. These common sk éreld in treasury for purposes of administeangPacific Drilling S.A. 2011
Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company’s share dagtesisted of 5,000,000,000 common shares autuhriz24,100,000 common
shares issued and 216,902,000 common shares alitgtari which approximately 69.2% is held by QuantRacific (Gibraltar) Limited.

Note 10—Share-Based Compensation

During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012@hd, compensation expense recognized relatechte-$lased arrangement grants
totaled $5.3 million, $4.5 million and $0.1 milliprespectively, and is recorded in general and aginative expenses in our consolidated
statements of operations.

2009 Stock Plan

On April 24, 2009, the Board of our Predecessor@m the creation of the Pacific Drilling Limit@909 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan
(the “2009 Stock Plan™), which provided for issuarmf common stock options, as well as share apgirenirights, restricted shares, restricted
share units, and other equity based or equityeélatvards to directors, officers, employees andwltemts of Pacific Drilling. The Board also
authorized the issuance of 6,684 common stock @tio certain executives and employees at a pee sharcise price of $1,000, which the
Board determined at issuance to be the fair maskiele of a share of our Predecessor’'s common sTdekoptions issued in 2009 had a
contractual term of 10 years and were scheduleg4050%, 25% and 25% on March 31, 2011, 2012 aa8,2espectively.
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On December 21, 2010, the Board authorized thamsiof 12,577 common stock options to certain uikezs and employees at a per
share exercise price of $800, which the Board detexd at issuance to be the fair market valuestfaae of our Predecessor's common stock.
The options issued in 2010 had a contractual tdri® gears and were scheduled to vest 25% annoalMarch 31, 2011, 2012, 2013 and
2014.

Pursuant to the terms of the options granted, cenldtessor could elect to settle the stock optipas exercise in cash instead of issuing
shares of our common stock. The Company anticipsg#ting any of the 2010 and 2009 stock optionsaish. As such, the stock options were
accounted for as liability awards at fair value.

2011 Stock Plan
Stock Options

On March 31, 2011, as part of the Restructuring,Gbmpany cancelled the 2009 Stock Plan. Furthe3bard approved the creation of
the Pacific Drilling S.A. 2011 Omnibus Stock IndgstPlan (the “2011 Stock Plan”), which provides iissuance of common stock options, as
well as share appreciation rights, restricted shaestricted share units and other equity basedjwity related awards to directors, officers,
employees and consultants. The Board also restiatd.2 million common shares of Pacific DrilliBgA. be reserved and authorized for
issuance pursuant to the terms of the 2011 Staak Pl

In conjunction with the Restructuring and cancelabf stock option grants under the 2009 Stock Plae Company issued 1,471,601
common stock options in Pacific Drilling S.A. aseplacement of the 2010 and 2009 stock options.réplacement awards were recorded as
modification of an existing award. As exercisesegflacement awards will be settled in common shaénes$2.3 million liability for stock
options issued under the 2009 Stock Plan on treeafanodification was extinguished and the balaectassified to additional paid-in capital.
Additionally, on March 31, 2011, the Company grante329,710 common stock options to certain exeestand employees pursuant to the
2011 Stock Plan.

The 2009 replacement option grants vest 50%, 2592806 on March 31, 2011, 2012, and 2013, respdgtiVbe 2010 replacement
option grants and the 2011 option grants vest 268tially over four years commencing on March 31,128i4d March 31, 2012, respectively.
The 2009 replacement option grants, 2010 replaceopion grants and the 2011 option grants wergeidst an exercise price of $10.00 and
have a 10 year contractual term.

The fair value of each option award is estimatetdhendate of grant using a Black-Scholes optionatin model utilizing the
assumptions noted in the table below. Expectedilitydas based on implied volatilities from the gected volatility of a representative grouy
our publicly listed industry peer group as thedrisal volatility of the Company does not provideesasonable basis for estimating volatility.
The expected terms of the options is calculatedgugie simplified method as the historical optiarreise experience of the Company does
provide a reasonable basis for estimating expdeted. The risk free interest rates are determirsiuguthe implied yield currently available 1
zero-coupon U.S. government issues with a remaitging equal to the expected life of the options.

The fair value of the 2011, 2010 and 2009 stocloopgrants as of March 31, 2011, the date of modlifon and grant, was calculated
using the following assumptions:

2011 2010 2009
stock options stock options stock options
Expected volatility 52% 53% 53%
Expected term (in year 6.2¢F 6.0C 5.7t
Expected dividend — — —
Risk-free interest rat 2.65% 2.51% 2.4%%
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On March 31, 2012, the Company granted 1,294,84thuan stock options to certain members of our Beéidirectors, executives and

employees pursuant to the 2011 Stock Plan. The @pti@n grants vest 25% annually over four yealse Z012 option grants were issued a
exercise price of $10.12 and have a 10 year cdofthterm.

The fair value of the 2012 stock option grantsfdglarch 31, 2012, the date of grant, was calculatgdg the following assumptions:

2012
stock options
Expected volatility 48.5%
Expected term (in year 6.2t
Expected dividend —
Risk-free interest rat 1.4(%

A summary of option activity under the 2011 Sto¢&rPas of and for the year ended December 31, B042 follows:

Weighted-
Weighted- average
Number of average remaining Aggregate
shares unde exercise price contractual term intrinsic value
option (per share) (in years) (in thousands
Outstanding—January 1, 2012 2,788,59 $ 10.0¢
Grantec 1,294,84 10.12
Exercisec — —
Cancellec — —
Forfeited or expirel (107,799 10.0C
Outstandin—December 31, 201 3,975,63 $ 10.0¢ 8.1 —
Exercisabl—December 31, 201 1,121,422 $ 10.0C 7.3 —

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of oytigranted during the years ended December 31,&012011 was $4.85 and $5.24.
There were no options exercised during the yeated®ecember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010. As of DeceBihe2012, total compensation cc
related to nonvested option awards not yet receghiz $10.6 million and is expected to be recoghiaeer 2.5 years.

Restricted Stock Units

On November 2, 2011, we granted awards of 12,08@icted stock units with a grant date fair valfi®®.54 under the 2011 Plan to
certain members of our Board of Directors. On Math2012, the Company also granted 297,180 resdrgtock units to certain members of

our Board of Directors, executives and employeesyant to the 2011 Stock Plan. These restrictazk stpits will be settled in shares of our
stock and will generally vest over a period of fgears.

A summary of restricted stock units activity unttez 2011 Stock Plan as of and for the year endegmber 31, 2012 is as follows:

Weighted-
average

Number of grant-

date
restricted fair value

stock (per

units share)
Nonveste—January 1, 2012 12,00( $ 8.5¢
Grantec 297,18 10.1z
Vested (2,000 8.5¢
Forfeited (17,499 10.1Z
Nonveste—December 31, 201 289,68 $ 10.07
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As of December 31, 2012, total compensation cedéted to nonvested restricted stock units notg@ignized is $2.4 million and is
expected to be recognized over a weighted averagedpof 3.2 years.

Note 11—Derivatives

We are currently exposed to market risk from changenterest rates. From time to time, we may einte a variety of derivative
financial instruments in connection with the marmmagat of our exposure to fluctuations in interestsand to meet our debt covenant
requirements. We do not enter into derivative tagtiens for speculative purposes; however, for asting purposes, certain transactions may
not meet the criteria for hedge accounting.

During 2011, we entered into four interest rategsv@ reduce the variability of future cash flowghe interest payments for the variable
rate debt under the Project Facilities Agreemerd.d&/signated the interest rate swaps as cash #dgels for accounting purposes. The inte
rate swaps pay a fixed rate of interest and reddiB®R. The fixed interest rate swap rates are %.88.87%, 1.6% and 2.39% for the Bora
Term Loan, Scirocco Term Loan, Mistral Term Loan &anta Ana Term Loan, respectively. As of Decendie2012, the notional amounts
of the Bora, Scirocco, Mistral and Santa Ana irgerate swaps were $350.0 million, $316.7 milli$831.3 million and $387.5 million,
respectively. The notional amounts of the interatt swaps amortize quarterly and will expire otioBer 31, 2015.

On December 28, 2012, management de-designatedianpaf the Bora, Scirocco, Mistral and Santa Amarest rate swaps from hedge
accounting due to the change in payment frequehpyimcipal payments resulting from the Second Adraent Agreement to the Project
Facilities Agreement. Subsequent to de-designatieraccount for the de-designated portion of therést rate swaps on a mark-to-market
basis, with both realized and unrealized gainslasskes on the de-designated portion recorded diyrierearnings in interest expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. As a re§tiie de-designation, $2.8 million of accumulabéler comprehensive income associated
with the de-designated portion of the interest satap was reclassified into interest expense.

The table below provides data about the fair vabfeterivatives that are designated as hedge imgints as of December 31, 2012 and
2011:

Derivatives designated a Derivative liabilities December 31
hedging instruments Balance sheet location 2012 2011
(In thousands
Shor-term—Interest rate swag Derivative liabilities, curren $17,01° $20,46¢
Long-term—Interest rate swag Other lon¢-term liabilities $27,43° $30,76¢
Total $44,45: $51,23:

As of December 31, 2012, the estimated amount toibsses associated with derivative instrumentswald be reclassified to earnings
during the next twelve months is $18.5 million.

The table below provides data about the fair vabfeterivatives that are not designated as hedgeuiments as of December 31, 2012
and 2011:

Derivatives not designated a Derivative liabilities December 31
hedging instruments Balance sheet location 2012 2011

(In thousands
Shor-term—Interest rate swag Derivative liabilities, curren $ 97¢ $ —
Long-term—Interest rate swag Other lon¢-term liabilities $1,57¢ $ —
Total $ 2,552 $ —
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The following table summarizes the cash flow heglgi@s and losses for the years ended Decembef32, 2011 and 2010:

Amount recognized in income

Amount of loss reclassifiec (ineffective portion and amount
Amount of income (loss) recognize: from accumulated OCI into excluded from effectiveness
Derivatives in cash flow in equity for the year ended income for the year ended testing) for the year ended
hedging relationships December 31, December 31, December 31,
2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010
(In thousands
Interest rate sway $ 1866 $ (60,28) $ —  $2441¢ $180: $ — $ — & — & —

For the dedesignated portion of the interest rate swapsmatdash flow hedge relationship, gains and lossesded from December 2
2012 to December 31, 2012 were immaterial.

Note 12—Fair Value Measurements

We have estimated fair value by using appropriataation methodologies and information availablenemagement as of December 31,
2012 and 2011. Considerable judgment is requirettugloping these estimates, and accordingly, estidwvalues may differ from actual
results.

The estimated fair value of accounts receivablegacts payable and accrued expenses approximaiesainrying value due to their
shortterm nature. Additionally, the estimated fair vabfecurrent and noncurrent restricted cash appratésiits carrying value as it consistt
cash and cash equivalent balances. The estimatefae of our Project Facilities Agreement defyp@ximates carrying value because the
variable rates approximate current market rateofA3ecember 31, 2012, we estimated the fair vafumur 2015 Senior Unsecured Bonds anc
our 2017 Senior Secured Notes to be approxima®d3.® million and $512.5 million compared to thearrying value of $300.0 million and
$497.5 million. We estimate the fair values of wariable-rate and fixed-rate debts using significzther observable inputs, which represent
Level 2 fair value measurements.

The following table presents the carrying value astimated fair value of our financial instrumergsognized at fair value on a recurring
basis:

December 31, 201;
Fair value measurements using
Carrying value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in thousands

Liabilities:

Interest rate swag $  47,00¢ — 47,00¢ —

December 31, 201
Fair value measurements using
Carrying value Level 1 Level 2 Level &
(in thousands

Liabilities:

Interest rate sway $ 51,23t — 51,23t —

We use an income approach to value assets anlitigshior outstanding interest rate swaps. Thesgracts are valued using a discoul
cash flow model that calculates the present valdetore cash flows under the terms of the congrasing market information as of the
reporting date, such as prevailing interest rates. determination of the fair values above incoapes various factors, including the impact of
the counterparty’s non-performance risk with respethe Company’s financial assets and the Compargnperformance risk with respect
the Company’s financial liabilities. The Companys et elected to offset the fair value amountsgeted for multiple derivative instruments
executed with the same counterparty, but reporhthess on its consolidated balance sheets.
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Refer to Note 11 for further discussion of the Camys use of derivative instruments and their vailues.

Note 13—Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases—The Company leases office space in countries itadpg. The future minimum lease payments undendhe
cancelable operating leases with lease terms iessxof one year are as follows:

(In thousand:
Years ending December &
2013 $ 1,041
2014 1,057
2015 751
2016 73¢
2017 757
Thereafte! 2,37¢
Total future minimum lease paymel $ 6,71¢

During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012@hd, rent expense was $1.7 million, $1.1 millioxd 0.6 million, respectively.

Commitments—As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, Pacific Drilliragl no material commitments other than commitmesitted to
deepwater drillship construction purchase commitsidiscussed in Note 3.

Contingencies—The Company may be the subject of certain clainaslawsuits occurring in the normal course of besi No pending
or known threatened claims, actions or proceediggsnst us are expected to have a material adeéfese on our consolidated financial
position, results of operations and cash flows.

On November 9, 2010, Pacific Drilling entered iatdrilling contract for théacific Borawith a subsidiary of Chevron Corporation
(“Chevron”). Under the contract terms, Chevron wéiimburse Pacific Drilling for up to $30 million icapital upgrades. At the end of the
contract, Pacific Drilling is obligated to refungartion of these costs. The amount of refund gedelent upon the timing of the expiration of
the drilling contract. If the contract ends on ihigial primary term of three years, Pacific Dl will refund Chevron 50% of the capital
upgrades cost. For each year the contract is eatebelyond the initial primary term, the amount nelied is reduced by 10%. As of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, Pacific Drilling ha®rded a liability of $15.6 million and $4.0 milliprespectively, for costs of upgrades
incurred and billed to Chevron. If the contracexsended, Pacific Drilling will record the resuljigain contingency to reimbursable revenus
future periods.

We maintain loss of hire insurance that becomesctffe 45 days after an accident or major equiprfahre covered by hull and
machinery insurance, resulting in a downtime ewagt extends for 180 days. In the third quarter 2€gPacific Sciroccaunderwent repairs
and upgrades to ensure engine reliability, whick waovered event under our loss of hire policy iesulted in the $23.7 million and $18.5
million of loss of hire insurance recovery recoguiZor the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Note 14—Retirement Plan

Pacific Drilling sponsors a defined contributiotimement plan covering substantially all U.S. enygles (the “U.S. Savings Plan”) and ar
international savings plan (the “International $&s Plan”). Under the U.S. Savings Plan, the Compaatches 100% of employee
contributions (limited to $17,000 or, for employesge 50 or over, $22,500) up to 6% of eligible cermgation per participant. Under the
International Savings Plan, we contribute 6% ofbasome (limited to $15,000 per participant). Digrihe years ended December 31, 2012,
2011 and 2010, our total employer contributionbdth plans amounted to $3.7 million, $2.8 milliardg0.5 million, respectively.
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Note 15—Concentrations of Credit and Market Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject Ra®rilling to credit risk are primarily cash equailents and restricted cash. At times,
cash equivalents may be in excess of FDIC insurlamits. Pacific Drilling has a concentration ofstamers in the offshore drilling industry,
which exposes us to a concentration of creditwighkin a single industry. This industry concentoathas the potential to impact our overall
exposure to market and credit risks as our customuld be affected by similar changes in econoimdljstry or other conditions. However,
we believe that the credit risk posed by this indusoncentration is largely offset by the credittininess of our customer base. During the
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010¢etbemiage revenues earned from our customers wWakomes:

Years ended December 3:

2012 2011 2010
Chevron 45.(% 100.(% —
Total 32.9% — —
Petrobras 22.1% — —

Note 16—Related-Party Transactions

Prior to the Restructuring, we received fundinghie form of a relategharty loan as presented in our consolidated firsrstatements ar
described in Note 8 and Note 9. On December 310,20 Quantum Pacific Group was assigned all anthg principal and accrued interest
of the loan from Winter Finance, which was thenwaated into 1,115,761 shares of Pacific Drillinguring the year ended December 31, 2011
we borrowed $142.2 million under the related-p&ogn. On March 23, 2011, all outstanding relatedtydaan principal and accrued interest,
in the amount of $142.8 million, was converted iatpity of Pacific Drilling Limited.

Prior to the TPDI Transfer, the Company entered prbmissory note agreements with TPDI and Trareote fund TPDI as presentec
our consolidated financial statements and desciibéibte 4. The promissory notes accrued interelStBEOR plus 2% per annum. As of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, promissory notes tddimt Venture and the accrued interest receivablédhese promissory notes were $0.
During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012@hd, the Company recorded related-party interestme from the Joint Venture of $0,
$0.5 million and $2.0 million on the promissory estrespectively.

On March 30, 2011, we transferred our equity irgeire TPDI, including promissory notes, to a sulasigof the Quantum Pacific Group.
We did not receive any consideration for the trandfh connection with the TPDI Transfer, we endeirdo a management agreement pursuan
to which we provided day-to-day oversight and managnt services with respect to the Quantum PaBiftmip’s equity interest in TPDI for a
fee of $4,000 per drillship per day, or $8,000 geey. On May 31, 2012, as a result of Quantum Rzgifiivestiture of their equity position in
TPDI, this management agreement was terminatedn@thre years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ar@lrd@hagement fee income of $1.2
million, $2.2 million and $0, respectively, was oeted in other income within our consolidated stagpts of operations.

The joint venture agreements relating to TPDI piedi Quantum Pacific Group with a put option thiivedd it to exchange its 50%
interest in TPDI for shares of Transocean Ltd.ashcat a purchase price based on an appraisa édithvalue of the two vessels owned by
TPDI, subject to various customary adjustmentgsolmjunction with the TPDI Transfer and a relateceadment to the Original Project
Facilities Agreement, a subsidiary of the Quantuwauifit Group provided the TPDI Put Option Guarantaeconsideration for the TPDI Put
Option Guarantee, we agreed to pay the Quantunii®&ecdbup a fee of 0.25% per annum on the outstaptbrrowings on the Project
Facilities Agreement. During the years ended De@rth, 2012, 2011 and 2010, guarantee fees ofrfilli@n, $1.9 million and $0 were
incurred of which $0.5 million, $1.5 million and $@re recorded to property and equipment as céggthinterest costs, respectively. On
April 24, 2012, the Quantum Pacific Group TPDI Ruygtion Guarantee was terminated and the Quantuifid®@coup was released from its
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obligations thereunder. In connection with the feation and release of the TPDI Put Option Guamnie were released from our obligation
to pay the Quantum Pacific Group a fee of 0.25%ap@um on the outstanding borrowings on the Préjacilities Agreement and the related
agreement was terminated.

In February 2012, the Quantum Pacific Group pureti&0 million of the 2015 Senior Unsecured Bofddlowing their initial
purchase, the Quantum Pacific Group sold the 2@Ho% Unsecured Bonds purchased to unrelated pa8ie Note 5 for a description of the
2015 Senior Unsecured Bonds.

Note 17—Segments and Geographic Areas

Pacific Drilling is engaged in offshore contracilldrg operations in international locations, withe operation and management of our
ultra-deepwater drillships. Our primary businest®isontract our drillships, related equipment amak crews primarily on a dayrate basis. We
specialize in technically demanding segments obffehore drilling business with a focus on deepwarilling services.

Although we operate in many geographic locationsrd is a similarity of economic characteristicoamall of our locations, including
the nature of services provided and the type dfocners. Our drillships are part of a single, glafakket for contract drilling services and can
be redeployed globally due to changing demandsinféad to evaluate the performance of our operaggments based on revenues from
external customers and operating profit by rig. Thesolidation of our operating segments into @portable segment is attributable to how
we manage our business. The accounting policiesiobperating segments are the same as thoseliEbsarithe summary of significant
accounting policies (Note 2).

As of December 31, 2012, tiRacific Boraand thePacific Sciroccownere located offshore Nigeria, tRacific Mistralwas located
offshore Brazil, thé’acific Santa Anavas located offshore the United States andPtafic Khamsin thePacific Sharavand thePacific
Meltemwere located offshore South Korea, where they adeuconstruction by SHI.

During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012@hd, the percentage revenues earned by geogra@aias follows is based on
drilling location:

Years ended December 3:

2012 2011 2010
Nigeria 63.6% 100.(% —
Brazil 22.1% — —
Gulf of Mexico 14.2% — —

Note 18—Earnings per Share

On March 11, 2011, Pacific Drilling S.A. was formieg Quantum as a Luxembourg company with a shaigat@f 50,000 common
shares. On March 30, 2011, the Board of PacifidiBgi S.A. resolved to split the 50,000 incorpooaticommon shares into 5,000,000 commol
shares. Further, Pacific Drilling S.A. issued 148,000 common shares to Quantum Pacific (Gibraltianjted, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Quantum, to become the indirect shareholder aésiled Pacific Drilling Limited common shares.
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In computing earnings per common share, the regattare and per share amounts for the years eneleehiber 31, 2011 and 2010 has
been retrospectively restated to reflect the Restring that occurred on March 30, 2011. The follayweflects the income and the share data
used in the basic and diluted earnings per shanputations:

Years Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010
(in thousands,
except share and per share informat

Numerator:

Net income (loss), basic and dilut $ 33,98¢ $ (2,909 $ 37,29¢
Denominator

Weighted average number of common shares outsignusic 216,901,00 195,447,94 150,000,00
Effect of shar-based compensation awa 2,15¢ — —
Weighted average number of common shares outsigndiinted 216,903,15 195,447,94 150,000,00
Earnings (loss) per shai

Basic $ 0.1¢€ $ (0.01) $ 0.2t
Diluted $ 0.1¢€ $ (0.01) % 0.2t

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 201&pthputation of diluted earnings per common shactudes shares of potentially
dilutive common shares related to stock optionsrastticted stock units since the effect would hiagen anti-dilutive. For the year ended
December 31, 2010, the computation of diluted egper common share excludes shares of poterdidliyve common shares related to
stock options because the Company anticipatedngettiose stock options in cash.

Note 19—Supplemental Cash Flow Information

During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 204 paid $70.9 million and $3.0 million of interesgt of amounts capitalized,
respectively. During the year ended December 31028l amounts paid for interest were capitaliZedring the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010, we paid income taxes of &h@l®n, $0.5 million, and $0, respectively.

Capital expenditures in our consolidated statemefntsish flows include the effect of changes irraed capital expenditures, which are
capital expenditures that were accrued but unpgié@od end. We have included these amounts iowmts payable, accrued expenses and
accrued interest in our consolidated balance slaseté December 31, 2012 and 2011. During the yeraded December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010, capital expenditures includes the decreaaedrued capital expenditures of $4.0 million amelihcrease in accrued capital expenditures
of $1.3 million and $79.4 million in our consoliedtstatements of cash flows, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012@hd, non-cash amortization of deferred financiogts and accretion of debt
discount totaling $3.6 million, $13.2 million an8.% million, respectively, were capitalized to pedly and equipment. Accordingly, these
amounts are excluded from capital expendituresiirconsolidated statements of cash flows for theryended December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010.

Note 20—Liquidity

Our liquidity requirements include funding ongoingrking capital needs, repaying our outstandingbiddness and anticipated capital
expenditures, which largely comprise our progressments for our ultra-deepwater drillship constiarcprojects, and maintaining adequate
cash reserves to compensate the effects of fluohsin operating cash flows.
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As of December 31, 2012, we have taken deliverfporf of our ultra-deepwater drillships, all of whiare operating under long-term
drilling contracts. Théacific Bora, thePacific Sciroccq thePacific Mistraland thePacific Santa An@ommenced drilling operations on
August 26, 2011, December 31, 2011, February 62 20 May 4, 2012, respectively. Additionally, ®&cific Sharawentered into a five-year
drilling contract in June 2012 and tRacific Khamsirentered into a two-year drilling contract in NoveanR2012.

Our ability to meet these liquidity requirementdlwepend in large part on our future operating financial performance. Primary
sources of funds for our short-term liquidity negdt be cash flow generated from operating andficing activities and available cash
balances. Our liquidity fluctuates depending omumber of factors, including, among others, our neseefficiency and the timing of collecti
accounts receivable as well as amounts paid faratipg costs. We believe that our cash on handcast flows generated from operating and
financing activities will provide sufficient liquity over the next twelve months to fund our workoapital needs, amortization payments on
our long-term debt and anticipated capital expemdg for the Company’s ultra-deepwater drillshipstouction projects.

Note 21—Subsequent Events

In January 2013, we exercised our option and ethiaete an additional contract with SHI for the ctyastion of our eighth drillship,
which is expected to be delivered in the first geraof 2015.

On February 19, 2013, Pacific Sharav S.a r.l. axifie Drilling VII Limited (collectively, the “Borowers”), and Pacific Drilling S.A.
(the “Guarantor”) (collectively, the “Borrowing Gup”) entered into a senior secured credit facility agrext with a group of lenders to finar
the construction, operation and other costs assatigith thePacific Sharavand thePacific Meltem(the “Senior Secured Credit Facility
Agreement” or “SSCF”).

The SSCF includes a term loan (the “SSCF Term Lpahich consists of two tranches: (i) a tranch&®®0.0 million provided by a
syndicate of nine commercial banks (the “Commertiahche”) and (ii) a tranche of $500.0 million pided by Eksportkreditt Norge AS (and
guaranteed by the Norwegian Guarantee Institut&fport Credits) (the “GIEK Tranche”). The SSCF mfidroan will become available upon
the satisfaction of customary conditions precedentjescribed therein.

Borrowings under the Commercial Tranche bear istaaethe London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBORIiga margin of 3.5%.
Borrowings under the GIEK Tranche bear interesthatBorrower’s option, at (i) LIBOR plus a mar@ihl1.50% (which margin may be reset
60 months after the first borrowing under the SS@Fm Loan) or (ii) at a Commercial Interest RefeRate (“CIRR”) of (a) 3.96% for
borrowings relating to thBacific Sharavand (b) 2.37% for borrowings relating to tRacific Meltem Borrowings under the GIEK Tranche
will also be subject to a guarantee fee of 2.00¥apaum (the “GIEK Premium”). Undrawn commitmeras the SSCF Term Loan shall bear &
fee equal to (i) in the case of the Commercial Then 40% of the margin for such tranche and (ithancase of the GIEK Tranche, 40% of the
applicable margin for such tranche and 40% of tHek@remium.

The Commercial Tranche matures on the earlier) divg years following the delivery of the secoressel under the SSCF and
(i) May 31, 2019. The GIEK Tranche matures (focleaessel) twelve years following the delivery tod tapplicable vessel. The GIEK Tranche
contains a put option exercisable if the Commertiahche is not refinanced on terms acceptabld EKGf the GIEK Tranche put option is
exercised, each Borrower must prepay, in full,gbgion of all outstanding loans that relate to &K Tranche, on the maturity date of the
Commercial Tranche, without any premium, penaltfees of any kind. Amortization payments under$i$CF Term Loan are calculated on a
12 year repayment schedule and must be made exanosths following the delivery of the relevantssel.
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SCHEDULE I—CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PACIF IC DRILLING S.A.
(PARENT ONLY)
Statement of Operations
(in thousands, except share and per share infaynati

For the year ende(

December 31, 201

General and administrative expenses $ (4,149

Operating los: (4,147
Equity in earnings (losses) of subsidial 42,90¢
Interest expens (4,510
Other income (260

Net income (loss $ 33,98¢
Earnings (loss) per common share, b $ 0.1€
Weighted average number of common shares, | 216,901,00
Earnings (loss) per common share, dilt $ 0.1€
Weighted average number of common shares, di 216,903,15
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For the period
March 11, 2011
(inception) to
December 31, 201

$ (1,29
(1,295)
(10,75

14
$ (12039
$ 0.06)
210,321,81
$ 0.06)
210,321,81
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SCHEDULE |I—CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PACIF IC DRILLING S.A.

(PARENT ONLY)
Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(in thousands)

For the year ende(

December 31, 201

Net income (loss $ 33,98¢
Other comprehensive income (los
Unrecognized loss on derivative instrume (22,55)
Reclassification adjustment for loss on derivathatruments realized in net
income 24,41¢
Total other comprehensive income (lo 1,86¢
Total comprehensive income (lo: $ 35,85:
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For the period
March 11, 2011
(inception) to
December 31, 201

$ (12,039
(62,08¢)

1,802

(60,289
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SCHEDULE I—CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PACIF
(PARENT ONLY)
Balance Sheet
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Assets:

Cash and cash equivalel

Amount due from subsidiarie

Deferred financing cos

Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Total current asse

Investment in subsidiai

Deferred financing cos

Other asset
Total asset

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity:
Accounts payable and accrued expei
Amount due to subsidial
Accrued interest payab

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current maturiti
Commitments and contingenci
Shareholder equity:

IC DRILLING S.A.

December 31

Common shares, $0.01 par value, 5,000,000,000shathorized, 224,100,000 shares issued and

216,902,000 and 216,900,000 shares outstandinf@acember 31, 2012 and 2011, respecti

Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive i
Accumulated defici

Total shareholde’ equity
Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity

F-36

2012 2011
$ 158 $  7,22¢
997 —
2,03¢ —
54E 61
3,73¢ 7,281
2,647,21! 2,277,78
2,20¢ —
— 76
$2,653,15.  $2,285,15!
$ 706 $  56¢
28,46¢ 10,50¢
8,731 —
37,90¢ 11,07
300,00( —
2,16¢ 2,16¢
2,349,54. 2,344,22,
(58,41¢) (60,28:)
21,95 (12,039
2,315,24: 2,274,07.
$2,653,15.  $2,285,15!
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SCHEDULE |I—CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PACIF

Cash flow from operating activities:
Cash flow from investing activities:

Capital contributions to consolidated subsidia
Cash flow from financing activities:

Issuance of common shai

Proceeds from lor-term debt

Deferred financing cos

Net cash provided by financing activiti

Decrease (increase) in cash and cash equivz
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe

Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe

(PARENT ONLY)
Statement of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

F-37

IC DRILLING S.A.

For the year endet

December 31, 201

10,03:

(310,99

300,00t

(6,108)
293,89:

$

(7,07
7,22¢
15¢

For the period
March 11, 2011
(inception) to

December 31, 201

(11,847
(606,741

625,81t

625,81t
7,22¢

$ 7,22¢



SECOND AMENDMENT AGREEMENT IN RESPECT OF THE PROJEC T
FACILITIES AGREEMENT

among

PACIFIC BORA LTD., PACIFIC MISTRAL LTD., PACIFIC SC IROCCO LTD. and
PACIFIC SANTA ANA S.A.R.L.
as the Borrowers

PACIFIC DRILLING LIMITED
as the Guarantor

PACIFIC INTERNATIONAL DRILLING WEST AFRICA LIMITED andPACIFIC
DRILLING (GIBRALTAR) LTD

DNB BANK ASA, CREDIT AGRICOLE CORPORATE & INVESTMEN T BANK,
CITIBANK, N.A., DVB BANK SE, NORDIC BRANCH, DANSKE BANK,
NORWEGIAN BRANCH, NIBC BANK N.V., NORDEA BANK FINLA ND PLC, NEW
YORK BRANCH and SKANDINAVISKA ENSKILDA BANKEN AB (P UBL.)

as the Mandated Lead Arrangers

THE COMMERCIAL FACILITY LENDERS LISTED IN SCHEDULE 1
as the Commercial Facility Lenders

THE NORWEGIAN GOVERNMENT, REPRESENTED BY THE MINIST RY OF
TRADE AND INDUSTRY
as the GIEK Facility Lender

THE EXPORT-IMPORT BANK OF KOREA
as the KEXIM Facility Lender

THE HEDGING PARTIES LISTED IN SCHEDULE 2
as the Hedging Parties

DNB BANK ASA
as the Commercial Facility Agent and GIEK Faciltgent

CREDIT AGRICOLE CORPORATE & INVESTMENT BANK
as the KEXIM Facility Agent

DNB BANK ASA
as the Security Trustee, Intercreditor Agent andodats Bank

and

CITIBANK, N.A. (NEW YORK BRANCH)
as the Operating Accounts Bank and the Tl Bondliagiccounts Bank

Exhibit 4.18
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THIS SECOND AMENDMENT AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement”) is dated 28 December 2012 and made between:

(1) PACIFIC BORALTD., PACIFIC MISTRAL LTD., andPACIFIC SCIROCCO LTD. each a corporation organised and existing
under the laws of Liberia, arRACIFIC SANTA ANA S.AR.L. , a private limited companyspciété a responsabilité limitge
incorporated under the laws of Luxembourg, havisgegistered office at 37, rue d’Anvers, L-1130xembourg, having a share capital
of USD 20,002 and registered with the Luxembouagérand companies register under number B 167a&0th¢" Borrowers ”);

(2) PACIFIC DRILLING LIMITED , a corporation organised and existing under ttws laf Liberia (as th* Guarantor );

(3) PACIFIC INTERNATIONAL DRILLING WEST AFRICA LIMITED , a corporation organised and existing under ths laf
Nigeria ( PIDWAL ");

(4) PACIFIC DRILLING (GIBRALTAR) LTD , a company incorporated and existing under the lafGibraltar “ Pacific Gibco™);

(5) DNB BANK ASA (formerly known as DnB NOR Bank ASA (New York Brdn¢ CREDIT AGRICOLE CORPORATE &
INVESTMENT BANK, CITIBANK, N.A., DVB BANK SE, NORDI C BRANCH, DANSKE BANK, NORWEGIAN BRANCH,
NIBC BANK N.V., NORDEA BANK FINLAND PLC, NEW YORK B RANCH andSKANDINAVISKA ENSKILDA BANKEN AB
(PUBL.) (as the" Mandated Lead Arrangers™);

(6) THE COMMERCIAL FACILITY LENDERS LISTED IN SCHEDULE 1 (as the* Commercial Facility Lenders”);

(7) THE NORWEGIAN GOVERNMENT, REPRESENTED BY THE MINIST RY OF TRADE AND INDUSTRY (as the “GIEK
Facility Lender ");

(8) THE EXPORT-IMPORT BANK OF KOREA (as the* KEXIM Facility Lender );

(9) THE HEDGING PARTIES LISTED IN SCHEDULE 2 (as the* Hedging Parties”);

(10) DNB BANK ASA (as the* Commercial Facility Agent”);

(11) DNB BANK ASA (as the* GIEK Facility Agent ");

(12) CREDIT AGRICOLE CORPORATE & INVESTMENT BANK (as the* KEXIM Facility Agent ”);
(13) DNB BANK ASA (on behalf of each of the Secured Parties) (a“ Security Trustee”);

(14) DNB BANK ASA (as the* Intercreditor Agent ");

(15) DNB BANK ASA (as the* Accounts Bank”);

(16) CITIBANK, N.A. (NEW YORK BRANCH) (as the" Operating Accounts Bank”); and

(17) CITIBANK, N.A. (NEW YORK BRANCH) ( as the* Tl Bond Facility Accounts Bank");

(each a ‘Party " and together the Parties”).

WHEREAS :

(A) the Borrowers, the Guarantor, the Mandated L&aengers, the Commercial Facility Lenders, th&KFacility Lender, the KEXIM
Facility Lender, the Hedging Parties, the Comméiéility Agent, the GIEK Facility Agent, the KEXI1 Facility Agent, the Security
Trustee, the Intercreditor Agent, the Accounts Bah& Operating Accounts Bank and the Tl Bond fgolccounts Bank are all parties
to a project facilities agreement dated 9 Septer@b#0, as amended on 16 November 2010, as first@dadeand restated on 30 March
2011 and as further amended and restated on 3th\2@42 and 19 April 2012, and as otherwise ameadédbr restated from time to
time (the" Project Facilities Agreement”); and



(B)

the Parties have agreed to enter into this Agreemander further to amend the Project Facilitegeement in the manner set out bel

NOW , THEREFORE , in consideration of the foregoing, and for oteod and valuable consideration, the receipt aredwaacy of which are
acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

1.
11

1.2

1.3

INTERPRETATION

Definitions

In this Agreement:

“ Chargor " means each of Pacific Gibco and PIDWAL,;

“ Effective Date” means the date upon which the Intercreditor Aganting on the instructions of Facility Agents megenting one
hundred per cent. of the Lenders) notifies eachlifadgent and the Guarantor that it has receigegdies of each of the documents listec
in Schedule 3 Conditions precedentin form and substance satisfactory to it, and #ilaof the other conditions precedent listed in
Schedule 3 Conditions precedenthave been satisfied or waived; and

“ PIDWAL Share Pledge” means the agreement entitled “Charge Over Shatatsd 30 August 2012 and entered into between
PIDWAL as Chargor and DNB Bank ASA as Security Teesin respect of PIDWAL'’s shares in Pacific Scoo¢.td.

Construction

(a) Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agrent, capitalised terms used in this Agreemerit shae the meanings given
them in the Project Facilities Agreement, as ttagdet Facilities Agreement shall be further amenideatcordance with this
Agreement. To the extent such terms are definegtgyence to any other Transaction Document, ferpilirposes of this
Agreement, such terms shall continue to have tirainal definitions (but shall be subject to anterpreted in accordance with the
governing law of this Agreement) notwithstanding érmination, expiration or amendment of any slicinsaction Document,
except to the extent the Parties agree to theagn

(b) Clause 1.2 [nterpretation) of the Project Facilities Agreement will be de@hte be set out in full in this Agreement, save tha
references therein “this Agreemer” shall be construed as references to this Agreer

(c) With effect from (and including) the Effecti@ate and unless the context otherwise requirestartes in the Project Facilities
Agreement to “this Agreement” shall be referencethé Project Facilities Agreement as amended isyAreement and words
such as “herein”, “hereof, “hereunder”, “hereaft¢tiereby” and “hereto”, where they appear in thejéct Facilities Agreement
shall be construed according

Deed
The Parties intend that this Agreement shall tdfexeas a deed, notwithstanding that a party tody only execute it under hand.

AMENDMENT OF THE PROJECT FACILITIES AGREEMENT
Amendments

With effect from (and including) the Effective Date

(a) the Project Facilities Agreement shall be amendeidléoows:

0] clause 7.1 Gelection of Interest Periodof the Project Facilities Agreement shall be adeshsuch that the words “or six”
shall be deleted from each of -clauses (d) and (f

2



2.2

2.3

2.4

3.2

3.3

3.4

(i)  clause 7.1 (Selection of Interest Periods)haf Project Facilities Agreement shall be amendeth hat the words “or six
month¢ shall be deleted from s-clause (e)

(i)  the definition of “Monthly Principal Factorin schedule 1 (Definitions) to the Project FaaltiAgreement shall be amended
such that each occurrence of the w"six” shall be deleted and replaced with the w“three¢’; and

(iv)  the definition of “Repayment Datéfi schedule 1 (Definitions) to the Project Fa@ktiAgreement shall be amended such
each occurrence of the wc"six” shall be deleted and replaced with the w*three”; and

(b) the Repayment Schedules set out in Sched(Regayment Scheduledjall be the applicable Repayment Schedules irect s
each Tranche

Continuing effect

Except as varied by the terms of this AgreememtRioject Facilities Agreement will remain in fidrce and effect and, with effect from
(and including) the Effective Date, any referentéhie Project Facilities Agreement or any otheaRoe Document to the Project
Facilities Agreement or to any provision of the jBob Facilities Agreement will be construed asfanence to the Project Facilities
Agreement or that provision (as the case may Isegnsended by this Agreement.

Further assurance

Each Obligor shall, at the request of the IntertoedAgent and at its own expense, do all such antsthings necessary or desirable to
give effect to the amendments effected or to becétl pursuant to this Agreement.

Finance Documents
The Parties agree that this Agreement is desigrestedFinance Document.

GUARANTOR AND SECURITY CONFIRMATION
Guarantee confirmation

The Guarantor confirms that, with effect from (anduding) the Effective Date, the guarantees auinnities set out in clause 15
( Guaranteg) of the Project Facilities Agreement, as amendethis Agreement, shall:

(a) continue to apply in respect of the obligationgaéh Borrower under the Finance Documents;

(b) extend to all new obligations of any Borrowedar the Finance Documents arising from the amenthvedfected by this
Agreement

G uarantor waiver of defences

The Guarantor hereby waives any defences or calai®s it may have to its obligations under clalS€ Guaranteeg of the Project
Facilities Agreement, as amended by this Agreenzend, result of the transactions contemplated isyAhreement.

Security confirmation

Each Obligor and each Chargor confirms that, withot from (and including) the Effective Date, theilities and obligations arising in
respect of the Senior Debt, howsoever arising, duetthe Obligors under the Project Facilities Agneat, as amended by this
Agreement, or owed under any other Finance Docustealt form part of (but do not limit) the Senioelit Obligations.

No novation

Each of the Parties confirms that the amendmetiteoProject Facilities Agreement pursuant to thige&ment shall not constitute a
novation of the Project Facilities Agreement.



4. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
4.1 Obligor representations and warranties

Each Obligor makes each of the Repeating Reprdgamdaelating to it for the benefit of the SecuRatties as of the date of this
Agreement, and such representations and warrasitedsbe deemed to be repeated on the Effective Bateference to the facts and
circumstances existing on that date.

4.2 PIDWAL representations and warranties

(a) PIDWAL makes each of the representations andamnties set out in clause &Répresentations and warrantigsf the PIDWAL
Share Pledge for the benefit of the Secured Patied the date of this Agreement, and such reptatiens and warranties shall be
deemed to be repeated on the Effective Date byena¢e to the facts and circumstances existing ainddite.

(b) For the purposes of this Clause 4RIDWAL representations and warrantiggeferences to “this Charge” in clauses 6.2
( Organisation), 6.3 (Legality, validity and enforceability, 6.6 (Consend, 6.7 (No conflict), 6.8 (No proceeding}, 6.9 (Immunity)
and 6.11 Governing law and enforcementf the PIDWAL Share Pledge also shall be deeroedfer to this Agreement.

4.3 Pacific Gibco representations and warranties

(a) Pacific Gibco makes each of the representatiodswvarranties set out in clauseepresentations and warrantigsf the Pacific
Gibco Share Pledge for the benefit of the Secusstig® as of the date of this Agreement, and seplesentations and warranties
shall be deemed to be repeated on the Effective Bateference to the facts and circumstancesimgxist that date

(b) For the purposes of this Clause 4B3a¢ific Gibco representations and warrantjeseferences to “this Charge” in clauses 6.2
( Organisation), 6.3 (Legality, validity and enforceability, 6.6 (Consen), 6.7 (No conflict), 6.8 (No proceeding}, 6.9
(Immunity) and 6.11 Governing law and enforcementf the Pacific Gibco Share Pledge also shalldmnted to refer to this
Agreement

MISCELLANEOUS
5.1 Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in one or more eopatts and this has the same effect as if thegiges on the counterparts were
single copy of this Agreement.

5.2 Incorporation of terms

Each Party agrees that the provisions of claus§Third party rights), 36.2 (Jurisdiction), 36.3 (Service of process 37.1 (Notices),

37.4 (Amendment} 37.6 (Delay and waive}, 37.7 (Entire agreemen, 37.8 (Successors and assigns7.9 (Severability), 37.10

( Reinstatement 37.12 (Termination), 37.13 (No partnership, 37.14 (No reliance), 37.15 (English languagé and 37.16 Vaiver of
Immunity) of the Project Facilities Agreement are incorpedanto this Agreement as if such provisions wseout, mutatis mutandis,
this Agreement.

6. GOVERNING LAW
This Agreement and any non-contractual obligatamiging out of or in connection with it are govedtriey English law.
IN WITNESS whereof this Agreement has been duly executeddaed on the date first above written.
4



SCHEDULE 1
COMMERCIAL FACILITY LENDERS
ABN AMRO Bank N.V., Oslo Branch
Citibank, N.A.
Crédit Agricole Corporate & Investment Bank
DNB Bank ASA
DVB Bank SE, Nordic Branch
Danske Bank, Norwegian Branch
NIBC Bank N.V.
Nordea Bank Finland Plc, New York Bran
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ.)
Standard Chartered Bank



SCHEDULE 2
HEDGING PARTIES
Citibank, N.A.
Danske Bank A/S
DNB Bank ASA
NIBC Bank N.V.
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ.)

Credit Agricole Corporate & Investment Bank



SCHEDULE 3
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

FINANCE DOCUMENTS

There shall have been delivered to the Intercreditient by or on behalf of the Obligors and the @bas, an executed original of this
Agreement.

CORPORATE AUTHORITY OF OBLIGORS

(@)

(b)

()

Each Obligor and each Chargor shall have dei/éo the Intercreditor Agent, a copy of one oren@solutions or other
authorisations of such Obligor or Chargor (as ajalie), certified by an Authorised Representativeuch Obligor or Chargor (as
applicable) as being in full force and effect oa thate of this Agreement authorisil

0] the execution and delivery and performance of Aigigeement; an
(i)  a specified Person or Persons (including gopyliaable attorney) to execute and deliver the exguents described in
paragraph 2(a)(i) above to which it is a pa

Each Obligor and each Chargor shall have dedivéo the Intercreditor Agent a specimen of tigaaiure of each Person authorisec
by the resolution referred to in paragraph 2(ajvatand any other relevant authorisations including applicable powers of
attorney.

Each Obligor and each Chargor shall have dedivéo the Intercreditor Agent a certificate of gatanding or an equivalent
document, to the extent such document is availattiee relevant jurisdictior

OPINIONS
The Intercreditor Agent shall have received elattraopies of each of the following opinions inffoand substance satisfactory to it:

(@)
(b)
(©)

(d)
(e)

an English law legal opinion of Latham & WatkifLondon) LLP in respect of the enforceability ané&nglish law of this
Agreement

a Liberian law legal opinion of Blank Rome LirPrespect of the capacity of each Obligor incogped under the laws of Liberia to
enter into this Agreemer

a Luxembourg law legal opinion of Allen & Oveltyxembourg in respect of the capacity of Paciot@a Ana S.ar.l. to enter into
this Agreement

a Gibraltar law legal opinion of Hassans in respé¢he capacity of Pacific Gibco to enter intostihigreement; an
a Nigerian law legal opinion of Aluko & Oyeboderigspect of the capacity of PIDWAL to enter intcsthigreement

FEES, COSTS AND EXPENSES

(@)

The Guarantor shall have provided evidenciedrtercreditor Agent that all fees, costs andeesps then due from any Obligor to
any Secured Party pursuant to the Finance Docurhentsbeen paid in ful

7



(b) The Intercreditor Agent shall have confirmedtti has received payment from the Guarantorfekeequal to US$ 728,125 (being
an amount equal to 0.05% of the Total Commitmentieuthe Project Facilities Agreement), which fek lve payable by the
Guarantor to the Intercreditor Agent for the beinefieach Lender that is party to the Project Réesl Agreement as at the date of
this Agreement, in an amoupro ratato each such Lenc’'s Commitment on such da

5. EVENTS OF DEFAULT
No Event of Default or Potential Event of Defauial have occurred and be continuing.

8



DETAILS

Notional Schedule

Period Start

31-Oct-12
31-Jar-13
3C-Apr-13
31-Jul-13
31-Oct-13
31-Jar-14
3C-Apr-14
31-Jul-14
31-Oct-14
31-Jar-15
3C-Apr-15
31-Jul-15
31-Oct-15

Balloon

Period End

31-Jar-13
3C-Apr-13
31-Jul-13
31-Oct-13
31-Jar-14
3C-Apr-14
31-Ju-14
31-Oct-14
31-Jar-15
3C-Apr-15
31-Jul-15
31-Oct-15
31-Oct-15

SCHEDULE 4
REPAYMENT SCHEDULES

A

Old Amort.

P PRSPPI BDB DD DSD

425;066;66

425;666,66
466,066,606
466,666,660
375,666,660
35,666,606
350,000,00
350,000,00
325,000,00
325,000,00
300,000,00
300,000,00
275,000,00
275,000,00
250,000,00
250,000,00
225,000,00
225,000,00
200,000,00

200,000,00
9

PRSP ARPAARAABHBHED

B
New Amort

425,666,660

425:666;60
466,666,606
466,666,660
375,666,660
375,666,660
350,000,00
337,500,00
325,000,00
312,500,00
300,000,00
287,500,00
275,000,00
262,500,00
250,000,00
237,500,00
225,000,00
212,500,00
200,000,00

200,000,00

B-A

Repmt Varianc:

(12,500,00)
(12,500,00)
(12,500,00)
(12,500,00)
(12,500,00)

(12,500,00)



DETAILS

Notional Schedule

Period Starl

31-Oct-12
31-Jar-13
3C-Apr-13
31-Jul-13
31-Oct-13
2¢-Jar-14
3C-Apr-14
31-Jul-14
31-Oct-14
3C-Jar-15
3C-Apr-15
31-Jul-15
31-Oct-15

Balloon

Period End

31-Jar-13
3C-Apr-13
31-Juk-13
31-Oct-13
2¢-Jar-14
3C-Apr-14
31-Jul-14
31-Oct-14
3C-Jar-15
3C-Apr-15
31-Juk-15
31-Oct-15
31-Oct-15

A

Old Amort.

O PR DB OB DE

166;666;66

166;066;66
456;666;66
456,666,606
416:756;66
418,756,660
387,500,00
387,500,00
356,250,00
356,250,00
325,000,00
325,000,00
293,750,00
293,750,00
262,500,00
262,500,00
231,250,00
231,250,00
200,000,00

200,000,00
10

PR ARAARAABHEDRD

1665666;66

B
New Amort

166,666,660
456;666;60
450,666,660
418:756;60
418,756,660
387,500,00
371,875,00
356,250,00
340,625,00
325,000,00
309,375,00
293,750,00
278,125,00
262,500,00
246,875,00
231,250,00
215,625,00
200,000,00

200,000,00

B-A
Repmt Varianc

(15,625,00)
(15,625,00)
(15,625,00)
(15,625,00)
(15,625,00)

(15,625,00)



DETAILS

Notional Schedule

Period Starl

31-Oct-12
31-Jar-13
3C-Apr-13
31-Jul-13
31-Oct-13
2¢-Jar-14
3C-Apr-14
31-Jul-14
31-Oct-14
3C-Jar-15
3C-Apr-15
31-Jul-15
31-Oct-15

Balloon

Period End

31-Jar-13
3C-Apr-13
31-Jul-13
31-Oci-13
2¢-Jar-14
3C-Apr-14
31-Jul-14
31-Oci-14
3C-Jar-15
3C-Apr-15
31-Jul-15
31-Oct-15
31-Oci-15

A
Old Amort.

$ 266;606:06
$ 375:06666
$ 375:066;660
$ 375;066:66
$ 35312566
$ 353;325:06
$ 331,250,00
$ 331,250,00
$ 309,375,00
$ 309,375,00
$ 287,500,00
$ 287,500,00
$ 265,625,00
$ 265,625,00
$ 243,750,00
$ 243,750,00
$ 221,875,00
$ 221,875,00
$ 200,000,00

$ 200,000,00
11

B
New Amort

$ 266;606:06
$ 375;06666
$ 375066660
$ 375;066:66
$ 35312566
$ 353;325:06
$ 331,250,00
$ 320,312,50
$ 309,375,00
$ 298,437,50
$ 287,500,00
$ 276,562,50
$ 265,625,00
$ 254,687,50
$ 243,750,00
$ 232,812,50
$ 221,875,00
$ 210,937,50
$ 200,000,00

200,000,00

B-A
Repmt Varianc

(10,937,50)
(10,937,50)
(10,937,50)
(10,937,50)
(10,937,50)

(10,937,50)



DETAILS

Notional Schedule

Period Starl

31-Oct-12
31-Jar-13
3C-Apr-13
31-Jul-13

31-Oct-13
2¢-Jar-14
3C-Apr-14
31-Jul-14

31-Oct-14
3C-Jar-15
3C-Apr-15
31-Jul-15

31-Oct-15

Balloon

Period End

31-Jar-13
3C-Apr-13
31-Jul-13
31-Oci-13
2¢-Jar-14
3C-Apr-14
31-Jul-14
31-Oci-14
3C-Jar-15
3C-Apr-15
31-Jul-15
31-Oct-15
31-Oci-15

A
Old Amort.

$ 266;606:06
$ 456,066,660
$ 456,066,660
$ 45606666
$ 418;756:66
$ 418;756:06
$ 387,500,00
$ 387,500,00
$ 356,250,00
$ 356,250,00
$ 325,000,00
$ 325,000,00
$ 293,750,00
$ 293,750,00
$ 262,500,00
$ 262,500,00
$ 231,250,00
$ 231,250,00
$ 200,000,00

$ 200,000,00
12

B
New Amort

$ 266;606:06
$ 45606666
$ 456,066,660
$ 456,06666
$ 418;756;66
$ 418;756:06
$ 387,500,00
$ 371,875,00
$ 356,250,00
$ 340,625,00
$ 325,000,00
$ 309,375,00
$ 293,750,00
$ 278,125,00
$ 262,500,00
$ 246,875,00
$ 231,250,00
$ 215,625,00
$ 200,000,00

200,000,00

B-A
Repmt Varianc

(15,625,00)
(15,625,00)
(15,625,00)
(15,625,00)
(15,625,00)

(15,625,00)



DETAILS
Notional Schedule
Period Start

31-Oct-12
31-Jar-13
3C-Apr-13
31-Jul-13

31-Oct-13
2¢-Jar-14
3C-Apr-14
31-Jul-14

31-Oct-14
3C-Jar-15
3C-Apr-15
31-Jul-15

31-Oct-15

Balloon

TOTAL

Period End

31-Jur12
I-Oet-12
31-Jar-13
3C-Apr-13
31-Jul-13
31-Oct-13
29-Jar-14
3C-Apr-14
31-Jul-14
31-Oct-14
30-Jar-15
3C-Apr-15
31-Jul-15
31-Oct-15
31-Oci-15

A

Old Amort.

$

93166666
1,456,250,00
1,456,250,00
1,346,875,00
1,346,875,00
1,237,500,00
1,237,500,00
1,128,125,00
1,128,125,00
1,018,750,00
1,018,750,00

909,375,00

909,375,00

800,000,00

800,000,00
13

B
New Amort

931666;66
1,456,250,00
1,401,562,50
1,346,875,00
1,292,187,50
1,237,500,00
1,182,812,50
1,128,125,00
1,073,437,50
1,018,750,00

964,062,50

909,375,00

854,687,50

800,000,00

800,000,00

B-A
Repmt Varianc

(54,687,50)
(54,687,50)
(54,687,50)
(54,687,50)
(54,687,50)

(54,687,50)



SIGNATORIES
BORROWERS

EXECUTED as a deed by
PACIFIC BORA LTD.
as Borrowe!

acting by:  Christian J. Beck
its authorised signatol

/sl Christian J. Beckett
Authorised Signator

In the presence of:

Witness
Name: Andrew Louis
Address: 3050 Post Oak Blvd, Ste 15!

Houston, TX 7705I
Occupation Attorney

14



EXECUTED as a deed by
PACIFIC MISTRAL LTD.

as Borrowel

acting by: Christian J. Becke
its authorised signatol

/sl Christian J. Becke
Authorised Signator

In the presence of:

Witness

Name:
Address:

Occupation

Andrew Louis

3050 Post Oak Blvd, Ste 15!
Houston, TX 7705!

Attorney

15



EXECUTED as a deed by
PACIFIC SCIROCCO LTD.

as Borrowel

acting by: Christian J. Becke
its authorised signatol

/sl Christian J. Beckett

Authorised Signator

In the presence of:

Witness

Name:
Address:

Occupation

Andrew Louis

3050 Post Oak Blvd, Ste 15!
Houston, TX 7705!

Attorney

16



EXECUTED as a deed by
PACIFIC SANTA ANA S.A.R.L.
as Borrowel

acting by: Fred Vleghe
its authorised signatol

/s/ Fred Vleghert

Authorised Signator

In the presence of:

Witness
Name: Wayne Vermeule
Address: Eleganza Estate

Lagos
Occupation Controller

17



GUARANTOR

EXECUTED as a deed by
PACIFIC DRILLING LIMITED
as Guarantc

acting by:  Christian J. Becke
its authorised signatol

/sl Christian J. Beckett

Authorised Signator

In the presence of:

Witness
Name: Andrew Louis
Address: 3050 Post Oak Blvd, Ste 1500

Houston, TX 7705!

Occupation Attorney

18



EXECUTED as a deed by affixing
THE COMMON SEAL of the within-named
PACIFIC INTERNATIONAL DRILLING WEST AFRICA LIMITED

in the presence of:

/sl Fred Vleghert ADCAX NOMINEES LIMITED
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR/SECRETARY

19



EXECUTED as a deed by
PACIFIC DRILLING (GIBRALTAR) LTD

acting by: Christian J. Becke
its authorised signatol

/sl Christian J. Beckett
Authorised Signator

In the presence o

Witness
Name: Andrew Louis
Address: 3050 Post Oak Blvd, Ste 15!

Houston, TX 7705t

Occupation Attorney

20



MANDATED LEAD ARRANGERS

EXECUTED as a deed by
DNB BANK ASA
as Mandated Lead Arranger

acting by: Florianne Rob
its authorised signatol

/s/ Florianne Robin
Authorised Signator

In the presence o

Witness
Name: Magnus Midigarc
Address: DND BANK ASA

200 Park Avenue, 31st Flo
New York, N.Y. 1016¢
U.S.A.

Occupation Legal advisol
21



EXECUTED as a deed by
CREDIT AGRICOLE CORPORATE & INVESTMENT BANK
as Mandated Lead Arranger

acting by:  Yannick Le Gouriert
its authorised signatol

/s/ Yannick Le Gourieres

Authorised Signator

In the presence o

Witness
Name: Sarah Stocl
Address: 99 Bishopsgat

London, EC2M 3XF

Occupation Paralega

22



EXECUTED as a deed by
CITIBANK, N.A.
as Mandated Lead Arrang

acting by:  Robert Mallec
its authorised signatol

/s/ Robert Malleck

Authorised Signator

In the presence of:

Witness
Name: Adrieme Tauboz;
Address: 388 Greenwich St, FL3

New York, NY 10012

Occupation Executive Assistar

23



EXECUTED as a deed by
DVB BANK SE, NORDIC BRANCH
as Mandated Lead Arrang

acting by: Christian Ravr
its authorised signatol

/s/ Christian Ravn
Authorised Signator

In the presence of:

Witness
Name: Espen Nilser
Address: BYGDOY ALLE 117 B

0273 Oslc

Occupation Banker

24



EXECUTED as a deed b
DANSKE BANK, NORWEGIAN BRANCH
as Mandated Lead Arrang

acting by: Einar Stavrum
its authorised signatol

/s/ Einar Stavrum
Authorised Signator

In the presence of:

Witness
Name: Kristian Anderset
Address: Danske Banl

Oslo Norway
Occupation Analyst
25



EXECUTED as a deed b
NIBC BANK N.V.
as Mandated Lead Arrang

acting by: Saskia Hovers
its authorised signatol

/s/ Saskia Hovers

Authorised Signator

In the presence of:

Witness
Name: Krista van de
Address: Carnegieplein -

Den Haac

Occupation Analyst

26



EXECUTED as a deed b
NORDEA BANK FINLAND PLC, NEW YORK BRANCH
as Mandated Lead Arrang

acting by:  Martin Lunder
its authorised signatol

/s/ Martin Lunder
Authorised Signator

In the presence of:

Witness
Name: Henning Lyche Christianse
Address: 437 Madison Avenue

New York
Occupation First Vice Presider

27



EXECUTED as a deed b
SKANDINAVISKA ENSKILDA BANKEN AB (PUBL.)
as Mandated Lead Arrang

acting by: Per Olav Bucher-Johannessen
its authorised signatol

/s/ Per Olav Buch-Johannesse
Authorised Signator

In the presence of:

Witness
Name: Anne Geelmuyde
Address: Fritzners Gt 17 026

Olso, Norway

Occupation Account Manage

28



COMMERCIAL FACILITY LENDERS
EXECUTED as adeed b

DNB BANK ASA

as Commercial Facility Lend:

acting by:  Florianne Robin
its authorised signatol

/s/ Florianne Robin

Authorised Signator

In the presence of:

Witness
Name: Magnus Midigarc
Address: DND BANK ASA

200 Park Avenue, 31st Flo
New York, N.Y. 1016¢
U.S.A.

Occupation Legal advisol



EXECUTED as a deed b

CREDIT

AGRICOLE CORPORATE & INVESTMENT BANK
as Commercial Facility Lend:

acting by:  Yannick Le Gouriert
its authorised signatol

/s/ Yannick Le Gourieres
Authorised Signator

In the presence o

Witness
Name: Sarah Stoc|
Address: 99 Bishopsgat

London, EC2M 3XF

Occupation Paralega

30



EXECUTED as a deed b
ABN AMRO BANK N.V., OSLO BRANCH
as Commercial Facility Lend:

acting by:  Bjorn P. Flaa
its authorised signatol

/sl Bjorn P. Flaate

Authorised Signator

In the presence o

Witness
Name: Ole Sylvester Jense
Address: Olav VC Gate ¢

0161 Oslo, Norwa
Occupation Bank/Finance

31



EXECUTED as a deed b
CITIBANK, N.A.

as Commercial Facility Lend:
acting by:  Robert Mallec
its authorised signatol

/s/ Robert Malleck
Authorised Signator

In the presence o

Witness
Name: Adrieme Tauboz:
Address: 388 Greenwich St, FL3

New York, NY 1001z

Occupation Executive Assistar

32



EXECUTED as a deed b

DVB BANK SE, NORDIC BRANCH
as Commercial Facility Lend:
acting by:  Christian Ravr

its authorised signatol

/s/ Christian Ravna

Authorised Signator

In the presence o

Witness
Name: Espen Nilset
Address: BYGDOY ALLE 117 B

0273 Oslc

Occupation Banker

33



EXECUTED as a deed b
DANSKE BANK, NORWEGIAN BRANCH
as Commercial Facility Lend:

acting by:  Einar Stavrui
its authorised signatol

/s/ Einar Stavrum
Authorised Signator

In the presence o

Witness
Name: Kristian Anderset
Address: Danske Banl

Oslo Norway
Occupation Analyst
34



EXECUTED as a deed b
NIBC BANK N.V.
as Commercial Facility Lend:

acting by:  Saskia Hove
its authorised signatol

/s/ Saskia Hovers

Authorised Signator

In the presence o

Witness
Name: Krista van de
Address: Carnegieplein «

Den Haac

Occupation Analyst

35



EXECUTED as a deed b

NORDEA BANK FINLAND PLC, NEW YORK
BRANCH

as Commercial Facility Lend:

acting by:  Martin Lunde

its authorised signatol

/s/ Martin Lunder

Authorised Signator

In the presence o

Witness
Name: Henning Lyche Christianse
Address: 437 Madison Avenug

New York

Occupation First Vice Presider

36



EXECUTED as a deed b

SKANDINAVISKA ENSKILDA BANKEN AB
(PUBL.)

as Commercial Facility Lend:

acting by:  Per Olav Bucl-Johannesse
its authorised signatol

/s/ Per Olav Buch-Johannesse
Authorised Signator

In the presence o

Witness
Name: Anne Geelmuyde
Address: Fritzners Gt 17 026

Olso, Norway
Occupation Account Manage

37



EXECUTED as a deed b
STANDARD CHARTERED BANK
as Commercial Facility Lend:

acting by:  Wong Moy Hian
its authorised signatol

/s/ Wong Moy Hiang
Authorised Signator

In the presence o

Witness
Name: Juan Carlos Gome
Address: 3 Riverway, Suite 133

Houston, Texas 770k

Occupation Associate Directo
38



GIEK FACILITY LENDER

EXECUTED as a deed b

THE NORWEGIAN GOVERNMENT, REPRESENTED BY THE MINIST RY OF
TRADE AND INDUSTRY, REPRESENTED BY EKSPORTKREDITT N ORGE AS
as GIEK Facility Lende

acting by: Tobias Huinde
its authorised signatol

/sl Tobias Huinde
Authorised Signator

In the presence o

Witness
Name: Tom Stonjunm
Address: Hieronimus Heyerdahls Gate

P.O. Box 1315 Vika, 011
Oslo, Nowary

Occupation Attorney at Law

39



KEXIM FACILITY LENDER

EXECUTED as adeed b
THE EXPORT-IMPORT BANK OF KOREA
as KEXIM Facility Lende!

acting by:  Seo, Dong Woc
its authorised signatol

/s! Seo, Dong Wook

Authorised Signator

In the presence o

Witness
Name: Kong, Hyung Mi
Address: 38 Euntiari¢ro

Seoul, Kore:

Occupation Loan Officer

40



COMMERCIAL FACILITY AGENT
EXECUTED as a deed b

DNB BANK ASA

as Commercial Facility Agel

acting by:  Florianne Rob
its authorised signatol

/s/ Florianne Robin
Authorised Signator

In the presence o

Witness
Name: Magnus Midigarc
Address: DND BANK ASA

200 Park Avenue, 31st Flo
New York, N.Y. 1016¢
U.S.A.

Occupation Legal advisol

41



GIEK FACILITY AGENT
EXECUTED as adeed b
DNB BANK ASA

as GIEK Facility Agen

acting by:  Florianne Rob
its authorised signatol

/s/ Florianne Robin

Authorised Signator

In the presence of:

Witness
Name: Magnus Midigarc
Address: DND BANK ASA

200 Park Avenue, 3stFloor
New York, N.Y. 1016¢
U.S.A.

Occupation Legal advisol

42



KEXIM FACILITY AGENT

EXECUTED as adeed b

CREDIT AGRICOLE CORPORATE AND INVESTMENT BANK
as KEXIM Facility Agent

acting by:  Yannick Le Gouriert
its authorised signatol

/s/ Yannick Le Gourieres

Authorised Signator

In the presence o

Witness
Name: Sarah Stocl
Address: 99 Bishopsgat

London, EC2M 3XF

Occupation Paralega

43



INTERCREDITOR AGENT

EXECUTED as a deed b
DNB BANK ASA
as Intercreditor Ager

acting by:  Florianne Rob
its authorised signatol

/s/ Florianne Robin
Authorised Signator

In the presence o

Witness
Name: Magnus Midigarc
Address: DND BANK ASA

200 Park Avenue, 3stFloor
New York, N.Y. 1016¢
U.S.A.

Occupation Legal advisol

44



SECURITY TRUSTEE
EXECUTED as adeed b

DNB BANK ASA
as Security Truste

acting by:  Florianne Rob
its authorised signatol

/s/ Florianne Robin

Authorised Signator

In the presence o

Witness
Name: Magnus Midigarc
Address: DND BANK ASA

200 Park Avenue, 3stFloor
New York, N.Y. 1016¢
U.S.A.

Occupation Legal advisol

45



ACCOUNTS BANK
EXECUTED as adeed b
DNB BANK ASA

as Accounts Ban

acting by:  Florianne Rob
its authorised signatol

/s/ Florianne Robin

Authorised Signator

In the presence o

Witness
Name: Magnus Midigarc
Address: DND BANK ASA

200 Park Avenue, 3stFloor
New York, N.Y. 1016¢
U.S.A.

Occupation Legal advisol

46



OPERATING ACCOUNTS BANK

EXECUTED as a deed b
CITIBANK, N.A. (NEW YORK BRANCH)
as Operating Accounts Bal

acting by: Robert Mallec
its authorised signatol

/s/ Robert Malleck
Authorised Signator

In the presence of:

Witness
Name: Adrieme Tauboz;
Address: 388 Greenwich St, FL3

New York, NY 10012

Occupation Executive Assistar

47



TI BOND FACILITY ACCOUNTS BANK

EXECUTED as a deed by
CITIBANK, N.A. (NEW YORK BRANCH)
as Tl Bond Facility Accounts Bar

acting by: Robert Mallec
its authorised signatol

/s/ Robert Malleck
Authorised Signator

In the presence of:

Witness
Name: Adrieme Tauboz;
Address: 388 Greenwich St, FL3

New York, NY 1001z
Occupation Executive Assistar

48



HEDGING PARTIES

EXECUTED as a deed by
CREDIT AGRICOLE CORPRATE & INVESTMENT BANK
as Hedging Party

acting by:  Yannick Le Gouriert
its authorised signatol

/s/ Yannick Le Gourieres
Authorised Signator

In the presence o

Witness
Name: Sarah Stocl
Address: 99 Bishopsgat

London, EC2M 3XF

Occupation Paralega

49



EXECUTED as a deed b
CITIBANK, N.A. (NEW YORK BRANCH)
as Hedging Part

acting by: Robert Mallec
its authorised signatol

/s/ Robert Malleck
Authorised Signator

In the presence of:

Witness
Name: Adrieme Tauboz;
Address: 388 Greenwich St, FL3

New York, NY 10012

Occupation Executive Assistar

50



EXECUTED as a deed b
DANSKE BANK A/S
as Hedging Part

acting by: Lars Brynildsrud
its authorised signatol

/s/ Lars Brynildsrud
Authorised Signator

In the presence of:

Witness
Name: Kristian Anderset
Address: Danske Banl

Oslo Norway
Occupation Analyst
51



EXECUTED as a deed b
DNB BANK ASA
as Hedging Part

acting by:  Florianne Robin
its authorised signatol

/s/ Florianne Robin
Authorised Signator

In the presence of:

Witness
Name: Magnus Midigarc
Address: DND BANK ASA

200 Park Avenue, 31st Flo
New York, N.Y. 1016¢
U.S.A.

Occupation Legal advisol
52



EXECUTED as a deed b
NIBC Bank N.V.
as Hedging Part

acting by: Saskia Hovers
its authorised signatol

/s/ Saskia Hovers

Authorised Signator

In the presence of:

Witness
Name: Krista van de
Address: Carnegieplein -

Den Haac

Occupation Analyst

53



EXECUTED as a deed b
SKANDINAVISA ENSKILDA BANKEN AB (PUBL.)
as Hedging Part

acting by: Per Olav Bucher-Johannessen
its authorised signatol

/s/ Per Olav Bucher-Johannessen

Authorised Signator

In the presence of:

Witness
Name: Anne Geelmuyde
Address: Fritzners Gt 17 026

Olso, Norway

Occupation Account Manage

54



Subsidiaries

Entity

Exhibit 8.1

Jurisdiction of Formation

Pacific Drilling do Brasil Investimentos Ltd
Pacific Drilling do Brasil Servicos de Perfuracéinléa
Pacific Drilling Services Pte. Lt

Pacific International Drilling West Africa Ltc
Pacific Drilling Netherlands Cod6peratief U.
Pacific Drilling N.V.

Pacific Drilling Administrator Ltd

Pacific Deepwater Construction Limiti
Pacific Drilling International Ltd

Pacific Drilling Manpower Ltd

Pacific Drilling Operations Limite:

Pacific Drilling South America 1 Limite
Pacific Drilling South America 2 Limite
Pacific Drilling V Limited

Pacific Drilling VII Limited

Pacific Drilling VIII Limited

Pacific Bora Ltd

Pacific Mistral Ltd.

Pacific Santa Ana Ltc

Pacific Scirocco Ltd

Pacific Drilling Limited

Pacific Drilling, Inc.

Pacific Drilling International, LLC

Pacific Drilling Services, Inc

Pacific Drilling Manpower, Inc

Pacific Drilling Operations, Inc

Pacific Drillship S.ar.l

Pacific Drilling Manpower S.ar.

Pacific Santa Ana S.ar

Pacific Sharav S.ar.

Pacific Drilling (Gibraltar) Limitec

Pacific Drillship (Gibraltar) Limitec

Pacific Drilling Holding (Gibraltar) Limitec

Brazil

Brazil

Singapore

Nigeria

The Netherland
Curacac

British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
Liberia

Liberia

Liberia

Liberia

Liberia

USA, Delaware
USA, Delaware
USA, Delaware
USA, Delaware
USA, Delaware
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Gibraltar

Gibraltar

Gibraltar



Exhibit 12.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Christian J. Beckett, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 2ff-Pacific Drilling S.A.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorny untrue statement of a material fact or dméttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the company as of, and for, the gsrigresented in this report;

4. The company other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanid procedures (as definec
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) foctmpany and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the company, including its consolidatebsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over finanoggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfgial reporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentéisingport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the canys internal control over financial reporting tleecurred during the period covered
by the annual report that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, thengpany’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The company’s other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorterhal control over financial reporting,
to the company’s auditors and the audit commitfeaecompany’s board of directors (or personsqraring the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cooirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the compamygity to record, process, summarize and repparfcial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@miifiole in the companyinterna
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2013

By: /s/ Christian J. Becke
Name: Christian J. Becke
Title: Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 12.2
CERTIFICATION

[, William J. Restrepo, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 2ff-Pacific Drilling S.A.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorny untrue statement of a material fact or dméttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the company as of, and for, the gsrigresented in this report;

4. The company other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanid procedures (as definec
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) foctmpany and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the company, including its consolidatebsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over finanoggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfgial reporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentéisingport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the canys internal control over financial reporting tleecurred during the period covered
by the annual report that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, thengpany’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The company’s other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorterhal control over financial reporting,
to the company’s auditors and the audit commitfeaecompany’s board of directors (or personsqraring the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cooirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the compamygity to record, process, summarize and repparfcial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@miifiole in the companyinterna
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2013

By: /s/ William J. Restrep
Name: William J. Restrept
Title:  Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 13.1
PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 135@pBdr 63 of Title 18, United States
Code), I, Christian J. Beckett, Chief Executivei@Hf, hereby certify, to my knowledge, that:

1. the Company’s annual report on Form 20-F forfthheéhe year ended December 31, 2011 (the “Rephully complies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934; and

2. information contained in the Report fairly pnetse in all material respects, the financial conditand results of operations of the Company.
Date: February 28, 201

By: /s| Christian J. Becke
Name: Christian J. Becke
Title: Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 13.2
PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 135@pBdr 63 of Title 18, United States
Code), I, William J. Restrepo, Chief Financial Offi, hereby certify, to my knowledge, that:

1. the Company’s annual report on Form 20-F foryteer ended December 31, 2011 (the “Report”) fadlynplies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; and

2. information contained in the Report fairly pnetse in all material respects, the financial conditand results of operations of the Company.
Date: February 28, 201

By: /sl William J. Restrep
Name: William J. Restrept
Title:  Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 15.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors
Pacific Drilling S.A.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference irrdéiggstration statement (No. 333-180485) on Forgid@-Pacific Drilling S.A. of our reports
dated February 28, 2013 with respect to the cotat@d balance sheets of Pacific Drilling S.A. anlsgdiaries (the Company) as of Decembel
31, 2012 and 2011, and the related consolidatéelnsénts of operations, comprehensive income (Iskgyeholders’ equity, and cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period endegmber 31, 2012, and the effectiveness of interoiadrol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2012, which reports appear in the ibee 31, 2012 Annual Report on Form 20-F of Padlfiitling S.A. We did not audit the
financial statements of Transocean Pacific Drilling. (TPDI — a 50% owned unconsolidated investeapgany). The Companyinvestment i
TPDI at December 31, 2011 was $0, and its equisaimings of TPDI was $18,955,000 and $56,307,00€hE years ended December 31,
2011 and 2010, respectively. The financial statamehTPDI were audited by other auditors whos@repas been furnished to us, and our
opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts idetlfor TPDI, is based solely on the report of othelitors.

/s| KPMG LLP
Houston, Texas

February 28, 201



